MTN STUDIES

6

PART 2

Agreements Being Negotiated at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations in Geneva—U.S. International Trade Commission Investigation No. 332-101

Analysis of Nontariff Agreements
Customs Valuation Agreement
Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures

A Report Prepared at the Request of the COMMITTEE ON FINANCE UNITED STATES SENATE

RUSSELL B. Long, Chairman

SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL TRADE
ABRAHAM RIBICOFF, Chairman



AUGUST 1979

Printed for the use of the Committee on Finance

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE
WASHINGTON: 1979

80-137 O

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office Washington, D.C. 20402

COMMITTEE ON FINANCE

RUSSELL B. LONG, Louisiana, Cheirmon

HERMAN B. TALMADGE, Georgia
ABRAHAM RIBICOFF, Connecticut
HAKRY F. BYRD. Jr., Virginia
GAYLORD NELSON, Wisconsia
MIKE GRAVEL. Alanka
LLOYD BENTSEN, TEXAS
SPARK M. MATSUNAGA, Hawaii
DANIEL PATRICK MOYNIHAN, New York
MAX BAUCUS, Montana
DAVID L. BOREN, Oklahoma
BILL BRADLEY, New Jersey

ROBERT DOLE, Kansas
BOB PACKWOOD, Oregon
WILLIAM V. ROTH, Jr., Delaware
JOHN C. DANFORTH, Miscouri
JOHN H. CHAFEE, Rhode Island
JOHN HEINZ, Pennsylvania
MALCOLM WALLOP, Wyoming
DAVID DURENBERGER, Minnesota

MICHAEL STERN, Staff Director
ROBERT E. LIGHTHIZER, Chief Minority Councel

SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL TRADE

ABRAHAM RIBICOFF, Connecticut, Cheirmen

HERMAN E. TALMADGE, Georgia
HARRY F. BYRD, Jr., Virginia
MIKE GRAVEL, Alaska
DANIEL PATRICE MOYNIHAN, New York
MAX BAUCUS, Montana
BILL BRADLEY, New Jersey

WILLIAM V. ROTH, Ja., Delaware JOHN C. DANFORTH, Missouri JOHN HEINZ, Pennsylvania .:OBERT DOLE, Kanses JOHN H. CHAFER, Rhode Island

CONTENTS

	Page
Introduction	1
Executive summary	111
Summary	vi
Part 1. Proposed valuation code:	
Background and origin	
Current status	_
Structure and principles of proposed code	
Preamble	_
Part I-Rules on customs valuation	
Part II-Administration and dispute resolution	
Part IIISpecial and differential treatment	
Part IVFinal provisions	12
Part 2. Current valuation requirements:	
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT)	
Structure and principles of the current U.S. system	17
structure and principles of the Brussels Definition	
of Value (BDV)	
Structure and principles of the Canadian valuation system	32
Part 3. Comparative analysis of proposed valuation code with U.S.	
valuation system, Brussels Definition of Value (BDV) and Canadian	
valuation system	34
Comparative analysis of U.S. valuation system and proposed	
valuation code	
Comparision of key element of dutiable value	35
Comparison of valuation techniques	
Comparative analysis of BDV and proposed valuation code	
Comparison of key elements of dutiable value	
Comparison of valuation techniques	49
Comparative analysis of Canadian valuation system	
and proposed valuation code	
Part 4. The proposed valuation code as an international standard	53
Part 5. Probable economic effect of adoption of the proposed	-,
valuation code on imports and on domestic industry	
Overall probable economic effect of adopting the proposed code	54
Import-sensitive industries affected by U.S. adoption of the	
proposed valuation systemEffect on articles currently appraised on the basis	55
	E (
of American selling price Degree of equivalency of protection achieved	56
by the converted rates	67
Benzenoid chemicals	
Footwear	
Clams	
Wool knit gloves	
Effect on articles currently on the Final Lis	
Final List articles which would be significantly	0.5
affected	83
Other Final List articles	
Effect of adopting the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis	
Overall effect	
Impact on countries of origin	
•	-

CONTENTS

		rage
	le economic effect on U.S. exports of adoption of	
	code by our major trading partners	92
	lal effect of adoption of the proposed valuation customs administration	96
	aplementation of proposed code	
nandiy A. Cus	stoms valuation agreement	A_1
Annendix B. T.	o. 54521, the Final List	R-1
Appendix C. Sec	ctions 402, 402a, and 500 of the Tariff Act of 1930,	
Annendix D. Sta	atistical tables	D-1
Appendix Dr Dec	Profession consta	•
Table 1.	Estimated distribution of customs entries by bases of valuation, number or related-party transactions, and number of entries appraised at invoice values, 1977	D=2
	and the control of th	
Table 2.	Industrial and finished organic chemicals. U.S. production and sales, 1969-76	D-3
Table 3.	Industrial and finished organic chemicals dutiable under subparts 1B and 1C, schedule 4, TSUS: U.S.	
	sales, imports, exports, and ratios of imports and exports to sales, 1969-76	D-4
Table 4.	Benzenoid chemicals and products: U.S. production, sales, imports, and exports, 1976	D-5
Table 5.	U.S. imports for consumption of footwear entered under TSUS item number 700.60 by principal sources, 1975-77	D-6
Table 6	U.S. imports for consumption of ASP footwear, by principal sources, 1975-77	D-7
Table 7.	U.S. imports for consumption, of non-ASP footwear entered under TSUS item number 700.60, by principal sources, 1975-77	D-8
Table 8.	U.S. imports for consumption of footwear entered under TSUS item number 700.60, by TSUSA item number, 1973-77	D-9
Table 9.	Clams, except razor clams, in airtight containers; U.S. imports for consumption, by principal sources, 1973-77	D-10
Table 10.	Claus, except razor clams, in airtight containers: U.S. production, imports, and apparent consumption,	n_11

CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
Table 11.	Total U.S. imports and Final List imports by TSUSA schedules	D-12
Table 12.	Customs value and f.a.s. value for Final List imports, by TSUSA schedules	D-13
Table 13.	Customs value and f.a.s. value of imports of Final List items with import value over \$25 million	D-14
Table 14.	Import categories of more than \$25 million in value with increases in landed, duty-paid value greater than 1 percent under c.i.f. valuation	D-18
• •	sels Definition of Value and its interpretative	F_1
Appendix F. Cana ppendix G. Prop in the Commis	dian valuation system	F-1
	cles omitted from the analysis of overall probable	G-1
• •	ect of adopting c.i.f. method of appraisement	H-1
Appendix I. GATT	valuation provisions	
	Document MTN/NTM/W/222/Rev. 1, Developing	
countries pr	oposed amendments to valuation code	J-1

INTRODUCTION

In response to requests by the Senate Finance Committee and the House Ways and Means Committee, the United States International Trade Commission on September 1, 1978, instituted an investigation, under section 332(b) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 1332(b)), for the purpose of submitting a series of reports analyzing the effects on U.S. industrial and agricultural sectors of nontariff measure agreements and tariff reductions recently negotiated at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN) in Geneva.

This report analyzes the effects of the nontariff measure agreement on customs valuation (hereinafter referred to as the proposed code or the proposed agreement). It is divided into 8 major parts which deal with the various aspects of the proposed code and its probable impact on U.S. industrial and agricultural sectors and U.S. customs administration.

Part 1 of the report concentrates on the structure and principles of the proposed code and gives its background and origin and current status. Part 2 discusses current valuation requirements with an emphasis on the valuation principles of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), the U.S. valuation system, the Brussels Definition of Value (BDV) and the Candian valuation system. Part 3 consists of a detailed comparative analysis of the proposed code with the current U.S. system, the BDV and the Canadian system. Part 4 compares the proposed code with principles which the Commission considers a uniform standard of customs valuation should satisfy. Part 5 assesses the overall probable economic effect of adoption of the proposed code on U.S. imports and on domestic industry. Part 5, in particular, concentrates on the effect on articles currently appraised on the basis of American selling price and articles currently.

on the Final List, and the effect of adopting the proposed code on a c.i.f basis. Part 6 of the report deals with the overall probable economic effect on U.S. exports of the adoption of the proposed code by our major trading partners. Part 7 covers the effect of adoption of the proposed code on U.S. customs administration. Finally, part 8 briefly addresses the legal aspects of U.S. implementation of the proposed code.

The report also contains an executive summary highlighting the most important sections of the report, a detailed summary keyed to the body of the report, and an appendix containing comprehensive background materials, including the schedule of converted rates of duty transmitted to the Special Representative for Trade Negotiations as part of the Commission's June 1978 report on customs valuation (investigation No. 332-98), which formed the basis for the offers of U.S. tariff concessions made at the MTN.

EXECUTIVE SURGNARY

The proposed valuation code, was originally tabled (formally offered for consideration) at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN) in Geneva by the European Community in November 1977. It was - ampted, in large part, by longstanding complaints about U.S. valuation practices and by the desire to establish an international valuation system which would be used by all of the world's major trading countries. The code is intended to be used for determining the valuation of imported articles for customs duty purposes, and, if adopted, would replace existing customs valuation laws of the United States and other signatories to the code.

The proposed code establishes a positive valuation system consisting of a number of standards to be applied in a hierarchical order. It consists of a primary standard based on the transaction value of the imported goods and several alternative standards which are resorted to in the prescribed order whenever a value cannot be determined under the next higher ranking standard. Regardless of which standard is used, the dutiable value is determined either as of the place of exportation (f.o.b.) or the place of importation (c.i.f.) at the option of each individual country which accedes to the code.

It is the judgement of the Commission that the overall probable economic effect on U.S imports and on domestic industry of U.S. adoption of the code would be minimal since the valuation methods provided for in the proposed code are very similar to the valuation methods currently provided for in section 402 of the Tariff Act of 1930, which are used to value more than 80 percent of all customs entries. The primary practical effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be the elimination of the methods of valuation currently provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930 (which apply to articles on the Final

List) and the elimination of the American selling price (ASP) bases of valua-

Certain articles which are either on the Final List (e.g., ball and roller bearings and parts thereof and certain pneumatic tires) or are currently appraised on the basis of ASP (benzenoid chemicals, certain footwear, and certain canned clams) could be adversely affected by U.S. adoption of the proposed code. However, the effect would be minimized by the fact that the Special Representative for Trade Negotiations has used the Commission's schedule of converted duty rates, which were prepared as a part of the Commission's June 1978 report on customs valuation (investigation No. 332-98), as the basis for negotiation at the MTN. The converted rates were designed to provide an amount of duty substantially equivalent to that collected under the ASP system or section 402a.

Data are generally not available with respect to the probable economic effect of adoption of the proposed code on U.S. exports. However, based on the Commission's comparative analysis of the proposed code with the BDV, it appears that the overall economic effect on exports would not be significant.

Adoption of the proposed code would have a positive effect on customs administration as a result of the elimination of the foreign value and ASP bases of valuation and in view of the similarity between the proposed valuation methods and those provided in section 402 of the Tariff Act.

The Commission supports the concept of a transaction-value-based international valuation code and notes that the presmble to the proposed code enumerates certain principles of valuation which comply with the Commission's

^{1/} The remaining 20 percent of customs entries are accounted for by these methods of customs valuation.

seven basic principles of customs valuation enunciated in its March 1973 report to the Senate Finance Committee and its Subcommittee on International Trade.

However, the Commission questions whether the proposed code could constitute a uniform international standard of customs valuation when the question of place (that is, c.i.f. as opposed to f.o.b.) is left to the discretion of individual countries.

SUMMARY

Background and Current Status of Proposed Code (Pages 1 to 2)

The proposed valuation code evolved from an initial draft which was tabled by the European Economic Community (EC) in November 1977 for consideration by the Customs Matters Subgroup on Non-Tariff Measures at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN) in Geneva. The code, which has been modified substantially through negotiations, is intended to be used in determining the valuation of imported articles for customs duty purposes and, if adopted, would replace existing customs valuation laws of the United States and other signatories to the code.

On April 12, 1979, a number of developed countries, including the United States, the EC, Japan, the Nordic countries, and Canada, 1/ formally expressed their intention to accede to the valuation agreement and implement its provisions in their domestic law by initialing the proposed agreement. However no developing country chose to initial the agreement. Many developing countries are seeking to amend the proposed agreement to provide additional "special provisions to meet the trade, financial and development needs of such countries", and have circulated a document at the MTM providing for such amendments (see Appendix J). It appears that most developing countries have decided to initial this "alternative document"

^{1/} It appears that Canada agreed to initial the proposed agreement, without a formal reservation, only after receiving assurances from the United States, the EC, and other key participants in the negotiations that Canada--

i) would have up to four years from the date of entry into force of the agreement to implement the agreement;

ii) would be able to adjust its tariff rates (without paying compensation to other parties) to maintain existing levels of tariff protection in those cases where implementation of the agreement would reduce such protection;

iii) could take reasonable measures to deal with "unfair and predatory trading practices"; and

iv) could take reasonable and appropriate measures to deal with so-called special valuation cases (i.e., used goods, off quality goods, etc.) which have been identified by Canada at the MTN.

rather than the proposed code, and it is not clear at this time how the reconciliation of this "alternative document" with the proposed code will be achieved.

Structure and Principles of Proposed Code (Page 3 to 13)

In addition to a preamble and three annexes, the proposed agreement consists of four major parts: Part I, containing rules on customs valuation (Articles 1-17); Part II, providing for administration and dispute resolution (Articles 18-20); Part III, dealing with special and differential treatment for developing countries (Article 21); and Part IV, the final provisions (Articles 22-31).

The proposed code is basically a positive system 1/ which provides a primary standard based on the transaction value of the imported goods, determined either at the place of exportation or place of importation (as determined by each country acceding to the agreement), and several alternative valuation standards to be used when the actual conditions of the next higher ranking standard are not met.

If the transaction value of the imported goods (the primary standard of Article 1) is rejected as the basis of valuation, the transaction value of identical goods (Article 2) would be used as the basis of valuation, with appropriate adjustments for differences in quantities and/or commercial levels. If the value cannot be determined under this method, the transaction value of similar goods (Article 3) would be used (again with appropriate adjustments)

^{1/} A positive standard defines customs valuation in terms of the price at which goods are sold under specified conditions. Because it bases valuation on actual sales under specified conditions, it requires, in ranking order, one or more additional standards to provide alternatives for valuation when the actual conditions of the next higher ranking standard are not met.

and if a value still cannot be found, the deductive method found in Article 5, which is based on the resale price of the imported goods, would be used. If the value cannot be determined by any of the foregoing methods, the computed value method provided for in Article 6 would form the basis of valuation.

Article 4 of the proposed code allows the importer to elect to reverse Article 5 with Article 6 in order of precedence. Finally, when a value cannot be determined under any of the valuation methods prescribed in Articles 1 through 6 of the code, Article 7 provides that "the value shall be determined using reasonable means consistent with the principles and general provisions of this code and Article VII of the General Agreement." An interpretative note to this Article provides that the methods of valuation to be used are those provided in Articles 1 through 6, but with a reasonable flexibility in their application. Further, the note provides that the customs values determined under this article "should be based to the greatest possible extent on previously determined customs values".

The transaction price of the imported goods may be rejected as the basis of appraisement under four circumstances, which are provided for in Article 1. The most significant concerns the relationship of the buyer and seller. If the buyer and seller are related, the transaction value may be used only if the circumstances surrounding the sale demonstrate that such relationship did not influence the price (Article 1(2)(a)), or the importer demonstrates that the transaction value closely approximates one of several other enumerated values (Article 1(2)(b)).

The other three circumstances which may cause the transaction value of the imported goods to be rejected as the basis of appraisement are--

- if there are restrictions as to the disposition or use of the goods by the buyer (other than those which are required by law, or limit the geographical area where goods may be sold, or don't substantially affect the value of the goods);
- ii) if the sale or price is subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined; and
- iii) if part of the proceeds of the resale of the goods by the buyer will accrue directly or indirectly to the seller.

Although the first three methods of valuation set forth in part I of the proposed valuation code establish "the price paid or payable" or the actual transaction price of designated goods as the basis of valuation, article 8 provides for a number of adjustments to this price for such items as place (e.g., adjust c.i.f. price to f.o.b.), the value of additional consideration which the buyer is obliged to discharge, selling commissions, brokerage fees, and assists.

Comparative Analysis of Proposed Code With U.S. Valuation System (Pages 17 to 28 and 34 to 46)

The current U.S. valuation system, like the proposed valuation code, is basically positive in concept, but is composed of two separate and distinct laws of appraisement set forth in sections 402 and 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended. Section 402 contains four bases of valuation (export value, U.S. value, constructed value, and American selling price), and section 402a contains five bases of valuation (foreign value, export value, U.S. value, cost of production, and American selling price). Although the terms describing the different bases of valuation under section 402 and 402a may be the same or similar, they often differ in definition. The definitions under section 402a

were developed through administrative rulings and judicial decisions. In creating section 402, the Congress redefined certain of these terms. Articles listed in Treasury Decision (T.D.) 54521, the so-called Final List, are subject to appraisement in accordance with the provisions of section 402a; imports of such articles made up less than 15 percent of all U.S. customs entries in 1976. All other articles are appraised under section 402.

With the exception of the American selling price (ASP) basis of appraisement, the valuation methods of section 402, which are used more than 80 percent of the time in the United States, are similar in many respects to the valuation methods provided for in the proposed valuation code. With respect to the key valuation elements of merchandise valued and place of valuation, the proposed standards are either similar to or can accommodate the existing U.S. standard with little measurable difference. With respect to quantity, U.S. law requires valuation on the basis of the "usual wholesale quantities", while the proposed code bases valuation on the quantity of goods undergoing appraisement. Since customs officers usually accept the actual transaction quantity as the "usual wholesale quantity", this difference in the standard would have little practical effect. The U.S. standards specify that valuation is to be made at the wholesale level; the proposed code employs the transaction level as the relevant level for valuation. Finally, whereas the customs value under the proposed code is based on the price applicable at the time of contract or transaction, U.S. law uses the time of exportation. For most transactions, the practical effect is the same.

Although there are many similarities between the two systems with respect to the element of "competitive conditions", the proposed code appears to be more liberal in providing for acceptance of a related-party transaction for purposes

of Article 1 than U.S. law is in accepting such transactions for export-value purposes. For example, tests ii, iii, and iv in paragraph 2(b) of Article 1 are not acceptable tests in current U.S. law for determining whether a price to a related buyer "fairly reflects market value". The thrust of Article 1 and of the entire code seems to be to accept the transaction value whenever possible. It would therefore appear that U.S. adoption of the code would be likely to result in more frequent utilization of the transaction price between related parties as the basis for determining the customs value of imported merchandise.

The two valuation systems are very similar in technique. The first three bases of valuation under the proposed code (Articles 1, 2, and 3), taken together, are analogous to U.S. export value. Under both systems, the starting point is the price of the actual transaction, which may be adjusted in several respects. In addition to the adjustments in charges necessary to express the price in terms of the proper place (e.g., adjust c.i.f. price to f.o.b.), the proposed rules provide for additions to the price paid or payable for the c.st of selling commissions, brokerage, containers, and packing, and for certain "assists" 1/ which are provided to the seller by the importer without charge or at a-reduced cost, to the extent that such amounts are incurred but not included in such price.

For the most part, all these adjustments are made in a similar manner under U.S. valuation law. The only exception is that, whereas all assists are dutiable under U.S. law regardless of their source, assists consisting of engineering, development, art work, design work, and plans and sketches are to be added to the price paid or payable in determining the customs value under the proposed code only when "they are undertaken elsewhere than in the country of importation".

^{1/} The term "assists" refers to assets, such as blueprints, dies, molds, parts, components or tooling.

Under both systems, similar adjustments are made to the transaction price of identical or similar merchandise when the price of the goods being valued cannot be used.

The valuation techniques for U.S. value (section 402) and the valuation method prescribed in Article 4 are very similar. Both start with the resale price in the country of importation of the goods being appraised and provide for adjustments for commissions and/or general expenses and profit, transportation expenses, duties, and other charges. Finally, the U.S.-constructed-value method and the computed-value method provided for in Article 5 provide for similar valuation techniques. Both attempt to construct a dutiable value by adding the cost or value of materials, fabrication, profit, and general expenses.

Comparative Analysis of Proposed Code With Brussels Definition of Value (BDV) (Pages 29 to 32 and 46 to 51)

The major difference between the BDV, which is used by all the world's major trading countries except the United States and Canada, and the proposed valuation code is that whereas the BDV is notional in concept, i.e., with a single valuation standard based on a price which merchandise would fetch under certain ideal conditions, the proposed code is a positive system with a primary standard based on the transaction price at which the merchandise is sold under specified conditions and with several alternative standards which are used when those conditions do not exist.

The BDV provides, without exception, that the customs value of imported goods shall be their "normal price", i.e., the price the goods would fetch, delivered to the buyer at the place of importation, at the time the import duty becomes payable, on a sale in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of each other. The seller is assumed to bear all expenses incidental

to the delivery of the goods to the port of importation (except recoverable duties and taxes, e.g., drawbacks, applicable in the country of exportation). If certain circumstances of the sale are not in accord with the elements of the BDV, the transaction price is adjusted (or "uplifted") to account for the differences.

Notwithstanding the basic conceptual differences between the two valuation systems, there are some similarities between them. With respect to the merchandise valued, the explanatory notes to the BDV recommend that the actual transaction price of the imported goods be accepted as the basis for valuation, subject--

- (a) to proper safeguards aimed at preventing evasion of duty by means of fictitious or colourable contracts or prices; and
- (b) to such adjustment of the contract price as may be considered necessary on account of circumstances differentiating the contract from the notional concept embodied in the Definition of Value.

In practice, it appears that the transaction price of the imported merchandise is the basis for customs valuation in most cases under the BDV. Further, both the BDV and the proposed code base valuation on the quantity and transaction level of the imported merchandise. The material time and place for valuing merchandise under the BDV are the "time when the duty becomes payable" and the place of importation. The proposed code allows use of the place of importation, but implicitly provides for the use of the time of transaction rather than the time when the duty becomes payable.

The BDV and the proposed code are also somewhat similar in valuation technique in that they both look primarily to the transaction price of the

imported goods as the basis of valuation and then make appropriate adjustments to that price. The proposed code, however, requires strict adherence to the hierarchy of valuation standards (Articles 2-7) when the actual transaction price cannot be used, whereas the BDV allows a great deal of flexibility and arbitrariness in determining the customs value, and places heavy emphasis on customs/importer consultations.

Comparative Analysis of Proposed Code With Canadian Valuation System (Pages 32 to 33 and 51 to 52)

Of the three existing valuation systems under discussion, the Canadian system is the most dissimilar to the proposed code in that it bases valuation for most importations on the "fair market value", that is, the price of like goods for home consumption in the country of exportation, rather than on the transaction value of the imported goods, which is the primary basis for valuation under the proposed code, the U.S. system, and the BDV. The Canadian system uses the time of exportation and the place from which the goods were shipped directly to Canada in determining dutiable value.

Both the Canadian system and the proposed code base valuation on the actual quantity and transaction level of the imported goods. Whereas the Canadian valuation system requires that the "fair market value" be a price at which the goods are sold in the ordinary course of trade to persons "not controlled by or in control of or otherwise related to the purchaser", the proposed code would allow transactions between related parties to be used as the basis for valuation if it could be demonstrated that such relationship did not influence the transaction price.

As a result of the differences discussed above, the valuation technique utilized under the Canadian valuation system differs greatly from that of the proposed code .

The Proposed Code as an International Standard (Page 53)

The Commission supports the concept of a transaction-value-based international valuation code and notes that the preamble to the proposed valuation code enumerates certain principles of valuation which comply with the Commission's seven basic principles of customs valuation enunciated in its March 1973 report to the Senate Finance Committee and its Subcommittee on International Trade. However, the Commission questions whether the proposed code could constitute a uniform international standard of customs valuation when the question of place (that is, c.i.f. as opposed to f.o.b.) is left to the discretion of individual countries.

Overall Probable Economic Effect on Imports and on Domestic Industry of Adopting the Proposed Code (Pages 54 to 55)

The proposed code would allow each signatory to decide whether to adopt the code on an f.o.b. or a c.i.f. basis. Since most U.S. imports are currently appraised on an f.o.b. basis, it has been assumed, for the purpose of analyzing the overall probable economic effect of adopting the code and identifying importsensitive industries particularly affected by its adoption, that the United States, should it decide to adopt the code, would continue its current practice in this regard. A subsequent section of this report addresses the probable economic effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis.

In view of the fact that the methods of valuation provided for in Part I of the proposed code are similar in many respects to the current U.S. standards of export value, U.S. value, and constructed value as defined by section 402 of

the Tariff Act, the primary practical effect of U.S. adoption of the code would be the elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement and the methods of appraisement provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act, the most noteworthy of which is foreign value. Since less than 5 percent of current U.S. customs entries are appraised on the basis of ASP or foreign value, it is the Commission's judgment that the overall probable economic effect on imports and on domestic industry of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be minimal.

Import-Sensitive Industries Affected by U.S. Adoption of the Proposed Valuation System (Pages 55 to 56)

The domestic industries which would be most affected by the adoption of the proposed valuation code are those whose products are protected by the American selling price bases of valuation (e.g., benzenoid chemicals, certain footwear, and certain clams) and those currently protected by the foreign-value basis of valuation under section 402a of the Tariff Act.

In order to minimize the impact of the adoption of the proposed valuation code on these industries, the Special Representative for Trade Negotiations (STR) asked the Commission to prepare a schedule of converted rates of duty which would have provided an amount of duty on imports of the affected products during a recent representative period substantially equivalent to the amount collected on articles subject to the ASP system and on articles on the Final List. The Commission transmitted a schedule of converted rates to STR in June 1978; a copy of that schedule is attached in appendix G. The Commission's schedule of converted rates has been used by STR as the basis for U.S. offers of tariff reductions in the MTN.

Effect on articles currently appraised on the basis of American selling price (Pages 56 to 57)

Under the ASP method of appraisement, the rate of duty for a particular imported article is applied on the basis of the value of a U.S.-produced article

like or similar to, or competitive with, the imported article, regardless of the actual transaction value of the imported product. The result is a flexible, dynamic tariff system under which articles that are competitive with U.S. products may be assessed duties several times higher than there assessed on other articles classified in the same tariff provision, but for which there are no competitive U.S. products.

The articles currently subject to duty under the ASP bases of valuation are benzenoid chemicals, certain plastic- or rubber-soled footwear with fabric uppers, certain canned clams, and wool knit gloves and mittens valued not over \$1.75 per dozen pairs.

Degree of equivalency of protection achieved by the converted rates

(Pages 57 to 59).—Although no converted rates of duty could be devised which
would provide protection "equivalent" to that afforded by the ASP system, the
converted rates of duty provide a substantially equivalent degree of protection
on an overall basis for the domestic industries producing articles like or
similar to those currently receiving ASP protection.

A unique feature of the ASP system of valuation is that the appraised value is based on the American selling price of a competitive domestic product irrespective of the actual transaction value. Under conventional methods of valuation the appraisal is based on the transaction value or an approximation thereof. Thus, the ASP system in effect permits the U.S. producer to set the value on which his competitor's (the importer's) products will be appraised and gives to the domestic industry the opportunity to achieve a duty increase by merely going into competition with the imported product. In addition, the amount of duty collected automatically responds to price changes by U.S. producers. Contrary to conventional methods of valuation, under the ASP system a change in the export

price by a foreign supplier has no effect on the duty. Any change to a basis of valuation other than the ASP system eliminates these key features and thus lessens the degree of protection.

The converted rates represent the Commission's best effort to determine rates of duty applicable to products subject to ASP valuation which, in the absence of the ASP system, would have provided an amount of revenue equivalent to that collected in a recent representative period on the basis of the ASP system. It should, however, be remembered that the degree of protection achieved by the converted rates will differ from the present level of protection since (1) no matter what base period is chosen, whether it be any 1 year or any series of years, no future period will ever be exactly the same, especially in the mix and unit prices of imports, and (2) the combination of various chemical compounds in "basket" classes necessarily involved balancing increases and decreases, of varying degree, in the equivalent converted rates of individual compounds.

Benzenoid chemicals (Pages 59 to 64).—The benzenoid chemicals and products subject to ASP provisions are certain cyclic organic chemicals and products having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified benzenoid structure, as well as certain cyclic and acyclic chemicals and products which are obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from cyclic products having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified benzenoid structure. Benzenoid chemical crudes, benzenoid elastomers, and most benzenoid chemicals produced from naturally occurring animal or vegetable products are not subject to the ASP provisions. Data on U.S. production and sales, domestic producers, employment, exports, and imports of benzenoid chemicals are contained in the body of this report.

xviii

Adoption of the proposed code in conjunction with the converted rates should have no appreciable effect on total imports of benzenoid chemicals and products or on domestic industries producing like or directly competitive chemicals or products.

Footwear (Pages 64 to 80).—Footwear classified under item 700.60 of the TSUS is subject to valuation under the ASP method of appraisement. Host of the footwear classified under that item has uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics. However, item 700.60 also includes footwear having uppers of fabric and plastics in which less than 90 percent of the exterior surface area of the upper is rubber or plastics. Included in this provision is footwear commonly referred to as sneakers (also known as tennis shoes or basketball shoes) as well as certain athletic shoes, joggers, casual shoes designed for leisure, street, or beachwear, slippers, sandals, and boots such as snowmobile and fishing boots. Data on U.S. consumption, U.S. production, and imports of footwear are set out in the body of this report.

Proposed U. S. offer (Pages 76 to 78).—Under the U.S. tariff offer, which is described on pages 76 to 78 of this report, item 700.60 would be divided into nine separate provisions with duty rates ranging from the current 20 percent ad valorem to 48 percent ad valorem.

Degree to which the converted rates would provide equivalent protection (Pages 78 to 80).— The proposed U.S. offer of converted rates differs from the rates proposed by the Commission in its report to STR, which were considered to afford substantially equivalent protection, on an overall basis, to that afforded by the ASP method of valuation.

The Commission has concluded, however, on the basis of its analysis of the U.S. offer (see pages 78 to 80), that the adoption of the proposed code in conjunction

with the U.S. tariff offer of converted rates should not have an appreciable effect on imports or on the domestic industry producing like or directly competitive footwear.

Clama (Pages 80 to 83).—TSUS item 114.05 covers clams in airtight containers other than razor clams (but including clam pastes and sauces). About one-half of the imports under item 114.05 are estimated to be appraised on the basis of ASP. Boiled whole baby clams make up the bulk of these imports, the remainder consisting mostly of canned minced or chopped clams. Data on U.S. imports, production, and consumption of clams may be found in the body of the report.

The proposed converted rates closely reflect the current effective rates of duty applicable to class subject to ASP valuation. Therefore, adoption of the proposed valuation code in conjunction with the converted rates should have no appreciable effect on imports of class currently subject to ASP valuation or on domestic industries producing like or directly competitive class.

Wool knit gloves (Page 82).—As a result of a Commission investigation under section 336 of the Tariff Act of 1930, gloves and mittens, finished or unfinished, wholly or in chief value of wool, valued at not more than \$1.75 per dozen pairs, if knit, became subject to duty on the basis of the American selling price of like or similar domestic articles, effective March 22, 1936. These gloves and mittens are currently provided for in TSUS item 704.55 at the column 1 rate of duty of 30 cents per pound plus 26 percent ad valorem and the column 2 rate of duty of 40 cents per pound plus 35 percent ad valorem.

Importations of wool knit gloves and mittens valued at not more than \$1.75 per dozen pairs virtually ceased in the late 1930's. The value limitation of item 704.55 (less than 15 cents per pair) would preclude any imports under it even if

the ASP provision were not in existence. The current cost of even low-grade wool yarn and the rise in labor costs since the 1930's make imports of this item most improbable. The proposed converted rates of duty for TSUS item 704.55 are therefore the existing rates.

Effect on articles currently on the Final List (Page 83 to 87)

Articles listed in T.D. 54521 (see Appendix B) are subject to appraisement in accordance with the provisions of section 402s of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended. This so-called Final List was established by section 6(a) of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956.

Final List articles which would be significantly affected (Pages 83 to 86).—
Articles subject to appraisement under section 402a include such major imported commodities as automobiles (TSUS item 692.10), televisions (item 685.20), tires (item 772.51), cameras (item 722.16), and ball bearings (item 680.35). There are more than 1,000 Final List descriptions, and Final List articles account for approximately 10 percent of the value of U.S. imports.

The Commission determined, in its report on investigation No. 332-98, that ball and roller bearings and parts thereof (TSUS item 680.35) and certain pneumatic tires (TSUS item 772.51) are the only articles on the Final List for which U.S. adoption of the proposed code would result in a change in the amount of duty collected large enough to have a significant economic effect on imports of those products, or on the domestic industry producing like or directly competitive products. Both of these articles are currently appraised on the basis of foreign value. The converted rates of duty which were provided to STR for those articles and which formed the basis for U.S. offers on these articles at the MTN are as follows:

Item No.	Description	Current col. 1 rate of duty	Proposed col. 1 rate of duty
680.35	Ball and roller bearings and parts thereof.	1.7¢ per 1b +	1.7¢ per 1b +
	harra cuereor.	7.5% ad val.	10.9% ad val-
772.51	Certain pneumatic		
	tires.	4% ad val.	5.7% ad val.

Adoption of the proposed code in conjunction with the converted rates of duty will have little total effect on the domestic industries concerned.

Effect of Adopting the Proposed System on a C.I.F. Basis (Pages 88 to 91)

Overall effect (Pages 88 to 90)

Since articles imported into the United States are currently appraised on either an f.o.b. or ex-factory basis, ocean freight, insurance, and other charges incurred in bringing the merchandise from the country of exportation to the port of entry in the United States are not considered part of dutiable value. The adoption of the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis would therefore result in an increase in duty for those articles which are subject to ad valorem or compound duty rates, since such transportation charges would become dutiable. The following table illustrates what would have happened to the cost of 1976 imports if they had been valued according to the c.i.f. method: importers would have paid \$133,496,778,000 for 1976 imports instead of \$133,203,725,000.

xxii

Total cost of 1976 imports under the present method of valuation and under the c.i.f. method

(In thousands of	Dollars)	
	Present	: C.1.f.
:	method of	: method of
:	valuation	: valuation
Imports	121,120,869	: 121,120,869 :
other charges:	7,408,149	: 7,408,149
Duties:		: 4,967,760
Total cost of importation	\$133,203,725	: \$133,496,778
in the contract of the contrac		•

The difference in cost is \$293,053,000, and results from the increased duty collection; it is equal to 0.22 percent of the cost of all 1976 imports. This 0.22 percent increase is not considered substantial and should not have an economic impact on the overall level of imports, especially since more than 60 percent of U.S. imports are currently free or subject to specific rates of duty and, therefore, are unaffected by c.i.f. valuation.

Impact on countries of origin (Pages 90 to 91)

Since transportation charges are higher on imports from distant countries than on imports from nearby countries, it would be expected that changing from the present method of valuation to the c.i.f. method would cause greater increases in the cost of imports from distant countries. Although the cost of imports from distant countries would, in fact, increase more than that of imports from near countries, the difference is so small that its effect would not be noticeable. If only imports subject to ad valorem duties are considered, the cost increase resulting from higher transportation and insurance costs is less than 1 percent for most commodities entering the United States, regardless of source. The increase for distant areas such as Japan and for less distant areas such as the EC, other European countries, and the Middle East is small--0.5 percent, 0.4 percent,

0.5 percent, and 0.3 percent, respectively—compared with a smaller increase of 0.01 percent for the contiguous countries, Canada and Mexico. The cost increase for Asia, which would be slightly above 1 percent, results in large part from the high ad valorem rates of duty on textiles.

Probable Economic Effect on U.S. Exports of Adoption of the Proposed Code by Our Major Trading Partners (Pages 92 to 95)

In view of the fact that all our major trading partners except Canada use some form of the BDV for valuing imported merchandise, this analysis will concentrate on the probable economic effect on U.S. exports of adoption of the proposed code by countries currently using the BDV.

Although sufficient data are not available to provide the committees with a detailed economic analysis of the probable effect on U.S. exports of adoption of the proposed code by our major trading partners currently using the BDV, certain observations may be made.

First, it appears that current U.S. exports to BDV countries which do not involve transactions between related parties would continue to be appraised on the basis of the transaction value under the proposed code. In addition, it is likely that some related-party transactions now subject to "uplift" would be valued on the basis of the transaction value.

It is likely that related-party shipments to developed countries would be appraised under the proposed code at a value that approximates the appraised value under the BDV, since many developed countries currently use some form of the proposed alternative standards as a basis for determining the amount of uplift. However, it is our understanding that with respect to the valuation practices of a number of developing countries, the uplift determination is more arbitrary. In

this regard, the adoption of the proposed valuation code by our major trading partners would provide U.S. exporters with the assurance that exported merchandise will be subject to customs valuation in accordance with a reasonable and equitable valuation standard. In addition, the use of a single international code would enable exporters which frequently ship their goods to a number of countries to more easily predict the customs valuation of their merchandise in those countries which employ the international code. Market planning would be simplified for those companies.

Potential Effect of Adoption of the Proposed Valuation Code on U.S. Customs Administration (Pages 96 to 98)

The practical effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be the elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement, the foreign-value, and other methods of valuation provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act, which apply to articles on the Final List, and the elimination of such terms as "freely offered", "principal market", "usual wholesale quantities", and "ordinary course of trade" from U.S. law.

The elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement would have a beneficial effect on U.S. customs administration, since it is the most difficult U.S. valuation method for Customs to administer. Customs must currently make a determination with respect to every imported article which is potentially subject to ASP valuation as to whether a domestically produced product which is like or similar to the imported product is being freely offered for sale in the United States. Often there may be several such products available, and Customs must determine which such product is most similar to the imported product. This is a time-consuming process which requires a subjective judgment to be made by the customs officer.

The adoption of the proposed code would eliminate the need to have a Final List since it would provide a single set of valuation methods which are analogous to those provided in section 402 of the Tariff Act. It would eliminate the need for U.S. customs officers to familiarize themselves with two separate sets of customs laws which are very similar on their face but have very subtle differences in application. It would also eliminate foreign value, which must be determined under section 402a for every importation so that it may be compared with the export value as determined under section 402a. The foreign value method requires Customs to ascertain the price at which such or similar merchandise is being sold in the home market of the country of exportation. This delays the appraisement process since Customs is usually unable to appraise the merchandise on the basis of documents provided with the entry itself. Frequently a time-consuming foreign investigation must be instituted by Customs in order to get the necessary data to appraise merchandise on the basis of foreign value.

Finally, the elimination of terms such as "freely offered" and "usual wholesale quantities" from U.S. law should facilitate the appraisement process for Customs.

U. S. Implementation of the Proposed Code (Page 99)

In order for the United States to implement the proposed valuation code, it would be necessary for Congress to repeal current sections 402 and 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 1401a and 1402) and to enact the substantive sections of part I of the proposed code, which contains the rules of customs valuation, in lieu thereof. Conforming amendments would also have to be made in all Federal statutes which make reference to current sections 402 and 402a of xxvi

the Tariff Act, such as the Tariff Schedules of the United States (19 U.S.C. 1202). Appropriate amendments would also have to be made to those parts of section 336 of the Tariff Act (19 U.S.C. 1336) which refer to ASP, and some modification may have to be made to section 500 of the Tariff Act (19 U.S.C. 1500), which sets out appraisement, classification, and liquidation procedures.

XXVII

PART 1. PROPOSED VALUATION CODE

Background and Origin

In November 1977, the European Community (EC) tabled a "draft valuation code" for consideration by the Customs Matters Subgroup on Non-Tariff Measures at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN) in Geneva. The proposed code was prompted, in large part, by longstanding complaints about U.S. valuation practices—their complexity, the use of the American selling price (ASP) method of valuation and the Final List—and by the desire to establish a fair and uniform valuation system which would be used by all of the world's major trading countries and would conform to the principles provided in Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT).

The final text of the proposed valuation agreement (GATT document MTN/NTM/W/229, Corr. 1, 2 April 1979, which is attached as Appendix A) differs substantially in many respects from that which was originally tabled in 1977 as the result of many months of detailed negotiations among the United States, the EC, Japan, the Nordic countries, Canada, and a number of developing countries. However, the basic premise of the agreement—that the customs value should, to the greatest extent possible, be based on the transaction value of the imported merchandise—has remained intact since the beginning of the negotiations, and is embodied in the preamble and Article 1 of the proposed agreement.

Current Status

On April 12, 1979, a number of developed countries, including the United States, the EC, Japan, the Nordic countries, and Canada, formally expressed their intention to accede to the valuation agreement and implement its provisions in their domestic law by initialing the proposed agreement. However, no developing country chose to initial the agreement. Many developing countries are seeking

to smend the proposed agreement to provide additional "special provisions to meet the trade, financial and development needs of such countries", and have circulated a document at the MTN providing for such amendments. 1/ It appears that most developing countries have decided to initial this "alternative document" rather than the proposed code. It is not clear at this time how the reconciliation of this alternative document with the proposed code will be achieved.

There had been serious question as to whether Canada would accede to the proposed agreement. Canada has maintained since the outset of the negotiations that adoption of a valuation system based on transaction value would result in a substantial decline in Canadian customs revenues and would adversely affect Canadian industries. It appears that Canada agreed to initial the proposed agreement, without a formal reservation, only after receiving assurances from the United States, the EC, and other key participants in the negotiations that Canada—

- i) would have up to four years from the date of entry into force of the agreement to implement the agreement;
- ii) would be able to adjust its tariff rates (without paying compensation to other parties) to maintain existing levels of tariff protection in those cases where implementation of the agreement would reduce such protection; 2/
- iii) could take reasonable measures to deal with "unfair and predatory trading practices"; 3/ and
- iv) could take reasonable and appropriate measures to deal with so-called special valuation cases (i.e. used goods, off-quality goods, etc.) which have been identified by Canada at the MTN. 4/

^{1/} This document (MTN/NTM/W/222/Rev. 1, 27 March 1979) is set out in Appendix J.

^{2/} Canada recognizes the rights of other parties under the GATT to seek redress if such adjustments appear to be excessive.

^{3/} Any valuation measures taken by Canada must be consistent with the valuation agreement and any other measures must be consistent with Canada's obligations under other international agreements.

^{4/} Such measures should not provide protection any greater than that which is currently provided.

Structure and Principles of Proposed Code

The proposed valuation code, the full text of which appears in Appendix A, is basically a positive system 1/ which provides a primary standard based on the transaction value of the imported goods, and several alternative valuation standards to be used in a hierarchical order when the actual conditions of the next higher ranking standard are not met.

In addition to a preamble and three annexes, 2/ the agreement consists of four major parts: Part I, containing rules on customs valuation (Articles 1-17); Part II, providing for administration and dispute resolution (Articles 18-20); Part III, dealing with special and differential treatment for developing countries (Article 21); and Part IV, the final provisions (Articles 22-31).

Preamble

The preamble briefly sets out some of the objectives and principles of the agreement, such as--

^{1/} Most of the standards in use today are based on one or both of two valuation concepts--positive and notional. A positive standard defines customs valuation in terms of the price at which goods are sold under specified conditions. Because it bases valuation on actual sales under specified conditions, it requires, in ranking order, one or more additional standards to provide alternatives for valuation when the actual conditions of the next higher ranking standard are not met. Thus, a system of two or more standards is required under the positive concept for valuation of imported goods.

A notional standard, on the other hand, defines customs valuation in terms of the price at which goods would be sold under specified conditions. Because the notional standard bases valuation on a hypothetical set of circumstances, it permits the customs officer to make modifications or adjustments in the appraisement, as required, to meet the standard. Thus, one notional standard may constitute an entire valuation system. The Brussels Definition of Value (BDV) is an example of a notional valuation system.

To insure complete coverage of all valuation possibilities, positive valuation systems may have residual standards which are notional in concept.

2/ Annex I contains interpretative notes to the agreement, Annex II sets out the responsibilities and rules of procedure for the "Technical Committee on Customs Valuation" and Annex III sets forth the procedures for "ad hoc panels".

- to further the objectives of the GATT and to benefit the international trade of developing countries;
- ii) to establish rules to implement Article VII of the GATT which would provide for greater uniformity and certainty; and
- iii) to establish a fair, uniform and neutral valuation system which is based on simple and equitable criteria consistent with commercial practices.

The preamble further provides that valuation procedures should not be used to combat dumping and that the transaction value of the imported goods, should, to the greatest extent possible, be the basis for customs value.

Part I-Rules on customs valuation

Part I of the proposed valuation agreement (Articles 1-17) contains the substantive rules for valuing imported merchandise under the code. Articles 1 through 8 establish the methods of customs valuation which are to be applied in a hierarchical manner (i.e. the valuation method provided for in Article 2 may only be used if a valid customs value cannot be established using the valuation method prescribed in Article 1, and so on). Articles 9 through 17 contain miscellaneous provisions dealing with matters such as currency conversion, importers' right of appeal, confidentiality of information supplied to Customs, and definitions of terms used in Articles 1 through 8.

Methods of customs valuation. — The proposed valuation code establishes five basic methods of customs valuation. Each of the alternative valuation methods is summarized briefly below in the order in which they should be applied:

1. The transaction value, which is defined as the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods with adjustments for certain costs, charges, and expenses specified in Article 8 of the code, which are incurred but not reflected in the price actually paid or payable for the goods.

- The transaction value of identical goods 1/ sold for export to the same country, and exported at or about the same time as the imported goods.
- 3. The transaction value of similar goods 2/ sold for export to the same country and exported at or about the same time as the imported goods.
- 4. The price at which the imported goods or identical or similar imported goods are sold in the greatest aggregate quantity to unrelated persons in the country of importation in the same condition as imported, 3/ subject to deductions for commissions or profit and general expenses, transport and insurance costs, customs duties and certain other costs, charges and expenses incurred as a result of reselling the goods.
- 5. The computed value of the imported goods which is determined by summing the cost of producing the article, an amount for general expenses and profit, and the cost or value of all other expenses necessary to reflect the valuation option (i.e., f.o.b. or c.i.f.) chosen by the signatory under Article 8(2).

Hierarchical application of the methods of valuation. —As mentioned above, the proposed code provides that the various valuation methods are to be applied in a hierarchical fashion. If, as explained below, the primary standard which is based on the transaction value of the imported goods (Article 1) is rejected as the basis of valuation, the transaction value of identical goods would be used as the basis of valuation (Article 2), based on a customs value which has already been accepted under Article 1 with appropriate adjustments

^{1/} The term "identical goods" is defined in Article 15 of the code to mean goods which are the same as the imported goods in all respects, including physical characteristics, quality and reputation and which were produced in the same country. Goods produced by the same person take precedence over goods produced by a different person.

^{2/} The term "similar goods" means goods which have like characteristics and like component materials, which enable them to perform the same functions and to be commercially interchangeable with the imported goods. As with "identical goods", the goods must have been produced in the same country as the imported goods and goods produced by the same person take precedence over goods produced by a different person.

^{3/} If the imported or identical or similar goods are not sold in the country of importation in the condition as imported, the importer may still choose to have his merchandise valued by Customs using this valuation method, with due allowance being made for the value added by the processing performed in the country of importation.

for differences in quantities and/or commercial levels. If the value cannot be determined under this method, the transaction value of similar goods would be used (Article 3) (again based on a customs value which has already been accepted under Article 1 with appropriate adjustments), and if a value still cannot be found, the deductive method found in Article 5, which is based on the resale price in the importing country of the imported goods, would be used provided that the goods were not processed in the country of importation prior to resale. If the imported goods were so processed, this method may still be used, if the importer so chooses, with "due allowance being made for the value added by such processing". If the value cannot be determined by any of the foregoing methods, the computed value method of Article 6 would form the basis of valuation. Finally, in those rare instances where a value cannot be determined under any of the valuation methods prescribed in Articles 1 through 6 of the code, Article 7 provides that "the customs value shall be determined using reasonable means consistent with the principles and general provisions of this code and Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, hereinafter referred to as the GATT, and on the basis of data available in the country of importation". Several valuation methods are specifically precluded from being used as a basis for determining customs value under this article, including the American selling price (ASP) and foreign value methods which are currently used in the United States. An interpretative note to this article provides that the methods of valuation to be used are those laid down in Articles 1 through 6, but with a reasonable flexibility in their application $\frac{1}{2}$ and that the customs values determined under this article "should be based to the greatest possible extent on previously determined customs values".

^{1/} Several examples of "reasonable flexibility" are provided in the note, such as accepting the transaction value of identical goods produced in a country other than the country of exportation of the goods being valued as the basis for valuation.

Article 4 of the code provides for a departure from the code's hierarchical structure by allowing the order of application of the valuation methods provided in Article 5 (deductive method) and Article 6 (computed value) to be reversed at the option of the importer.

<u>Circumstances under which the transaction value may be rejected</u>.—There are four sets of circumstances provided in Article 1, which could result in the rejection of the transaction value as the basis of valuation.

The most significant concerns the relationship of the buyer and seller. If the buyer and seller are related, the transaction value may be accepted only if an examination of the circumstances surrounding the sale demonstrates that such relationship did not influence the price $\underline{1}$, or the importer demonstrates that the transaction value closely approximates one of several other enumerated values $\underline{2}$.

The other three circumstances which may cause the transaction value of the imported goods to be rejected as a basis of valuation are:

^{1/} For example, the buyer and seller may be able to demonstrate that, even though they are related, they are totally separate profit centers and their agreed price was the subject of arms' length negotiations.

^{2/} These values, which are enumerated in Article 1 (2)(b) are as follows:

the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers of identical or similar goods for export to the same country of importation;

ii) the customs value of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 5.

iii) the customs /alue of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 6;

iv) the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers for export to the same country of importation of goods which would be identical or similar to the imported goods except for having a different country of production provided that the sellers in the two transactions are not related.

- if there are restrictions as to the disposition or use of the goods by the buyer (other than those which are required by law, or limit the geographical area where goods may be sold, or don't substantially affect the value of the goods);
- ii) if the sale or price is subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined; and
- iii) if part of the proceeds of the resals of the goods by the buyer will accrue directly or indirectly to the seller (unless an appropriate adjustment can be made in accordance with Article 8).

Adjustments to the price paid or payable.—As noted above, the term "transaction value", as used in Article 1, means "the price actually paid or payable for the goods when sold for export to the country of importation; adjusted in accordance with the provisions of Article 8" (Emphasis added). Article 8 provides for a number of adjustments to be made to the price paid or payable.

Article 8(1)(a) provides for additions to be made to the price paid or payable for commissions and brokerage (except buying commissions), the cost of containers, and packing costs, to the extent that such costs are incurred by the buyer but not included in the price to the importer.

Article 8(1)(b) provides for the addition of the value of certain goods and services which are supplied directly or indirectly by the buyer free of charge or at reduced cost for use in connection with the production and sale for export of the imported goods (commonly referred to as "assists") to the extent that such value has not been included in the price paid or payable. Among the goods and services which should be included in the customs value are materials, components, tools, dies, molds, and similar items which are incorporated, used, or consumed in the production of the imported goods. The cost or value of engineering, development, artwork, design work and plans and sketches are to be included in

the customs value only if they are "undertaken elsewhere than in the country of importation and necessary for the production of the imported goods".

Also to be included in the transaction value of imported goods, pursuant to Article 8(1), are royalties and license fees related to the goods being valued that the buyer must pay, either directly or indirectly, as a condition of sale of the goods being valued and the value of any part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale of the goods that accrues directly or indirectly to the seller.

Article 8(2) allows each party to the agreement to provide either for the inclusion in or the exclusion from the customs value, in whole or in part, of freight, insurance, loading, unloading, and handling charges to the port or place of importation. 1/

Other provisions in Part I.—A summary of the remaining provisions in Part

I of the proposed agreement is set forth below:

- Article 9.—Rates of exchange shall be published by authorities in the country of importation and shall reflect the current values of the currencies involved (either at the time of exportation or the time of importation as provided by each party).
- Article id.--All confidential information submitted for valuation purposes shall be treated as such and not disclosed without specific permission of the submitting party, unless required by domestic legislation or judicial proceedings.
- Article 11.—Domestic legislation of each party shall provide for a right of appeal (ultimately to a judicial authority) for customs value determinations.
- Article 12.—All laws and legal instruments giving effect to the proposed rules should be published in conformity with Article X of the GATT.

^{1/} This has the effect of allowing parties to adopt the code on either an f.o.b. (free-on-board), c.i.f. (cost, insurance and freight), or ex-factory basis, as will be discussed later in this report.

- Article 13.--Delays in determining the customs value of goods, shall not prevent importers from obtaining their goods, if sufficient guarantee (such as a bond) covering the ultimate payment of customs duties is provided.
- Article 14.—The three annexes form an integral part of the agreement, and the Articles of the Agreement are to be read and applied in conjunction with their respective notes in Annex
- Article 15.—Provides definitions for the terms "customs value of imported goods", "country of importation", "identical goods", "similar goods" and "goods of the same class or kind", which are used in Part I of the agreement, and also indicates the circumstances under which persons are "deemed to be related", for purposes of the agreement.
- Article 16.—Importer, upon written request, has right to written explanation of customs value determination.
- Article 17.—The agreement does not restrict customs administrations from satisfying themselves as to the truth or accuracy of any submission for valuation purposes.

Part II--Administration and dispute resolution

Part II (Articles 18-20) establishes two committees -- a "Committee on Customs Valuation" (referred to as "the Committee") and a "Technical Committee on Customs Valuation" (referred to as the "Technical Committee") -- to administer the agreement and creates a mechanism for resolving disputes between parties to the agreement.

Agreement administration. — The Committee, which is to be composed of representatives from each of the parties, will meet annually "to consult on matters relating to the administration of the customs valuation system by any party to Agreement as it might affect the operation of this Agreement or the furtherance of its objectives, and to carry out such other responsibilities as may be assigned to it by the parties". The GATT secretariat will act as the secretariat to the Committee.

The Technical Committee would be created under the auspices of the Customs

Cooperation Council (CCC) to carry out the responsibilities assigned to it by

the parties and set forth in Annex II to the agreement with a view towards

achieving uniformity in interpretation and application of the agreement at the

technical level. Among the responsibilities assigned to the Technical Committee

are --

- To examine specific technical problems arising in the administration of the customs valuation systems and to give advisory opinions offering solutions to such problems;
- to study, as requested and prepare reports on valuation laws, procedures and practices as they relate to the agreement; and
- iii) to furnish such information and advice on customs valuation matters as may be requested by parties to the agreement.

<u>Dispute resolution</u>.—Several steps are provided for a party to follow if it considers that any benefit accruing to it under the agreement is being nullified or impaired or if any objectives of the agreement are being impeded by the actions of another party. First, the aggrieved party should request consultations with the party in question with a view to reaching a mutually satisfactory solution.

If no mutually satisfactory solution is reached between the parties within a reasonably short period of time, the Committee shall meet at the request of either party (within 30 days of receiving such request) and attempt to facilitate a mutally satisfactory solution. If the dispute is of a technical nature, the Technical Committee will be asked to examine the matter and report to the Committee within three months.

In the absence of a mutually agreeable solution from the Committee up to this point, the Committee shall, upon the request of either party, establish a panel (within three months from the date of the parties request for the Committee to investigate where the matter is not referred to the Technical

Committee, otherwise within one month from the date of the Technical Committee's report) to examine the matter and make such finding as will assist the Committee in making recommendations or giving a ruling on the matter. 1/

After the investigation is complete, the Committee shall take appropriate action (in the form of recommendations or rulings). If the Committee considers the circumstances to be serious enough, it may authorize one or more parties to suspend the application to any other party of obligations under the valuation agreement.

Part III -- Special and differential treatment

Part III of the proposed agreement (Article 21) allows developing countries which are party to the agreement—

- to delay application of its provisions for a period of five years from the date the agreement enters into force;
- ii) to delay application of articles 1, 2(b)(iii) and 6 (both of which provide for a determination of the computed value of imported goods) for a period of three years; and
- iii) to receive technical assistance (such as training of personnel, assistance in preparing implementation measures and advice on the application of the agreement's provisions) upon request, from developed countries party to the agreement.

Part IV-Final provisions

Articles 22 through 31 in Part IV of the agreement are the so-called final provisions and deal with matters such as --

- 1) acceptance and accession of the agreement;
- 11) reservations (they may not be entered without the consent of all parties);
- iii) date agreement will enter into force (January 1, 1981, for parties who have accepted by then);

^{1/} The functioning of a panel is governed by the procedures set forth in Annex III to the agreement.

- iv) conformity of national legislation;
- v) review (Committee shall review operation of agreement annually);
- vi) amendments (may be proposed by any party at any time but require unanimous cons t of all parties);
- vii) withdrawal (any party may withdraw at any time after giving 90 days notice); and
- viii) servicing of the agreement (by GATT Secretariat, except Technical Committee which will be serviced by the CCC).

PART 2. CURRENT VALUATION REQUIREMENTS

General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT)

Commitments of the contracting parties to GATT

The contracting parties to the GATT agreed to certain broad valuation principles and to certain individual elements of value which each member country undertakes to observe in its customs laws and administration. Most of the major trading countries of the world are contracting parties to the General Agreement.

Most of the provisions relating to customs valuation are in Part II of the agreement, which nearly all contracting parties, including the United States, apply only provisionally. Under the provisional commitments, each country agreed to abide by the terms of the valuation provisions in the General Agreement to the fullest extent not inconsistent with its existing legislation (i.e., as of October 30, 1947). Nevertheless, each member is obliged not to adopt new legislation or regulations that would violate the GATT provisions. Moreover, the framers of the General Agreement anticipated that the members would gradually bring their domestic legislation into conformity with the GATT guidelines.

GATT valuation principles

The GATT valuation principles, most of which are contained in Articles VII and X of the GATT 1/ are discussed below.

Goods upon which dutiable value should be based.—The GATT provides that the dutiable value of imported goods should be based on the actual value, or the nearest ascertainable equivalent, of either the imported merchandise on which duty is assessed or like merchandise of foreign origin. It should not be

^{1/} See Appendix I for the full text of these GATT provisions.

values. The uniform use of either the imported merchandise or like foreign merchandise would comply with the GATT provision.

Quantity.—The General Agreement provides that, to the extent the price of merchandise is governed by the quantity in a particular transaction, the price to be considered in determining dutiable value should uniformly be related to either comparable quantities or quantities not less favorable to importers than those in which the greater volume of such mechandise is sold in the trade between the countries of exportation and importation.

Internal taxes. -- With regard to the treatment of internal taxes in valuation standards, the GATT rules provide no option. The General Agreement provides that the value for customs purposes of imported goods should not include the amount of any internal tax levied in the country of origin or exportation from which the goods concerned either have been excepted or will be relieved.

Fully competitive conditions.—Under GATT provisions, the dutiable value of imported merchandise should be based on sales or offers for sale in the ordinary course of trade under fully competitive conditions. Interpretative notes in Annex I of the GATT state that goods may be regarded as not having been sold or offered for sale under fully competitive conditions if the buyer and seller were not independent of each other and price was not the sole consideration, or if the purchase price reflected special discounts limited to exclusive agents.

<u>Currency conversion</u>.—Several provisions of the General Agreement establish rules for converting currencies when determining the dutiable value of imported goods. They are treated briefly below.

The conversion by a contracting party of prices or values expressed in a foreign currency to determine the dutiable value of imported goods in terms of its own currency must be based on the par values of the currencies involved (as established pursuant to the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund or in accordance with a special exchange agreement entered into pursuant to Article XV of the General Agreement) or on the rate of exchange recognized by the Fund. In the absence of such established par values or rates of exchange, the conversion rate must reflect the current value of the foreign currency in commercial transactions. 1/

Additional provisions.—The GATT further provides that the bases and methods for determining dutiable value should be stable; that valuation laws should be administered in a uniform, impartial, and reasonable manner; that valuation laws, regulations, judicial decisions, and administrative rulings should be published promptly in a manner that will enable interested parties to become acquainted with them; and that independent tribunals should be provided to review administrative actions related to customs matters.

In the principles stated above, the GATT members have, in effect, agreed on a number of conceptual elements of value which they deem ought to be included in the valuation standards of the contracting parties. The GATT provisions, however, do not set forth the elements of a complete valuation standard. Lacking are certain elements commonly present in such standards which the contracting parties are left free to define as they wish. For

^{1/} Article VII:4(c) shown in Appendix I provides that the contracting parties to the General Agreement and the International Monetary Fund shall formulate rules governing the conversion of currencies for which there are multiple rates of exchange. Such rules have never been established. In their absence, contracting parties are permitted by the GATT provisions to use conversion factors which reflect the value of the currency involved in commercial transactions.

example, the GATT provisions do not restrict the contracting parties in their choice of time and place. Thus, the General Agreement does not make a choice between c.i.f. and f.o.b. valuation. Likewise, the GATT permits valuation based on the actual quantity under appraisement or on the usual wholesale quantity.

Structure and Principles of the Current U.S. System

Structure

The current U.S. valuation system, which is composed of two separate and distinct laws of appraisement, as provided for in sections 402 and 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 1/ consists of several primary standards with alternative subordinate standards. Although the U.S. system is basically positive in concept, certain notional elements are incorporated.

The five standards in section 402a are the valuation standards established by the original section 402 of the Tariff Act. Section 2 of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956 redesignated section 402 as section 402a of the Tariff Act and added a new section 402 containing four additional standards. Past administrations had sought legislation to substitute the new set of standards for the original standards. However, the original standards were retained for use in appraising those articles, known as "Final List" articles, 2/

^{1/ 19} U.S.C. 1401a and 1402.

^{2/} A list published by the Secretary of Treasury in 1958 pursuant to section 6(a) of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956 (Public Law 927, 84th Cong.). This list was published in T.D. 54521, which is reproduced in Appendix B to this report. The 1956 act directed the Secretary to list all articles for which the new standards would result in a reduction of 5 percent or more in appraised value (based on imports in fiscal 1954), and directed that such listed articles be appraised under the old law standards now set forth in section 402a.

on which the dutiable values for fiscal year 1954 would have been smaller by 5 percent or more if appraised under the new section 402 standards.

For all imported articles other than those specific articles enumerated in the headnotes of the TSUS which are subject to the American selling price (ASP) bases of appraisement, the U.S. valuation standards are used only in the following order of precedence:

Section 402 (Articles not on Final List)

- 1. The export value, or
- If export value cannot be determined satisfactorily, then the United States value, or
- If neither of the foregoing can be determined satisfactorily, then constructed value.

Section 402a (Articles on Final List)

- The foreign value or export value, whichever is higher, or
- If neither the foreign value nor export value can be satisfactorily ascertained, then the United States value;
- If none of the foregoing can be satisfactorily ascertained, then the cost of production.

Both sections 402 and 402a provide for an ASP method of appraisement. For the four groups of products which are currently subject to appraisement on the basis of ASP (certain class, benzenoid chemicals, footwear, and wool knit gloves), the progression of bases of value is as follows:

Certain Clams 1/

- 1. American selling price, or
- 2. If no ASP, then export value, or
- 3. If no ASP or export value, then U.S. value, or
- If no ASP, export value, or U.S. value, then constructed value.

Benzenoid Chemicals

Chemicals on Final List Chemicals not on Final List 1. American selling price, or 1. American selling price, or 2. If no ASP, then U.S. value, or 2. If no ASP, then U.S. value, or 3. If no ASP or U.S. value then 3. If no ASP, or U.S. value, then the foreign value or export value export value, or whichever is higher, or 4. If no ASP, U.S. value, foreign 4. If no ASP, U.S. value, or value or export value, then cost export value, the constructed of production. value.

Certain Footwear and Gloves 2/

- 1. American selling price, or
- If no ASP, then the foreign value or export value, whichever is higher, or
- If no ASP, foreign value, or export value, then U.S. value, or
- If no ASP, foreign value, export value, or U.S. value, then cost of production.

Laws of appraisement

This section briefly describes and explains the nine bases of valuation and indicates their approximate frequency of use.

^{1/} Clams are not on the Final List.

^{2/} The footwear and gloves which are subject to ASP are on the Final List.

Although the names describing the different bases of valuation under sections 402 and 402s are either the same (export value, U.S. value, American selling price) or almost the same (cost of production, constructed value), they often differ significantly by reason of definition. Standards that are identical or kindred in name and description differ because terms used in section 402s, which had acquired meanings through administrative rulings and judicial decisions, were statutorily redefined for the purposes of section 402 valuation. Abbreviated definitions for each of the nine standards are given below 1/ along with explanations of the key terms which are used in each definition.

Section 402a.—According to a survey of U.S. customs import specialists throughout the country, only about 14 percent of all import entries in 1977 were appraised according to the valuation methods provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act. 2/

Export Value.—The price, at the time of exportation to the United States, at which such or similar merchandise, packed ready for shipment to the United States, is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the usual wholesale quantities, in the principal markets of the exporting country, for export to the United States.

Export value, as defined by section 402a, bases valuation on the transaction price of the imported goods so long as that transaction price is consistent in all respects with each of the elements of the definition. However, some of the terms of the statute have been defined so rigidly that in many instances when export value does apply, the appraised value is often higher than the transaction price. The two terms which most commonly result in appraisement

^{1/} Complete statutory definitions are provided in Appendix C.

^{2/} See table 1, Appendix D.

higher than the transaction price are "freely offered for sale to all purchasers", and "usual wholesale quantities". The "freely offered" requirement has been interpreted to mean that if merchandise is sold to different classes of purchasers, for example wholesalers and retailers, only the price to the least preferred is acceptable, since that is the only "freely offered" price. Therefore, all shipments of that merchandise are appraised at the higher price, regardless of the individual transaction price of the imported goods. The "usual wholesale quantities" term is used for situations where the price of an article decreases as the purchased quantity increases. The usual wholesale quantity has been held to be determined by the greatest number of sales in wholesale quantities. This procedure can also result in imported articles being appraised at values higher than the transaction price.

Other stringent requirements of the statute have the effect of precluding the use of export value for a large number of importations. The terms "freely offered for sale to all purchasers" and "ordinary course of trade" have been interpreted literally by the courts to the extent that "freely offered" prices can have no restrictions attached limiting the use, disposition, or resale price of the merchandise, and that a refusal to sell to a purchaser or to a class of purchasers constitutes a restricted market and is, therefore, not within the meaning of the terms "ordinary course of trade" and "freely offered to all purchasers". The effect of these interpretations has been to preclude export value from being applied for all transactions involving selected and/or related purchasers. As a result of these conditions, less than one-third of the customs entries appraised under section 402a in 1977 were appraised on the basis of export value. 1/

^{1/} See table 1, Appendix D.

Foreign Value. -- The price, at the time of exportation to the United States, at which such or similar merchandise is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the usual wholesale quantities in the principal market of the exporting country for consumption in that country, plus the cost of packing the merchandise for shipment to the United States.

Foreign value, as its name implies, bases valuation on the price of merchandise for sale in the home market of the country of exportation which is "such or similar" to the imported merchandise. Since the primary standard under section 402a provides for the use of export value or foreign value, whichever is higher, the application of foreign value as the basis of appraisement usually results in an appraised value higher than the transaction price. As is the case with export value, the definition of certain terms in the foreign value standard often precludes its application. The phrase "freely offered to all purchasers" has the same definition as for export value and has the same result, i.e., appraisement at the price paid to the least-favored purchaser. For some commodities, conditions of sale in the home market are such that the statutory foreign value is sometimes determined on the basis of sales at virtually the retail level. This can cause the appraised foreign value to be more than double the transaction price for export to the United States.

In addition to the preclusion of foreign value for selected and/or related purchasers under the "freely offered" and "ordinary course of trade" definitions, the determination of "such or similar merchandise" has resulted in numerous instances where a foreign value is found not to exist. In order for home market sales to be considered in the determination of foreign value, the exported article and the domestic article must be either such (identical) or similar ((1) made of approximately the same materials, (2) commercially interchangeable, (3) adapted to substantially the same uses, and (4) so used). Using these guidelines, ball

bearings, for example, imported in metric sizes have a "such or similar" product sold in the home market and a foreign value can be established. However, ball bearings imported in other than metric sizes may not be sold in the home market, so there may be no "similar" product and, thus, no foreign value. Subtle product differences such as this, have prevented the establishment of foreign value for many other major commodities, including automobiles and televisions. Foreign value was the basis of appraisement on less than one-fourth of the customs entries appraised under section 402a in 1977 (see table 1, Appendix D).

United States Value — The price, at the time of exportation of the merchandise being valued, at which such or similar imported merchandise, packed ready for delivery, is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the usual wholesale quantities in the principal U.S. market for domestic consumption, less (a) a commission not exceeding 6 percent or profits not exceeding 8 percent and general expenses not exceeding 8 percent, (b) transportation, insurance, and other necessary expenses from the place of shipment to the place of delivery, and (c) the import duty.

U.S. value is a deductive valuation method which starts with the resale price of the imported merchandise in the United States and then deducts from that price all of the costs and expenses incurred subsequent to the exportation of the goods (such as ocean freight and insurance charges, import duty and commissions or profit realized in the resale of the goods in the United States).

As the first alternative in the section 402a progression, U.S. value is seldom used as a basis of appraisement due primarily to difficulties in determining whether "such or similar" merchandise is "freely offered". As with export value and foreign value, restrictions with respect to purchaser, use, disposition, or resale price preclude finding a statutory U.S. value. Since these restrictions are fairly common business practices, U.S. value under

section 402a can rarely be used. Also, the provision for such or similar merchandise requires that the article be resold in the United States in its imported condition. Therefore many raw materials and semifinished articles are also excluded from any U.S. value appraisement because they are generally further processed before being resold in the United States. Less than 3 percent of the customs entries valued under section 402a in 1977 were appraised on the basis of U.S. value (see table 1, Appendix D).

Cost of production —The sum of (a) the cost of producing such or similar merchandise at a time before the date of exportation which would permit production, (b) the usual general expenses (but not less than 10 percent of the cost of production) and the usual profit (but not less that 8 percent of the sum of the cost of production and the allowance for general expenses) made by producers in the country of manufacture on sales of such or similar merchandise, and (c) the cost of packing the merchandise for shipment to the United States.

The cost of production method of valuation, as its name implies, attempts to arrive at the appraised value of imported goods by aggregating all the costs and expenses associated with placing the merchandise in a packed condition ready for shipment to the United States.

Due to the strict conditions and definitions contained in the export value, foreign value, and U.S. value standards in section 402a, over one-third of Final List importations are appraised on the basis of cost of production (see table 1, Appendix D). Cost of production is often the basis of appraisement in related-party transactions when the transaction price between the buyer and seller includes little or no profit or does not include the cost of "assists" which have been supplied by the buyer to the seller. The appraised value under the cost of production method would include an amount for profit of not less than 8 percent of the sum of materials, fabrication, and general expenses and would

include the cost of all assists. Most items subject to cost of production valuation result in an appraised value greater than the transaction price.

Section 402.—Nearly 83 percent of all 1977 customs entries were appraised according to the valuation methods provided for in section 402 of the Tariff Act. 1/

Export value.—The price, at the time of exportation to the United States, at which such or similar merchandise, packed ready for shipment to the United States, is freely sold or offered for sale in the usual wholesale quantities in the principal market of the exporting country for export to the United States.

Almost all articles valued under export value as defined by section 402 are appraised at the actual transaction price, or at a value that is not significantly different from the transaction price. The definitions of terms for export value under section 402 are much less rigid than the judicial interpretations of the terms used in section 402a and reflect an attempt to correct some of the deficiencies of section 402a and to establish valuation rules which reasonably conform to business practices. Sales to selected purchasers (including related-party transactions) can be accepted as representing export value as long as Customs determines that the price "fairly reflects market value". The term "freely offered" is defined so that if price differentials exist between classes of purchasers, the price to all purchasers at the wholesale level is accepted as the appraised value. When the price differs with respect to the quantity purchased, the term "usual wholesale quantities" means the price at which the greatest aggregate volume is sold, and the price associated with that quantity is the price to be used for appraisement. Given the more realistic conditions for determining export value under the "new law",

^{1/} See table 1, Appendix D.

nearly 70 percent of all entries and over 80 percent of the entries subject to valuation under section 402 are appraised on the basis of export value (see table 1, Appendix D). Importations precluded from export value appraisement are generally sales to selected purchasers which are found not to "fairly reflect market value". These transactions are almost always related-party transactions for which Customs considers an element of value to be either missing or understated in the transaction value. Customs has established that if a price does not include all normal elements of value, the missing element cannot simply be added to "create" an export value. Also precluded from export value appraisement are importations that have no transaction value, such as articles shipped on consignment. Although consignment shipments were once common, their use today is negligible.

United States Value — The price, at the time of exportation of the merchandise being valued, at which such or similar imported merchandise, packed ready for delivery, is freely sold or offered for sale in the usual wholesale quantities in the principal U.S. market for domestic consumption, less (a) the usual commission or usual profit and general expenses, (b) transportation, insurance, and other necessary expenses from the place of shipment to the place of delivery, and (c) all customs duties and other Federal taxes payable by reason of importation.

The definitions of the major terms of U.S. value under section 402 are the same as the definitions for export value under section 402, and the calculation is the same as the calculation of U.S. value under section 402a, except that under section 402 there are no statutory maximums for general expenses and profit. U.S. value is rarely used as the basis of valuation, comprising only 2 percent of the entries appraised under section : (see table 1, Appendix D).

Constructed Value -- The sum of (a) the cost of producing such or similar merchandise at a time before the date of exportation which would permit production, (b) the usual general expenses and profit made by producers in the exporting country on sales of such or similar merchandise in the usual wholesale quantities for export to the United States, and (c) the cost of packing the merchandise for shipment to the United States.

Constructed value is very similar to the cost of production standard previously described except that it does not prescribe statutory minimums for general expenses and profit.

Due to the minimal use of U.S. value and the large number of related-party transactions that are found not to "fairly reflect market value", over 12 percent of the customs entries valued under the provisions of section 402 are appraised on the basis of constructed value (see table 1, Appendix D). Most constructed value appraisements are made at values higher than the transaction price. Usually this increase in value is due to an adjustment by Customs of three major cost areas of a constructed value appraisement -- assists, general expenses, and profits. In many transactions, particularly those involving related parties, the U.S. firm will supply the foreign manufacturer with goods or services free of charge or at a reduced cost to assist that company in the manufacture of the U.S. firm's ordered product. The value of these "assists" is not usually included in the transaction price. If Customs determines that the assist is dutiable, an upward adjustment to the transaction value is made to arrive at the dutiable constructed value. Also, many related parties employ a "transfer price" for intra-company transactions. This transfer price may bear little or no relationship to the actual cost of the goods, or may cover only costs, with no allowance for profit. In these cases, Customs must determine the direct costs of materials, and fabrication, then determine the usual general expenses and profits associated with the manufacture of similar articles by all manufacturers in the country of exportation. Under these circumstances, many constructed value appraisements are significantly higher than the transaction price.

American selling price.—Since American selling price appraisement is virtually identical under both sections 402a and 402, the definition and explanation are only considered once.

American selling price.—The American selling price of any article manufactured or produced in the United States shall be the price at which such article is freely offered for sale for domestic consumption, or the price that the manufacturer, producer, or owner would have received or was willing to receive for such merchandise at the time of exportation of the imported article.

As stated previously, only selected articles are appraised on the basis of ASP (benzenoid chemicals and certain footwear, clams, and gloves). Entries appraised on the basis of the American selling price (sections 402 and 402a) account for less than 2 percent of the entries handled by Customs (see table 1, Appendix D). Virtually all ASP entries have an appraised value that is higher than the transaction price. This is because the appraised value is based on the selling price of a U.S. manufactured article which is like or similar to the imported article and the actual transaction price of the imported article has no bearing on the appraised value. For example, an imported pair of shoes subject to ASP appraisement may have a transaction value of \$2.00 per pair. If Customs determines that there is a competitive U.S. product with a price of \$6.00 per pair, the appraised value would be \$6.00 per pair, and the duty rate of 20 percent ad valorem would be assessed on that value.

Structure and Principles of the Brussels Definition of Value (BDV)

The BDV was incorporated in the Convention on the Valuation of Goods for Customs Purposes, which was signed in Brussels on December 15, 1950, and came into force on July 28, 1953. 1/ As of June 1977, 30 countries had acceded to the Valuation Convention and an additional 74 countries at least nominally applied the BDV, without being contracting parties to the Valuation Convention. All the major trading partners of the United States, except Canada, apply the BDV.

The BDV provides, without exception, that the customs value of imported goods shall be their "normal price", i.e., the price the goods would fetch, delivered to the buyer at the place of importation, at the time the import duty becomes payable, on a sale in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of each other. The seller is assumed to bear all expenses incidental to the delivery of the goods to the port of importation (except recoverable duties and taxes, e.g., drawbacks, applicable in the country of exportation). If the normal price depends on the quantity sold, the quantity to be considered is assumed to be the same as that in the shipment being valued.

The BDV thus establishes a standard based on value at the place of importation. It establishes a notional concept of valuation—i.e., the value to be determined is the price the goods would command if sold in accordance with specified terms. It is a single standard, applicable to all goods irrespective of whether the articles are obtained under a transaction in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of each other and regardless of the terms of the contract, sale, or arrangement. In every instance, it is intended that the dutiable value shall correspond to the price for the imported mer-

^{1/} The text of the BDV and Interpretative Notes are set out in Appendix E.

chandise being valued at the place of importation, before payment of duty, at which a seller would be freely willing to sell and a buyer freely willing to buy.

Like most valuation standards, the BDV must be administered principally on the basis of information respecting the shipment involved and related commercial transactions and conditions. To this end, the interpretative and explanatory notes to the BDV suggest a variety of methods by which the notional value may be determined or constructed. Apart from certain specific recommendations, these methods are proposed as acceptable, but not mandatory, valuation techniques.

The actual transaction price is recommended for acceptance as a valid base for the determination of the customs value of the goods being entered. To be accepted without adjustment, it must be equivalent to an open-market competitive price and the circumstances of the sale must conform with the elements of the BDV as construed in the interpretative notes.

If certain circumstances of the sale do not accord with the elements of the BDV, the transaction price is adjusted to account for the differences. For example, various costs to the importer associated with delivery to the place of importation are added if rot included in the transaction price. These costs might include freight, insurance, buying and selling commissions, brokerage fees, packing costs, loading and unloading charges, and certain foreign taxes. Adjustments to the commercial invoice price for a difference in time may include interest costs or their equivalent on extended prepaid orders or an adjustment for a significant change in price between the time of the purchase and the time of importation. Information on which adjustments of this nature may be based is generally available to Customs from commercial documents of other import transactions.

A more complicated type of adjustment of the transaction price may be used for importations by selected purchasers, sole concessionnaires or franchise buyers or for importations where an importer and an exporter are related. This type of adjustment to the invoice price is popularly termed "uplift". For example, if the buyer, in consideration of his assumption of responsibility for advertising, promoting, or servicing trade-marked items, has obtained special rebates or reductions in price which are not freely or generally available to all buyers, the price may be adjusted upward to the level at which the goods would be generally available to all buyers by disallowing any discounts for services which benefit the exporter. Likewise if the buyer makes royalty payments in addition to the purchase price, the purchase price is adjusted upward to include such royalties. If the transaction or purchase price is suspect because the sale is between related parties, the customs officer may make an upward adjustment in the declared price to the level that he believes would prevail in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of each other. The adjusted or unadjusted price is used as the basis for valuation of the vast majority of entries in countries which are contracting parties to the Valuation Convention.

If the use of the transaction price, adjusted or unadjusted, is not an appropriate base for determining dutiable value, as in consignment shipments, for example, the primary base used is actual or expected realization—the price at which the imported article is sold or is expected to be sold in the importing country, adjusted to a landed cost equivalent. This procedure is similar to that which is employed in the U.S. value standard. When this procedure is not appropriate, dutiable value may be based on prices of comparable imported goods. Under rare circumstances, customs officials may resort to the cost of

production of the imported goods, or to valuation by expert appraisal. In the case of some leased goods the anticipated rental charges during their expected life may be used as a basis for valuation.

Canada is the only major trading country other than the United States which does not use some form of the BDV for valuing imported merchandise. Canadian valuation standards generally equate dutiable value with value in the country of exportation. The primary Canadian standard—known as "fair market value"—is based on the price of like goods sold for domestic consumption at the time when, and place from which, the goods were shipped directly to Canada. When fair market value cannot be determined, dutiable value is based on the cost of production plus an allowance for gross profit. Under specified circumstances the Governor in Council or the Minister of National Revenue is authorized to prescribe the manner in which dutiable value is to be determined. However determined, the dutiable value may not be less than the price at which the goods were sold to the Canadian importer at the time and place of direct shipment to Canada, less any decline in the fair market value of the goods between the time of purchase and the time of shipment.

Canadian law defines fair market value as the value of like goods at the time and place of export sold at arm's length under competitive conditions for domestic consumption to a buyer at the same or substantially the same trade level as the importer, in the same or substantially the same quantity, and in the ordinary course of trade. The place of export is defined as the point where the goods begin their continuous journey consigned to a point in Canada. If the conditions necessary for the determination of fair market value cannot

^{1/} See Appendix F for the text of the Canadian valuation system.

be met, the Canadian customs law provides alternate techniques. For example, if no sales for domestic consumption were made to buyers located at the place of exportation, prices to buyers located nearest thereto may be used; or if no sales occured at the time of export, the most recent sales price prior to the time of exportation that fairly reflects the market value of the goods may be used. If no sales were made to domestic purchasers at substantially the same trade level as the importer, prices at the nearest subsequent level may be substituted. In this case, however, the price is adjusted to reflect the differences in commercial charges payable by purchasers at each of the two trade levels concerned.

When like goods are not sold for domestic consumption in the country of export (or are sold under conditions which preclude determination of fair market value), but similar goods are sold, dutiable value is based on the cost of production of the imported goods plus an allowance for gross profit based on the percentage of profit earned on the similar goods.

Under a variety of circumstances, Canadian law authorizes the Minister of National Revenue to prescribe the manner in which the dutiable value is to be determined. He may do so whenever he finds valuation impracticable under the regular valuation standards. He may also do so if the imported goods are intended for packaging, assembly, or further manufacture in Canada; are used or obsolete; are not of prime quality; or constitute job lots.

For example, used goods are generally appraised on the basis of the current replacement price new in the country of export (in some instances on the original prices new) with adjustments for obsolescence, depreciation and condition. The appraised value is then compared with both the certified fair market value and the selling price and duty is assessed on the highest of the three amounts.

PART 3. COMPARATIVE ANALYSIS OF PROPOSED VALUATION CODE WITH U.S. VALUATION SYSTEM, BDV, AND CANADIAN VALUATION SYSTEM

Comparative Analysis of U.S. Valuation System and Proposed Valuation Code

Both the current U.S. valuation system and the proposed valuation code are basically positive systems with several individual bases of valuation arranged in a hierarchical structure. Whereas the U.S. system currently has nine individual bases of valuation, the proposed code has five major bases of valuation. These five bases of valuation bear close resemblance to the three U.S. bases of valuation (other than ASP) that are provided for in section 402 of the Tariff Act--i.e., export value, U.S. value and constructed value. Thus, as a practical matter, the major effect that U.S. adoption of the proposed code would have on U.S. valuation law would be the elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement and the more-restrictively defined valuation standards which are provided for in section 402s of the Tariff Act. It also would result in the elimination of terms such as "freely offered," "ordinary course of trade," "principal markets" and "usual wholesale quantities", which tend to complicate the determination of a customs value.

Since more than 80 percent of all customs entries in the United States are valued under the bases of section 402 1/, this section of the report will focus on U.S. valuation standards as defined in section 402 (other than ASP) in comparing the proposed valuation code with current U.S. law. Subsequent sections of this report will deal with the probable economic effect of eliminating ASP and the Final List.

^{1/} Based on questionnaires completed by customs import specialists at all major ports of entry, it was estimated that approximately 82 percent of all customs entries are appraised on the basis of section 402. See table 1, Appendix D.

Comparison of key elements of dutiable value

If a standard—whether positive or notional—is to serve its purpose, it must identify and define clearly the elements which describe the dutiable value intended. These elements include (1) the goods to be used as the basis for determining the customs value (e.g., the particular goods imported or identical or similar goods); (2) the time and (3) place as of which the price of those goods is to determined (e.g., the time and place of exportation or the time and place of importation); (4) the quantity and (5) transaction level which are to be considered in determining the price of those goods (e.g., the usual wholesale quantity or the quantity and transaction level which pertain to the particular goods under appraisement); and (6) the competitive conditions to be required in a transaction price used as a basis for determining the customs value (e.g., a transaction between a buyer and seller who are not related to each other).

These six elements, taken together, define the value contemplated by a standard.

The table on page 43 provides a brief comparison of the proposed valuation code with the current U.S. system for each of these six elements. A close analysis of the two systems with respect to each important element of value reveals that, notwithstanding differences in terminology, the two systems are, quite similar in many respects. There follows below a discussion of each of the six elements which attempts to highlight both the similarities and the dissimilarities between the two systems.

Merchandise valued. —With respect to the merchandise valued, the primary

U.S. standard, export value, bases valuation on "such or similar merchandise",

which is defined as being the first applicable of the following four categories:

- the goods under appraisement and identical goods produced by the same person;
- 2) identical goods produced by another person,

- 3) similar goods produced by the same person, and
- 4) similar goods produced by another person.

Although the term "such or similar merchandise" is not used in the proposed code, virtually the same hierarchy is provided for with respect to the merchandise valued. Article 1 provides for merchandise to be appraised on the basis of the transaction value of the imported goods; Article 2 bases the customs value on the transaction value of identical goods; and Article 3 is based on the value of similar goods. Finally, Article 15(2)(e) provides—

Goods produced by a different person shall be taken into account only when there are not identical goods or similar goods, as the case may be, produced by the same person as the good being valued.

Time. -- Since the value of an article being imported may vary between the time it is ordered and the time it is delivered, a time for determining value is generally specified as an element of a customs value standard. Whereas the U.S. standards specify the time of export as the material time for valuing imported merchandise, the proposed system implicitly provides for the time of the transaction, or time of contract, as the material time for valuation since the code is designed to accept the actual transaction value as the basis of value in as many instances as possible. There are several other references to time in the code, however. For example, Article 9(2) allows each party to the code to decide whether rates of exchange to be used for converting currencies should be those in effect at the time of importation or the time of exportation. Further, Articles 2 and 3 look to the transaction values of identical or similar goods "exported at or about the same time as the goods being valued" and Article 5 looks to the price of goods sold in the importing country "at or about the time of the importation of the goods being valued" in determining the customs value of imported goods.

Place.—Because the value of goods is likely to be increased by the accumulation of expenses and related costs as the imported merchandise moves from its place of production to markets in importing countries, valuation standards generally include an element specifying the place as of which the value of imported goods is to be determined. The most significant expenses associated with place are the costs of freight, insurance, and loading and unloading charges. Article 8(2) of the proposed code allows each party to provide for the inclusion in or the exclusion from the customs value of such expenses, in whole or part. The effect of this section is to give each country the option of adopting the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis (by including all such expenses in dutiable value) or an f.o.b. or other basis (by excluding such expenses, in whole or in part, from dutiable value).

All U.S. standards except American selling price have the effect of determining value as of the principal markets of the country of exportation. 1/ In effect, most U.S. imports are appraised on an f.o.b. basis. However, when it is established that a particular seller "freely offers" his merchandise for sale to the United States at the factory in the country of exportation, such merchandise may be appraised on an ex-factory basis.

While under the proposed code it would appear that the United States would be able to appraise f.o.b. transactions on an f.o.b. basis and ex-factory transactions on an ex-factory basis, f.o.b. or c.i.f. transactions could not be adjusted to an ex-factory basis (as under the U.S. "freely offered" concept) unless the United States were to appraise all transaction on an ex-factory basis.

^{1/} Although the U. S. value basis of appraisement specifies place as the principal wholesale market of the United States, it provides for a deduction for profits and general expenses as well as for direct charges such as transportation, commissions and duty in order to reach what is, in effect, the value in the country of exportation.

This is because the U.S. "freely offered" concept is not consistent with the transaction value concept of the proposed code.

Quantity.—Since prices may vary according to the quantity purchased, valuation standards usually specify the quantity to be considered in valuing merchandise. The primary standard under the proposed code provides for the quantity of the goods being valued to be the basis of appraisement, whereas the United States standards specify "usual wholesale quantities". Under the current U.S. system, if the quantity is less than the usual wholesale quantities, Customs will ascertain the price applicable to the usual wholesale quantities and appraise on that basis whenever the duty is materially affected. However, as a practical matter, Customs usually accepts the actual quantity of the entry since "usual wholesale quantities" is determined with respect to the exports of a particular firm. Thus, although the two systems differ conceptually with respect to quantity, in practice, the two systems are not substantially different.

It is noted that Articles 2 and 3 of the proposed code seek to use sales of identical or similar goods "at the same commercial level and in substantially the same quantity as the goods being valued" to establish the customs value. Where no such sale is found, the transaction value of identical or similar goods sold at different commercial levels and/or in different quantities may be used only if it can be adjusted on the basis of demonstrated evidence which clearly establishes the reasonableness and accuracy of the adjustment. No such requirement for adjustments exists in U.S. law, however, since, under the usual wholesale quantity concept, all merchandise theoretically is appraised at the price which applies to the usual wholesale quantity, regardless of the quantity or transaction level involved in the actual shipment.

<u>Transaction level.</u>—A specification defining the transaction level contemplated is important in establishing customs value because prices generally increase as an article passes from the manufacturer through the distributor, wholesaler, and retailer to the ultimate consumer.

Whereas U.S. standards specify that valuation is to be made at the wholesale level, which generally means sales to industrial users or wholesalers the proposed code provides for valuation to be determined on the basis of the actual transaction level. This could result in a higher appraised value for retail and other non-wholesale transactions if the United States were to adopt the proposed code. We understand, however, that in practice, most commercial entries are valued at the actual transaction level in the United States, and therefore the impact of this proposed "change" would be minimized.

As previously noted, adjustments for differences in "commercial level" are provided for under the secondary and tertiary standards of the proposed code when identical or similar goods provide the basis for approximent.

Competitive conditions.—The conditions of competition under which transactions take place vary widely and can cause considerable differences in price. The invoice price in a given transaction, depending on the degree of competition present, may or may not reflect all of the considerations involved in the transfer of the goods from exporter to importer. Transactions that frequently include the exchange of considerations which are often not reflected in the invoice price are those between a parent company and its subsidiary and those involving patents, trademarks, and exclusive franchises.

With respect to competitive conditions, there are both similarities and dissimilarities between current U.S. law and the proposed code. Under the proposed code, the transaction price of the imported goods can only be used as a basis for determining the customs value of such goods if--

- there are no restrictions as to the disposition or use of the goods other than those which are imposed or required by law, limit the geographical area in which the goods may be resold, or do not substantially affect the value of goods;
- the sale or price is not subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined:
- 3) part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale by the importer will not accrue directly or indirectly to the seller, unless adjustments can be made under Article 9; and
- 4) the buyer and seller are not related, or where the buyer and seller are related, if the transaction value is acceptable under paragraph (2) of Article 1.

With respect to the acceptance of a related-party transaction, paragraph (2) of Article 1 provides that the fact that the buyer and seller are related is not in itself grounds for not accepting the transaction value as the basis for the customs value. Rather the circumstances surrounding the sale should be examined and the transaction value accepted whenever it is demonstrated that the relationship did not influence the price. Paragraph 2(b) of Article 1 provides for the acceptance of the transaction value if the importer demonstrates that such value approximates one of the following:

- the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers of identical or similar goods for export to the same country of importation;
- the customs value of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 5;
- iii) the customs value of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 6;
 - iv) the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers for export to the same country of importation of goods which would be identical to the imported goods except for having a different country of production provided that the sellers in the two transactions are not related.

With respect to competitive conditions, U.S. law simply provides that the price of the imported goods must be a price at which the merchandise is "freely

sold or in the absence of sales, offered for sale". As defined in section 402(f) of the Tariff Act, the term "freely sold or in the absence of sales, offered for sale" requires the merchandise to be sold or offered--

- (A) to all purchasers at wholesale, or
- (B) in the ordinary course of trade to one or more selected purchasers at wholesale at a price which fairly reflects the market value of the merchandise, without restrictions as to the disposition or use of the merchandise by the purchaser, except restrictions as to such disposition or use which (i) are imposed or required by law, (ii) limit the price at which or the territory in which the merchandise may be resold, or (iii) do not substantially affect the value of the merchandise to usual purchasers at wholesale.

The restrictions allowable under the above definition are identical to those which are allowable under Article 1(a) of the proposed code. Further, in accordance with the above definition, sales to selected purchasers, such as a related buyer, are acceptable as the basis for customs valuation in the United States if Customs determines that the price "fairly reflects market value". The prices which Customs currently looks to in making this determination are the transaction prices of identical or similar goods in sales to unrelated buyers in the United States, which is the first test enumerated in paragraph 2(b) of Article 1 of the proposed code. Finally, the current practice of the U.S. Customs Service is to reject a price as not being "freely sold or in the absence of sales, offered for sale" if the price is subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined (similar to Article 1(b)) or if part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale by the importer accrues directly or indirectly to the seller (similar to Article 1(c)).

Notwithstanding the similarities discussed above, the proposed code appears to be more liberal in providing for acceptance of a related-party transaction for purposes of Article 1 than U.S. law is in accepting such

transactions for export value purposes. For example, tests ii, iii, and iv in paragraph 2(b) of Article 1 (which are set out above) are not acceptable tests in current U.S. law for determining whether a price to a related buyer "fairly reflects market value". The thrust of Article 1 and of the entire code seems to be to accept the transaction value whenever possible. It would therefore appear that U.S. adoption of the code would be likely to result in more frequent ultilization of the transaction price between related parties as the basis for determining the customs value of imported merchandise.

Comparison of U.S. Value System (Section 402) With Proposed Valuation Code by Elements of Dutiable Value

	0, 22023	
Element of Dutiable Value	U.S. Value System (Section 402)	Proposed Value System
Merchandise Valued	 Goods under appraisement and identical goods produced by same person Identical goods produced by another person Similar goods produced by same person Similar goods produced by another person 1/ 	1. Goods under appraisement (Art. 1) 2. Identical goods produced by the same person (Art. 2) 3. Identical goods produced by another person (Art.2) 4. Similar goods produced by the same person (Art. 3) 5. Similar goods produced by another person (Art. 3) 1/
Time	Date of export	Date of transaction (currency conversion based on date of export or date of import, as determined by country of importation)
Place	The principal markets of the country of export (f.o.b. or ex-factory, as appropriate)	At some point in country of export (f.o.b. or exfactory) or at the port of importation (c.f.f.) as determined by the country of importation
Quantity	Usual wholesale quantities 2/	Quantity of goods being valued
Transaction level	At the wholesale level	At the actual transaction level
Competitive conditions	Goods must have been "freely sold or in the absence of sales, offered for sale" (Sales to selected purchasers may be used as the basis of valuation if the price "fairly reflects market value".)	 There can be no restrictions which substantially affect the value of goods; Sale must not be subject to condition or consideration for which a value can't be determined; Part of the proceeds of resale must not accrue directly or indirectly to the seller;

4. Buyer and seller must not be related, or if related, such relationship must not have influenced the price.

^{1/} These are hierarchical progressions. The first listed categories for which an acceptable value can be found would be used.

^{2/} That quantity in which the greatest aggregate volume of the merchandise is sold. In practice however, this usually turns out to be quantity of the goods under appraisement.

Comparison of valuation techniques

In order to ascertain the dutiable value defined by the valuation law, Customs must apply a specific valuation technique, which generally consists of two steps: first, an appropriate transaction price, cost of production, or other value is established for the merchandise to be valued; and second, the value so established is then adjusted, if necessary, by adding dutiable charges not included and subtracting non-dutiable charges in order to arrive at the value defined by the standard. The valuation technique of the proposed code is very similar in many respects to that for the current U.S. system, notwithstanding the many differences in terminology.

As previously indicated the first three bases of valuation under the proposed code (Articles 1, 2 and 3), taken together, are analogous to U.S. export value. Under both systems, the starting point is the price of the actual transaction which may be adjusted in several respects. In addition to the adjustments in charges necessary to express the price in terms of the proper place (e.g., adjust c.i.f. price to f.o.b., etc.), Article 8 of the proposed code provides for additions to the price paid or payable for the following items, to the extent that they are incurred by the buyer but are not included in the price:

- i) commissions and brokerage, except buying commissions
- 11) cost of containers; and
- iii) cost of packing.

For the most part, all of these adjustments are made in a similar manner under U.S. valuation law. Under both the proposed code and U.S. law, additional adjustments are made to the transaction price for the cost of certain "assists"

(e.g., such as materials, components, parts, dies, molds, tooling, and printing plates when furnished free or at a reduced cost to the seller by the importer either directly or indirectly). 1/ However, the proposed code differs from current U.S. law with respect to the dutiablity of the cost of certain other assists, viz., those involving engineering, development, artwork, design work and plans and sketches. Under U.S. law these costs are unconditionally part of dutiable value; however, under the proposed code they are to be added to the price paid or payable only if they are "undertaken elsewhere than in the country of importation".

Under both the proposed code and U.S. valuation law, royalties and license fees related to the imported goods that the buyer must pay, either directly or indirectly, as a condition of the goods being valued are to be included in the dutiable value of imported goods.

Under both systems, similar adjustments are made to the transaction price of identical or similar merchandise when the price of the goods being valued cannot be used.

Article 8(1)(d) of the proposed code provides for the addition to the price paid or payable of the value of any part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale of the imported goods that accrues directly or indirectly to the seller. Although U.S. law does not have a similar provision, the accrual of any proceeds of a resale of the imported goods to the seller would probably not be considered by Customs to be "in the ordinary course of trade"; nor would the

^{1/} When certain adjustments (such as those for "assists") which are not specifically provided for within the definition of export value, are made to a transaction price, the basis of appraisement is technically characterized by Customs as constructed value not export value, since, as previously mentioned, a missing element of value cannot be added to "construct" an export value.

transaction price be likely to be considered "freely sold". Thus, the merchandise would not be appraised on the basis of the transaction price but would be based on the price of identical or similar merchandise, if available, or on the basis of U.S. value or constructed value.

The valuation techniques for U.S. value (section 402) and the valuation method prescribed in Article 5 are very similar. Both start with the resale price in the country of importation of the goods being appraised and provide for adjustments for commissions and/or general expenses and profit, transportation expenses, duties and other charges. The proposed code differs from the U.S. value standard however, in that Article (5)(2) permits (at the importers request) the use of this deductive valuation method for articles which have been processed in the country of importation before being sold in that country, with due allowance being made for the cost of such processing, whereas the U.S. value standard is applicable only to articles which are sold in their imported condition.

Finally, the U.S. constructed value method and the computed value method provided in Article 6 provide for the same valuation techniques. Both attempt to construct a dutiable value by adding the cost or value of materials, fabrication, profit and general expenses. The proposed code provision should be somewhat easier for Customs to administer, however, since it provides for the use of the producer's costs rather than the costs of producing "such or similar merchandise, as is the case in U.S. law.

Comparative Analysis of BDV and Proposed Valuation Code

The major difference between the BDV and the proposed valuation code is
that whereas the BDV is notional in concept, with a single valuation standard

based on a price which merchandise <u>would</u> fetch under certain ideal conditions, the proposed code is a positive system with a primary standard based on the transaction price at which the merchandise <u>is</u> sold under specified conditions, and several alternative standards which are used when those conditions do not exist.

Comparison of key elements of dutiable value

<u>Merchandise valued</u>.—Although the BDV is a notional system, its explanatory notes recommend that the actual transaction price be accepted as the basis for valuation, subject—

- "(a) to proper safeguards aimed at preventing evasion of duty by means of fictitious or colourable contracts or prices; and
 - (b) to such adjustment of the contract price as may be considered necessary on account of circumstances differentiating the contract from the notional concept embodied in the Definition of Value." 1/

In practice, it appears that the transaction price of the imported merchandise is the basis for customs valuation in most cases. Frequently, it is necessary to adjust or "uplift" this base price when the circumstances of the sale do not accord with all of the elements of the BDV.

As previously indicated, the transaction value of the imported merchandise is also the primary basis of valuation under the proposed code. However, when all of the elements of the primary standard are not satisfied, it is necessary to resort to the secondary standard, which is based on the transaction price of identical merchandise. The tertiary standard, which is used when the secondary standard does not work, bases value on the transaction price of similar goods. Under both the secondary and tertiary standards merchandise produced by the person who manufactured the merchandise undergoing appraisement taken precedence over merchandise produced by anyone else.

^{1/} See Note 5 to Article 1 in Appendix E.

Time.—The material time for valuing mechandise under the BDV is "the time when the duty becomes payable". Interpretative note 1 to the BDV provides that the time referred to "may, in accordance with the legislation of each country, be either the time at which the entry is presented or registered, the time of payment of customs duty or the time of clearance". We understand that the BDV countries usually accept the actual transaction prices if there is timely delivery in due course of trade (usually interpreted as within 6 months).

The proposed code uses the date of the transaction as the material time for valuation and allows individual countries to choose between the time of exportation and the time of importation as the material time for making currency conversions.

Place.—The BDV specifies that the "normal price" should be determined on the assumption that the goods have been delivered to the buyer "at the port or place of introduction into the country of importation" and that "the seller will bear all costs, charges and expenses incidental to the sale and to the delivery of the goods at that port or place". Thus, it is a c.i.f. system, and any transaction which does not reflect a c.i.f. price would be adjusted by adding ocean freight and insurance and other charges to the transaction price.

Article 8(2) of the proposed code provides each signatory the option of adopting the port or place of importation as the applicable place for valuation purposes by adding loading and unloading charges, cost of transport to the place of importation, and insurance charges to the price paid or payable.

Quantity. -- Both the BDV and the proposed code base valuation on the actual quantity of the merchandise in the shipment which is being appraised.

<u>Transaction level</u>.—Again, under both the BDV and the proposed code, most commercial entries would be valued at the actual transaction level.

Competitive conditions.—The BDV looks to a price which the imported merchandise would fetch on a sale "in the open market between buyer and seller independent of each other" as the basis for customs valuation. When the buyer and seller are related, the transaction price is adjusted (or "uplifted") to a price which, in the customs official's opinion, would have existed had the parties not been related.

As previously discussed, the proposed code calls for an examination of the circumstances surrounding a sale between related parties and the rejection of such a price unless it is demonstrated that the relationship did not influence the price. If such transaction is rejected, the valuation standard in the prescribed hierarchy for which a value can be determined, would be the basis for valuation.

Comparison of valuation techniques

The valuation technique generally employed under the BDV is to accept the actual price paid for imports as a basis for valuation and to adjust that price, when necessary, so that it reflects a sale in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of one another.

Customs officials find little need to base valuation on anything other than transaction prices and usually accept available commercial documents for such adjustments as may be necessary with respect to time and place. The BDV specifies valuation at the price at the time the duty becomes payable. The interpretative and explanatory notes make it clear that the actual price paid usually constitutes an accurate basis for valuation. In practice, customs authorities accept this price provided there is timely delivery in due course of trade and there has been no abnormal fluctuation between the price actually paid and the price at the time the duty becomes payable.

Problems common to any valuation system based upon open market transactions confront customs officials in placing a value on imports not freely offered to all buyers and transactions between related parties. Nevertheless, the techniques used under the BDV enable customs authorities to use transaction prices, either with or or without adjustments, for most importations of this nature. For example, the customs officer may make upward adjustments for services, such as advertising or repairs made under a warranty, performed by a selected purchaser for the benefit of the exporter.

If a transaction between related parties is suspect, customs officials usually use what is popularly described as the subtractive or deductive method of looking to the expected realization from sales in the market of the importing country, less duty, value added by further processing, marketing costs, and profits, to determine if the invoice price may reasonably be accepted as a basis for valuation. If this method indicates the invoice price is too low, a compensating adjustment or uplift may be applied to aske it acceptable. The value of comparable goods may also be used to determine whether an uplift should be applied to a price between related parties.

Customs officials seldom use expected realization or prices of comparable goods except as benchmarks to test the authenticity of the invoice price, so that the reasons for any differences can be identified and appropriate adjustments applied.

Most countries using the BDV encourage consultation between importers and customs officials to resolve disagreements. Consultation enables importers and Customs to reach a common understanding of the facts of the case and sometimes to arrive at a mutually acceptable compromise. Consultation most frequently cornerns the problems of uplift.

In practice, most uplifts are calculated for specific products of specific importers. Once calculated, they are then automatically applied to subsequent importations of that product by that importer until either Customs or the importer seeks a change through further consultation.

Thus, although the BDV and the proposed valuation code differ greatly in concept, there are some similarities in valuation technique between the two in that they both look primarily to the transaction price of the imported goods as the basis of valuation and then make appropriate adjustments to that price. However, the proposed code, requires strict adherence to the hierarchy of valuation standards (Articles 2-7) when the actual transaction price cannot be used, whereas the BDV allows a great deal of flexibility and arbitrariness in determining the customs value, and places a heavy emphasis on customs/importer consultations.

Comparative Analyis of Canadian Valuation System and Proposed Valuation Code

Of the three current valuation systems which have been discussed (i.e., the U.S. system, the BDV and the Canadian system), the Canadian system is the most dissimilar to the proposed code in that it bases valuation for most importations on the "fair market value" (the price of like goods for home consumption in the country of exportation) rather than on the transaction value of the imported goods, which is the primary basis for valuation under the proposed code, the U.S. system, and the BDV.

The Canadian system uses the time of exportation and the place from which the goods were shipped directly to Canada (f.o.b.) in determining dutiable value. As previously discussed, the proposed code provides each importing country with the option of utilizing either the place of importation or the place of

exportation but uses the time of the contract for valuation purposes. As a practical matter, however, the price seldom varies between the date of the contract and the date the merchandise is exported.

Both the Canadian system and the proposed code base valuation on the actual quantity and transaction level of the imported goods. Whereas the Canadian system requires that the "fair market value" be a price at which the goods are sold in the ordinary course of trade to persons "not controlled by or in control of or otherwise related to the purchaser", the proposed code would allow transactions between related parties to be used as the basis for valuation if it could be demonstrated that such relationship did not influence the transaction price.

The valuation technique utilized under the Canadian valuation system differs greatly from that of the proposed code since, as previously indicated, it relies principally on prices for domestic consumption in the exporting country rather than on the import transaction price as the basis of valuation. Thus, it is necessary for Canadian customs to make numerous inquiries to ascertain foreign market prices under the Canadian system. When foreign values cannot be determined for some reason, the Canadian system looks to the cost of production of the imported article plus the profit of similar goods as the basis for valuation. This valuation method also requires Canadian customs officials to gather information with respect to foreign costs and prices. The proposed valuation code, on the other hand, allows Customs to determine the dutiable value for most importations on the basis of information which is available in the country of importation.

PART 4. THE PROPOSED VALUATION CODE AS AN INTERNATIONAL STANDARD

In April 1971, the Senate Finance Committee and its Subcommittee on International Trade asked the Commission to undertake a study of the customs valuation procedures of foreign countries and those of the United States with a view to developing and suggesting uniform standards of customs valuation which would operate fairly among all classes of shippers in international trade.

After studying the valuation principles set forth in the GATT, the European Customs Union Study Group, and the principles and procedures of foreign countries and the United States, the Commission enunciated seven basic principles which a uniform standard of customs valuation should satisfy. They are—

- 1. Fairness to all classes of shippers in international trade;
- 2. Consistency with commercial practice;
- 3. Simplicity:
- 4. Precision:
- 5. Predictability of results;
- Ready availability of needed information to importers and Customs;
 - 7. Provision for equitable review procedures.

The Commission supports the concept of a transaction-value-based international valuation code and notes that the preamble to the proposed code enumerates certain principles of valuation which fully comply with and support the Commission's seven basic principles of customs valuation. However, the Commission questions whether the proposed code could constitute a uniform international standard of customs valuation when the question of place (that is, c.i.f. as opposed to f.o.b.) is left to the discretion of individual countries. In this regard, we note that the comments received on this issue by the Commission during its 1978 investigation on customs valuation for STR (Investigation No. 332-98) favored the use of the f.o.b. basis.

Part 5. PROBABLE ECONOMIC EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED VALUATION CODE ON IMPORTS AND ON DOMESTIC INDUSTRY

Overall Probable Economic Effect of Adopting the Proposed Code

The proposed valuation code would allow each signatory to decide whether to adopt the code on an f.o.b. or a c.i.f. basis. Since most U.S. imports are currently appraised on an f.o.b. basis, 1/ it has been assumed, for the purpose of analyzing the overall probable economic effect of adopting the code and identifying import-sensitive industries particularly affected by its adoption, that the United States, should it decide to adopt the code, would continue its current practice in this regard. A subsequent section of this report addresses the probable economic effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis.

In view of the fact that the methods of valuation provided for in Part I of the proposed code are similar in many respects to the current U.S. standards of export value, U.S. value and constructed value as defined by section 402 of the Tariff Act, 2/ the primary practical effect of U.S. adoption of the code would be the elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement and the methods of appraisement provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act, the most note—worthy of which is foreign value. 3/ Since less than 5 percent of current U.S. customs entries are appraised on the basis of ASP or foreign value, 4/ it is the Commission's judgment that viewed on an overall basis the probable economic effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be minimal. U.S. Customs

^{1/} Some imports are appraised on an ex-factory basis.

^{2/} See "Comparative Analysis of U.S. Valuation System and Proposed Valuation Code" on page 34 of this report.

^{3/} The other bases of appraisement provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act are export value, U.S. value and cost of production which are similar to export value, U.S. value and constructed value as defined by section 402 of the Tariff Act.

^{4/} See Table 1, Appendix D.

accepted the invoice or transaction price of the imported goods in nearly 70 percent of its entries in 1977, 1/ and this practice would be likely to continue, or even increase, under the proposed code.

It is not expected that an increase in the use of the transaction price as the basis for valuation would have a significant effect on dutiable values, however, since Article 8 of the proposed codes provinces for a number of adjustments to be made to the transaction price which are not allowed to be made under export value in U.S. law. After such adjustments are made, it is very likely that the customs value under Article 1 of the proposed code would approximate what the customs value would have been using constructed value in current U.S. law for most such transactions.

Although the overall economic effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be minimal, there are certain articles, especially those currently appraised on the basis of ASP or foreign value, which as a result of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be likely to experience a dramatic decline in their dutiable value. The following section of this report addresses the probable economic effect that U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be likely to have on industries producing and/or importing such articles.

Import-Sensitive Industries Affected by U.S. Adoption of the Proposed Valuation System

As stated previously, only articles currently appraised on the basis of ASP or foreign value would be significantly affected by U.S. adoption of the proposed valuation system. The Commission has determined that only the benzenoid chemical, footwear, and canned clam industries protected by the American selling price bases of valuation and the ball bearing and tire industries

^{1/} See Table 1, Appendix D.

currently protected by the foreign-value basis of valuation would be significantly affected by adoption of the proposed valuation code.

In order to minimize or perhaps even eliminate the adverse impact of the adoption of the proposed valuation code on industries producing articles which compete with imported articles subject to ASP and those on the Final List, STR asked the Commission to prepare a schedule of converted rates of duty which would have provided an amount of duty on imports of the affected products during a recent representative period substantially equivalent to the amount collected on articles subject to the ASP system and on articles on the Final List. The Commission transmitted a schedule of converted rates to STR in June 1978; a copy of that schedule is attached in Appendix G. We understand that, with certain modifications, the Commission's schedule of converted rates has been used by STR as the basis for U.S. offers of tariff reductions in the MTN. The affected import commodities, the affected U.S. industries, and the proposed converted tariff rates are given detailed consideration in the following sections of this report.

Effect on articles currently appraised on the basis of American selling price

The American selling price method of customs valuation was devised as a means of providing additional tariff protection for selected U.S. industries not adequately protected by existing tariff rates. Under the ASP method of appraisement the rate of duty for a particular imported article is applied to the value of a U.S.-produced article like or similar to, or competitive with, the imported article, regardless of the actual transaction value of the imported product. The result is a flexible, dynamic tariff system under which articles that are competitive with U.S. products may be assessed duties several times higher than that assessed on other articles classified in the same tariff provision, but for which there are no competitive U.S. products.

The articles currently subject to duty under the ASP bases of valuation are benzenoid chemicals, certain plastic- or rubber-soled footwear with fabric uppers, certain canned class, and wool knit gloves and mittens valued not over \$1.75 per dozen pairs.

The use of ASP as a basis for customs valuation of imported goods was established by the Tariff Act of 1922. In that act, coal-tar products (which are included within the meaning of the term "benzenoid chemicals and products") were identified as being subject to American selling price appraisement, as defined in section 402(f) of the act. The Tariff Act of 1922 also gave the President of the United States the power to proclaim additional articles subject to ASP valuation, in order to equalize cost of production differences between foreign and domestic goods. This authority was continued under section 336 of the Tariff Act of 1930, and during the 1930's Presidential proclamations providing for ASP appraisement were issued for footwear (1933), canned clams (.934), and wool knit gloves (1936) as a result of Commission investigations conducted under that section. There have been no additions 1/ since the 1930's. Protective rubber footwear (TSUS items 700.51, 700.52, and 700.53) was made dutiable at rates converted from ASP valuation in 1965 2/.

Degree of equivalency of protection achieved by the converted rates.—

Although no converted rates of duty could be devised which would provide protection "equivalent" to that afforded by the ASP system, the converted rates of duty provice a substantially equivalent degree of protection on an overall basis

^{1/} In January 1962, the Commission, after investigation, reported to the President that it was necessary under section 336, Tariff Act of 1930, to apply ASP valuation to brooms of broom corn. In February 1963, the President disagreed. Subsequently, increased protection was enacted in the form of a tariff-rate quota (TSUS items 750.26-.33). Pub. L. 89-241, sec. 78, approved October 7, 1965; 79 Stat. 948.

^{2/} Pub. L. 89-241, sec. 57, approved October 7, 1965; 79 Stat. 945.

for the domestic industries producing articles like or similar to those currently receiving ASP treatment.

A unique feature of the ASP system of valuation is that the appraised value is based on the American selling price of a competitive domestic product irrespective of the actual transaction value. Under conventional methods of valuation the appraisal is based on the transaction value or an approximation thereof. Thus, the ASP system in effect permits the U.S. producer to set the value on which his competitor's (the importer's) products will be appraised and gives to the domestic industry the opportunity to achieve a duty increase by merely going into competition with the imported product. In addition, the amount of duty collected automatically responds to price changes by U.S. producers. Contrary to conventional methods of valuation, under the ASP system a change in the export price by a foreign supplier has no effect on the duty. Any change to a basis of valuation other than the ASP system eliminates these key features and thus lessens the degree of protection.

The converted rates represent the Commission's best effort to determine rates of duty applicable to products subject to ASP valuation which, in the absence of the ASP system, would have provided an amount of revenue equivalent to that collected in a recent representative period on the basis of the ASP system. Every effort was made to recognize products significant in trade and to segregate products within residual groupings where there was a significant difference in applicable rates of duty. Where appropriate, competitive and noncompetitive products, as defined by 1976 imports, were segregated. This, of course, resulted in a large increase in the number of products named and a substantial increase in the number of rate provisions.

It should, however, be remembered that the degree of protection achieved by the converted rates will differ from the present level of protection since (1) no matter what base period is chosen, whether it be any 1 year or any series of years, no future period will ever be exactly the same, especially in the mix and unit prices of imports, and (2) the combination of various chemical compounds in "basket" classes necessarily involved balancing increases and decreases, of varying degree, in the equivalent converted rates of individual compounds.

Benzenoid chemicals.—The benzenoid chemicals and products subject to ASP provisions are certain cyclic organic chemicals and products having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified benzenoid structure, as well as certain cyclic and acyclic chemicals and products which are obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from cyclic products having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified benzenoid structure. Benzenoid chemical crudes, benzenoid elastomers, and most benzenoid chemicals produced from naturally occurring animal or vegetable products are not subject to the ASP provisions.

Chemicals provided for in schedule 4, part 1, subpart B of the TSUS consist chiefly of benzenoid intermediates and small quantities of acyclic compounds which are derived in whole or in part from benzenoid compounds. The intermediates are benzenoid chemicals that have progressed only part way in the manufacturing process toward finished products. Derived from coal tar and petroleum crudes (which enter free of duty under schedule 4, part 1, subpart A of the TSUS), they are generally used to make more advanced products. Small quantities of finished products, such as rubber-processing chemicals and mixtures containing a benzenoid product, are included under subpart B.

The chemicals provided for in schedule 4, part 1, subpart C of the TSUS are finished benzenoid products derived chiefly from benzenoid crudes and

intermediates. They include such products as dyes, azoic dye components, synthetic organic pigments, medicinals and pharmaceuticals, flavor and perfuse materials, synthetic resins, photographic chemicals, and synthetic tanning materials. Other groups of finished benzenoid products included in this subpart are the fast color bases, fast color salts, Naphthol AS and derivatives, pesticides, and textile assistants.

U.S. production and sales of benzenoid chemicals.—In 1976 output of benzenoid chemicals and products subject to the American selling price bases of valuation (when imported) totaled 48.3 billion pounds; sales totaled 24.3 billion pounds, valued at \$10.3 billion (see Appendix D, table 2). This output was 27 percent above 1969 when production of these benzenoid chemicals and products amounted to 38.1 billion pounds and sales to 17.9 billion pounds, valued at \$4.5 billion. Sales of all synthetic organic chemicals and products in 1976 totaled an estimated \$34 billion. Thus sales in 1976 of benzenoid chemicals and chemical products subject to the American selling price method of valuation (when imported) were equivalent to about one-third of the value of sales of all synthetic organic chemicals.

Domestic producers.—In 1976 there were about 250 domestic producers of benzenoid chemicals and products. They ranged in size from very large, highly diversified manufacturers to very small single-product producers. Several dozen of the very large producers with broad product lines produced almost all of the principal benzenoid product groupings; many of these have plants abroad and also manufacture other chemicals as well as nonchemical products. More than a hundred medium-to-large sized firms--less diversified than the foregoing--produce a more limited number of benzenoid products. Some of these are subsidiaries of large holding companies, conglomerates, or subsidiaries of large foreign producers.

About 100 concerns are small to very small in size and usually produce a small number of specialized products. For some of these, benzenoid chemicals and products are an important, and often a major source of income. Some of the medium-sized firms have production facilities abroad. Few, if any, of the small-sized producers have plants or capacity abroad, although some of these producers are sole sales agents for foreign chemical producers.

Employment .-- It is estimated that in 1976 employment in the domestic benzenoid chemical industry was about 140,000, or 25 percent higher than in 1964, the last year for which data are available. Surveys by trade associations of certain segments of the benzenoid chemical industry in 1977 and 1978 accounted for 57,406 employees, as follows: dyes, 13,171; organic pigments, 5,235; and industrial organic chemicals (benzenoid intermediates) 39,000. According to the surveys, employment in the Northeastern states of Connecticut, Delaware, Massachusetts, New Jersey, New York, Pennsylvania and Rhode Island as a percentage of the total was, as follows: dyes, 66 percent; pigments, 55 percent; and intermediates, 31 percent. The Southern and Southwestern states and Puerto Rico accounted for 43 percent of employment in the production of benzenoid intermediates, and 31 percent of employment in the production of dyes. In 1964, an employment survey by the Commission among producers of benzenoid chemicals subject to the American selling price bases of appraisement counted about 111,500 employees. The following categories accounted for three-fourths of the total 1964 employment by such producers: plastics and resin materials (29,700 employees); intermediates (20,300); medicinal chemicals (15,000); and dyes (9,300). Output of benzenoid chemicals in 1964 was reported in 42 states, with New Jersey, Texas, New York, West Virginia, Pennsylvania, and Michigan being the largest employers.

Exports.—U.S. exports 1/ of benzenoid chemicals greatly exceed imports and are estimated to have increased to \$1,955.7 million in 1976 from \$713 million in 1969 (see Appendix D, tables 3 and 4). About one-half of the exports in 1976 were benzenoid industrial chemicals and the remainder bulk and compounded finished organic chemical products.

Approximately 40 percent of the exports of benzenoid industrial chemicals in 1976 went to the Netherlands, Canada, Mexico and Brazil. The principal products exported were styrene, lube oil additives, toluene dissocyanates, rubber-processing chemicals, detergent alkylates, and cyclohexane.

The principal markets for large volume finished benzenoid products in 1976 were as follows: dyes, Canada, Belgium, the United Kingdom, and Hong Kong; medicinals, Canada, Switzerland, Ja an and Spain; plastics and resins, Canada, the Netherlands, Japan, and Brazil; and pesticides, Canada, Belgium, Switzerland, and Brazil.

Imports.—Imports of benzenoid chemicals and products dutiable under the ASP provisions, although small compared with exports, have increased sharply during 1969-76. They totaled \$218 million in 1969, \$509 million in 1973, and \$848 million in 1976 (see Appendix D, tables 3 and 4). In 1976, about 500 companies imported benzenoid chemicals and products. Imports by 27 of these companies, subsidiaries of foreign manufacturers, accounted for 82 percent of the invoice value of organic pigments, 78 percent of the value of all dyes, 33 percent of the value of industrial organic chemicals, and 14 percent of the value of all medicinals and pharmaceuticals. In 1976, about a third of the imports were industrial organic chemicals and the remainder finished organic chemicals, including mixtures and formulations.

^{1/} Export statistics on benzenoid chemicals and products are not strictly comparable with the data on production and sales since exports include sizable amounts (some estimates are as high as 30-40 percent) of mixtures and preparations containing only small amounts of the active ingredient.

Proportion of imports subject to ASP, U.S. value, and other valuation bases, and year-to-year changes in the product mix of imports.—The following tabulation shows the imports of benzenoid intermediates (TSUS schedule 4, part 1, subpart B) and of finished benzenoid products (TSUS schedule 4, part 1, subpart C) imported in 1976 by competitive status. Approximately 78 percent of the intermediates and 56 percent of the finished products were imported as "competitive;" that is, the duty was assessed on the American selling price bases of valuation.

			TSUS sched		: : Total			
Status :	Foreign : invoice : value :	of :	Foreign :		Foreign invoice value			
	1,000 : dollars :		1,000 dollars		1,000 dollars	;		
Competitive (duty : based on ASP):	142,575 :	78	171,124	56	313,699	64		
Noncompetitive : (duty based on : U.S. value):	23,302	13	62,426	20	85,728	17		
Noncompetitive : (duty based on : foreign or export:	: :	:						
value)::	12,393 :	7 :	69,236 :	22 :	81,629	17		
Competitive status : not available: :	3,801 : 	2	7,153	2	10,954	2		
Total:	182,071 :	100	309,939	100	492,010	100		

Changes from 1 year to another in the mix of benzenoid products imported have been substantial. For example, comparison of the Commission report on

Imports of Benzenoid Chemicals and Products for 1974 with that for 1973 reveals that 496 new items (i.e., benzenoid chemical imports which had not previously been reported by the Commission) were added and 342 former import items were deleted. In 1975, 421 new items were added, but 826 items reported in 1974 were not in the 1975 report. In 1976, there was a net gain of 202 in the number of items imported, compared with 1975. New items added to the 1976 report amounted to 223.

<u>Probable economic effect</u>.--Adoption of the proposed code in conjunction with the converted rates should have no appreciable effect on total imports of benzenoid chemicals and products or on domestic industries producing like or directly competitive chemicals or products.

Footwear.—Footwear classified under TSUS item 700.60 is subject to valuation under the ASP method of appraisement. Most of the footwear classified under that item has uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics. However, item 700.60 also includes footwear having uppers of fabric and plastics in which less than 90 percent of the exterior surface area of the upper is rubber or plastics. Included in this provision is footwear commonly referred to as sneakers (also known as tennis shoes or basketball shoes) as well as certain athletic shoes, joggers, casual shoes designed for leisure, street, or beachwear, slippers, sandals, and boots such as snowmobile and fishing boots.

Footwear classified in item 700.60 for which Customs finds no qualified like or similar domestic product is subject to valuation generally on the basis of export value. With respect to imports of footwear subject to ASP valuation, during 1976 and the first 6 months of 1977, sneakers accounted for about 93 percent (by quantity), joggers and athletic footwear accounted for 4 percent, while slippers and casual shoes accounted for the remaining 3 percent. During

<u>.</u> . .

the same period, slippers and other casual shoes accounted for about 60 percent (by quantity) of the total non-ASP imports classified in item 700.60; sneakers and boots each accounting for about 15 percent with joggers accounting for the remainder.

U.S. consumption. --U.S. consumption of footwear with uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics (production of footwear with soles vulcanized or injection molded to fabric uppers reported under Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) No. 3021 plus all imports entered under TSUS item 700.60) fluctuated during the period 1973-77. Consumption ranged from a peak of 231 million pairs in 1976, principally because of the significant increase in imports that year, to a low of 190 million pairs in 1977, when both production and imports declined. Imports as a percentage of consumption ranged from 31 percent in 1974 to 56 percent in 1977.

U.S. production and producers.—Domestic production of footwear "like or similar" to that entered under TSUS item 700.60 and valued on the ASP basis of valuation is produced principally by the rubber and plastics footwear industry (SIC No. 3021), which includes establishments "primarily engaged in manufacturing all rubber and plastics footwear, waterproof fabric-upper footwear, and other fabric-upper footwear having rubber or plastic soles vulcanized to the uppers."

Production of certain footwear having uppers of fabric and injection-molded soles are also reported in this SIC number. Such footwear consists of sneakers, joggers, other athletic footwear, protective boots and some casual footwear. Slippers, sandals, espadrilles, and other casual shoes are produced primarily by the nonrubber footwear industry (SIC Nos. 3142-3149).

Production of footwear which is like or similar to that entered under item 700.60 has been on a downward trend during the past decade. During the years

1974-77, production of such footwear dropped sharply from 147 million pairs to an estimated 84 million pairs--or by 43 percent. During this same period, production of nonrubber footwear declined by 15 percent. The value of shipments of such footwear reported in 1976 was \$360 million. Data on production of such footwear, imports for consumption entered under item 700.60, and apparent consumption during 1973-77 are shown in the following table.

Year :	Production 1/	: : ;	Imports 2/		Apparent con- sumption 3/		*	
:	1,000 pairs	:	1,000 pairs	:	1,000 pairs	:	Percent	
:		:		:		:		
1973:	143,077	:	66,291	:	209, 368	:		32
1974:	146,500	:	67,222	:	213,772	:		31
1975:	131,155	:	74,107	:	205, 262	:		36
1976:	115,354	:	115,355	:	230,709	:		50
1977:			106,012	:	189,630	:		56
:		:	·	:	•	:		

^{1/} Complied from data reported in SIC No. 3021.

Currently, about 45 plants, located principally in the Northeast and South, produce footwear similar to that provided for in item 700.60 compared with an estimated 50 in 1973. Six firms are believed to account for about one-half to two-thirds of annual output. The average number of workers producing such footwear is estimated to have dropped from about 20,000 in 1973 to 15,000 in 1977. The decline has continued in 1978. Domestic shipments for 1975 and 1976 are shown in the following table.

^{2/} Imports entered under item 700.60.

^{3/} Production plus imports without an allowance for exports, which are negligible.

Domestic shipments of footwear having uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics (SIC No. 3021) by types, 1975-76

:	U.S. al	Average		
Year and type :	Quantity	:	Value	Unit
:		:		value
	1,000	:	1,000	Per
:	pairs	:	dollars	pair
:		:		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
1975:		:	;	}
Men's	41,722	:	138,141	\$3.31
Youth's and boys':	36,517	:	103,866	2.84
Women's and misses'		:	77,282	2.55
All other		:	49,662	2.04
Total	132,876	:	368,945	2.78
:	;	:		1
:	.	:		1
1976:	}	:		:
Men's	35.320	:	137,202	3.88
Youth's and boys'	37,885	:	104.596	2.76
Women's and misses'			82,412	
All other	•		35,638	
Total				
		:	222,010	

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

U.S. imports and importers.—Total annual U.S. imports of footwear classified under TSUS item 700.60 increased from 66.3 million pairs in 1973 to a peak of 115.4 million pairs in 1976, then declined to 106 million pairs in 1977. During the 1973-77 period the peak amount reached was in 1976, when imports were 74 percent higher than in 1973; the 1977 total was 60 percent higher than in 1973. Based on data collected from customs import documents, two importers (Mitsubishi International Corp. and Morse Shoes) accounted for about two-thirds of the total imports entered in 1976, which were appraised on the basis of ASP.

In recent years, Taiwan and the Republic of Korea have been the principal suppliers of footwear under item 700.60. In 1977, Taiwan accounted for about 60 percent of the total pairs imported, and Korea, about 25 percent.

Imports from these two countries rose steadily during the 1970's, while imports from Japan, a major supplier in the early 1970's trended downward.

Tables 5 through 7 in Appendix D show quantity, f.a.s. value, 1/ and average unit value of footwear imports under item 700.60, by country of origin for the years 1975-77. Table 5 shows total imports under item 700.60, table 6 shows imports under item 700.60 which are subject to ASP and table 7 shows item 700.60 imports which are not subject to ASP. Table 8 in Appendix D shows U.S. imports for consumption of footwear with uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics by TSUSA item number for the years 1973-77.

Ratios of imports subject to ASP and those not subject to ASP to total imports.--U.S. imports of footwear dutiable on the ASP basis under item 700.60 fluctuated during the 1970's. During the 1973-77 period, annual imports ranged from a low of 24 million pairs in both 1973 and 1977 to a peak of 32 million pairs in 1976.

U.S. imports of footwear subject to ASP and those not subject to ASP, 1973-77

:		:		:		:	Ratio of	imports to to	ti	1
Year : :	Dutiable on ASP basis	:	Not dutiable on ASP basis	-	Total	: : : :		Not dutiable on ASP basis	-	Total
:	1,000 pairs	:	1,000 pairs	:	1,000 pairs	:	Percent	<u>Percent</u>	:	Percent
1973: 1974:	,		42,107 41,356		66,291 67,222		36 : 39 :	-	-	100 100
1975: 1976:	23,607	:	50,500	:	74,107 115,355	:	32 : 28 :	68	-	100 100
1977:	24, 165	:	•		106,012		23	: 77 :	:	100

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Note. -- Figures may not add to the totals shown because of rounding.

^{1/} The f.a.s. value represents the transaction value of imports at the foreign port of exportation.

The ratio of ASP-valued imports to all imports entered under item 700.60 has trended downward during the 1973-77 period-from 39 percent in 1974 to 23 percent in 1977.

Korea and Taiwan were the principal sources of footwear dutiable on the ASP basis in recent years; in 1977, Korea supplied about 55 percent and Taiwan about 40 percent of ASP footwear.

U.S. imports of footwear entered under item 700.60 and determined by Customs not to be like or similar to domestic footwear (non-ASP footwear) have increased substantially since the early 1970's. During the period 1973-77, imports more than doubled--from 42 million pairs to 82 million pairs. Imports of non-ASP footwear increased from 64 percent of total imports entered under item 700.60 in 1973 to 77 percent in 1977.

Commission proposed converted rates of duty.—In its June 1978 report to the Special Trade Representative on investigation No. 332-98, the Commission provided converted rates of duty for footwear classified in item 700.60 which would have provided an amount of revenue substantially equivalent to the revenue which was collected during a recent representative period assuming the absence of the applicability of the ASP method of valuation and the adoption of a proposed valuation code similar to the code now under consideration.

In determining the converted rates the Commission used summary documents obtained from the U.S. Customs Service covering liquidated entries of 9.2 million pairs of footwear entered during 1976 and 4.6 million pairs entered during the first 6 months of 1977. The 1976 entries reflect shipments from Korea and Taiwan that entered through the ports of New York and Boston. These entries represented approximately 29 percent of all ASP footwear entries during 1976. The 1977 data represented ASP footwear shipments from all countries

entering the ports of Seattle, New York and Boston and comprise 30 percent of all ASP entries during the first 6 months of 1977.

The nomenclature and converted rates of duty proposed in the Commission's June 1978 report are set out on the following page.

			Current	Proposed			
۱, ا	It co	Articies	Column 1	Converted			
[•]			Rate	lete .			
Н		·					
	, !			1			
			1	}			
	1			!			
1			•	ŧ .			
		Fanciuse (whether or not described elements in this	1				
1	I	subpart) which is ever 50 percent by weight of rubber or plantics or over 50 percent by weight of finers	1				
		and rubber or plantics with at least 10 percent hy		1			
		weight being rubber or plantics:		i			
•	1	that on boots, salesons, raismost, and other					
1	•	feetwear designed to be work over, or in lies		6			
	i	of, other facturer as a protection against water, oil, groups, or chemicals or rold or inclement		•			
	j	wather, all the foregoing having color and					
1	1	uppers of whi - ever M percent of the exterior					
	•	ourface area is rubber or plastics 'escapt foot-		•			
'	1	wear with appers of sommolded construction f read by seving the parts thereof together and		•			
	!	having exposed to the outer ourface a substan-					
	1	tial portion of functional attiching):]		•			
•	.	***		ł			
	, (Other feetwar ies opt feetwar having uppers		•			
	i	of which ove 50 percent of the exterior ourface area is leather):					
	Š	, Maring appers of which ever 90 percent of		I			
1	1 .	the anterior surface area is rubber or		:			
	Ī	plantics (escapt feetwar having festing or					
1	1	a foxing-like band applied or molded of the sole and overlapping the upperlift					
1				·			
•	100.60	Other:		į ·			
	}	Bunting boots, galoshes, rainwear,		!			
١.	[.	end other feetwer designed to be were ever, or in lieu of, other		: '			
!	1	feetwar as a principle against					
ï	1	water, ail, grasse, or chemicals or					
•	1	cold or inclement mather.		•			
1	•	Postumer other than in American					
:	•	mee's size 6 and larger or in		:			
1		larger, footwar having opers		ŧ			
ł	•	extending above the ankle of		<u>:</u>			
l	1	which that part which extends					
	i i	above the ankle is whelly of sizest whelly of seven fabric of					
•		non-made fibers, whether or not		: i			
ì		coated or filled with rubber or					
Ĺ	1	plactic material	20% ad val.	20E ad val-			
ï		Other	20% ad val.	AST at val.			
1	•	Other:	1				
j	C	footwear with open toos or open	1	! ł			
ŀ	ļ l	hools; feetwar of the slip-on	1	!			
1	1	type, that is held to the foot without the use of large of	i	, i			
í	•	buckles, the foregoing except	ł	!			
	ı	feetweer heving a fouring or	Į	1			
1	1	foxing-like bend wholly or almost	I	i I			
1	1	wholly of subter or plactice ap-	Ţ.	1			
1	I	plied or molded at the sole and overlapping the upper	207 ad val.	20% ad val.			
1	}	1	1				
1		Ot has	20% ad val-	MOE and wal-			
i	1	!	1	į l			
l	I	•		1			
1	1	•		i i			
i	1		1	l i			
•	l		i	!			
1	I	!		i i			
1	1	i		1			
1	ł			}			
1	I	İ		l l			
ı	I	Bracketed language is included to assist in the	J.	i			
1	1	understanding of the proposed provisions.	1	l l			
ı	Ī	1	I	ı j			
	-	-	-				

The proposed nomenclature and rates of duty were determined by dividing TSUS item 700.60 into four subclasses identified as A. B. C. and D. Class A with a proposed rate of 20 percent ad valorem provides for protective footwear which has been found by Customs to be not like or similar to articles produced in the United States and therefore not subject to valuation based on ASP. This category contains children's boots and certain boots with fabric uppers known as snowmobile boots. Class B provides for boots and other protective footwear subject to ASP valuation at the average converted rate of 48 percent ad valorem. Class B is intended, in part, to cover certain boots classified under TSUS item 700.60 which would have been classified under TSUS item 700.53 had they not been modified by adding 10 percent or more fiber to the upper (such as a nylon strip or collar). The column 1 duty rate for TSUS item 700.53 is 37.5 percent ad valorem, while the column 1 rate of duty for TSUS item 700.60 is 20 percent ad valorem. In October, 1975, Customs ruled that such boots, if entered under TSUS item 700.60 would be considered like or similar to American-made boots (whether or not the American boots had 10 percent or more fiber in the uppers) and subject to duty on the basis of ASP. As a result of this ruling, the practice of modifying boots to make them classifiable under TSUS item 700.60 ended. During the hearing on investigation 332-98, domestic producers stated that the preliminary proposed converted rate of duty of 20 percent ad valorem for these boots would encourage this practice to resume. Therefore, class B was established at the converted rate of 48 percent ad valorem to provide for this type of footwear.

Class C, with a rate of 20 percent ad valorem, provides for footwear which has been appraised either entirely on a non-ASP basis or footwear for which the ratio of ASP entries to non-ASP entries was extremely low. Such items include

sandals, slippers, espadrilles, and other casual footwear. Two percent of all entries of class C footwear were valued on the basis of ASP. The converted duty rate for those entries valued on the basis of ASP was 49 percent. However, when averaged with the 98 percent non-ASP class C entries, the proposed converted rate for this group remains 20 percen.

Class D provides for all other footwear classified in item 700.60. The converted rate of 48 percent ad valorem was largely determined by the high volume of trade in sneakers entered during the period used for determining the converted rate. Sneakers represented 93 percent of all ASP entries in this class. Class D also provides for other types of footwear such as joggers, certain athletic footwear and certain laced casual footwear.

Recent developments concerning ASP.—As noted above the Coumission's proposed converted rates of duty were based on liquidated entries made during 1970 and the first 6 months of 1977. Since that time a number of changes have taken place with respect to ASP footwear which bear mentioning. Until the latter part of 1977, over 90 percent of the ASP entries under TSUS item 700.60 were sneakers. Sneakers are produced in the United States primarily by the rubber footwear industry and represent the great majority of that industry's footwear production. Approximately 45 plants produce rubber footwear with six firms accounting for about one-half to two-thirds of the annual output. Thus, there is a relatively small group of producers with a specific concentrated interest in sneakers. Consequently, a consistant and vigorous effort has been maintained to have American production of sneakers certified as like or similar to imported sneakers and, therefore, most imports of such footwear are dutiable on the basis of ASP.

by the producers of casual footwear (proposed class C). These items are produced by the nonrubber footwear industry as well as the rubber footwear industry and in most cases there is no single item which has the same importance to its producers as do sneakers to the rubber footwear producers. 1/ Therefore, most producers of class C footwear did not go through the process of getting their products certified. Also many of the items, especially in women's footwear, are fashion items whose success depends more on style appeal than competitive pricing with imports. In addition, many of these items often have a one season lifetime in contrast to the staple nature of sneakers. Thus, as of mid-1977 most imported sneakers were valued on the basis of ASP, but only about 2 percent of imports of slippers, boots, sandals, and other casual shoes were so valued.

Although data are not available to document the changes that have taken place during 1978, industry sources as well as customs officials indicate that a significant increase in ASP coverage is taking place in both proposed class C and class D footwear.

In addition to increasing the number of styles of imported footwear subject to ASP appraisal, domestic producers have been successful in having higher priced domestically produced footwear certified as like or similar, thus increasing the dutiable value of imports.

Changes in appraisement determination.—Another recent development affecting ASP valuation that is not reflected in the conversion base period data is a major change in appraisement determinations of certain types of athletic

^{1/} A significant exception exists in the case of slippers. This sub-industry with shipments of \$175 million in 1974 is concentrated primarily in 10 producers. Slippers are either the major product or an extremely important one for each of these producers. Employment in slipper production is estimated at 8,500 persons in 1974.

footwear entering the United States under TSUS item 700.60. Athletic footwear has traditionally consisted of low-cut sneakers known as tennis oxfords and certain specialized footwear such as basketball shoes, spiked baseball and track shoes, football shoes, etc. However, approximately 10 years ago an increase in interest developed in the United States for specialized, high-quality athletic footwear primarily designed for track and field competition. By the early 1970's, use of this type of footwear had spread beyond the market of competitive athletics, and they were being worn for jogging, other sports, and as casual street wear. This increase in popularity was due to their comfort, styling, quality and prestige value. Consequently, although this type of footwear (generally referred to as joggers) was usually more expensive than the footwear it superceded, a rapidly growing market developed. This market was served primarily by certain domestic producers, such as New Balance, Brooks and Etonic who specialized in this type of footwear and by imports. The domestic rubber footwear manufacturers did not make a strong consistent entry into this market until 1977 and consequently did not benefit to nearly the same degree from the rapidly growing "jogger" market. Joggers are now available from imported and domestic sources in a wide range of quality, styles, and prices and in every type of retail outlet.

Imported joggers are classified in the TSUS according to the materials used in the uppers. Joggers with uppers of over 50 percent leather enter under various leather footwear provisions. The balance of the joggers which have uppers of fiber or fiber combined with leather or plastics enter under TSUS item 700.60.

During the conversion base period used in determining the Commission's proposed converted duty rates, approximately 24 percent of the joggers imported into the United States were valued on the basis of ASP, and the average rate of duty on these entries was 33 percent. Their average unit value (foreign invoice value) was \$2.64. During that period and until November 1977, only one domestic producer (who specializes in lower and popular priced footwear) had its joggertype footwear certified to establish American selling prices for like or similar imports. Consequently, the majority of imported joggers were not dutiable on the basis of ASP because of differences in quality, features, styling, and price. Since November 1977, however, seven additional producers of joggers have had their products certified to establish American selling prices. Enough domestic jogger styles are now certified so that almost all imported joggers are likely to be valued on the basis of ASP. An examination of unliquidated entries of 1 million pairs of joggers made during April 1978 shows that 85 percent of these entries are likely to be valued on the basis of ASP with a converted rate of approximately 41 percent.

Further, implementation of new administrative regulations in August 1976 has made it easier for importers and producers to challenge ASP determinations and consequently to have them changed. Prior to this change, ASP determinations were not formally made public and finding out about such determinations was difficult. The current regulations enable importers and producers to promptly learn about determinations and file their appeals. Since the {reat majority of the appeals are filed by producers, the greater number of ASP determination changes have resulted in increased ASP coverage.

<u>Proposed U.S. offer.</u>—The actual U.S. tariff offer with respect to footwear differs from that provided by the Commission to STR. The U.S. proposal provides for the following nomenclature and rates of duty.

GATT SECRET 7-5

Turiff item number	Description of products	Offer rate	Rate of duty Jan. 1, 1975
	Footvear (whether or not described elsewhere in		
	this mit) (com.).		i
•	Sther footwear (com.): Sther:	Ì	
700.59 <u>1</u>	Eusting boots, galoshes, rainwear, and		i
//	other footvear designed to be work		
	over, or in lieu of, other footvear		1
	as a protection against water, cil.	i i	1
	grease, or chemicals or cold or		į .
	inclement weather	37.5% ad vai.	20\$ ad vai. 2'
100.60 <u>1</u>	Footwear with open toes or open needs,		1 -
-	footwear of the slip-on type, that is	İ	
	held to the foot without the use of		1
	laces or buckles or other fasteners,		
	the foregoing except footwear provided		l i
	for in item 700.59 and except foot-	į į	i i
	wear having a foxing or foxing-like		į į
	band wholly or almost wholly of	1	
	rubber or plastics applied or molded		
	at the sole and overlapping the		
	wper	37.55 ad vai.	20 5 ad vai. 2.
	Other:		
	Footwear having soles for audacies,		1
	if any) of ruther or plastics	i i	
	which are affixed to the upper exclusively with an adnesive	1	ľ
	any sideoles also being affixed	i l	
	exclusively to one another and		
	to the outsole with an anhesive;	§ i	1
	the foregoing except footwear		
	having a foxing or foxing-like		! !
	band applied to or moided at the		
	sole and overlapping he upper		
	and except footwear vita scies		
	which overlap the upper other	ا ورد	
	than at the toe or heel:	met over \$12	
700.61 <u>1</u>	Valued not over \$6.50 per		<u> </u>
•	pair	37.5% ad val.	208 ad mai. 2/
T00.62 <u>1</u> . ,	Valued over 86.50 per pair	90¢ per pair *	20\$ ad val. 2/
70062× Y	Tabad over \$12 per park	20% ad val.	
•	other:	20% elal.	20% 21 24 3
*00.63 <u>1</u> /	Valued not over \$3.00 per		200
	pair	485 ad vai.	205 ad val. 2/
700.64 1/	Valued over \$3.00 but not over	200	20% ad val. 2'
	86.50 per pair	906 per pair *	COS BE TEL. 2
700 65 11	Valued over \$6.50 per pair	37.5% ad val.	20\$ ad val. 2/
700.65 <u>1</u> /	values over so. XAPer pair	20% ad val.	200 MG VAL. 2
	Y /		20% et ml 3
70: 65x 1	Valued over \$12 per par	20% M ML	10 h M ML

^{1/} New item to be established from part of existing item 700.60.
2: Subject to duty upon the basis of the American selling price, as defined in section 402 or 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, of like or similar articles manufactured or produced in the United States.

CATT SECRET

77

The U.S. offer subdivides item 700.60 into nine new items. Proposed item 700.59 provides for hunting boots, galoshes, rainwear and other protective footwear. The proposed rate of duty of 37.5 percent ad valorem is the same column 1 rate now provided for in item 700.53, the item where the bulk of protective footwear is now being classified.

Proposed new item 700.60 covers footwear with open toes or open heels and slip-on footwear. The article description corresponds to the class C provision proposed in the Commission's report to STR. However, the rate of 37.5 percent ad valorem is higher than the 20 percent ad valorem rate provided in the Commission's report.

Proposed new items 700.61, 700.62, and 700.62% are intended to cover joggers. The compound rate of 90 cents per pair plus 20 percent ad valorem for such footwear provided for in item 700.62 valued over 6.50 per pair but not over \$12.00 has an ad valorem equivalent (AVE) of 33.8 percent for footwear valued at \$6.51 and an AVE of 29 percent for footwear valued at \$10.00 per pair.

Items 700.63, 700.64, 700.65, and 700.65% primarily cover sneakers. The rate of 90 cents per pair plus 20 percent ad valorem for such footwear (provided for in item 700.64) valued at \$3.01 is subject to an AVE of 49.9 percent and the equivalent ad valorem rate for footwear valued at \$6.49 is 51.3 percent. The rate of 90 cents per pair plus 20 percent ad valorem applicable to footwear (provided for in proposed new item 700.65) valued over \$6.50 per pair but not over \$12.00 has an ad valorem equivalent of 33.8 percent for footwear valued at \$5.51 and an equivalent of 29 percent for footwear valued at \$10.00.

Degree to which the converted rates would provide equivalent protection. -- As noted above, the U.S. offer of converted rates differs from the rates proposed by the Commission in its report to STR, which were considered to afford substantially equivalent protection, on an overall basis, to that afforded by the ASP method of valuation.

With respect to the proposed U.S. offer on protective footwear, footwear with open toes and open heels, and footwear of the slip-on type (items 700.59 and 700.60), the U.S. offer provides for higher rates than those proposed by the Commission, with the exception of certain protective footwear classifiable in item 700.60 for which there is currently no trade.

The rates of duty for joggers provided for in the U.S. offer (items 700.61, 700.62, and 700.62X) are lower than the 48 percent rate provided in the Commission's report. However, it is noted that for the period covered by the Commission's study, the ratio of joggers to sneakers was low and the two types of shoes were grouped together. Recent information available to the Commission indicates that for 1978 imports of joggers valued under \$12.00 have exceeded imports of sneakers and that the proposed U.S. offer provides a level of protection for joggers substantially equivalent on an overall basis to the level currently afforded.

The U.S. offer with respect to sneakers and remaining footwear classified in current item 700.60 provides for the same 48 percent ad valorem rate as proposed by the Commission in its report to STR for footwear valued under \$3.00 per pair. According to the most recent data available to the Commission over 90 percent of imported sneakers are valued under \$3.00. However, with respect to such footwear valued over \$3.00 but not over \$6.50 per pair (item 700.64) the proposed U.S. offer provides for rates which are higher than the Commission proposed rate of 48 percent ad valorem; and for footwear valued over \$6.50 per pair but not over \$12.00 (item 700.65) the proposed compound rate is lower than 48 percent ad valorem.

Proposed new items 700.62% and 700.65% provide for footwear presently classified in current item 700.60 valued over \$12.00 per pair and other than protective footwear or footwear of the slip-on-type. The offered rate of duty is 20 percent ad valorem, the same as the current rate for TSUS item 700.60. Information available to the Commission indicates that less than 2 percent of the entries classified in item 700.60 in 1978 consists of such footwear valued over \$12.00.

<u>Probable economic effect</u>.—Adoption of the proposed code in conjunction with the proposed converted rates should not have an appreciable effect on imports or on the domestic industry producing like or directly competitive footwear.

Clams.—TSUS item 114.05 covers clams in sirtight containers other than razor clams (but including clam pastes and sauces). Since U.S. imports of razor clams in airtight containers are negligible, item 114.05 covers essentially all imported canned clams. About one-half of the imports under item 114.05 are estimated to be appraised on the basis of ASP. Boiled whole baby clams make up the bulk of these imports, the remainder consisting mostly of canned minced or chopped clams. The imports under item 114.05 not subject to ASP valuation consist of smoked clams and "clam specialties". "Clam specialties" include seasoned, baked, and broiled clams.

The Commission's proposed converted duty rates for clams are set out in Appendix G (page G-30).

U.S. imports. -- Imports of class under item 114.05 reached a record high in 1977 of 7.8 million pounds valued at \$9.2 million. Japan had always accounted for the bulk of the imports until 1977, when the Republic of Korea

became the major U.S. supplier. When the Republic of Korea was granted dutyfree treatment pursuant to the Generalized System of Preferences during the
1976-77 period, imports from that country increased sharply while imports from
Japan remained at about the same level. Imports subject to column 2 rates of
duty, all from the Peoples Republic of China, have always been small; in
1977, they reached a record high of 12,000 pounds. Imports dutiable on the
basis of ASP accounted for an estimated 4 million pounds in 1977, or about
one-half of the total net weight of the imports under item 114.05. Table 9,
Appendix D, provides detailed information on imports of clams under item 114.05
by country of origin, quantity, value, and unit value.

U.S. canned clam industry. -- Domestic production of canned clams consists of about 99 percent minced or chopped clams and 1 percent boiled whole clams. Boiled whole clams and minced or chopped clams are somewhat competitive. The U.S industry has produced smoked clams during some years, as well as specialty clam products for export, but the volume of both has always been negligible.

The bulk of the U.S. canned clam output is produced in New Jersey and in Delaware. In 1977, a total of 14 plants, listed by state, produced canned clams—New Jersey (5), Delaware (2), New York (2), Maine (2), and Washington (3). In some years canned clams also have been produced in Oregon, Alaska, and other states. For most of the plants, clams are the principal product. The clam canning industry is generally vertically integrated in the sense that the personnel who harvest the clams work with, or for, the canneries. A typical plant provides employment for about 100 persons. Three plants (2 in New Jersey and 1 in Maine) are owned by one firm; the remaining 11 plants are under separate ownership.

Table 10, Appendix D, provides information on the production and apparent consumption of canned class in the United States.

Probable economic effect.—The proposed converted rates closely reflect the current effective rates of duty applicable to class subject to ASP valuation. Therefore, adoption of the proposed valuation code in conjunction with the converted rates should have no appreciable effect on imports of class currently subject to ASP valuation or on domestic industries producing 1. ? or directly competitive class.

Wool knit gloves.—"Gloves and mittens, finished or unfinished, wholly or in chief value of wool, valued at not more than \$1.75 per dozen pairs" were provided for in the Tariff Act of 1930 at the rate of duty of 40 cents per pound plus 35 percent ad valorem. As a result of a Commission investigation under section 336 of that act, such gloves and mittens, if knit, became subject to duty on the basis of the American selling price of like or similar domestic articles, effective March 22, 1936. These gloves and mittens are currently provided for in TSUS item 704.55 at the column 1 rate of duty of 30 cents per pound plus 26 percent ad valorem and the column 2 rate of duty of 40 cents per pound plus 35 percent ad valorem.

Importations of wool knit gloves and mittens valued at not more than \$1.75 per dozen pairs virtually ceased in the late 1930's. The very small amount reported in official statistics in recent years (\$1,000 for 1970 through 1976) was undoubtedly due to errors either in statistics or in classification. The value limitation of item 704.55 (less than 15 cents per pair) would preclude any imports under it even if the ASP provision were not in existence. The current cost of even low-grade wool yarn and the rise in labor costs since the

1930's make imports of this item most improbable. The proposed converted rates of duty for TSUS item 704.55 are therefore the existing rates.

Effect on articles currently on the Final List

Articles listed in T.D. 54521 (see Appendix B) are subject to appraisement in accordance with the provisions of section 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended. This so-called Final List was established by section 6(a) of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956. That act amended section 402 of the Tariff Act of 1930 by establishing a new law of customs valuation which was to apply to all imported articles except those articles which would experience a decrease in value of 5 percent or more under the new valuation system. Any such articles, as determined by the Secretary of the Treasury, would continue to be appraised under the value provisions of the old law.

The original version of the Customs Simplification Act called for a complete replacement of the old valuation law with the new standard. However, the Senate amended the bill so that the "old law" provisions would remain for Final List articles. The result of this "simplifying" legislation was the creation of two separate valuation systems for the United States with a total of nine valuation standards, instead of one new valuation system with four standards. The Final List was published January 20, 1958, and became effective February 27, 1958. There have been no additions or deletions.

Final List articles which would be significantly affected.—Articles subject to appraisement under section 402a include such major imported commodities as automobiles (TSUS item 692.10), televisions (item 685.20), tires (item 772.51), cameras (item 722.16), and ball bearings (item 680.35). There are more than 1,000 Final List descriptions, and Final List articles account for approximately 10 percent of the value of U.S. imports.

However, in response to STR's request, the Commission determined, in its report on investigation No. 332-98, that ball and roller bearings and parts thereof (TSUS item 680.35) and certain pneumatic tires (TSUS item 772.51) are the only articles on the Final List for which U.S. adoption of the proposed code would result in a change in the amount of duty collected large enough to have a significant economic effect on imports of those products, or on the domestic industry producing like or directly competitive products. Both of these articles are currently appraised primarily on the basis of foreign value. The converted rates of duty which were provided to STR for those articles and which formed the basis for U.S. offers on these articles at the MTN are as follows:

TSUS item No.	Description	Current col. 1 rate of duty	Proposed col. 1 rate of Duty
680.35	Ball and roller bearings and parts thereof.	1.7¢ per lb. + 7.5% ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + 10.9% ad val. <u>1</u> /
772.51	Certain pneumatic tires.	4% ad val.	5.7% ad val.

Bearings. -- Adoption of the proposed code in conjunction with the converted rates of duty will have little total effect on the domestic bearing industry. However, the magnitude of the effect on individual importations may vary depending upon the country of exportation and whether metric or inch sizes are imported. For example, the Commission found for a number of bearings entries that there were substantial differences between the foreign value (the appraised value) and the transaction value, and that these differences, by percentage, varied between countries. In France and West Germany the foreign value generally exceeded the transaction value by over 100 percent, and in Japan, the major source of imports, the foreign value exceeded the transaction

^{1/} The ad valorem equivalent of this rate of duty is 11.4 percent.

value by more than 30 percent. Thus, the effective rate of duty resulting from adopting the proposed code with the converted rates will increase for imports from some countries and decrease for imports rrom others.

With respect to the sizes of imported bearings, Customs currently appraises metric sizes on the basis of foreign value since a "such or similar" domestic product is usually sold in the home market of the country of exportation; however, inch sizes are generally appraised on the basis of cost of production at a value which closely approximates the transaction value. Thus, adoption of the converted duty rates in conjunction with the proposed code, which is based on transaction value, would have a greater impact on bearings in inch sizes than on metric-size bearings.

The following is a tabulation of selected data on production, exports and imports of ball and roller bearings and parts for 1975 and 1976.

		<u>M1111</u>	ons of dollar	<u>: 8</u>
	Year	Production 1/	Exports	Imports
Ball and roller bearings and parts 2/				
	1975	1,858.2	201.9	169.0
	1976	1,994.9	202.2	183.4

^{1/} Includes ball bearings with integral shafts which are not covered by the provisions of item 680.35.

^{2/} Includes balls and rollers which are not covered by the provisions of item 680.35. Imports of balls and rollers (TSUS item 680.30) totaled \$7.5 million in 1975 and \$9.0 million in 1976.

<u>Tires</u>.—TSUS item number 772.51 provides for pneumatic tires, of rubber or plastics, other than airplane, bicycle, or tractor tires, and is comprised chiefly of passenger car tires, truck and bus tires, and motorcycle tires.

Adoption of the proposed code and converted rate will have little or no effect on the domestic tire industry. The duty represents such a small portion of the overall cost that a charge of this degree would not affect the competitive position of the imported product.

The following tabulation shows U.S. production and U.S. imports of the tires covered by TSUS item 772.51 for 1975 and 1976:

	U.S. imports			
U.S. production (millions)	Value (1,000 dollars)	Quantity (millions)		
1975187.3	520,627	13,289		
1976188.4	811,653	18,619		

Other Final List articles.—As shown in Table 11, Appendix D, the estimated value of Final List imports for 1976 was over \$11 billion, or almost 10 percent of the value of total U.S. imports. The breakdown of values by TSUS schedules indicates that over 75 percent of the value of Final List articles, or over \$8.7 billion was concentrated in schedule 6 (Metals and Metal Products), reflecting the high import volume in selected Final List commodities such as automobiles, televisions, and ball bearings. Table 12, Appendix D shows the difference, by TSUS schedule, between the customs value and the f.a.s. value 1/ for Final List

^{1/} The term "f.a.s. value", which is an abbreviation for "free-along-side", is the value of the article delivered to the exporting carrier at the port of export. It closely approximates the f.o.b. transaction value.

imports to give an indication of the estimated amount of change in value and duty collection which would be likely to result from adopting the proposed valuation code. The overall decrease in dutiable value is estimated to be over \$18 million, with a corresponding duty decrease of more than \$850,000. The estimated value decrease is less than two-tenths of 1 percent of the total value of Final List imports, which is a result of a large value increase in schedule 6 imports, offset by decreases in imports in all other schedules.

There are 36 items described on the Final List that had imports of over \$25 million in 1976. Those Items accounted for almost 90 percent of the total value of Final List imports. Table 13, Appendix D, lists those 36 Final List items by import value and shows, for each item, the change in dutiable value which would be likely to occur if valuation were based on the f.a.s. or transaction value. The largest dollar difference would have been a \$104 million dollar value increase for automobiles (TSUS item 692.10), or an approximate \$3 million increase in duty. The largest percentage change would have been a 6.1 percent decrease on tires and tubes (other than for bicycles).

The Commission feels that, overall, the adoption of the proposed code would not result in significant increases in U.S. imports of Final List articles. The Kennedy Round of tariff reductions, the Generalized System of Preferences, court decisions, and customs administrative rulings have all served to diminish the additional duty protection originally intended for Final List articles by the Customs Simplification Act of 1956. With few exceptions, the customs appraised value for Final List articles is equal to or close to the transaction value. In the case of automobiles, the customs value is actually lower than the transaction value, a complete juxtaposition from the time the Final List was established.

Effect of Adopting the Proposed Code on a C.I.F. Basis
Overall effect

Since articles imported into the United States are currently appraised on either an f.o.b. or ex-factory basis, ocean freight, insurance and other charges incurred in bringing the merchandise from the country of exportation to the port of entry in the United States are not considered part of dutiable value. The adoption of the proposed code on a c.i.f. basis would therefore result in an increase in duty for those articles which are subject to ad valorem or compound duty rates, since such transportation charges would become dutiable. This section will attempt to assess the overall economic impact of such a change by analyzing the impact that such change would be likely to have on the landed cost of imported articles. For example, an item with an f.o.b. value of \$100 might be subject to a 10 percent ad valorem tariff rate. The total cost of importing this item would include \$100 for the purchase price, \$10 for duty, and \$10 for transportation and insurance charges. The total cost to the importer would be \$120. Its c.i.f. valuation basis would be made up of \$100 for the purchase price and \$10 for freight, insurance, and other charges for a total of \$110. Applying a 10 percent ad valorem tariff rate to this c.i.f. basis of \$110 gives a duty charge of \$11. The cost of importing this item would consist of \$100 for the purchase price, \$11 for duty, and \$10 for freight, insurance, and other charges. The total cost to the importer on the c.i.f. basis would be \$121, which is \$1 or 0.8 percent more than the cost under the present method of valuation.

By applying the analysis used in the example to every item imported into the United States in 1976, the overall effect of changing from the present method of customs valuation to the c.i.f. method was determined. The following

table illustrates what would have happened to the cost of 1976 imports if they had been valued according to the c.i.f. method: importers would have paid \$133,496,778,000 for 1976 imports instead of \$133,203,725,000.

Total cost of 1976 imports under the present method of valuation and under the c.i.f. method

(In thousands of d	lollars)	
:	Present	C.i.f.
:	method of	ethod of
:	valuation	valuation
-		
Imports:	121,120,869	: 121,120,869
Freight, insurance, and :	}	•
other charges:	7,408,149	7,408,149
Duties:	4,674,707	4,967,760
Total cost of importation:		

The difference in cost is \$293,053,000, and results from the increased duty collection; it is equal to 0.22 percent of the cost of all 1976 imports. 1/ This 0.22 percent increase is not considered substantial and should not have an economic impact on the overall level of imports, especially since more than 60 percent of U.S. imports are currently free or subject to specific rates of duty and, therefore, are unaffected by c.i.f. valuation. There are, however, certain commodities that would be affected to a greater degree. Table 14 of Appendix D lists major commodities (i.e., TSUSA items with over \$25 million in import trade during 1976) which would be subject to increase in their landed, duty-paid value

^{1/} The analysis has been simplified by assuming that only a price effect results from the change in the method of valuation. Actually the quantity of imports could also change as consumers may purchase fewer imports at the higher cost under the c.i.f. method of valuation. This reduction in quantity imported could in turn affect price by reducing the price increase. Therefore, the actual result could be an increase in the value of imports somewhat less than 0.22 percent. However, the simplified analysis, which considers only the price effect, provides an adequate measure of the orders of magnitude of the changes that could occur under c.i.f. valuation.

of greater than 1 percent under a c.i.f.-based valuation system.

Impact on countries of origin

Data on page 91 show the percent increase in the cost of imports from 10 major geographic areas if c.i.f. valuation were applied to 1976 imports. Since transportation charges are higher on imports from distant countries than on imports from nearby countries, it would be expected that changing from the present method of valuation to the c.1.f. method would cause greater increases in the cost of imports from distant countries. Although the cost of imports from distant countries would, in fact, increase more than that of imports from near countries, the difference is so small that its effect would not be noticeable. If only imports subject to ad valorem duties are considered, the cost increase resulting from higher transportation and insurance costs is less than I percent for most commodities entering the United States, regardless of source. The increase for distant areas such as Japan and for less distant areas such as the EC, other European countries, and the Middle East is small--0.5 percent, 0.4 percent, 0.5 percent, and 0.3 percent, respectively-compared with a smaller increase of 0.01 percent for the contiguous countries, Canada and Mexico. The cost increase for Asia, which would be slightly above I percent, results in large part from the high ad valorem rates of duty on textiles.

Only rarely, when an imported article has a high ad valorem rate of duty and a large transportation and insurance cost, would there be a significant effect resulting from a U.S. switch to the c.i.f. method of valuation.

The following tabulation summarizes the percentage increases in the landed cost of imports, for all TSUSA items, by geographic area, if c.i.f. valuation were applied to 1976 imports:

:	All	:	Dutiable	:	Imports having compound or
	imports	:	imports	:	ad valorem rates
:		:		:	
Canada:	.01	:	.01	:	.01
Mexico:	.01	:	-01	:	.01
Japan:	.41	:	.42	:	.46
Central America except :		:		:	
Mexico, and the Caribean :		:		:	
except Cuba:	.06	:	.09	:	.60
Asia, except Japan and the :		:		:	
column 2 countries:	.75	:	.84	:	1.23
The Middle East:	.01	:	.01	:	.28
Africa, Australia, and :		:		:	
Oceania:	.01	:	.01	:	.63
Europe, except the EC and :		:		:	
the column 2 countries:	.28	:	.31	:	.48
The EC:	. 26	:	• 30	:	.36
The column 2 countries:	1.17	:	1.80	:	3.60
All countries:	•22	:	.28	:	•56
:		:		:	

Every TSUSA item under which there were imports in 1976 was included in the calculations except 86 items which are listed in Appendix H. Adequate information was not available for these items. The 86 items included coconut oil, television receivers, and textile fabrics. It is unlikely that omission of these items significantly affected the results of the analysis.

No consideration in the analysis was given to the effect of the Generalized System of Preferences (GSP) which became effective in 1976 with respect to certain developing countries. Duty-free imports pursuant to the GSP were \$3.2 billion in 1976, about 2 percent of all imports. Including the effects of GSP in the analysis would have made only a small difference in the results.

PART 6. PROBABLE ECONOMIC EFFECT ON U.S. EXPORTS OF ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED CODE BY OUR MAJOR TRADING PARTNERS

In view of the fact that all our major trading partners except Canada use some form of the BDV for valuing imported merchandise, this analysis will concentrate on the probable economic effect on U.S. exports of adoption of the proposed code by countries currently using the BDV.

The Commission is unable to assess the probable economic effect of the proposed cc.'e's adoption on U.S. exports to Canada at this time. As previously discussed, Canada will not be implementing the proposed code for a period of 4 years from the date of entry into force, and will be doing so only after adjusting the tariff rates to provide equivalent tariff protection, on items for which the Canadian level of tariff protection would be reduced as a result of adopting the code.

In order to assess the probable economic effect of Canada's adopting the code, it would be necessary for the Commission to analyze the differences that exist in prices by U.S. sellers for sale to Canada with prices of the same merchandise for sale in the United States in light of any new tariff rates which Canada may adopt to provide equivalent protection. Data with respect to the price disparity between U.S. companies' sales to Canadian purchasers and U.S. purchasers are not readily available and Canada obviously has not yet begun to convert existing tariff rates.

As explained in Part 2 of this report, the BDV is a notional system of valuation which looks to the "normal price", which is the price that the goods "would fetch · · · on a sale in the open market between a buyer and a seller independent of each other" (emphasis added), as the basis for valuation. In

the majority of importations between nonrelated parties the actual transaction price between the parties is acceptable as representing the "normal price" for valuation purposes with certain minor adjustments, such as the addition of ocean freight and insurance charges to convert an f.o.b. transaction price to a c.i.f. basis.

In those instances where the transaction price is not the basis of valuation—usually a related—party transaction—the BDV places a heavy emphasis on Customs/importer consultations and the use of uplifts to arrive at a customs value. The use of Customs/importer consultations, and, in particular, the use of uplifts has been the major source of complaints by U.S. exporters with respect to valuation practices by countries using the BDV. There is little information available on the degree and the extent of the use of uplifts with respect to U.S. exports. It is known, however, that uplifts are not applied uniformly by all countries using the BDV and that the extent of an uplift within a particular country often varies from commodity to commodity and exporter to exporter. Based on discussions with several major U.S. exporters, it appears that uplifts are more arbitrarily applied in a number of developing countries than in most developed countries. Further, it appears that many uplifts are made without providing an explanation to the importer as to why they were imposed or how they were calculated.

Although sufficient data are not available to provide the Committee with a detailed economic analysis of the probable effect on U.S. exports of adoption of the proposed code by our major trading partners currently using the BDV, certain observations may be made.

First, it appears that the overall economic effect of the code's adoption on U.S. exports would be minimal. Current U.S. exports to BDV countries which do not involve related parties would continue to be appraised on the basis of

the transaction value under the proposed code. Although it is possible that certain transactions between related parties which are currently subject to uplift under the BDV would be eligible for appraisement on the basis of the transaction price under the proposed code, it is more likely that such transactions would be appraised at a value that would approximate the current appraised value under the BDV. This is because uplifts are generally resorted to for such transactions because some element of dutiable value is missing or understated. For example, assists may have been provided by the importer at no cost to the exporter or the profit realized in a related party transaction may have been much less than that for an arm's-length transaction. Since the proposed code is designed to include all of these elements of value either by adjusting the transaction price or by utilizing some other method, such as the deductive or computed methods, it is likely that, although the methodology of the two systems may be very different, the final appraised value of the merchandise would not be significantly different under the two systems.

Notwithstanding the above, adoption of the proposed valuation code by our major trading partners would benefit U.S. exports in a number of significant ways. First, it would provide U.S. exporters with the assurance that exported merchandise will be subject to customs valuation in accordance with a reasonable and equitable valuation standard. This is not to say that adoption of the code alone will result in uniform and equitable valuation treatment, since administrative decisions play a crucial role in the determination of customs valuation. However, it will eliminate much of the arbitrariness which currently exists in applying the BDV, especially with respect to less developed countries, if they were to adopt the proposed code, since it will require Customs to follow an established hierarchy of valuation methods and to depart from the transaction

value only under specific circumstances. It also will provide importers with more information as to how and why their merchandise was valued in a particular manner. In addition, as marketing systems have become virtually worldwide in scope, the use of a single international code would enable exporters which frequently ship their goods to a number of countries to more easily predict the sustoms valuation of their merchandise in those countries which employ the international code. Market planning would be simplified for those companies.

Further, since the international agreement establishing the valuation code sets up a technical forum to insure uniform administration of the code and to resolve disputes, U.S. adoption of the code would provide a means for periodic consultation concerning valuation matters. Issues involving arbitrary or capricious actions by foreign governments in violation of the code could be aired and corrective measures taken. Thus, an effective international supervisory mechanism could help to protect United States exports from being over valued for customs purposes and thereby could protect the value of tariff concessions.

PART 7. POTENTIAL EFFECT OF ADOPTION OF THE PROPOSED VALUATION CODE ON U.S. CUSTOMS ADMINISTRATION

As indicated in a previous section of this report, the primary practical effect of U.S. adoption of the proposed code would be the elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement and the elimination of the foreign value and other valuetion methods provided for in section 402a of the Tariff Act which apply to articles on the Final List.

The elimination of the ASP bases of appraisement would have an extremely beneficial effect on U.S. customs administration, since it is one of the most difficult U.S. valuation methods for Customs to administer. Customs must currently make a determination with respect to every imported article which is potentially subject to ASP as to whether a domestically produced product which is like or similar to the imported product is being freely offered for sale in the United States. Often there may be several such products available and Customs must then determine which such product is most similar to the imported product. This is a time-consuming process which requires a subjective judgment to be made by the customs officer.

Customs would also benefit in its administration of the valuation laws from the elimination of the Final List and the valuation laws provided in section 402s of the Tariff Act. Whenever Customs is faced with a new imported article the customs officer must consult the "Final List" to determine whether the valuation laws provided in section 402s or section 402 of the Tariff Act will apply. With the exception of the foreign value method of valuation in section 402s, there are only very subtle differences between the valuation methods provided in section 402s (export value, U.S. value, cost of production and ASP) and those provided in section 402 (export value, U.S. value, constructed value, and ASP).

Occasionally it is necessary for Customs to determine the valuation of the imported goods under both section 402a and section 402 of the Tariff Act in order to arrive at the correct appraised value. For example, the Final List provides for "candy . . . valued at six cents or more per pound". In order to correctly appraise an importation of candy, Customs must first determine the value of the candy using the progression of valuation methods provided in section 402a. If, using these methods, the value of the candy is determined to be six cents or more per pound, then the value which was calculated would be the appraised value. However, if the calculated value under section 402a was less than six cents per pound, then Customs must recalculate the appraised value using the methods of appraisement provided for in section 402 of the Tariff Act.

The adoption of the proposed code would eliminate the need to have a Final List since it would provide a single set of valuation methods which are very analogous to those provided in section 402 of the Tariff Act. It would eliminate the need for U.S. customs officers to familiarize themselves with two separate sets of customs laws which are very similar on their face but have subtle differences in application. It would also eliminate the foreign value, which must be determined under section 402s for every importation so that it may be compared with the export value as determined under section 402s. This method of valuation requires Customs to ascertain the price at which such or similar merchandise is being sold in the home market of the country of exportation. This delays the appraisement process since Customs is usually unable to appraise the merchandise on the basis of documents provided with the entry itself. Frequently a time-consuming foreign investigation must be instituted by Customs in order to get the necessary data to appraise merchandise on the basis of foreign value.

Further, it is likely that many transactions which are currently being appraised on the basis of a valuation method other than export value would be appraised under the transaction value method provided for in Article 1 of the proposed code. For example, many U.S. imports are currently appraised on the basis of constructed value due to the fact that the cost of assists is often not included in the transaction price. Appropriate adjustment may be made for assists under Article 1 of the proposed code but not under the export value provisions. 1/

Finally, customs administration would benefit from the elimination of such terms as "freely offered", "principal markets", "usual wholesale quantities" and "ordinary course of trade", which tend to complicate and delay the determination of a customs value.

Thus, because of the many similarities between current section 402 of the Tariff Act and the methods of valuation provided in the proposed code and because of the elimination of the Final List and ASP bases of appraisement ar well as the elimination of many of the difficult concepts currently embodied in U.S. law, the adoption of the proposed code by the United States can only have a positive effect on U.S. customs administration.

^{1/} When assists are provided by the buyer and not fully included in the transaction price, the entry will generally be appraised on the basis of constructed value under U.S. law. However, as a practical matter, Customs will generally simply add the cost of the assist to the transaction price in determining the constructed value, rather than start from scratch to compute the constructed value.

PART 8. U.S. IMPLEMENTATION OF PROPOSED CODE

In order for the United States to implement the proposed valuation code, it would be necessary for Congress to amend current sections 402 and 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 1401a and 1402) by repealing the two sections and enacting the substantive sections of Part I of the proposed code, which contains the rules on customs valuation, in lieu thereof. Conforming amendments would also have to be made in all Federal statutes which make reference to current sections 402 and 402a of the Tariff Act, such as the Tariff Schedules of the United States (19 U.S.C. 1202). Appropriate amendments would also have to be made to those parts of section 336 of the Tariff Act (19 U.S.C. 1336) which refer to ASP, and some modification may have to be made to section 500 of the Tariff Act (19 U.S.C. 1500), which sets out appraisement, classification, and liquidation procedures.

APPENDIX A CUSTOMS VALUATION AGREEMENT

A-1

GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

RESTRICTED
MTM/WTM/W/229
26 March 1979
Special Distribution

Multilateral Trade Negotiations

Group "Non-Tariff Measures"
Sub-Group "Customs Matters"

CUSTOMS VALUATION

Agreement on Implementation of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

- 1. The following text of the draft Agreement on Implementation of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade is circulated at the request of a number of delegations for consideration by the Sub-Group.
- 2. The draft does not commit any delegation to all or any part of the text.

A-.

GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

RESTRICTED
MIN/WIM/W/229/Corr.1
2 April 1979
Special Distribution

Multilateral Trade Negotiations

Group "Non-Tariff Measures"
Sub-Group Customs Matters

CUSTOMS VALUATION

Agreement on Implementation of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

Corrigendum

Page 20, Article 20:11 - in the fifth line delete "unless extended by the Committee".

Page 20, Article 20:11 - the last line should read ... under the GATT, including invoking Article XXIII thereof.

Page 24, Article 27, the second sentence should read "such an amendment, once the Parties have concurred in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, shall not come into force for any party until it has been accepted by such party".

Pags 35, Note to Article 3, paragraph & - in the third line insert "," after "...this Article ..."

Page 56, paragraph 4, fifth line - insert "to" before "... a statement ..."

General Introductory Commentary

- 1. The primary basis for customs value under this Agreement is "transaction value" as defined in Article 1. Article 1 is to be read together with Article 8 which provides, inter alia, for adjustments to the price actually paid or payable in cases where certain specific elements which are considered to form a part of the value for customs purposes are incurred by the buyer, but are not included in the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods. Article 8 also provides for the inclusion in the transaction value of certain considerations which may pass from the buyer to the seller in the form of specified goods or services rather than in the form of money. Articles 2 to 7, inclusive, provide methods of determining the customs value whenever it cannot be determined under the provisions of Article 1.
- 2. Where the customs value cannot be determined under the provisions of Article 1, there should normally be a process of consultation between the customs administration and importer with a view to arriving at a basis of value under the provisions of Articles 2 or 3. It may occur, for example, that the importer has information about the customs value of identical or similar imported goods which is not immediately available to the customs administration in the port of importation. On the other hand, the customs administration may have information about the customs value of identical or similar imported goods which is not readily available to the importer. A process of consultation between the two parties will enable information to be exchanged, subject to the requirements of commercial confidentiality, with a view to determining a proper basis of value for customs purposes.

- 3. Articles 5 and 6 provide two bases for determining the customs value where it cannot be determined on the basis of the transaction value of the imported goods or of identical or similar imported goods. Under Article 5.1 the customs value is determined on the basis of the price at which the goods are sold in the condition as imported to an unrelated buyer in the country of importation. The importer also has the right to have goods which are further processed after importation valued under the provisions of Article 5 if he so requests. Under Article 6 the customs value is determined on the basis of the computed value. Both these methods present certain difficulties and because of this the importer is given the right, under the provisions of Article 4, to choose the order of application of the two methods.
- 4. Article 7 sets out how to determine the customs value in cases where it cannot be determined under the provisions of any of the preceding Articles.

AGREEMENT ON IMPLEMENTATION OF ARTICLE VII OF THE GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

A-6

Agreement on Implementation of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade

PREAMBLE

The parties to this Agreement,

<u>leadining</u> to further the objectives of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade and to secure additional tenefits for the international trade of developing countries;

Recognizing the importance of the provisions of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade and desiring to elaborate rules for their application in order to provide greater uniformity and certainty in their implementation;

Recognizing the need for a fair, uniform, and neutral system for the valuation of goods for customs purposes that precludes the use of arbitrary or fictitious customs values;

Recognizing that the basis for valuation of goods for customs purposes should, to the greatest extent possible, be the transaction value of the goods being valued;

Recognizing that customs value should be based on simple and equitable criteria consistent with commercial practices and that valuation procedures should be of general application without distinction between sources of supply;

Recognizing that valuation procedures should not be used to combat dumping;

Hereby agree as follows:

PART I - RULES ON CUSTOMS VALUATION

Article 1

- 1. The customs value of imported goods shall be the transaction value, that is the price actually paid or payable for the goods when sold for export to the country of importation adjusted in accordance with the provisions of Article θ , provided:
 - (a) that there are no restrictions as to the disposition or use of the goods by the buyer other than restrictions which:
 - (i) are imposed or required by law or by the public authorities in the country of importation;
 - (ii) limit the geographical area in which the goods may be resold; or
 - (iii) do not substantially affect the value of the goods;
 - (b) that the sale or price is not subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined with respect to the goods being valued;
 - (c) that no part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale, disposal or use of the goods by the buyer will accrue directly or indirectly to the seller, unless an appropriate adjustment can be made in accordance with the provisions of Article 8; and
 - (d) that the buyer and seller are not related, or where the buyer and seller are related, that the transaction value is acceptable for customs purposes under the provisions of paragraph 2 of this Article.

- 2. (a) In determining whether the transaction value is acceptable for the purposes of paragraph 1, the fact that the buyer and the seller are related within the meaning of Article 15 shall not in itself be grounds for regarding the transaction value as unacceptable. In such case the circumstances surrounding the sale shall be examined and the transaction value shall be accepted provided that the relationship did not influence the price. If, in the light of information provided by the importer or otherwise, the customs administration has grounds for considering that the relationship influenced the price, it shall communicate its grounds to the importer and he shall be given a reasonable opportunity to respond. If the importer so requests, the communication of the grounds shall be in writing.
 - (b) In a sale between related persons, the transaction value shall be accepted and the goods valued in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 1 whenever the importer demonstrates that such value closely approximates to one of the following occurring at or about the same time:
 - (i) the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers of identical or similar goods for export to the same country of importation;
 - (ii) the customs value of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 5;

- (iii) the customs value of identical or similar goods as determined under the provisions of Article 6;
- (iv) the transaction value in sales to unrelated buyers for export to the same country of importation of goods which would be identical to the imported goods except for having a different country of production provided that the sellers in any two transactions being compared are not related.

In applying the foregoing tests, due account shall be taken of demonstrated differences in commercial levels, quantity levels, the elements enumerated in Article θ , and costs incurred by the seller in sales in which he and the buyer are not related that are not incurred by the seller in sales in which he and the buyer are related.

(c) The tests set forth in paragraph 2(b) are to be used at the initiative of the importer and only for comparison purposes. Substitute values may not be established under the provisions of paragraph 2(b).

Article 2

 (a) If the customs value of the imported goods cannot be determined under the provisions of Article 1, the customs value shall be the transaction value of identical goods sold for export to the same country of importation and exported at or about the same time as the goods being valued.

- (b) In applying this Article, the transaction value of identical goods in a sale at the same commercial level and in substantially the same quantity as the goods being valued shall be used to determine the customs value. Where no such sale is found, the transaction value of identical goods sold at a different commercial level and/or in different quantities shall be used, adjusted to take account of differences attributable to commercial level and/or to quantity, provided that such adjustments can be made on the basis of demonstrated evidence which clearly establishes the reasonableness and accuracy of the adjustment, whether the adjustment leads to an increase or a decrease in the value.
- 2. Where the costs and charges referred to in Article 8.2 are included in the transaction value, an adjustment shall be made to take account of significant differences in such costs and charges between the imported goods and the identical goods in question arising from differences in distances and modes of transport.
- 3. If, in applying this Article, more than one transaction value of identical goods is found, the lowest such value shall be used to determine the customs value of the imported goods.

Article 3

1. (a) If the customs value of the imported goods cannot be determined under the provisions of Articles 1 and 2, the customs value shall be the transaction value of similar goods sold for export to the same country of importation and exported at or about the same time as the goods being valued.

A-12

- (b) In applying this Article, the transaction value of similar goods in a sale at the same commercial level and in substantially the same quantity as the goods being valued shall be used to determine the customs value. Where no such sale is found, the transaction value of similar goods sold at a different commercial level and/or in different quantities shall be used, adjusted to take account of differences attributable to commercial level and/or to quantity, provided that such adjustments can be made on the basis of demonstrated evidence which clearly establishes the reasonableness and accuracy of the adjustment, whether the adjustment leads to an increase or a decrease in the value.
- 2. Where the costs and charges referred to in Article 8.2 are included in the transaction value, an adjustment shall be made to take account of significant differences in such costs and charges between the imported goods and the similar goods in question arising from differences in distances and modes of transport.
- 3. If, in applying this Article, more than one transaction value of similar goods is found, the lowest such value shall be used to determine the customs value of the imported goods.

Article 4

If the customs value of the imported goods cannot be determined under the provisions of Articles 1, 2 and 3, the customs value shall be determined under the provisions of Article 5 or, when the customs value cannot be determined under that Article, under the provisions of Article 6 except that, at the request of the importer, the order of application of Articles 5 and 6 shall be reversed.

Article 5

- 1. (a) If the imported goods or identical or similar imported goods are sold in the country of importation in the condition as imported, the customs value of the imported goods under the provisions of this Article shall be based on the unit price at which the imported goods or identical or similar imported goods are so sold in the greatest aggregate quantity, at or about the time of the importation of the goods being valued, to persons who are not related to the persons from whom they buy such goods, subject to deductions for the following:
 - (i) either the commissions usually paid or agreed to be paid or the additions usually made for profit and general expenses in connection with sales in such country of imported goods of the same class or kind;
 - (ii) the usual costs of transport and insurance and associated costs incurred within the country of importation;
 - (iii) where appropriate, the costs and charges referred to in Article 8.2;
 - (iv) the customs duties and other national taxes payable in the country of importation by reason of the importation or sale of the goods.
 - (b) If neither the imported goods nor identical nor similar imported goods are sold at or about the time of importation of the goods being valued, the customs value shall, subject otherwise to the provisions of paragraph 1(a) of this Article, be based on the unit price at which the imported goods or identical or similar imported goods are sold in the country of importation in the condition as imported at the earliest date after the importation of the goods being valued but before the expiration of ninety days after such importation.

2. If neither the imported goods nor identical nor similar imported goods are sold in the country of importation in the condition as imported, then, if the importer so requests, the customs value shall be based on the unit price at which the imported goods, after further processing, are sold in the greatest aggregate quantity to persons in the country of importation who are not related to the persons from whom they buy such goods, due allowance being made for the value added by such processing and the deductions provided for in paragraph 1(a) of this Article.

Article 6

- 1. The customs value of imported goods under the provisions of this Article shall be based on a computed value. Computed value shall consist of the sum of:
 - (a) the cost or value of materials and fabrication or other processing employed in producing the imported goods;
 - (b) an amount for profit and general expenses equal to that usually reflected in sales of goods of the same class or kind as the goods being valued which are made by producers in the country of exportation for export to the country of importation;
 - (c) the cost or value of all other expenses necessary to reflect the valuation option chosen by the party under Article 8.2.
- 2. No party may require or compel any person not resident in its own territory to produce for examination, or to allow access to, any account or other record for the purposes of determining a computed value. However, information supplied by the producer of the goods for the purposes of determining the

customs value under the provisions of this Article may be verified in another country by the authorities of the country of importation with the agreement of the producer and provided they give sufficient advance notice to the government of the country in question and the latter does not object to the investigation.

Article 7

- 1. If the customs value of the imported goods cannot be determined under the provisions of Articles 1 to 6, inclusive, the customs value shall be determined using reasonable means consistent with the principles and general provisions of this Agreement and of Article VII of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade, hereinafter referred to as the GATT, and on the basis of data available in the country of importation.
- 2. No customs value shall be determined under the provisions of this Article on the basis of:
 - (a) the selling price in the country of importation of goods produced in such country;
 - (b) a system which provides for the acceptance for customs purposes of the higher of two alternative values;
 - (c) the price of goods on the domestic market of the country of exportation;
 - (d) the cost of production other than computed values which have been determined for identical or similar goods in accordance with the provisions of Article 6;
 - (e) the price of the goods for export to a country other than the country of importation;

- (f) minimum customs values;
- (g) arbitrary or fictitious values.
- 3. If he so requests, the importer shall be informed in writing of the customs value determined under the provisions of this Article and the method used to determine such value.

Article 8

- 1. In determining the customs value under the provisions of Article 1, there shall be added to the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods:
 - (a) the following, to the extent that they are incurred by the buyer but are not included in the price actually paid or payable for the goods:
 - (i) commissions and brokerage, except buying commissions;
 - (ii) the cost of containers which are treated as being one for customs purposes with the goods in question;
 - (iii) the cost of packing whether for labour or materials;
 - (b) the value, apportioned as appropriate, of the following goods and services where supplied directly or indirectly by the buyer free of charge or at reduced cost for use in connection with the production and sale for export of the imported goods, to the extent that such value has not been included in the price actually paid or payable:
 - (i) materials, components, parts and similar items incorporated in the imported goods;

- (ii) tools, dies, moulds and similar items used in the production of the imported goods;
- (iii) materials consumed in the production of the imported goods;
- (iv) engineering, development, artwork, design work, and plans and sketches undertaken elsewhere than in the country of importation and necessary for the production of the imported goods;
- (c) royalties and licence fees related to the goods being valued that the buyer must pay, either directly or indirectly, as a condition of sale of the goods being valued, to the extent that such royalties and fees are not included in the price actually paid or payable;
- (d) the value of any part of the proceeds of any subsequent resale, disposal or use of the imported goods that accrues directly or indirectly to the seller.
- 2. In framing its legislation, each party shall provide for the inclusion in or the exclusion from the customs value, in whole or in part, of the following:
 - (a) the cost of transport of the imported goods to the port or place of importation;
 - (b) loading, unloading and handling charges associated with the transport of the imported goods to the port or place of importation; and
 - (c) the cost of insurance.

- 3. Additions to the price actually paid or payable shall be made under this Article only on the basis of objective and quantifiable data.
- 4. No additions shall be made to the price actually paid or payable in determining the customs value except as provided in this Article.

Article 9

- 1. Where the conversion of currency is necessary for the determination of the customs value, the rate of exchange to be used shall be that duly published by the competent authorities of the country of importation concerned and shall reflect as effectively as possible, in respect of the period covered by each such document of publication, the current value of such currency in commercial transactions in terms of the currency of the country of importation.
- 2. The conversion rate to be used shall be that in effect at the time of exportation or the time of importation, as provided by each party.

Article 10

All information which is by nature confidential or which is provided on a confidential basis for the purposes of customs valuation shall be treated as strictly confidential by the authorities concerned who shall not disclose it without the specific permission of the person or government providing such information, except to the extent that it may be required to be disclosed in the context of judicial proceedings.

Article 11

1. The legislation of each party shall provide in regard to a determination of customs value for the right of appeal, without penalty, by the importer or any other person liable for the payment of the duty.

- 2. An initial right of appeal without penalty may be to an authority within the customs administration or to an independent body, but the legislation of each party shall provide for the right of appeal without penalty to a judicial authority.
- 3. Notice of the decision on appeal shall be given to the appellant and the reasons for such decision shall be provided in writing. He shall also be informed of his rights of any further appeal.

Laws, regulations, judicial decisions and administrative rulings of general application giving effect to this Agreement shall be published in conformity with Article X of the GATT by the country of importation concerned.

Article 13

Article 12

If, in the course of determining the customs value of imported goods, it becomes necessary to delay the final determination of such customs value, the importer shall nevertheless be able to withdraw his goods from customs if, where so required, he provides sufficient guarantee in the form of a surety, a deposit or some other appropriate instrument, covering the ultimate payment of customs duties for which the goods may be liable. The legislation of each party shall make provisions for such circumstances.

Article 16

The notes at Annex I to this Agreement form an integral part of this Agreement and the Articles of this Agreement are to be read and applied in conjunction with their respective notes. Annexes II and III also form an integral part of this Agreement.

Article 15

1. In this Agreement:

- (a) "customs value of imported goods" means the value of goods for the purposes of levying ad valorem duties of customs on imported goods;
- (b) "country of importation" means country or customs territory of importation; and
- (c) "produced" includes grown, manufactured and mined.
- 2. (a) In this Agreement'identical goods" means goods which are the same in all respects, including physical characteristics, quality and reputation. Minor differences in appearance would not preclude goods otherwise conforming to the definition from being regarded as identical.
 - (b) In this Agreement "similar goods" means goods which, although not alike in all respects, have like characteristics and like component materials which enable them to perform the same functions and to be commercially interchangeable. The quality of the goods, their reputation and the existence of a trademark are among the factors to be considered in determining whether goods are similar.
 - (c) The terms "identical goods" and "similar goods" do not include, as the case may be, goods which incorporate or reflect engineering, development, artwork, design work, and plans and sketches for which no adjustment has been made under Article 8.1(b)(iv) because such elements were undertaken in the country of importation.

- (d) Goods shall not be regarded as "identical goods" or "similar goods" unless they were produced in the same country as the goods being valued.
- (e) Goods produced by a different person shall be taken into account only when there are no identical goods or similar goods, as the case may be, produced by the same person as the goods being valued.
- 3. In this Agreement "goods of the same class or kind" means goods which fall within a group or range of goods produced by a particular industry or industry sector, and includes identical or similar goods.
- 4. For the purposes of this Agreement, persons shall be deemed to be related only if:
 - (a) they are officers or directors of one another's businesses;
 - (b) they are legally recognized partners in business;
 - (c) they are employer and employee;
 - (d) any person directly or indirectly owns, controls or holds5 per cent or more of the outstanding voting stock or shares of both of them;
 - (e) one of them directly or indirectly controls the other;
 - (f) both of them are directly or indirectly controlled by a third person;
 - (g) together they directly or indirectly control a third person; or
 - (h) they are members of the same family.

5. Persons who are associated in business with one another in that one is the sole agent, sole distributor or sole concessionaire, however described, of the other shall be deemed to be related for the purposes of this Agreement if they fall within the criteria of paragraph 4 of this Article.

Article 16

Upon written request, the importer shall have the right to an explanation in writing from the customs administration of the country of importation as to how the customs value of his imported goods was determined.

Article 17

Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as restricting or calling into question the rights of customs administrations to satisfy themselves as to the truth or accuracy of any statement, document or declaration presented for customs valuation purposes.

A-23

PART II - ADMINISTRATION AND DISPUTE RESOLUTION

Institutions

Article 18

There shall be established under this Agreement:

- 1. A Committee on Customs Valuation (hereinafter referred to as
 the Committee) composed of representatives from each of the parties to
 this Agreement. The Committee shall elect its own Chairman and shall
 normally meet once a year, or as is otherwise envisaged by the relevant
 provisions of this Agreement, for the purpose of affording parties to this
 Agreement the opportunity to consult on matters relating to the administration
 of the customs valuation system by any party to this Agreement as it might
 affect the operation of this Agreement or the furtherance of its objectives,
 and to carry out such other responsibilities as may be assigned to it by the
 parties. The GATT secretariat shall act as the secretariat to the Committee.
- 2. A Technical Committee on Customs Valuation (hereinafter referred to as the Technical Committee) under the auspices of the Customs

 Cooperation Council which shall carry out the responsibilities described in Annex II to this Agreement and shall operate in accordance with the rules of procedure contained therein.

Consultations

Article 19

1. If any party considers that any benefit accruing to it, directly or indirectly, under this Agreement is being nullified or impaired, or that the achievement of any objective of this Agreement is being impeded, as a result

of the actions of another party or parties, it may, with a view to reaching a mutually satisfactory solution of the matter, request consultations with the party or parties in question. Each party shall afford sympathetic consideration to any request from another party for consultations.

- 2. The parties concerned shall initiate requested consultations promptly.
- 3. Parties engaged in consultations on a particular matter affecting the operation of this Agreement shall attempt to conclude such consultations within a reasonably short period of time. The Technical Committee shall provide, upon request, advice and assistance to parties engaged in consultations.

Resolution of disputes

Article 20

- 1. It no mutually satisfactory solution has been reached between the parties concerned in consultations under Article 19 above the Committee shall meet at the request of any party to the dispute, within thirty days of receipt of such a request, to investigate the matter, with a view to facilitating a mutually satisfactory solution.
- 2. In investigating the matter and in selecting its procedures, the Committee shall take into account whether the issues in dispute relate to ecommercial policy considerations or to questions requiring detailed technical consideration. The Committee may request on its own initiative that the Technical Committee carry out an examination, as provided in paragraph 4 below, of any question requiring technical consideration. Upon the request of any party to the dispute that considers the issues to relate to questions of a technical nature, the Committee shall request the Technical Committee to carry out such an examination.

A-25



3. During any phase of a dispute settlement procedure, competent bodies and experts in matters under consideration may be consulted; appropriate information and assistance may be requested from such bodies and experts. The Committee shall take into consideration the results of any work of the Technical Committee that pertain to the matter in dispute.

Technical issues

4. When the Technical Committee is requested under the provisions of paragraph 2 above it shall examine the matter and report to the Committee no later than three months from the date the technical issue was referred to it, unless the period is extended by mutual agreement between the parties to the dispute.

Panel proceedings

- 5. In cases where the matter is not referred to the Technical Committee, the Committee shall establish a panel upon the request of any party to the dispute if no mutually satisfactory solution has been reached within three months from the date of the request to the Committee to investigate the matter. Where the matter is referred to the Technical Committee, the Committee shall establish a panel upon the request of any party to the dispute if no mutually satisfactory solution has been reached within one month from the date when the Technical Committee presents its report to the Committee.
- 6. (a) When a panel is established, it shall be governed by the procedures as set forth in Annex III.
 - (b) If the Technical Committee has made a report on the technical aspects of the matter in dispute, the panel shall use this report as the basis for its consideration of the technical aspects of the matter in dispute.

Enforcement

- 7. After the investigation is completed or after the report of the Technical Committee or panel is presented to the Committee, the Committee shall give the matter prompt consideration. With respect to panel reports, the Committee shall take appropriate action normally within thirty days of receipt of the report, unless extended by the Committee. Such action shall include:
 - (i) a statement concerning the facts of the matter; and
 - (ii) recommendations to one or more parties to this Agreement or any other ruling which it deems appropriate.
- 8. If a party to which recommendations are addressed considers itself unable to implement them, it should promptly furnish reasons in writing to the Committee. In that event, the Committee shall consider what further action may be appropriate.
- 9. If the Committee considers that the circumstances are serious enough to justify such action, it may authorize one or more parties to this Agreement to suspend the application to any other party or parties to this Agreement of such obligations under this Agreement as it determines to be appropriate in the circumstances.
- 10. The Committee shall keep under surveillance any matter on which it has made recommendations or given rulings.
- 11. If a dispute arises between parties relating to rights and obligations under this Agreement, parties should complete the dispute settlement procedures under this Agreement before availing themselves of any rights which they have under the GATT including involving Article XXIII thereof.

PART III - SPECIAL AND DIFFERENTIAL TREATMENT

Article 21

- 1. Developing countries party to this Agreement (referred to in this Agreement as developing parties) may delay application of its provisions for a period not exceeding five years from the date of entry into force of this Agreement for such country. Developing parties who choose to delay application of this Agreement shall notify the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT accordingly.
- 2. In addition to paragraph 1 above, developing parties to this Agreement may delay application of Article 1.2(b)(iii) and Article 6 for a period not exceeding three years following their application of all other provisions of this Agreement. Developing parties that choose to delay application of the provisions specified in this paragraph shall notify the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT accordingly.
- 3. Developed countries party to this Agreement (referred to in this Agreement as developed parties) shall furnish, on mutually agreed terms, technical assistance to developing parties that so request. On this basis developed parties shall draw up programmes of technical assistance which may include, inter alia, training of personnel, assistance in preparing implementation measures, access to sources of information regarding customs valuation methodology, and advice on the application of the provisions of this Agreement.

A-28

PART IV - FINAL PROVISIONS

Acceptance and accession

Article 22

- 1. This Agreement shall be open for acceptance by signature or otherwise, by governments contracting parties to the GATT and by the European Economic Community.
- 2. This Agreement shall be open to accession by any other government on terms, related to the effective application of rights and obligations under this Agreement, to be agreed between that government and the parties to this Agreement, by the deposit with the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT of an instrument of accession which states the terms so agreed.
- 3. Contracting parties may accept this Agreement in respect of those territories for which they have international responsibility, provided that the GATT is being applied in respect of such territories in accordance with the provisions of Article XXVI:5(a) or (b) of the GATT; and in terms of such acceptance, each such territory shall be treated as though it were a party to this Agreement.

Reservations

Article 23

Reservations may not be entered in respect of any of the provisions of this Agreement without the consent of the other parties to this Agreement.

Entry into force

Article 24

This Agreement shall enter into force on 1 January 1961 for the governments* which have accepted or acceded to it by that date. For each other government it shall enter into force on the thirtieth day following the date of its acceptance or accession to this Agreement. National legislation

Article 25

1. Each governm

- 1. Each government accepting or acceding to this Agreement shall ensure, not later than the date of entry into force of this Agreement for it, the conformity of its laws, regulations and administrative procedures with the provisions of this Agreement.
- 2. Each party to this Agreement shall inform the Committee of any changes in its laws and regulations relevant to this Agreement and in the administration of such laws and regulations.

Review

Article 26

The Committee shall review annually the implementation and operation of this Agreement taking into account the objectives thereof. The Committee shall annually inform the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT of developments during the period covered by such reviews.

The term "government" is deemed to include the competent authorities of the European Economic Community.

Amendments

Article 27

The Parties may amend this Agreement, having regard, inter alia, to the experience gained in its implementation. Such an amendment, once it has obtained the concurrence of the Parties in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, shall not come into force for any party until it has been accepted by such party.

Withdrawal

Article 28

Any party to this Agreement may withdraw from this Agreement.

The withdrawal shall take effect upon the expiration of sixty days from the date on which written notice of withdrawal is received by the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT. Any party to this Agreement may, upon the receipt of such notice, request an immediate meeting of the Committee.

Secretariat

Article 29

This Agreement shall be serviced by the GATT secretariat except in regard to those responsibilities specifically assigned to the Technical Committee, which will be serviced by the Customs Co-operation Council.

Deposit

Article 30

This Agreement shall be deposited with the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT, who shall promptly furnish to each party to this Agreement and each contracting party to the GATT a certified

copy thereof and of each amendment thereto pursuant to Article 27, and an information of each acceptance thereof or instrument of accession thereto pursuant to Article 22, or written notice of each withdrawal therefrom pursuant to Article 28.

Registration

Article 31

This Agreement shall be registered in accordance with the provisions of Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

A-32

ANNEX I

INTERPRETATIVE NOTES

General Note

Sequential application of valuation methods

- 1. Articles 1 to 7, inclusive, define how the customs value of imported goods is to be determined under the provisions of this Agreement. The methods of valuation are set out in a sequential order of application. The primary method for customs valuation is defined in Article 1 and imported goods are to be valued in accordance with the provisions of this Article whenever the conditions prescribed therein are fulfilled.
- 2. Where the customs value cannot be determined under the provisions of Article 1, it is to be determined by proceeding sequentially through the succeeding Articles to the first such Article under which the customs value can be determined. Except as provided in Article 4, it is only when the customs value cannot be determined under the provisions of a particular Article that the provisions of the next Article in the sequence can be used.
- 3. If the importer does not request that the order of Articles 5 and 6 be reversed, the normal order of the sequence is to be followed. If the importer does so request but it then proves impossible to determine the customs value under the provisions of Article 6, the customs value is to be determined under the provisions of Article 5, if it can be so determined.
- 4. Where the customs value cannot be determined under the provisions of Articles 1 to 6, inclusive, it is to be determined under the provisions of Article 7.

Use of generally accepted accounting principles

- 1. "Generally accepted accounting principles" refers to the recognized consensus or substantial authoritative support within a country at a particular time as to which economic resources and obligations should be recorded as assets and liabilities, which changes in assets and liabilities should be recorded, how the assets and liabilities and changes in them should be measured, what information should be disclosed and how it should be disclosed, and which financial statements should be prepared. These standards may be broad guidelines of general application as well as detailed practices and procedures.
- 2. For the purposes of this igreement, the customs administration of each party shall utilize information prepared in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting principles in the country which is appropriate for the Article in question. For example, the determination of usual profit and general expenses under the provisions of irticle 5 would be carried out utilizing information prepared in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting principles of the country of importation.

 On the other hand, the determination of usual profit and general expenses under the provisions of Article 6 would be carried out utilizing information prepared in a manner consistent with generally accepted accounting principles of the country of production. As a further example, the determination of an element provided for in Article 8.1(b)(ii) undertaken in the country of importation would be carried out utilizing information in a manner consistent with the generally accepted accounting principles of that country.

Note to Article 1

Price actually paid or payable

The price actually paid or payable is the total payment made or to be made by the buyer to or for the benefit of the seller for the imported goods. The payment need not necessarily take the form of a transfer of money. Payment may be made by way of letters of credit or negotiable instruments. Payment may be made directly or indirectly. An example of an indirect payment would be the settlement by the buyer, whether in whole or in part, of a debt owed by the seller.

Activities undertaken by the buyer on his own account, other than those for which an adjustment is provided in Article 8, are not considered to be an indirect payment to the seller, even though they might be regarded as of benefit to the seller. The costs of such activities shall not, therefore, be added to the price actually paid or payable in determining the customs value.

The customs value shall not include the following charges or costs, provided that they are distinguished from the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods:

- (a) charges for construction, erection, assembly, maintenance or technical assistance, undertaken after importation on imported goods such as industrial plant, machinery or equipment;
- (b) the cost of transport after importation;
- (c) duties and taxes of the country of importation.

The price actually paid or payable refers to the price for the imported goods. Thus the flow of dividends or other payments from the buyer to the seller that do not relate to the imported goods are not part of the customs value.

Note to Article 1.1(a)(iii)

Among restrictions which would not render a price paid or payable unacceptable are restrictions which do not substantially affect the value of the goods. An example of such restrictions would be the case where a seller requires a buyer of automobiles not to sell or exhibit them prior to a fixed date which represents the beginning of a model year.

Note to Article 1.1(b)

If the sale or price is subject to some condition or consideration for which a value cannot be determined with respect to the goods being valued, the transaction value shall not be acceptable for customs purposes. Some examples of this include:

- (a) the seller establishes the price of the imported goods on condition that the buyer will also buy other goods in specified quantities:
- (b) the price of the imported goods is dependent upon the price or prices at which the buyer of the imported goods sells other goods to the seller of the imported goods;
- (c) the price is established on the basis of a form of payment extraneous to the imported goods, such as where the imported goods are semi-finished goods which have been provided by the seller on condition that he will receive a specified quantity of the finished goods.

However, conditions or considerations relating to the production or marketing of the imported goods shall not result in rejection of the transaction value. For example, the fact that the buyer furnishes the seller with engineering and plans undertaken in the country of importation shall not result in rejection of the transaction value for the purposes of Article 1. Likewise, if the buyer undertakes on his own account, even though by agreement with the seller, activities relating to the marketing of the imported goods, the value of these activities is not part of the customs value nor shall such activities result in rejection of the transaction value.

Note to Article 1.2

- 1. Paragraphs 2(a) and 2(b) of Article 1 provide different means of establishing the acceptability of a transaction value.
- 2. Paragraph 2(a) provides that where the buyer and the seller are related, the circumstances surrounding the sale shall be examined and the transaction value shall be accepted as the customs value provided that the relationship did not influence the price. It is not intended that there should be an examination of the circumstances in all cases where the buyer and the seller are related. Such examination will only be required where there are doubts about the acceptability of the price. Where the customs administration have no doubts about the acceptability of the price, it should be accepted without requesting further information from the importer. For example, the customs administration may have previously examined the relationship, or it may already have detailed information concerning

the buyer and the seller, and may already be satisfied from such examination or information that the relationship did not influence the price.

Where the customs administration is unable to accept the transaction value without further inquiry, it should give the importer an opportunity to supply such further detailed information as may be necessary to enable it to examine the circumstances surrounding the sale. In this context, the customs administration should be prepared to examine relevant aspects of the transaction, including the way in which the buyer and seller organize their commercial relations and the way in which the price in question was arrived at, in order to determine whether the relationship influenced the price. Where it can be shown that the buyer and seller, although related under the provisions of Article 15, buy from and sell to each other as if they were not related, this would demonstrate that the price had not been influenced by the relationship. As an example of this, if the price had been settled in a manner consistent with the normal pricing practices of the industry in question or with the way the seller settles prices for sales to buyers who are not related to him, this would demonstrate that the price had not been influenced by the relationship. As a further example, where it is shown that the price is adequate to ensure recovery of all costs plus a profit which is representative of the firm's overall profit realized over a representative period of time (e.g. on an annual basis) in sales of goods of the same class or kind, this would demonstrate that the price had not been influenced.

that the transaction value closely approximates to a "test" value previously accepted by the customs administration and is therefore acceptable under the provisions of Article 1. Where a test under paragraph 2(b) is met, it is not necessary to examine the question of influence under paragraph 2(a). If the customs administration has already sufficient information to be satisfied, without further detailed inquiries, that one of the tests provided in paragraph 2(b) has been met, there is no reason for it to require the importer to demonstrate that the test can be met. In paragraph 2(b) the term "unrelated buyers" means buyers who are not related to the seller in any particular case.

Note to Article 1.2(b)

A number of factors must be taken into consideration in determining whether one value "closely approximates" to another value. These factors include the nature of the imported goods, the nature of the industry itself, the season in which the goods are imported, and, whether the difference in values is commercially significant. Since these factors may vary from case to case, it would be impossible to apply a uniform standard such as a fixed percentage, in each case. For example, a small difference in value in a case involving one type of goods could be unacceptable while a large difference in a case involving another type of goods might be acceptable in determining whether the transaction value closely approximates to the "test" values set forth in Article 1.2(b).

Note to Article 2

- 1. In applying Article 2, the customs administration shall, wherever possible, use a sale of identical goods at the same commercial level and in substantially the same quantities as the goods being valued. Where no such sale is found, a sale of identical goods that takes place under any one of the following three conditions may be used:
 - (a) a sale at the same commercial level but in different quantities;
 - (b) a sale at a different commercial level but in substantially the same quantities; or
 - (c) a sale at a different commercial level and in different quantities.
- 2. Having found a sale under any one of these three conditions adjustments will then be made, as the case may be, for:
 - (a) quantity factors only;
 - (b) commercial level factors only; or
 - (c) both commercial level and quantity factors.
- 3. The expression 'and/or" allows the flexibility to use the sales and make the necessary adjustments in any one of the three conditions described above.
- 4. For the purposes of Article 2, the transaction value of identical imported goods means a customs value, adjusted as provided for in paragraphs 1(b) and 2 of this Article, which has already been accepted under Article 1.

A condition for adjustment because of different commercial levels or different quantities is that such adjustment, whether it leads to an increase or a decrease in the value, be made only on the basis of demonstrated evidence that clearly establishes the reasonableness and accuracy of the adjustment, e.g. valid price lists containing prices referring to different levels or different quantities. As an example of this, if the imported goods being valued consist of a shipment of 10 units and the only identical imported goods for which a transaction value exists involved a sale of 500 units, and it is recognized that the seller grants quantity discounts. the required adjustment may be accomplished by resorting to the seller's price list and using that price applicable to a sale of 10 units. This does not require that a sale had to have been made in quantities of 10 as long as the price list has been established as being bona fide through sales at other quantities. In the absence of such an objective measure, however, the determination of a customs value under the provisions of Article 2 is not appropriate.

Note to Article 3

- 1. In applying Article 3, the customs administration shall, wherever possible, use a sale of similar goods at the same commercial level and in substantially the same quantities as the goods being valued. Where no such sale is found, a sale of similar goods that takes place under any one of the following three conditions may be used:
 - (a) a sale at the same commercial level but in different quantities;

 A-41

- (b) a sale at a different commercial level but in substantially the same quantities; or
- (c) a sale at a different commercial level and in different quantities.
- 2. Having found a sale under any one of these three conditions adjustments will then be made, as the case may be, for:
 - (a) quantity factors only;
 - (b) commercial level factors only; or
 - (c) both commercial level and quantity factors.
- 3. The expression "and/or" allows the flexibility to use the sales and make the necessary adjustments in any one of the three conditions described above.
- 4. For the purposes of Article 3, the transaction value of similar imported goods means a customs value, adjusted as provided for in paragraphs 1(b) and 2 of this Article which has already been accepted under Article 1.
- 5. A condition for adjustment because of different commercial levels or different quantities is that such adjustment, whether it leads to an increase or a decrease in the value, be made only on the basis of demonstrated evidence that clearly establishes the reasonableness and accuracy of the adjustment, e.g. valid price lists containing prices referring to different levels or different quantities. As an example of this, if the imported goods being valued consist of a shipment of 10 units and the only similar imported goods for which a transaction value exists involved a sale of

500 units, and it is recognized that the seller grants quantity discounts, the required adjustment may be accomplished by resorting to the seller's price list and using that price applicable to a sale of 10 units. This does not require that a sale had to have been made in quantities of 10 as long as the price list has been established as being bona fide through sales at other quantities. In the absence of such an objective measure, however, the determination of a customs value under the provisions of Article 3 is not appropriate.

Note to Article 5

- 1. The term "unit price at which ... goods are sold in the greatest aggregate quantity" means the price at which the greatest number of units is sold in sales to persons who are not related to the persons from whom they buy such goods at the first commercial level after importation at which such sales take place.
- 2. As an example of this, goods are sold from a price list which grants favourable unit prices for purchases made in larger quantities.

Sale quantity	Unit price	Number of sales	Total quantity sold at each price
1-10 units	100	10 sales of 5 units 5 sales of 3 units	65
11-25 units	95	5 sales of 11 units	55
over 25 units	90	1 sale of 30 units 1 sale of 50 units	80

The greatest number of units sold at a price is 60; therefore, the unit price in the greatest aggregate quantity is 90.

- 3. As enother example of this, two sales occur. In the first sale 500 units are sold at a price of 95 currency units each. In the second sale 400 units are sold at a price of 90 currency units each. In this example, the greatest number of units sold at a particular price is 500; therefore the unit price in the greatest aggregate quantity is 95.
- b. A third example would be the following situation where various quantities are sold at various prices.

(a) Sales

Sale quantity	Unit price	
40 units	100	
30 units	90	
15 units	100	
50 units	95	
25 units	105	
35 units	90	
5 units	100	

(b) Totals

Total quantity sold	Unit price
65	90
50	95
60	100
25	105

In this example, the greatest number of units sold at a particular price is 65; therefore, the unit price in the greatest aggregate quantity is 90.

5. Any sale in the importing country, as described in paragraph 1 above, to a person who supplies directly or indirectly free of charge or at reduced cost for use in connection with the production and sale for export of the imported goods any of the elements specified in Article 8.1(b), should not be taken into account in establishing the unit price for the purposes of Article 5.

A-44

- 6. It should be noted that 'profit and general expenses' referred to in paragraph 1 of Article 5 should be taken as a whole. The figure for the purposes of this deduction should be determined on the basis of information supplied by or on behalf of the importer unless his figures are inconsistent with those obtaining in sales in the country of importation of imported goods of the same class or kind. Where the importer's figures are inconsistent with such figures, the amount for profit and general expenses may be based upon relevant information other than that supplied by or on behalf of the importer.
- 7. The general expenses' include the direct and indirect costs of marketing the goods in question.
- 8. Local taxes payable by reason of the sale of the goods for which a deduction is not made under the provisions of Article 5.1(a)(iv) shall be deducted under the provisions of Article 5.1(a)(i).
- 9. In determining either the commissions or the usual profits and general expenses under the provisions of paragraph 1 of Article 5, the question whether certain goods are of the same class or kind as other goods must be determined on a case-by-case basis by reference to the circumstances involved. Sales in the country of importation of the narrowest group or range of imported goods of the same class or kind, which includes the goods being valued, for which the necessary information can be provided, should be examined. For the purposes of Article 5, "goods of the same class or kind" include goods imported from the same country as the goods being valued as well as goods imported from other countries.
- 10. For the purposes of Article 5.1(b), the "earliest date" shall be the date by which sales of the imported goods or of identical or similar imported goods are made in sufficient quantity to establish the unit price.

A-45



- 11. Where the method in Article 5.2 is used, deductions made for the value added by further processing shall be based on objective and quantifiable data relating to the cost of such work. Accepted industry formulas, recipes, methods of construction, and other industry practices would form the basis of the calculations.
- 12. It is recognized that the method of valuation provided for in Article 5.2 would normally not be applicable when, as a result of the further processing, the imported goods lose their identity. However, there can be instances where, although the identity of the imported goods is lost, the value added by the processing can be determined accurately without unreasonable difficulty. On the other hand, there can also be instances where the imported goods maintain their identity but form such a minor element in the goods sold in the country of importation that the use of this valuation method would be unjustified. In view of the above, each situation of this type must be considered on a case-by-case basis.

Note to Article 6

1. As a general rule, customs value is determined under this Agreement on the basis of information readily available in the country of importation. In order to determine a computed value, however, it may be necessary to examine the costs of producing the goods being valued and other information which has to be obtained from outside the country of importation. Furthermore, in most cases the producer of the goods will be outside the jurisdiction of the authorities of the country of importation. The use of the

computed value method will generally be limited to those cases where the buyer and seller are related, and the producer is prepared to supply to the authorities of the country of importation the necessary coetings and to provide facilities for any subsequent verification which may be necessary.

- 2. The "cost or value" referred to in paragraph 1(a) of Article 6 is to be determined on the basis of information relating to the production of the goods being valued supplied by or on behalf of the producer. It is to be based upon the commercial accounts of the producer, provided that such accounts are consistent with the generally accepted accounting principles applied in the country where the goods are produced.
- 3. The "cost or value" shall include the cost of elements specified in Article 8.1(a)(ii) and (iii). It shall also include the value, apportioned as appropriate under the provisions of the relevant note to Article 8, of any element specified in Article 8.1(b) which has been supplied directly or indirectly by the buyer for use in connection with the production of the imported goods. The value of the elements specified in Article 8.1(b)(iv) which are undertaken in the country of importation shall be included only to the extent that such elements are charged to the producer. It is to be understood that no cost or value of the elements referred to in this paragraph shall be counted twice in determining the computed value.
- the "amount for profit and general expenses" referred to in paragraph 1(b) of Article 6 is to be determined on the basis of information supplied by or on behalf of the producer unless his figures are inconsistent with those usually reflected in sales of goods of the same class or kind as the goods being valued which are made by producers in the country of exportation for export to the country of importation.

5. It should be noted in this context that the "amount for profit and general expenses" has to be taken as a whole. It follows that if, in any particular case, the producer's profit figure is low and his general expenses are high, his profit and general expenses taken together may nevertheless be consistent with that usually reflected in sales of goods of the same class or kind. Such a situation might occur, for example, if a product were being launched in the country of importation and the producer accepted a nil or low profit to offset high general expenses associated with the launch. Where the producer can demonstrate that he is taking a low profit on his sales of the imported goods because of particular commercial circumstances, his actual profit figures should be taken into account provided that he has valid commercial reasons to justify them and his pricing policy reflects usual pricing policies in the branch of industry concerned. Such a situation might occur, for example, where producers have been forced to lower prices temporarily because of an unforeseeable drop in demand, or where they sell goods to complement a range of goods being produced in the country of importation and accept a low profit to maintain competitivity. Where the producer's cwn figures for profit and general expenses are not consistent with those usually reflected in sales of goods of the same class or kind as the goods being valued which are made by producers in the country of exportation for export to the country of importation, the amount for profit and general expenses may be based upon relevant information other than that supplied by or on behalf of the producer of the goods.

- 5. Where information other than that supplied by or on behalf of the producer is used for the purposes of determining a computed value, the authorities of the importing country shall inform the importer, if the latter so requests, of the source of such information, the data used and the calculations based upon such data, subject to the provisions of Article 10.
- 7. The "general expenses" referred to in paragraph 1(b) of Article 6 covers the direct and indirect costs of producing and selling the goods for export which are not included under paragraph 1(a).
- 3. Whether certain goods are "of the same class or kind" as other goods must be determined on a case-by-case basis with reference to the circumstances involved. In determining the usual profits and general expenses under the provisions of Article 6, sales for export to the country of importation of the narrowest group or range of goods, which includes the goods being valued, for which the necessary information can be provided, should be examined. For the purposes of Article 6, "goods of the same class or kind" must be from the same country as the goods being valued.

Note to Article 7

- 1. Customs values determined under the provisions of Article 7 should, to the greatest extent possible, be based on previously determined customs values.
- 2. The methods of valuation to be employed under Article 7 should be those laid down in Articles 1 to 6, inclusive, but a reasonable flexibility in the application of such methods would be in conformity with the mins and provisions of Article 7.

- 3. Some examples of reasonable flexibility are as follows:
- (a) Identical goods the requirement that the identical goods should be exported at or about the same time as the goods being valued could be flexibly interpreted; identical imported goods produced in a country other than the country of exportation of the goods being valued could be the basis for customs valuation; customs values of identical imported goods already determined under the provisions of Articles 5 and 6 could be used.
- Similar goods the requirement that the similar goods should be exported at or about the same time as the goods being valued could be flexibly interpreted; similar imported goods produced in a country other than the country of exportation of the goods being valued could be the basis for customs valuation; customs values of similar imported goods already determined under the provisions of Articles 5 and 6 could be used.
- (c) <u>Deductive method</u> the requirement that the goods shall have been sold in the "condition as imported" in Article 5.1(a) could be flexibly interpreted; the "ninety days" requirement could be administered flexibly.

Note to Article 8

Paragraph 1(a)(i)

1. The term "buying commissions" means fees paid by an importer to his agent for the service of representing him abroad in the purchase of the goods being valued.

Paragraph 1(b)(ii)

- 2. There are two factors involved in the apportionment of the elements specified in Article 8.1(b)(ii) to the imported goods the value of the element itself and the way in which that value is to be apportioned to the imported goods. The apportionment of these elements should be made in a reasonable manner appropriate to the circumstances and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
- 3. Concerning the value of the element, if the importer acquires the element from a seller not related to him at a given cost, the value of the element is that cost. If the element was produced by the importer or by a person related to him, its value would be the cost of producing it. If the element had been previously used by the importer, regardless of whether it had been acquired or produced by such importer, the original cost of acquisition or production would have to be adjusted downward to reflect its use in order to arrive at the value of the element.
- 4. Once a value has been determined for the element, it is necessary to apportion that value to the imported goods. Various possibilities exist. For example, the value might be apportioned to the first shipment if the importer wishes to pay duty on the entire value at one time. As another example, the importer may request that the value be apportioned over the number of units produced up to the time of the first shipment. As a further example, he may request that the value be apportioned over the entire anticipated production where contracts or firm commitments exist for that

production. The method of apportionment used will depend upon the modumentation provided by the importer.

5. As an illustration of the above, an importer provides the producer with a mould to be used in the production of the imported goods and contracts with him to buy 10,000 units. By the time of arrival of the first shipment of 1,000 units, the producer has already produced 4 000 units. The importer may request the customs administration to apportion the value of the mould over 1,000 units, 1,000 units or 10,000 units.

Paragrapa 1(b)(iv)

- 5. Additions for the elements specified in Article 3.1(b)(iv) should be based on objective and quantifiable data. In order to minimize the burden for both the importer and customs administration in determining the values to be added, data readily available in the buyer's commercial record system should be used in so far as possible.
- 6. For those elements supplied by the buyer which were purchased or leased by the buyer, the addition would be the cost of the purchase or the lease. No addition shall be rade for those elements available in the public domain, other than the cost of obtaining copies of them.
- 7. The case with which it may be possible to calculate the values to be added will depend on a particular firm's structure and management practice, as well as its accounting methods.

A-52

- 8. For example, it is possible that a firm which imports a variety of products from several countries maintains the records of its design centre outside the country of importation in such a way as to show accurately the costs attributable to a given product. In such cases, a direct adjustment may appropriately be rade under the provisions of Article 3.
- 9. In another case, a firm may carry the cost of the design centre outside the country of importation as a general overhead expense without allocation to specific products. In this instance, an appropriate adjustment could be made under the provisions of Article 3 with respect to the imported goods by apportioning total design centre costs over total production benefiting from the design centre and adding such apportioned cost on a unit basis to imports.
- 10. Variations in the above circumstances will, of course, require different factors to be considered in determining the proper method of allocation.
- 11. In cases where the production of the element in question involves a number of countries and over a period of time, the adjustment should be limited to the value actually added to that element outside the country of importation.

Paragraph 1(c)

12. The royalties and licence fees referred to in Article 8.1(c) may include, among other things, payments in respect to patents, trademarks and copyrights. However, the charges for the right to reproduce the imported goods in the country of importation shall not be added to the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods in determining the customs value.

13. Payments made by the buyer for the right to distribute or resell the imported goods shall not be added to the price actually paid or payable for the imported goods if such payments are not a condition of the sale for export to the country of importation of the imported goods.

Paragraph 3

14. Where objective and quantifiable data do not exist with regard to the additions required to be made under the provisions of Article 8, the transaction value cannot be determined under the provisions of Article 1. As an illustration of this, a royalty is paid on the basis of the price in a sale in the importing country of a litre of a particular product that was imported by the kilogram and made up into a solution after importation. If the royalty is based partially on the imported goods and partially on other factors which have nothing to do with the imported goods (such as when the imported goods are mixed with domestic ingredients and are no longer separately identifiable, or when the royalty cannot be distinguished from special financial arrangements between the buyer and the seller), it would be inappropriate to attempt to make an addition for the royalty. However, if the amount of this royalty is based only on the imported goods and can be readily quantified, an addition to the price actually paid or payable can be made.

Note to Article 9

For the purposes of Article 9 'time of importation' may include the time of entry for customs purposes.

Note to Article 11

- 1. Article 11 provides the importer with the right to appeal against a valuation determination made by the customs administration for the goods being valued. Appeal may first be to a higher level in the customs administration, but the importer shall have the right in the final instance to appeal to the judiciary.
- 2. "Without penalty" means that the importer shall not be subject to a fine or threat of fine merely because he chose to exercise his right of appeal. Payment of normal court costs and lawyers' fees shall not be considered to be a fine.
- 3. However, nothing in Article 11 shall prevent a party from requiring full payment of assessed customs duties prior to an appeal.

Note to Article 15.4

For the purposes of this Article, the term 'persons' includes legal persons, where appropriate.

Note to Article 15.4(e)

For the purposes of this Agreement, one person shall be deemed to control another when the former is legally or operationally in a position to exercise restraint or direction over the latter.

ANNEX II

Technical Committee on Customs Valuation

- 1. In accordance with Article 18 of this Agreement, a Technical Committee on Customs Valuation shall be established under the auspices of the Customs Co-operation Council with a view, at the technical level, towards uniformity in interpretation and application of this Agreement.
- 2. The responsibilities of the Technical Committee shall include the following:
- (a) to examine specific technical problems arising in the day-to-day administration of the customs valuation systems of parties to this Agreement and to give advisory opinions on appropriate solutions based upon the facts presented;
- (b) to study, as requested, valuation laws, procedures and practices as they relate to this Agreement and to prepare reports on the results of such studies:
- (c) to prepare and circulate annual reports on the technical aspects of the operation and status of this Agreement;
- (d) to furnish such information and advice on any matters concerning the valuation of imported goods for customs purposes as may be requested by any party to this Agreement or the Committee. Such information and advice may take the form of advisory opinions, commentaries or explanatory notes;
- (e) to facilitate, as requested, technical assistance to parties to this Agreement with a view to furthering the international acceptance of this Agreement; and
- (f) to exercise such other responsibilities as the Committee may assign to it.

General

- 3. The Technical Committee shall attempt to conclude its work on specific matters, especially those referred to it by parties to this Agreement or the Committee, in a reasonably short period of time.
- 4. The Technical Committee shall be assisted as appropriate in its activities by the Secretariat of the Customs Co-operation Council.

Representation

- 5. Each party to this Agreement shall have the right to be represented on the Technical Committee. Each party may nominate one delegate and one or more alternates to be its representatives on the Technical Committee. Such a party so represented on the Technical Committee is hereinafter referred to as a member of the Technical Committee. Representatives of members of the Technical Committee may be assisted by advisers. The GATT secretariat may also attend such meetings with observer status.
- 6. Members of the Customs Co-operation Council who are not parties to this Agreement may be represented at meetings of the Technical Committee by one delegate and one or more alternates. Such representatives shall attend meetings of the Technical Committee as observers.
- 7. Subject to the approval of the Chairman of the Technical Committee, the Secretary-General of the Customs Co-operation Council (hereinafter referred to as "the Secretary-General") may invite representatives of governments which are neither parties to this Agreement nor members of the Customs Co-operation Council and representatives of international governmental and trade organizations to attend meetings of the Technical Committee as observers.

8. Nominations of delegates, alternates and advisers to meetings of the Technical Committee shall be made to the Secretary-General.

Technical Committee meetings

9. The Technical Committee shall meet as necessary but at least two times a year. The date of each meeting shall be fixed by the Technical Committee at its preceding session.

The date of the meeting may be varied either at the request of any member of the Technical Committee concurred in by a simple majority of the members of the Technical Committee or, in cases requiring urgent attention, at the request of the Chairman.

- 10. The meetings of the Technical Committee shall be held at the headquarters of the Customs co-operation Council unless otherwise decided.
- 11. The Secretary-General shall inform all members of the Technical Committee and those included under paregraphs 6 and 7 at least thirty days in advance, except in urgent cases, of the opening date of each session of the Technical Committee.

Agenda

12. A provisional agenda for each session shall be drawn up by the Secretary-General and circulated to the members of the Technical Committee and to those included under paragraphs 6 and 7 at least thirty days in advance of the session, except in urgent cases. This agenda shall comprise all items whose inclusion has been approved by the Technical Committee during its preceding session, all items included by the Chairman on his own initiative, and all items whose inclusion has been requested by the Secretary-General, by the Committee or by any member of the Technical Committee.

13. The Technical Committee shall determine its agenda at the opening of each session. During the session the agenda may be altered at any time by the Technical Committee.

Officers and conduct of business

- The Technical Committee shall elect from among the delegates of its members a Chairman and one or more Vice Chairman. The Chairman and Vice Chairman shall each hold office for a period of one year. The retiring Chairman and Vice Chairman are eligible for re-election. A Chairman or Vice Chairman who ceases to represent a member of the Technical Committee shall automatically lose his mendate.
- 15. If the Chairman is absent from any meeting or part thereof, a Vice Chairman shall preside. In that event, the latter shall have the same powers and duties as the Chairman.
- 16. The Chairman of the meeting shall participate in the proceedings of the Technical Committee as such and not as the representative of a member of the Technical Committee.
- 17. In addition to exercising the powers conferred upon him elsewhere by these rules, the Chairman shall declare the opening and closing of each meeting, direct the discussion, accord the right to speak, and, pursuant to these rules, have control of the proceedings. The Chairman may also call a speaker to order if his remarks are not relevant.
- 18. During discussion of any matter a delegation may raise a point of order. In this event, the Chairman shall immediately state his ruling. If this ruling is challenged, the Chairman shall submit it to the meeting for decisions and it shall stand unless overruled.

- 19. The Secretary-General, or officers of the Secretariat designated by him, shall perform the secretarial work of meetings of the Technical Committee.

 Quorum and voting
- 20. Representatives of a simple majority of the members of the Technical Committee shall constitute a quorum.
- 21. Each member of the Technical Committee shall have one vote. A decision of the Technical Committee shall be taken by a majority comprising at least two thirds of the members present. Regardless of the outcome of the vote on a particular matter, the Technical Committee shall be free to make a full report to the Committee and to the Customs Co-operation Council on that matter indicating the different views expressed in the relevant discussions. Lenguages and records
- 22. The official languages of the Technical Committee shall be Erglish, French and Spanish. Speeches or statements made in any of these three languages shall be immediately translated into the official languages unless all delegations agree to dispense with translation. Speeches or statements made in any other language shall be translated into English, French and Spanish, subject to the same conditions, but in the event the delegation concerned shall provide the translation into English, French or Spanish. Only English, French and Spanish shall be used for the official documents of the Technical Committee. Memorands and correspondence for the consideration of the Technical Committee must be presented in one of the official languages.

A-60

23. The Technical Committee shall draw up a report of all its sessions and, if the Chairman considers it necessary, minutes or summary records of its meetings. The Chairman or his designee shall report on the work of the Technical Committee at each meeting of the Committee and at each meeting of the Customs Co-operation Council.

A-61

ANNEX III

Ad hoc panels

- 1. Ad hoc panels established by the Committee under this Agreement shall have the following responsibilities:
 - (a) to examine the matter referred to it by the Committee;
 - (b) to consult with the parties to the dispute and give full opportunity for them to develop a mutually satisfactory solution; and
 - (c) to make a statement concerning the facts of the matter as they relate to the application of the provisions of this Agreement and, make such findings as will assist the Committee in making recommendations or giving rulings on the matter.
- In order to facilitate the constitution of panels, the Chairman of the 2. Committee shall maintain an informal indicative list of government officials knowledgeable in the area of customs valuation and experienced in the field of trade relations and economic development. This list may also include persons other than government officials. In this connection, each party to this Agreement shall be invited to indicate at the beginning of every year to the Chairman of the Committee the name(s) of the one or two governmental experts whom the parties to this Agreement would be willing to make available for such work. When a panel is established, the Chairman, after consultation with the parties concerned, shall, within seven days of such establishment, propose the composition of the panel consisting of three or five members and preferably government officials. The parties directly concerned shall react within seven working days to nominations of panel members by the Chairman and shall not oppose nominations except for compelling reasons.

Citizens of countries whose governments are parties to a dispute shall not be eligible for membership of the panel concerned with that dispute.

Panel members shall serve in their individual capacities and not as government representatives, nor as representatives of any organization. Governments or organizations shall therefore not give them instructions with regard to matters before a panel.

- 3. Each panel shall develop its own working procedures. All parties having a substantial interest in the metter and having notified this to the Committee shall have an opportunity to be heard. Each panel may consult and seek information and technical advice from any source it deems appropriate. Before a panel seeks such information or technical advice from a source within the jurisdiction of a party, it shall inform the government of that party. Any party to this Agreement shall respond promptly and fully to any request by a panel for such information as the panel considers necessary and appropriate. Confidential information provided to the panel shall not be disclosed without the specific permission of the person or government providing such information. Where such information is requested from the panel but release of such information by the panel is not authorized, a non-confidential summary of the information, authorized by the person or government providing the information, will be provided.
- 4. Where the parties to the dispute have failed to reach a satisfactory solution, the panel shall submit its findings in writing. The report of a panel should normally set out the rationale behind its findings. Where a settlement of the matter is reached between the parties, the report of the panel may be confined to a brief description of the dispute and a statement that a solution has been reached.

- Fanels shall use such report of the Technical Committee as may have teen issued under Article 20.4 of this Agreement as the basis for their consideration of issues that involve questions of a technical nature.
- 6. The time required by panels will vary with the particular case. They should aim to deliver their findings, and where appropriate, recommendations, to the Summittee without undue delay, normally within a period of three months from the date that the panel was established.
- 7. To encourage development of mutually satisfactory colutions between the parties to a dispute and with a view to obtaining their comments, each panel should first submit the descriptive part of its report to the parties concerned, and should subsequently submit to the parties to the dispute its conclusions, or an outline thereof, a reasonable period of time before they are circulated to the parties to this Agreement.

APPENDIX B

T.D. 54521 THE FINAL LIST

TD 54521)

VALUATION OF IMPORTS

Final list published by the Secretary of the Treasury pursuant to section 6(a), Public Law 927, 84th Congress

TREASURY DEPARTMENT, Washington, D.C., January 20, 1958

To Collectors of Customs and Others Concerned

The Secretary of the Treasury has determined and hereby makes public the list of articles set forth below as the final list required by section 6(a) of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956, approved August 2, 1956, 70 Stat. 948 (Public Law 927-84th Cong.)

Every article not specified in such final list which is entered, or withdrawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after the thirteeth day after the date of publicate a efficient final list in the Federal Register, shall be appraised in accordance with the new valuation provisions of section 402 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as added by section 2 of the Customs Simplification Act of 1936.

Every article specified in such final list which is entered, or withdrawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after the thirtieth day after the date of publication of such final list in the Federal Register, shall be appraised in accordance with the provisions of section 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amendad.

The 30th day after the date of publication of this final list will be February 27, 1958.

Considerations of convenience to the public have suggested a listing with some deviations from existing principles of tariff classification, although the names and the order of the stationy schedules are maintained in the divineous of the list. It is to be emphasized that the order or position of any given article on this list does not in any sense represent an attempt to state, or affect, the classification of any article for tariff purposes.

Articles specified in this final list which were not specified in the preliminary list published in the Federal Raginer dated August 23, 1957 (22 F.R. 6842), but which have been added after investigation of timely representations made by manufacturers, producers, or wholesslers in the United States in provided for under section 6(a) of the act, are marked with an assemble (*). The assemble identification is made solely for the purpose of information to the public and is not intended to have any effect upon the classification of any article for tariff purposes.

Chemicals, Oils and Paints

Coal-Ter Products

Colors, Dyes, Stains, Color Acids, Bases, and Similar Products

- *Accress green BLS
- Acid anthracene red SEL
- *Acad anthrains red HGE
- *Acid golden yellow 2R

Acid leather brown GBL *Acid leather brown NSG *Acid leather brown \$ Acid leather dark brown G Acid leather dark brown R Acad light scarlet GL *Acid magenta Acid magenta FB entra *Acid pure blue BR Acid pure blue R ruper I Acid red SBL *Acid red HGE *Acid red XB *Acideria Havana SM *Acrama black FBRK *Acramia blue FFG *Acramia golden yellow PGR *Acramia green FB *Acrama red FITR *Acramia vilori FTR Alcian blue BGN *Aleganes fast blue BE Absorine fast brown G *Alterne fast violet FRL *Aluarine geranol B *Alemniae light blue SGL Alexanse light blue ESE Alimmae light blue FG Alizarine light blue HR *Absorine light blue HRL Alexande light brown BL *Aluerine light red violet SRL Alumnine light violet RCN Aliences milling green B Assense pure blue BL Aleserine supra blue SES *Alumaum stool gray BM *Anodal light black now *Anodal light gray Anodal light erange *Anodal light craege No. 3 Anthragumone violet Anthraquiness violet D Anthraed golden yelow IRK *Artisi blue GFL Artisil direct blue GFL Artisil direct orange RFL *Artisi orange RFL *Appec black 3582 *Asoic golden yellow IPG *BASF discharge bus 3G *Bengamine brilliant blue BBLS
*Bengamine briliant green 60 *Benzamine dark blue BLS
*Benzamine green SGS *Benso briliant green GLS
*Benso briliant green LSG *Bears orange M *Beasyl fast orange G *Beary! fast red 2BL *Bonryl fast robuse 4BN *Bensyl fast yellow GW *Beary! red 3B

*Beary! red 191 *Bearyt red R eachem tiet Brilhant alimnine light blue 3F *Brilliant absorine light red 48 Brilliant absorine milling blue PGL Brilliant absorine milling blue G Brilliant alisarine milling red FML Brilliant alicerias milling violet FBL Brillmat alimnian sky blos 2GS Brillmat direct pink 3B Brilliant direct pink B Brilliant bitres red B Brilliant sky blue SG Brilliant sty blue RRM Brilliant sulfan red SB *Carbolan brilliant blue 2RS Carbolan crimon M *Carbolan yellow 4G Chloramine brilliant green BN *Chloramine copper red 5ML Chloramine fast brown 2R Chloramine fast brown 4RL Chloramine fast brown R Chloramine light gray B Chloromine light gray R Chlorantine fast blue 2BLL *Chlorantine fast brilliant blue 2GLL Chlorastine fast brown 4RL Chloratine fast brown 6GLL *Chloractics fast gray 2BLL Chlorastine last gray CLL Chloractine fast grey NGLL
*Chloractine fast green F2GLL
*Chloractine fast neary blue RLL Chlorastine fast olive GLL Chlorastine fast orange 2RL Chlorantine fast red SGL *Chlorasine fast red SGLL Chlorastine fast rubine RNLL Chlorantine fast scarlet BNLL Chlorastine light gray B Chrome fast bordeaux FML *Cibe pink BG *Cibecete blue SCN Cibales black BGL Cibalan blue EL Cibalan bordoom: SEL Cibalan bordooms GRL *Cibalan brilliant blue G *Cibalen brilliant blue GL Cibalas brilliant yellow SGL Cibalas brown SRL Cibalas brown ML Cibales brown TL Cibalan ceriadi ML Cibalan gray 2GL Cibeles gray M. Cibales green CL Cibalan red 2GL Cibalan starlet GL Cibeles violes RL *Cibaba pellov 2BRL

Cibelan yellow GRL *Cibesone blue 2R Cibanone violet 68 Cibenone yellow 2GR Cloth fast bordenus B Clock fast brillians red Cloth fast brilliant violet Cloth fast orange G Cloth fast red 23L Cloth fast red 38 Cloth fast yellow 2G Coprantine black RLL Coprantine blue GLL Coprantine blue RLL Coprantine bordeaux 2811 *Coprantine gray 2BL Coprantine gray 2RLL Coprantine green G Coprantine green SGLL *Coprantine orange 2BRL Coprantine reliow 2G Coprantine yellow GRLL *Copranue yellow brown GLL Cuprofix brown CRL Cuprofix gray SLB Cuprofix many blue CBL Cuprophenyl black RL Cuprophenyl brillians blue 281. Cuprophenyl brown GL Cuprophenyl brown 2GL Cuprophenyl brown 2RL *Cuprophenyl gray 23L Cuprophenyl gray GRL Cuprophenyl navy blue EL Cuprophenyl navy blue EL Cuprophearl red ML Cuprophenyl rubine RL *Cupropheayl yellow 3GL Cuprophenyl yellow RL Cuprophenyl yellow brown RGL Deoriese brilliant blue RL Deoriene brilliant red R Dorma blue 2B Derma carbon B *Derma carbon black B Derma carbon GTS Derma grey LL Diamine orange F Diamond chrome brilliant violet \$8 Diseamine fast bordeaux 2BWL Diasamine fast scarlet RWL Deare brilliant green 6G Dieso brown BWA Diam fast bue 6GW Dieso fast green BL Dieso tribet fast blue BL Dissophosyl blue SGW Diasophenyl brilliant green G Diasophenyl fast blue GL supra I Diasophenyl last green 2GL Dissophenyi fast green GLN Diasophenyl fast scarlet GL Decriene blue 5G

*Disclose brilliant blue BL Dierlens brilliant red 33 Diphenyl brown BBN supen I Diphenyl fast blue 10GL Diphenyl fast blue green M. Diphesyl fast brones GLY Diphesyl fast brown 2RL Diphonyl fast erange SRL Diphenyl fast erange GRW Diphenyl fast red GL *Direct brilliant pink G *Ergaeil gray BC *Erganil light brows C Leie fast brown SGL Erio fast brown SRL Eriochrome annual G Eriochrome blue 2GK supra I *Enochrome brown SGL Eriochrome brilliant violet B supra II Eriochrome brilliant violet R sugra I Eriochrome geranel R supra I Eriochrome red G *Enoglaucuse X l'ast blue IM Fast jet black 2BRE Fast leather black CL *Fast leather brown CB Fast leather deck blue 32. Fact salk day blue Grand blue R Grassi fast black G Grand fast brilliant red M. Helisaeine brilliant orango G Hilosoeine gold yellow G Helimeine groy B Helimeine elive groen G Helisariae craege R Helizarine red B Helicarine red GR Helimrine red R Helianciae yellow G *Immedial new blue FBL
*Indenthrene brilliage orange RR *Indigees brilliant crange IRK Indocyanias B *Irgacet brown 2GL *Irgacet brown 7RL · legacet gray M. *Irgaco: : ango RL *Irgacet red SGL *Irgnest rubine RL *Irgnest yellow 2RL *Irgacet yellow GL Irgales blue GL *Irgales blue RL Irgalan bordeaux 28L ·Irgalon brilliant gross SGL Irgalan brown 2GL Irgales brown 2RL Irgales brown SEL Ingales brown 7RL Irgalaa brown violet DL Irgalaa dark usowa SR

Tigalan gray BL Irgalan alive BGL Irgales erange RL Irgalan red 3G *Irgalan red 3GN Irplan rebine RL Irgalan violet SRL Ingalan yellow GL Irganol green BLS Impact red BLS Irganol yellow SGLS *Kiten brown R *Kiton green A *Kiton rhodemine B Leasons brown RL Lanaya brown SRL Leaseya orange RLN *Lanarya red BL *Leaseya yellow GL Leucopher B Leucopher BS Leucopher WS *Levecon blue GE *Levechrome brilliant violet SB *Levenine yellow GW *Lovenel fast orange GS *Leventhrese red brown GR *Lugated brown NGR *Lumeter black T *Lumates blue 3 *Lunetez blue R *Lumaten brilliant orange G *Luneter grey 3 *Lumeter alive green G *Luneau enegs R Luxicross grass SLB Lumicross yellow SLG *Lutergan medium brown C *Lutentine supra turqueise blue FML Lumenthal red R *Metachrame yellow KE Meterraga chrome bordeoux 23%, Metomega chroma brown PCL Metemaga chrome brown PRLL Metomega chrome gray BLC *Motomoga chrome green BLL "Merrouse red 2GLL Methyl Iyons blue, salt-free Microsol brilliant blue G *Microsol brown GR *Monolite fast brown BVS Naghthachrome violet R *Nooha florine GFE *Nooha light brown C *Nooine red R Nosina yellow SGE Neutral crange GX Neutral crange RX Neutral yellow GX Neutral yellow RX *Nigredas T *Oil brown B Cil red SR

FG mad **BB** *Owega chrome brown G *Owega chrome olive GL Orange G dye for nitro callulate lacquest *Oracel brillian fact and RG *Oracei erange G *Orasel scarlet GR *Ortolea blue G *Orenal black BLN *Oranai red BL Ownel surgueles blue PGLL Palanthrone cyanias B Paper fast bordoous B *Figurest curmins FBS *Pigment last black TW *Pigment last marine RLW *Figment fast red R *Proment red toner HR *Proment yellow HR Prints fast nevy blue RDN *Pilets fast red RN Poler blue G supra I Polar brilliant blue GAW Filer brilliant red B Pulse brilliage red 38 Pilor brilliant red EN Polar brilliant red SBN Polar brilliant red 108 Polar brilliant violet ML Polar brown 2GL Poles gray Polar mare Poles and R.L. *Point pollow SGN *PV fast violet BL *PV fast yellow HR Pyranol discharge orange SLG Pyrasol fast blue PGL
Pyrasol fast blue 2GLN *Pressed feet house RLH *Pyrassi fast gray 2BL Pyrasel fast orange GLL Red B dye for nitre cellulose lacqui Red dye for nicre collules lacquest *Resoline blue FBL *Reseins the RRL Regna sky blue G Rossgus black IL *Seadocryl erange RLCI "Sendocryl violet BLCI Sella acid brown B supra I Sella acid brown G supra I Salls acid brown R supra I Solla fast black 77 "Seda fast brown DGR "Salle fast brown DR Security the for discharge G Souscyl blue gross BE "Seacyl blue green MSN Seescyl brown 2GR Sessori emage 25. Souncyl red GBN

Setacyl violet 2R	Intermediates
Setacyl viclet BR Setopaline supra I	Adipic acid *Agent 31-11
*Shirosol	*Aniline hydrochloride (mlt)
Silk brown 3R	Beta naphthel
Sirius black L	Brenthol BA
Sirius supra brown G	Caprolactum
"Sirius supra trown 5G	Carbasole
"Sirius supra gray GG "Sirius supra orange RRL	*Campar GL
Solar blue 2GLN	Diketoindoline (ientin) *Edolan A
Sciar blue F	Epsilon amino caprolectura
Solar blue PGL	Epsilon caprolactum
Solar brown RLN	Fast black ANS salt
Solar discharge orange SLG	Fast black K salt
Solar gray 2BL	Fast blue RT salt
Solophenyl bordeaux 2RL Solophenyl brown BL	*Fast blue VRT sait
Solophenyi brown GL	Fast cornth V selt Fast garnet GC base
Solophenyi brown GRL	Fast red base
Solophenyl brown RL	Fast red RBE base
Solophenyl dark green GBL	Fast red SW base
Solophenyl gray 4GL	*Fast scarlet LG base
Solophenyl olive GL	*Gentusic acid
Solophenyl orange 2RL Solophenyl red 4BL	1-Hydronycyclohenyi hydroperounde-1
*Solophenyi rubine 3BL	Metacressi—90% or more pure Naphthol AS—8
Solophenyl turquoue blue GRL	*2-Nitro-p-phenylenediamine
Sulfoniae brilliant red 3B	*Nonex WL
Sulfonine gray BWL	*Nonex WSP
Sulfonine gray G	*Nonce
Sulfonine scarlet GWL	Parachiormetacresol
Supramine red B *Telon brown GRL	Textile assistants (coal-tar intermediates other than colors,
Tinopal SP	dyes, stains, color acids, and bases) *Vinyl carbasole (mono)
Tinopal WR	
L'ortex GS	Medicinals
Uvites RI	Acetarsol *Anthrales (1, 8-dihydrosysathranol)
Uvitex RT Uvitex SI	*Methylacetanilide
*Vat black brown NT	*3-Nitro-4 hydroxyphenly arson _ acid
*Vat brilliant scarlet RK	*Pentazolum
Verogen brilliant red AN-B	*Sulfaguanidine U. S. P
•Verogen red AN-IFG	Sodium thialbarbitone
Viscofil blue BL	Other Finuhed Products
Visconi blue green BL	Chemicals, photographic, coal-tar
Viscofil green 2GL *Viscofil orange GL	Irgatan LV
Viscoli red BL	*Korean
Viscofil yellow 3GL	* Monoline
Viscolan fast brown 3G	Non-Coal-Ter Drugs and Medicinals
Vulcan fast orange GG	Non-Coal-Ter Drugs and Medicinals
*Vulcan fast punk G	*Adenoune-5-phosphoric acid, not in medicinal doss
*Vulcan fast yellow 5G	*Adenosine triphosphate, crystalline disodium, not in medici-
Wool fast blue FBL	nal doses
Xylene cyanol PF	Aloin, not in medicinal doses
Xylene fast orange P	Ascorbic acid (vitamin C), not in medicinal doses
Xylene fast red P	Atropine methyl nitrate, not in medicinal deser
Xylene light yellow R Xylene milling yellow	Atropine sulphate, not in medicinal doses Colsiferal (returns D. 2), not in medicinal doses
Aylene red B	Calciferol (vitamin D-2), not in medicinal dossa Calcium lactate, not in medicinal dossa
*Zapon fast scarlet CR	Chloral hydrate, not in medicinal deses
	CANT BE STORE OF THE STORE STORES

Cortisone acetate, not in medicinal does

Descripcortecosterone acetate, not in medicial doses

Digitoxia, not in medicinal doges

Ephedrine hydrochloride, natural, not in medicinal does

Estrone, not in medicinal doses

Ethinyl estradiol, not in medicinal doses

*Hydrocortisone, not in medicinal dosts

Hyoscyamine hydrobromide, not in medicinal doses

Hyoscyamine sulphate, not in medicinal doses

Liconce extract in pasts, rolls, or any form other than in medicinal doses

Lobeline hydrochloride, not in medicinal doses

Methyl testosterone, not in medicinal doses

Khellin, not in medicinal doses

Mustard oil, genuine, not in medicinal door

Nucleic acid, not in medicinal doses

Physostigmine sulphate, not in medicinal doses

Pilocarpine hydrochloride, not in medicinal doses

Philocarpine nitrate, not in medicinal doses

Piperazine hexahydrate, not in medicinal dosss

Sodium nucleate, not in medicinal doses

Rauwoiña extract, not in medicinal doses

Rutin, not in medicinal doses

Scopolamine methyl nitrate, not in medicinal doses

Testosterone, not in medicinal doses

Testosterone enanthate, not in medicinal doses

Testosterone propionate, not in medicinal does

Theophylline, not in medicinal doses

Thymol, not in medicinal doses

Vitamin B-1 hydrochloride (thiamine hydrochloride) (B-

thissol compound), not in medicinal doses

Vitamin B-6 hydrochlonde (pyndomne hydrochlonde), not in medicinal doses

Industrial Chemicals

*Allyl mothiocyanase (volatile oil of mustard, NF VIII, synthetic)

Aluminum chloride, anhydrous

Ammonium bissuonde

Ammonium persulphate

Brucine alkaloid

Brucine sulphase

Chalk, whiting, or paris white, precipitated

Chemical products chiefly used as assistants in preparing or finishing textiles

Chlorine, liquid

Chlorophyll

Decyl alcohol derived from coconut oil

Ergosterol, unirradiated

Ethyl mlicate

Eucalyptol

Glutathione, oxidized

Lauryl alcohol, derived from coconut oil, not sulphated

• Melamine

Nicotine alkaloid

Nicotine sulphate

Ore, manganese, activated

Peroxide, hydrogen

Polyvinyl methyl ether, 100% strength

Polyvinyi methyl ether, 70% strength

Polyvinyl pyrrolidone

Potassum chromium sulphate (chrome alum)

Potassium metab

Potamium persulphate

Resia, synthetic, polyethyle

Sodrum alginate Sodrum chlorite

Sozium perborate

Thioures

Trichloroethylene

Vinyl acetate, unpolymerized

Medicinal and Pharmacoutical Proparations

Corusone, hydrocortisone, and compounds thereof, in capsules, pills, tablets, losenges, troches, ampoules, jubes, or number forms, including powders, put up in medicinal

Plasters, healing or curative

Threat losenges and similar forms, not of animal origin, noncoal ter

Miscellaneous Products

Extract, flavoring, orange and lemon muxture, contra more than 50% alcohol

Extract, maning, chestnut (solid and powdered)

Extract, tanning, valonie

Geiatin, edible, valued less than 40 ceaus per pound

Glue of anumal origin, excluding glue size and fish glue, valued over 12 cents per pound and under 40 cents per pound

Ink, drawing, liquid

Polish, boot or shoe, non-alcoholic

Polish, metal, liquid, non-alcoholic

Shopping reminders, composed of a synthetic rema plastic, synthetic reain not chief binding agent (an item designed to remand bousewives of articles to be purchased when marketing)

Tape, recording, of cellulose acetate

Oils, Distilled or Essential

Oakmoss, absolute, natural essence of, concentrated, not containing alcohol

Oil, eucalyptus, not containing alcohol

Oil, ocotes cymbarum, not containg alcohol

Oil, sage, not containing alcohol

Oil, vetivert, not mixed or compounded with or containing alcohol

Oil, violet leaf, not containing alcohol

Pigments, Paints and Varnishes

Acetylene black

Carbon black, in paste form

Chrome yelow, chrome green (chromicorade), and all other chromium colors

Paint, temperature indicating

Pigments, synthetic, iron oxide or iron hydroxide

Soap and Toilet Proparations

Cream, face

Perfumery, including cologne and toilet waters, containing alcohol

Perfumery, not containing alcohol'
Possade, hair
Powder, dusting, perfumed
Powder, shampoo
Tint, hair, cream
Touts waters, not containing alcohol

Earths, Earthenware and Glassware

Earthonware

Boer steam, earthcowers, composed of a nonvitrified absorbent body, colored, enameled, gilded, ornamented, pointed, printed, stained, trated, or decorated in any manner, and valued over \$3 per dosen

Tilet, earthenware, floor and wali, glassed, valued not over 40 cents per square foot, 20 cm x 20 cm, other than cement, creamic mosaic, or quarry tiles

Earthy or Mineral Substances or Articles

Carbons, lighting, of all massrials, 1/2 inch or more in diameter, for photocopying purposes

Grease, lubricating, in part of graphics

Tak, ground, valued over \$14 per ton

Tubes (catest gauge tubes), of fused quarts or fused silica Wheels, duet, handlaps, and similar diamond tools for cutting, granding or polishing, metal bonded, in chief value of diamond, but not including traing tools

Wool, mineral, granulated (red top granulated wool)

Glaumera

Bell jars, glass
Cloth, woves, glass
Descenters and parts thereof, glass
Laminated glass, and manufactures thereof
Museum jars, glass
Plate glass, 5' inch or more in thickness, and over 1008 square
inches in area
Sheet glass, colored, blows

Optical Goods

Colorsmeters and polarimeters

Colposcopes

Condenser leases, "plane-convex"

Endoscopes

Goggles, and frames, mountings, and parts thereof, to be used in conjunction with underwater swimming, and valued over \$2.50 per dozen

Microscopes, toolmakers', valued \$25 each and over

Optical flat reflectors and reflector carriages, designed for use with microptic automatic collimators

Optical squares in mounts designed for use with microptic automatic collimators

*Susglanes, with plastic frames, valued not over \$0.65 per doses pair

Polygon, glass, designed for use with microptic automatic

Telescopes, valued over \$20 each

Viewen, stereoscopic, miniature, having self-contained subject matter Metals and Manufactures of Bearings and Parts, Ball and Roller

Balls and rollers for bearings, anti-friction, encept balls. I millimeter is diameter.

Bearings, ball, metal, and parts thereof (including cages) Bearings, roller, metal, and parts thereof

Bullions, Metal Threads, Lame or Lahn, and Articles Made Therefrom

Lame, or laha, of gold, niver, or other metal
Ribbons, travels, and woven fabrics, wholly or in chief value
of travel wire, metal thread, bullions, lame or laha, or any
of the foregoing combined with rubber
Wire, travel, of gold, silver, or other metal

Electric Articles and Parts Other Than Machinery

Detectors, gamesa ray

Flashights and flashight cases wholly or in chief value of metal

Heaters, electric (simulated fireplace legs)

Irons, ultrasonic soldering

Loud meakers

Motors, electric, not over 75 horsepower

Radio phonographs, wholly or in chief value of metal

Repeater , ship seeming

Renete: specially designed for electric compasses, metal chief value

Suntches, radio, electrical, escapement type

Telephone apparatus and parts, wholly or as chief value of motal

Television apparatus, and parts thereof (except cameras), whelly or in chief value of metal

Testers for electric motors

Testers, insulation

Tubes, radio receivag

Welders, spot gwa, electrical

Howehold, Kitchen, and Table Utensile

Boards, ironing, steel

Bowls, gilation, and number table, household, or hitches utensils or holloware of standers steel, used in preparation or service of food

Colanders, household, of iron or steel

Graters or shredders, household (other than meat granders), revolving disk or drum type, wholly or in chief value of iron or steel

Letter openers, gold-plated

Racks, wine bettle, ware

Spoons (tea, soup, or desert), of stainless steel

Table, household, or kitchen utenals, of iron or stool, enamcled or glazed with vitros is glasses

Knives, Including Machine Knives, and Cutlery

Cutlery, table (forts, knives, and steels), under 4 inches in length exclusive of handle, with handles of nickel silver Forts, table, under 4 inches in length exclusive of handle, with

Firal List

headles of nusteastic steel

Forks, table, under 4 inches in length exclusive of hardle, with handles of china, carthenware, or other commic muestil, valued over \$3.75 per dessa

Knives, folding, stiletto type, with simple opening or switch blade, valued over \$6.00 per dess

Knives, for most-chopping or grinding mechines

Knives, table, under 4 inches in length exclusive of sandle, with handles of austenstic steel

Karves, table, under 4 inches in length exclusive of handle, with handles of china, earthenware, or other certains make rial, valued over \$3.75 per doses

Machines, Machinery, and Parts Thereof

Apparatus, breathing, underwater, incorporating a michaeical contrivance, not having as an essential feature in electrical element or device

Closers, door, mechanical, not having as an essential lengue an electrical element or device

Collets and chucks for machine tools

Comparators, dual, not having as an essential feature as electrical element or device

Compressors, air and gas, not having as an essential leafter an electrical element or device, parts of

Cream separators, valued at more than \$100 each

Cream separators, valued at more than \$100 each, parts of, wholly or ... chief value of metal or porcolain

Drills, portable (hobby shop type), having as an essential feature as electrical elem est er device

Drivers, screw, pneumatic, not having as an assessial feature an electrical element or device

Engines, internal-combustion, carbureter type, having as an cuential feature an electrical element or device

Guns, surplane riveting

Guns, paint spray, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Lather (except watch and toolmakers')

Machinery, bookbinding (three-knife trimmers only)

Machinery, cotton spinning, parts of Machinery, cotton twisting, parts of

Machinery, for bleaching, printing, dyeing, or finishing tustiles and parts thereof

Machinery, printing present, rotary type, for printing on paper, and other than duplicating machines

Machinery, wool spinning, parts of

Machines, adding, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, automatic, m

Machines, automatic, silk screen printing

Machines, bog filling and closing, not having as an exertial feature an electrical element or device, and parts thereof Machines, bag making, not having as an essential feature as electrical element or device, and parts thereof

Machines, bakery dough mixing, having as an emential leadure an electrical element or device

Machines, boring and milling

Michines, berwing, not having as an essential feature sa electrical element or device, and parts thereof

Machines, calculating, having as an essential feature as obstrical element or device, parts of, of a type specially constructed for multiplying and dividing

Machines, calculating, not having as an essential feature on electrical element or device, and parts thereof, specially

consecut for multiplying and dividing, and of the full Anthony rotary type, not boy driven

Mechines, collection, for calibrati etometest, pet ing as an emercial feature as electrical alam denice

Machines, early wrapping

Machines, contributal, and parts thereof, other than cre experience, for experience of liquids or liquids and solids Madi set, chain making

Machines, chalk marking, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, chescalese covering, confectionery, having as an estatial feature an electrical clement or device

Machines, call winding, not having as an countiel feature on Alectrical editment or device

Machines, combination condy cutting and wrapping

on combination jig-boring and milling Mad

Machines, cookle depositor, having as an essential feature an electrical admost or device

Machines, flow and grain milling, not having as an essential festure as obcarical element or device, parts of

Machines for electro-polishing moul, having an essential featun an dectrical element or device

Machines, glass asspecte cutting, having as an essential feacure and doctrical element or device

h'action, grinting, tool and cut

Machines, grinding, twist dell Machines, andering, moral engroving

Machines, jobt squeeze turnever molding (foundry type), not having so to corrected feature as electrical elem

Mack met, besting, automatic flat ("V"-bod type)

Machines, imitting, flat bed (head initting type) not having As an empatial feature an electrical element or device

Machines, loss grinding, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, lifting and pulling (similar to chain hoists), not having as to essential feature as electrical element or derice

not parterooi conveyor and dryer, having as an easetial feature to electrical element or device

Machines, macareni making, having as an essential feature As electrical element or device

Machines, metal thread cutting

Machines, milk gustourising, plate type (heat exchangers), not having to an assessial feature an electrical element or drice

Machines, seedle cutting, having as an essential feature on electrical element or device

Machines, pastegraph, dis-sinking

Machines, paper bog cutting, not having as an essential feeture an electrical element or device

Machines, pager box, and parts thereof

Machines, paper cuting (other than bookhinding), having as an executial feature an electrical element or device

Machines, paper shredding, hoving as an essential feature as electrical element or device

Machines, photocopying, having as an executial feature on elictrical edemont or device

Machines, pie-making, having so an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, pleating, having as an assessial feature on electrical element or device

Machines, rod-casting, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, rust chipping

Machines, semi-jig boring

Machines, tablet counting and filling, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, testing, other than laboratory, for determining the hardness of metals or metal articles, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device, and parts thereof Machines, tentile yardage measuring, and parts thereof

Machines, vinegar making, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Machines, wood chip vibration screening, not having as an emential feature an electrical element or device

Magnetometers, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Preses, dali

Pumps, submersible, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Shapers, metal working

Sieves, having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Turbochargers, gas, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device

Winchdrums, not having as an essential feature an electrical element or device, and parts thereof

Mill Products

Aleminum

Tubing, aluminum

Wire, apper, wholly or in chief value of aluminum or aluminum allov

Nickel

Anodes, bars, castings (except machine parts), electrodes, plates, rods, sheets, strands, strips, or wire, wholly of aickel Anodes, bars, castings (except machine parts), rods, sheets, strands, strips, or wire, of aickel alloys (except those provided for in paragraph 302 or 380)

Steel

Steel, feeler gauge, cold rolled, hardened, tempered and bright polished, thicker than 1/100 inch and not thicker than 5/100 inch, not over 8 inches wide

Steel, needle cutter, not thicker than 1/100 inch, not over 8 inches wide, alloyed

Steel, rasor blade, altured, 861 inch by 005 inch

Steel, razor blade, alloyed, 750 inch by 009 inch

Steel, rasor blade, cold rolled, .881 inch by .005 inch

Steel, strip, hot rolled, commercial quality, mill edge, specification 1055-F, thicker than 5/100 inch but not thicker than 23/100 inch, and over 8 inches but not over 16 inches wide

Steel, wood band saw, cold rolled, tempered, not over 8 inches wide, thicker than 1/100 inch but not thicker than 5/100 inch, and alloyed under the provisions of paragraph 305, Tariff Act of 1930.

Tubing, steel, seamless, cold drawn

Wire, steel, flat, galvanized or coated with any metal, not over 8 inches wide, thicker than 1/100 inch and not over 5/100 inch

Miscellaneous Metal Articles

Assembles and subassemblies of watch hands

Bolu and latches, panic (of a type similar to those used on theater exit doors), and parts thereof, in chief value of metal

Calcium metal, in crowns, flattened

Chains and parts, of sron or steel, for the transmission of power, having not more than 2-such pitch and more than three parts per pitch

Clips, aluminum, specially designed for use in packaging clothing or as bag closures

Cyclometers, for measuring distance, valued at not more than \$1.10 each

Darts, throwing, in chief value of steel or lead

Dials, watch—less than 1 77/100 inches wide—imported separately

Emblems, automobiles, chief value iron or serel

Grease seals and washers, in chief value of metal

Grippers, for holding metal sheets, in chief value of metal Lighters, pape, valued over \$5 per doesn

Locks, luggage, metal, not plated with plaunum, gold or

Magnets, chief value of iron or steel, except electrostagnets and except those designed for use as machine parts of electrical apparatus

Metallic packing, wholly or in chief value of load

Pedestals, for ball or roller bearings (not including mechine parts), in chief value of iron or resel

Fillow blocks and parts thereof (for ball or roller bearings), in chief value of tron or steel

Pine, sealing, aluminum, for surplanes

Pistols, automatic or magazine, and revolvers, valued over 88 each

Plaques, wall brass, not plated with platinum, gold, or alver, or gold lacquered

Pulleys, lamp, in chief value of metal

Racks, drying, printers, in chief value of iron or steel Rivets, bifurcated, steel, machined

Rivers, tubular, aluminum, machined, plain or anodised

 Rivets, tubular, brass, brake hning, lathed, machined, or brightened

 Rivets, tubular shoe, steel or brass, lathed, machined, or brightened

Sashes or frames of structural aron or steel, louvre (Jalousie)

*Screws, machine, brass, having shanks or threads 1/6 inch or over in diameter but not exceeding 24/100 inch or over in diameter.

*Screws, machine, steel, having shanks or threads 16 inch or over in diameter but not exceeding 24/100 inch or over in diameter

Sharpeners, pencil, in chief value of metal

Shores, building, and parts, in chief value of metal

Skids, roller, in chief value of metal

Stude, horseshoe, in chief value of metal

Testers, freeness, for use in pulp making, in chief value of metal

Watch cases, parts of, in chief value of any base metal

Needles

Needles, embroidery machine Needles, latch, for knitting machines Needles or hooks, crochet, of iron or steel Needles, sewing machine, household type Needles, sewing machine, industrial type Needles, shoe machine Needles, surgical

Scien. Sc., Laboratory, and Professional Apparatus, Instruments, and Equipment

Apparatus, laboratory, for analytical determination of gluten Balances, analytical, and parts thereof
Burns, dental
Electrophoress equipment
Instruments and parts, laboratory, sound measuring
Instruments, laboratory, dissecting
Machines, therapy, ultrasonic, and accessories
Milla, laboratory
Sphygmomanometers
Thermobalances, laboratory

Tools and Gages

Calipers and parts thereof, which are hand tools of metal and capable of measuring finer than 16s of an inch Gages, hand, stop and go type, chief value iron or steel Gages, height, venier, in chief value of metal Saw blades, for how saws
Saws, hand, in sets, with interchangeable blades, and universal handle

Saws, pocket, wire (outdoorsman's or camper's)

Vehicles, Vessels, and Parts

Airplanes, seating six passengers or less, not including seaplanes, amphibians, or sircraft other than airplanes
Automobile parts, finished
Automobiles
Boats, pleasure, sail, steam or motor propelled, of fiberglass
construction, valued at not more than \$15,000 each
Engines, parts of, internal combustion, carbureter type, for
pleasure boats
Motorconters
Motorconters
Motorconters, parts of
Pins, pip release (airplane parts)
Spokes, hicycle
Trucks, sutomobile, valued at \$1,000 or more each
Winches, sheet, for yachts, metal, bottom handle

Wood and Manufactures of

Barrels, or begs, beer, weeden

Blocks, wooden, het
Figures, wooden, whirtling
Flooring, hardwood, of magic concept Japaness), birch, or
beach
Handles, wood, fan

Outer or willow, including thip and split willow, prepared for bashet mahors' use

Plywood, birch, including door panels

Sugar, Molantes, and Manufactures of

Candy, regar, and all confectionery, valued at six cents or more per pound

Agricultural Products and Provisions Robal Articles

Biscuits, cake, cakes, wafers, and similar baked articles other than puddings or rice crackers; all the foregoing by whatever name known, whether or not containing chocolate, fruits, nuts, or confectionery of any kind

Dairy Products

Cheese, cheddar, whether or not in original loaves, but not processed otherwise than by division into pieces, having a source of 92 or more.

Fruits and Proparations

Jelly, currant, red or black, four pound pack
Mixtures of two or more fruits, prepared or preserved, other
than mincoment

Folders and Foods

Dog feed, unfit for human communition, cannod and dried, and containing a substantial amount of grain products Feeds, mined

Meet Products

Beef, brisket, canned, two pound pack and four pound pack Beef, corned, canned, four pound pack and six pound pack Beef, reast, canned, twelve ounce pack and five pound pack Masthalls, cocktail, packed in calery sauce, in curry sauce, or in brine, in one pound cans

Sourages, cocktail, park with beef, in 41/2 ounce cans

Other Edible Properations

Millet, hulled, for human consumption
Poppers, packed in brine or vinegar
Saails, other than marine, edible, cannod
Soup mix, dehydrated, for human consumption
Soups, soup rolls, soup tablets or cubes, and other soup
preparations
Wheat glutes, vitalised

Nursery and Greenhouse Stock

Buds, lily (heads only), fresh cut Bulles, Begonia Bulles, Glorinia Corpus and bulles, Anomene

Cotton Manufactures

Belts and beiting, for conveyer machinery, of vegetable fiber and rubber, valued at 40 cunts or more per pound Cases or covers, for underwater fishing guns, wholly or in chief value of cotton

Covers, adding machine and cash regreter, wholly or in chief

Cottons, embresdary, put up for hand work, in length not exceeding 840 yards

Felt, dryer, paper makers', wholly or in chief value of cotton, not in part of India rubber, and used as belts or belting on paper making machinery

Handbags, ladies, wholly or in chief value of cotton Measures, tape, wholly or in chief value of cotton

Mop cloths, cotton, not pile fabric

Packing, mechanical, molded, cotton and rubber, chief value cotton

Tapestries, needlework, unfinished, wholly or in chief value of cotton

Tapestries and other Jacquard-figured upholstery cloth (not including bed ticking or pile fabric), in the piece, in chief value of cotton, and containing 17% or more by weight of wool

Velvets, other than upholstery velvets, cut or uncut, whether or not the pile covers the entire surface, wholly or in chief value of cotton

Flax, Hemp, Jute, and Manufactures of

Canvas, flax, waterproof, brown

Cloth, lapping, weven, in chief value of vegetable fiber other than cotton or jute, containing over 17% by weight of word, but not including woven fabrics of flax, hemp, or ramie, with woven or printed colored stripes in the warp

Floor coverings, felt base, including only those which are made with an asphalt imprognated paper felt or paper and rag felt base

Matting, seal (not cut to specific size or shape), in rolls Packing, mechanical, molded, linen and rubber, chief value linen.

Tapestries, needlepoint, unfinished, wholly or in chief value of vegetable fibers other than cotton

Wool and Manufactures of

Blankets, wholly or in chief value of wool, not exceeding 3 yards in length, valued not over \$1 per pound, not handwoven

Carpets, wool, of oriental weave, produced on a power driven loom

Felts, belts, blankets, jackets, or other articles of machine clothing, for papermaking, printing, or other machines, wholly or in chief value of wool, woven as units or in the piece, finished or unfinished

Gloves and mittens, knit, finished or unfasshed, wholly or in chief value of word, valued as defined in subdivisions (c), (d), (e), and (f) of redesignated section 402a of the Tariff Act of 1930, in the order specified in section 402a(a) at not more than \$1.75 per dozen pairs

Sweaters, men's and women's, including pullovers, slipovers, cardigans, and similar articles, wholly or in part of cashmers, knit or crocheted, valued over \$5 per pound

Yarm, wholly or in chief value of wool or other hair (including mohair), fancies (including nub, flamme, slub, and similar types), valued over \$1.50 per pound

Silk Manufactures

Fabrica, silk, woven, in the piece, except pile, exceeding 30 inches in width, jacquard-figured, bleached, printed, dyed, or yars dyed, valued over \$14 per pound

Robbons, volvet, salk pale

Manufactures of Rayon and Other Synthetic Textiles

Fabrica, pile (including valvets, chemilles, and plushes), wholly or in chief value of rayon or other synthetic tentile Filaments, other than waste, synthetic, not exceeding 30 inches in length, noncellulosic, for textile use

Gloves, composed of 15 denier knit nylon fabric, valued over \$1.50 per dozen pair

Ribbon, derived from pile fabrics, pile partly cut, in chief value of rayon or other synthetic textile

Rubbon, derived from pile fabrics, pile partly cut, in chief wholly or in ch'ef value of rayon or other synthetic textiles

Yarn, fancy, composed of cotton and rayen, in chief value of rayon

Yarns, rayon, plied, having not more than 20 turns twist per inch and weighing 150 deniers or more

Yarns, rayon, singles, having not more than 20 turns twist per inch, weighing less than 150 deniers per length of 450 meters

"Yarns, spun, of rayon or other synthetic textile, plied

"Yarns, spun, of rayon or other synthetic textile, singles

Paper and Books

Books and Other Printed Matter

Books, bound or unbound, of bona fide foreign authorship (not including catalogues, manuals and instruction books for automobiles, trucks, machinery or similar equipment, prayer books or books bound wholly or in part of leather)

Books, bound and unbound, not of bons fide foreign authorship (not including catalogues, manuals and instruction books for automobiles, trucks, machinery or similar equipment, prayer books, or books bound wholly or in part of leather)

Cards, greeting (other than valentiner, tally cards, place cards, and all other social and gift cards, including folders, bookless, and cutouts), with greeting, title or other wording Cards, social and gift, without greeting, title or other wording Literature, sourist, of bona fide foreign authorship (ant lithographically printed)

Music, in books or sheets, of bone fide foreign authorship

Papers

Carbon paper, uncoated

Coarse paper, uncoated, embossed

Decalcomania paper, simplex, not printed

Filter paper, in sheets, valued at \$0.75 or more per pound, not cut, die cut, or stamped into designs or shapes for articles

Filter paper, cut, die cut, or stamped into designs or shapes Lumester paper, uncoated, amboused

Newsprint paper, heavyweight, white, over .004 inches thich, over 35 pounds weight per ream, in rolls or sheets

Newsprint paper, novel never, white, .005 inches and over thick, 32 pounds to 35 panels weight per ream, in rolls or sheets

Newsprint paper, trus news, white or colored, under 15 inches width, not over 004 inches thick, 32 pounds to 35 pounds weight per ream, in rolls only

Newsprint paper, various colors, not over .004 inches thick, 32 to 35 pounds weight per ream, in shape only

Newsprint paper, yellow or canary color, 15 inches width or over, not over .004 inches thick, 32 pounds to 35 pounds weight per ream, in rolls only (includes pencil tablet paper) Photographic paper, uncensitised, baryta coated

Roofing paper, felt

Sensitized paper to be used in photography

Surface coated paper, covered partly or wholly with metal or its solution, weighing 15 pounds or more per ream (basis 20x25 inch sheet)

Unsensitized paper, basic, to be sensitized for use in photography

Vegetable parchment paper

Board Products

Boards, wood pulp, including beer mat board (not plate finished, supercalendered, friction calendered, laminated by means of an adhesive substance, coated, surface stained or dyed, lined or vat-lined, embossed, printed, decorated or ornamented in any manner, or cut into shapes for bonss or other articles)

Boxboard, lined, folding

Container board of a bursting strength over 60 pounds per square inch by the Mullen or Webb test

Hardboard, plate-finished, in sheets

*Insulation board, asphalt impregnated or coated, %s inch and over in thickness

Paperboards, over 0.012 inch thick, for use as corrugating media (not coated, cut into shapes (or bones or other articles, decorated or ornamented in any manner, embossed, friction calendered or super-calendered, laminated by means of an a besive substance, lined or vat-lined, plate-finished, printed, nor surface stained or dyed)

Test board of a bursting strength over 60 pounds per square inch by the Mullen or Webb test

Other Paper Articles

Dart boards of paper

Decalcomanias, in ceramic colors, weighing over 100 pounds per 1,000 sheets on the basis of 20 by 30 inches

Envelopes, filled or unfilled, plain, of writing paper, under 110 square inches in area

Naphins made of crepe paper, plain or printed (but not lithographed), and packed in bulk

Seat sets, toilet, chief value pulp

Thimbles, extraction, chief value pulp

Sundries

Cameras and Photographic Supplies

Camera accessories in chief value of metal, consisting of lens hoods, holding arms, neck chains, lens caps, tripeds, clips for cameras, close-up focusing attachments, extension tubes for close-up photography, adapters for auxiliary lenses, or trigger handles

Cameras and parts, photographic, lens not chief value, folding type, valued under \$10 each, and not including mution-picture or box type (set focus)

Cameras, less chirf value, parts of (other than photographic lenses imported separately)

Cameras, photographic, fixed focus, but type, of which the less is not the component of chief value, and other than those specially constructed for use in aerial surveying

Cameras, photographic, less not chief value, other than metion-picture, not bez type (set focus), and valued at \$10 or more each

Cases, camera, leather (other than rentile)

Film, motion-picture, sensitized, not exposed or developed, less than one inch in width

Film, photographic, cartridge or roll (encept motion-picture film one inch or more wide), exactioned, but not expected or developed

Films, photographic (except motion-picture film one inch or more wide), sensitized, but not exposed or developed, and other than cartridge, roll, or x-ray film, but including film packs

Films photographic, z-rays, sensitized, but not exposed or developed

Meters, exposure

Plates, photographic, dry

Range finders to be used with photographic cameras

Furs and Manufactures

Bodies, coat, unfinished, made of lamb fur pieces Fur, coney or rabbit, dressed, not dyed

Fur, moleskins, dyed

Furs, hatters', or furs not on the skin, prepared for hatters' use, including fur skins, carrosed

Plates, fur, made of ermine pieces, dressed, undyed Plates, fur, made of mink pieces, dressed, undyed

Locther and Manufactures

Helmets, crash, wholly or in chief value of leather other than reptile (of the type used predominately by moser-cyclists and racing car drivers)

Leather, made from hides or skins of cattle of the bovine species, other than calf or kip, processed by graining Leather, patent, imitation, made of polyvinyl chloride

Leather, shell-cordovan, made from hides of animals of the horse family

Leather, sole (other than flexible bend splits and offal), made from hides or skins of cattle of the bovine species Leather, upper, calf or kip, made from hides or skins of cattle of the bovine species

Miscellaneous Articles

Brushes, toilet, not including tooth brushes, valued over 40 cents each, and having handles or backs of material other than cellulose compounds, and other than gold, nilver, or platinum

Construction sets, toy, wholly or in chief value of metal, valued 30 cents or more per pound, and other than model airplane construction sets in chief value of meal valued at 75 cents or more each

Extract, seaweed, manufactured

fiber, istle or Tampico, dressed or manufactured

 Flasks, vacuum, finished (thermostatic bottles), not over one pust capacity

Insulating articles and products, electrical, high dearity, not laminated, composed of wood flour and having a synthetic resin or resin-like substance as chief binding agent

Leads, peacil, colored or crayon

Paper or cloth, or combinations thereof, coated with sand, emery, or other natural or artificial abrasives

Pencile, lead or crayon, of wood or other material except

Pencils, wood, stamped with names other than the manufacturer's name, trade name or trade mark

Plumes, chief value of feathers

Polysasbutylene

Powder Scin

Spangles, gelatin

Spangles, rhodoid

Waste, mustard bran

Wax, scaling

Musical Instruments or Articles

Bassoon

Carillons, containing not more than 34 bells, and parts thereof

Metromome

Music boxes, in the form of a feathered bird in a cage Pianos, upright, non-player type, having 64 keys (53% octaves)

Ornamented or Embroidered Fabrics and Articles, and Laces, Nets, and Veilings

Fabrics, embroidered, wholly or in chief value of wool

Gloves, composed of 15 denier sheer knit nylon fabric and in part of all-overs, edgings, flouncings, flutings, fringes, galloons, insertings, ornaments, quillings, ruchings, trimmings, or tuckings

Gloves, embrerdered (whether or not the embroidery is on a scalloped edge), tamboured, appliqued, ornamented with beads, bugles, or spangles, or from which threads have been omitted, drawn, punched, or cut, and with threads introduced after weaving to finish or ernament the open work, not including one row of straight hemstitching adjoining the hem, composed of 15 denier sheer knit nyton fahric

Laces, lace fabrics and lace articles, wholy or in chief value of wool (except veils and veilings) made on a levers (including go-through) lace machine (whether or not embroided and whether or not made full gauge on a machine of 12 point or finer)

Napkins, of cotton, in chief value of lace made in designs or patterns formed wholly by joining machine made materials by handwork.

Nets and nettings, wholly or in chief value of ails, not embroided, made on other than a bobbinet machine

Tablecloths, of cotton, in chief value of lace made in designs or patterns formed wholly by joining machine made materials by handwork

Trimmings, in part of cotton, chief value of beads

Veilings, dyed or colored, wholly or in chief value of rayon or other synthetic textiles, made on any lace or net machine, whether or not embroided, in bolt length, suitable for cutting to veil size Veilings, dyed or colored, wholly or in chief value of all, made on any lace or net machine, whether or not embroidered, in bolt length suitable for cutting to veil size

Rubber Articles

Boots, shoss, or other footwear (including athletic or sporsing boots and shoes but not including footwear commonly known as "Tabi" or "Jikatahi"), the uppers of which are compress wholly or in chief value of wool, cotton, ramie, animal hair, sher, rayon or other synthetic textile, silk or substitutes for any of the foregoing, with soles composed wholly or in chief value of India rubber or substitutes for rubber

Boots, shoes, overshoes, or other footwear, wholly or in chief value of India rubber or substitutes for rubber

Catheters, wholly or in chief value of rubber

Combs, hard rubber, household and pocket type, valued over \$4.50 per gross.

Gloves, rubber

Hose and tubing, polyethylene or polyvinyl chloride, having an inside diameter of less than 16 tach

Hose and tubing, rubber, not made of hard rubber, having at no point an inside diameter of less than 16 inch

Insulating material, rigid, in sheet or board form, chief value rubber

Matting, rubber, floor, corrugated, in rolls

Packing, rubber, in sheets

Powder, rubber, chlorinated

Rubber, synthetic

Sheeting, rubber, designed for use in facing table tennis paddles

Suits, rubber, designed for underwater use

Tires and tubes, pneumatic, wholly or in chief value of rubber or substitutes for rubber, except bicycle tires and tubes Tissue, gutta percha

Sporting and Fishing Equipment

Balle, lawn-tennis

Balls, table tennis

Bands, wholly or in chief value of rubber, suitable for underwater fishing guns

Fine, rwim, composed wholly or in chief vaue of rubber Floats, cork for fish nets

Floats, trawl, aluminus

France, tennis racket, wood chief value, not in part of bamboo, onier or willow, or rattan, valued over \$3 each

Guns, fishing, underwater

Leaders, fishing, knotless, tapered, made of synthetic mono-

Line, fishing, sylon

Shinguards, soccer

Spoons, fishing

Sticks, field hockey

Sticks, ice-hockey, wholly or in chief value of wood

Swivels, fishing

Tecs, golf, brass

A. GILMORE FLUES, Acting Secretary of the Treasury.

APPENDIX C

SECTIONS 402, 402a AND 500 OF THE TARIFF ACT OF 1930, AS AMENDED

19 W.S.C. 14010 SEC. 402. VALUE.

- (a) Basis .-- Except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Act 1/, the value of imported merchandise for the purposes of this Act shall be--
 - (1) the export value, or
 - (2) if the export value cannot be determined satisfactorily, then the United States value, or
 - (3) if neither the export value nor the United States value can be determined satisfactorily, then the constructed value;

except that, in the case of an imported article subject to a rate of duty based on the American selling price of a domestic article. such value shall be --

(4) the American selling price of such domestic article.

78 Stat. 948 See 140t Im brackets repro-duced after sec. 402(a)

1/ The Secretary of the Treasury shall determine and make public a list of the articles which shall be valued in accordance with section 402a, Tariff Act of 1930, as amended by this Act, as follows:

As soon as practicable after the enactment of this Act the Secretary shall make public a preliminary list of the imported articles which he shall have determined, after such investigation as he deems necessary, would have been appraised in accordance with section 402 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended by this Act, at average values for each article which are 95 (or less) per centum of the average values at which such article was actually appraised during the fiscal year 1954. If within sixty days after the publication of such preliminary list any manufacturer, producer, or wholesaler in the United States presents to the Secretary his reason for belief that any imported articles not specified in such list and like or similar to articles manufactured, produced, or sold at wholesale by him would have been appraised in accordance with such section 402 at average values which are 95 (or less) per centum of the average values at which they were or would have been appraised under section 402a, Tariff Act of 1930, as amended by this Act, the Secretary shall cause such investigation of the matter to be made as he deems necessary. If in the opinion of the Secretary the reason for belief is substantiated by the investigation, the articles involved shall be added to the preliminary list and such list, including any additions so made thereto, shall be published as a final list. Every article so specified in the final list which is entered, or withirawn from warehouse, for consumption on or after the thirtieth day following the date of publication of the final list shall be appraised in accordance with the provisions of section 402a, Tariff Act of 1930, as amended by this Act.

- (b) Export value. -- For the purposes of this section, the export value of imported merchandise shall be the price, at the time of exportation to the United States of the merchandise undergoing appraisement, at which such or similar merchandise is freely sold or, in the absence of sales, offered for sale in the principal markets of the country of exportation, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, for exportation to the United States, plus, when not included in such price, the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature and all other expenses incidental to placing the merchandise in condition, packed ready for shipment to the United States.
- (c) United States Value. -- For the purposes of this section, the United States value of imported merchandise shall be the price, at the time of exportation to the United States of the merchandise undergoing appraisement, at which such or similar merchandise is freely sold or, in the absence of sales, offered for sale in the principal market of the United States for domestic consumption, packed ready for delivery, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, with allowances made for--
 - any commission usually paid or agreed to be paid, or the addition for profit and general expenses usually made, in connection with sales in such market of imported merchandise of the same class or kind as the merchandise undergoing appraisement;
 - (2) the usual costs of transportation and insurance and other usual expenses incurred with respect to such or similar merchandise from the place of shipment to the place of delivery, not including any expense provided for in subdivision (1); and

 (3) the ordinary customs duties and other Federal taxes

- (d) Constructed Value. -- For the purposes of this section, the constructed value of imported merchandise shall be the sum of --
 - (1) the cost of materials (exclusive of any internal tax applicable in the country of exportation directly to such materials or their disposition, but remitted or refunded upon the exportation of the article in the production of which such materials are used) and of fabrication or other processing of any kind employed in producing such or similar merchandise, at a time preceding the date of exportation of the merchandise undergoing appraisement which would ordinarily permit the production of that particular merchandise in the ordinary course of business;
 - (2) an amount for general expenses and profit equal to that usually reflected in sales of merchandise of the same general class or kind as the merchandise undergoing appraisement which are made by producers in the country of exportation, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, for shipment to the United States; and

(3) the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature, and all other expenses incidental to placing the merchandise undergoing appraisement in condition, packed ready for shipment to the United States.

- (e) American Selling Price. -- For the purpose of this section, the American selling price of any article produced in the United States shall be the price, including the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature and all other expenses incidental to placing the article in condition packed ready for delivery, at which such article is freely sold or, in the absence of sales, offered for sale for domestic consumption in the principal market of the United States, in the ordinary sourse of trade and in the usual wholesale quantities, or the price that the manufacturer, producer, or owner would have received or was willing to receive for such article when sold for domestic consumption in the ordinary course of trade and in the usual wholesale quantities, at the time of exportation of the imported article.
 - (f) Definitions. -- For the purposes of this section(1) The term "freely sold or, in the absence of sales, offered for sale" means sold or, in the absence of sales, offered--
 - (A) to all purchasers at wholesale, or
 (B) in the ordinary course of trade to one or more selected purchasers at wholesale at a price which fairly reflects the market value of the merchandise, without restrictions as to the disposition or use of the merchandise by the purchaser, except restrictions as to such disposition or use which (i) are imposed or required by !aw,

- (ii) limit the price at which or the territory in which the merchandise may be resold, or (iii) do not substantially affect the value of the merchandise to usual purchasers at wholesale.
- (2) The term "ordinary course of trade" means the conditions and practices which, for a reasonable time prior to the exportation of the merchandise undergoing appraisement, have been normal in the trade under consideration with respect to merchandise of the same class or kind as the merchandise undergoing appraisement.
- (3) The term "purchasers at wholesale" means purchasers who buy in the usual wholesale quantities for industrial use or for resale otherwise than at retail; or, if there are no such purchasers, then all other purchasers for resale who buy in the usual wholesale quantities; or, if there are no purchasers in either of the foregoing categories, then all other purchasers who buy in the usual wholesale quantities.
- (4) The term "such or similar merchandise" means merchandise in the first of the following categories in respect of which export value, United States value, or constructed value, as the case may be, can be satisfactorily determined:
 - (A) The merchandise undergoing appraisement and other merchandise which is identical in physical characteristics with, and was produced in the same country by the same person as, the merchandise undergoing appraisement.
 - (B) Merchandise which is identical in physical characterists with, and was produced by another person in the same country as, the merchandise undergoing appraisement.
 - (C) Merchandise (i) produced in the same country and by the same person as the merchandise undergoing appraisement, (ii) like the merchandise undergoing appraisement in component material or materials and in the purposes for which used, and (iii) approximately equal in commercial value to the merchandise undergoing appraisement.
 - (D) Merchandise which satisfies all the requirements of subdivision (C) except that it was produced by another person.
- (5) The term "usual wholesale quantities", in any case in which the merchandise in respect of which value is being determined is sold in the market under consideration at different prices for different quantities, means the quantities in which such merchandise is there sold at the price or prices for one quantity in an aggregate volume which is greater than the aggregate volume sold at the price or prices for any other quantity.

(g) Transactions Between Related Persons . --

(1) For the purposes of subsection (c)(1) or (d), as the case may be, a transaction directly or indirectly between persons specified in any one of the subdivisions in paragraph (2) of this subsection may be disregarded if, in the case of any element of value required to be considered, the amount representing that element does not fairly reflect the amount usually reflected in sales in the market under consideration of merchandise of the same general class or kind as the merchandise undergoing appraisement. If a transaction is disregarded under the preceding sentence and there are no other transactions available for consideration, then, for the purposes of subsection (d), the determination of the amount required to be considered shall be based on the best evidence available as to what the amount would have been if the transaction had occurred between persons not specified in any one of the subdivisions in paragraph (2).

(2) The persons referred to in paragraph (1) are:

- (A) Members of a family, including brothers and sisters (whether by whole or half blood), spouse, ancestors, and lineal descendants;
- (B) Any officer or director of an organization and such organization;
 - (C) Partners;

(D) Employer and employee;

- (E) Any person directly or indirectly owning, controlling, or holding with power to vote, 5 per centum or more of the outstanding voting stock or shares of any organisation and such organization; and
- (F) Two or more persons directly or indirectly controlling, controlled by, or under common control with, any person.

70 Stat 944 944

10 U.S.C. 1402 SEC. 402a. VALUE (ALTERNATIVE).

(a) Basis .-- For the purposes of this Act the value of imported too list follow articles designated by the Secretary of the Treasury as provided for ing this section in section 6(a) of the Customs Simplification Act of 1956 shall be--

(1) The foreign value or the export value, whichever is

higher:

- (2) If the appropriate customs officer determines that neither the foreign value nor the export value can be satisfactorily ascertained, then the United States value;
- (3) If the appropriate customs officer determines that neither the foreign value, the export value, nor the United States value can be satisfactorily ascertained, then the cost of production;
- (4) In the case of an article with respect to which there is in effect under section 336 a rate of duty based upon the American selling price of a domestic article, then the American selling price of such article.

84 Stat. 208

- (b) Review of Custom's Officer's Dec -ion. -- A decision of the appropriate customs officer that foreign value, export value, or United States value can not be satisfactorily ascertained shall be subject to protest in accordance with section 514; but in any such proceeding, an affidavit executed outside of the United States shall not be admitted in evidence if executed by any person who fails to permit a Treasury attach: to inspect his books, papers, records, accounts, documents, or correspondence, pertaining to the value or classification of such merchandise.
- (c) Foreign Value... The foreign value of imported merchandise shall be the market value or the price at the time of exportation of such merchandise to the United States, at which such or similar merchandise is freely offered for sale for home consumption to all purchasers in the principal markets of the country from which exported, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, including the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature, and all other costs, charges, and expenses incident to placing the merchandise in condition, packed ready for shipment to the United States.
 - (d) Export Value. -- The export value of imported merchandise shall be the market value or the price, at the time of exportation of such merchandise to the United States, at which such or similar merchandise is freely offered for sale to all purchasers in the principal markets of the country from which exported, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, for exportation to the United States, plus, when not included in such price, the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature, and all other costs, charges, and expenses incident to placing the merchandise in condition, packed ready for shipment to the United States.
- (e) United States Value. The United States value of imported merchandise shall be the price at which such or similar imported server. Issue merchandise is freely offered for sale for domestic consumption, packed ready for delivery, in the principal market of the United States to all purchasers, at the time of exportation of the imported merchandise, in the usual wholesale quantities and in the ordinary course of trade, with allowance made for duty, cost of transportation and insurance, and other necessary expenses from the place of shipment to the place of delivery, a commission not exceeding 6 per centum, if any has been paid or contracted to be paid on goods secured otherwise than by purchase, or profits not to exceed 8 per centum and a reasonable allowance for general expenses, not to exceed 8 per centum on purchased goods.
 - (f) Cost of Production .-- For the purpose of this title the cost of production of imported merchandise shall be the sum of--
 - (1) The cost of materials of, and of fabrication, manipulation, or other process employed in the manufacturing or producing such or similar merchandise, at a time preceding the date

of exportation of the particular merchandise under consideration which would ordinarily permit the manufacture or production of the particular merchandise under consideration in the usual course of business;

- (2) The usual general expenses (not less than 10 per centum of such cost) in the case of such or similar merchandise;
- (3) The cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature, and all other costs, charges, and expenses incident to placing the particular merchandise under consideration in condition, packed ready for shipment to the United States; and
- dition, packed ready for shipment to the United States; and
 (4) An addition for profit (not less than 8 per centum of
 the sum of the amounts found under paragraphs (1) and (2) of
 this subdivision) equal to the profit which ordinarily is added,
 in the case of merchandise of the same general character as the
 particular merchandise under consideration, by manufacturers or
 producers in the country of manufacture or production who are
 engaged in the production or manufacture of merchandise of the
 same class or kind.
- (g) American Selling Price. -- The American selling price of any article manufactured or produced in the United States shall be the price, including the cost of all containers and coverings of whatever nature and all other costs, charges, and expenses incident to placing the merchandise in condition packed ready for delivery, at which such article is freely offered for sale for domestic consumption to all purchasers in the principal market of the United States, in the ordinary course of trade and in the usual wholesale quantities in such market, or the price that the manufacturer, producer, or owner would have received or was willing to receive for such merchandise when sold for domestic consumption in the ordinary course of trade and in the usual wholesale quantities, at the time of exportation of the imported article.

19 U.S.C. 1500 84 Stat, 283 SEC. 500. APPRAISEMENT, CLASSIFICATION, AND LIQUIDATION PROCEDURES.

The appropriate customs officer shall, under rules and regulations prescribed by the Secretary--

- (a) appraise merchandise in the unit of quantity in which the merchandise is usually bought and sold by ascertaining or estimating the value thereof by all reasonable ways and means in his power, any statement of cost or costs of production in any invoice, affidavit, declaration, or other document to the contrary notwithstanding;
- (b) ascertain the classification and rate of duty applicable to such merchandise;
- (c) fix the amount of duty to be paid on such merchandise and determine any increased or additional duties due or any excess of duties deposited;
 - (d) liquidate the entry of such merchandise; and
- (e) give notice of such liquidation to the importer, his consignee, or agent in such form and manner as the Secretary shall prescribe in such regulations.

APPENDIX D STATISTICAL TABLES

Table 1.--ESTIMATED DISTRIBUTION OF CUSTOMS ENTRIES BY BASES OF VALUATION, NUMBER OF RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS, AND NUMBER OF ENTRIES APPRAISED AT INVOICE VALUES, 1977

:	Mumber	:	Percent	:	Perce	cent of	
Bases of Valuation :	of Entries	1	of Total	:	402	4024	
:	(1,000)	:		:			
:		:		:	1	•	
Export Value 402:	2,394		69-5	:	84.4 :		
U.S. Value 402:	58	:	1.7	:	2.0 :		
Constructed Value 402:	353	:	10.3	:	12.5 :		
American Selling Price 402:		:	0.9	:	1.1 :		
Subtotal 402:		1	82.4	:	100.0	!	
:	-,	2		•		:	
Foreign Value 402a:	109	2	3.2	:		22.2	
Export Value 402a		•	4.7	•	,	33.0	
U.S. Value 402a:	12	•	0.3	•	Ţ	2.4	
Cost of Production 402a:		•	5.5	•	· ·	38.5	
American Selling Price 402a:		•	0.6	•		3.9	
Subtotal 402a:	491	:	14.2	:	,	100.0	
Subtotal 4024	471	:	14.2	•		100.0	
Subtotal 402 and 402a:	3,326	•	96.6	•) ,	
SUDICIAL 402 AND 4024	3,320	•	30.0	:		,	
Section 500:	117	•	2.4	•	3	i I	
26CLTOH 200	117		_3.4	•	3	•	
			100 0				
Total::	3,443	:	100.0		3	•	
		:		:	1	3	
Number of Related Transactions:	992	:	28.8	:	1	}	
		:		:	;	}	
Number Appraised at Invoice :		:		:	1	:	
Values:	2,354	:	68-4	:	:	}	

Source: This table was compiled from questionnaires completed by all Customs import specialist teams, asking each team to estimate the relative frequency of use of each of the various bases of appraisement, as well as the number of related-party transactions and invoice-value appraisements in his or her office for the year 1977.

Table 2.—Industrial and finished organic chemicals.
U.S. production and sales, 1969-76 1/

	No. do a history	: Sales					
Year :	Production	: Quantity :		Value	1	Unit value	
:		:		:	Billion	:	
:	Billion pounds	:Billion	pounds	8	dollars	:	Per pound
:		:		:		:	
1969:	38.1		17.9	:	4.5	:	\$0.2
1970:	38.6	:	21.3	:	4.6	:	.2
1971:	41.2	:	22.6	:	4.9	:	.2
1972:	48.2	:	27.3	:	5.6	:	.2
1973:	50.9	:	30.5	:	6.9	:	.2
1974:	53.3	:	29.7	:	10.4	:	.3
1975:	43.8	:	24.3	:	9.6	:	.3
1976:	48.3		24.3	:	10.3	:	.4
:		:		:		:	

^{1/} Partly estimated.

Source: Compiled from data submitted to the U.S. International Trade Commission and included in the figures published in its reports, Synthetic Organic Chemicals, U.S. Production and Sales.

Table 3.—Industrial and finished organic chemicals dutiable under subparts 18 and 1C, Schedule 4, TSUS: U.S. sales, imports, exports, and ratios of imports and exports to sales, 1969-76.

(In millions of dollars)											
:	:		:	Ratio (per	cent)						
Year :	Sales 1/	Imports	Exports 2/	Imports to sales	Exports to sales						
:	:		: :	:							
1969:	4,460.2:	218.0	: 713.4 :	4.9 :	16.0						
1970:	4,566.8:	255.3	: 826.3 :	5.6 :	18.1						
1971:	4,871.5 :	331.7	: 803.2 :	6.8 :	16.5						
1972:	5,579.2:	401.9	: 754.0 :	7.2 :	13.5						
1973:	6,932.2:	509.0	: 1,116.6:	7.3 :	16.1						
1974:	10.423.0 :	633.5	: 1.882.0 :	6.1 :	18.1						
1975:	9,592.1:	600.5	: 1,647.2 :	6.3 :	17.2						
1976:	10,274.2:	848.1	•		19.1						
•	•		•	•	!						

1/ Partly estimated. Considerable duplication exists in these figures. A large part of the sales of industrial organic chemicals is used in the production of more advanced finished products. Therefore, a more realistic measure of the relative economic importance of the benzenoid chemical industry would be the value added by manufacture. Value added is defined as the value of shipments less the total cost of materials (including materials, supplies, fuel, electric energy, cost of resales, and miscellaneous receipts). The value added is estimated to approximate 50 percent of the value of sales for each calendar year (based on the value added reported in the 1969 and 1972 Census of Manufactures for those Standard Industrial Classifications which included shipments of benzenoid products). Thus for calendar year 1972, the value added is estimated to have been about \$2,500,000,000 to \$3,000,000,000. Data on military explosives are not includes in sales.

2/ Partly estimated. Export statistics published by the Bureau of the Census do not separately identify all benzenoid exports. In addition to 41 export classes comprised wholly of benzenoid products in 1976, there are 65 export classes comprised in part of such products. The estimated total values of benzenoid exports in this table include the estimates of the benzenoid products in these latter 65 export classes.

Note. -- The table does not include data on benzenoid crudes, which are duty-free under subpart 1A, and certain other benzenoid products, such as benzenoid synthetic rubbers which are dutiable under TSUS item 446.15. Sales of these crudes and rubbers are estimated at \$2,763,000,000 in 1976.

Source: Sales compiled from data submitted to the U.S. International Trade Commission and included in the figures published in its reports, Synthetic Organic Chemicals, U.S. Production and Sales. Imports and extimated exports prepared from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Table. 4: Benzenoid Chemicals and Products: U.S. Production, Sales, Imports and Exports, 1976

		Quantit.	y (1000 pounds)	: Value (\$1	000)		•
Industry :	Production	Sal	es	· : Imports	: Ratio (%) :	Exports	: Ratio (%)
group :	Quantity	Quantity	Value	: Value <u>1</u> / :	:Import/Sales: ::	Value <u>2</u> /	: Exports/Sales :
Industrial :		:			: :		•
organic chemicals:	2/ 32.063.620	: 2/ 12.606.941 :	2/ 3,106,536	292,697	9.4:	951,715	: 30.6
Dyes:				-		•	
Pigments:	67.727	•	•	-		-	
Medicinals 3/:	114,905	: 63,140 :	402,117	-		-	
Flavor and perfume :	1	:		:	:		:
materials:	40,142	: 36,776 :	91,251	28.388	: 31.1 :	30,102	: 33.0
Plastics:	8,943,083	: 7,684,865 :	3,113,430	41,578	: 1.3:		
Rubber processing :		:		:	:	,	:
chemicals:	334,735	: 186,393 :	218,263	1.139	: 0.5:	56,485	: 25.9
Plasticizers:	1,303,772	: 1,207,225 :	416,383	1.407	: 0.3:	•	
Surface-active :		:		•	: :	·	:
agents::	1,018,889	: 475,386 :	201,571	3,901	: 1.9 :	57,544	28 • 5
Pesticides:	750,170	: 642,592 :	1,401,613	128,833	: 9.2 :	259,688	: 18.5
Miscellaneous end- :	1	:		•	: :	-	•
use chemicals:	3,893	: 3,326 :	5,386	:	: :		
Miscellaneous :		:		24,708	. 6.0 ,	76,472	18.4
cyclic chemicals:	2/ 2,445,319	: 2/1,081,805:	2/ 409,290		::		.
Total:					: 8.3 :	1,955,703	19.1
:		:	:	•	:	•	•

^{1/} Entered value.

Source: Production and sales compiled from data submitted to the U.S. International Trade Commission and from Commission report Synthetic Organic Chemicals, U.S. Production and Sales; imports and estimated exports prepared from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

^{2/} Partly estimated.

^{3/} The statistics shown are for bulk chemicals only; finished pharmaceutical preparations and products put up in pills, capsules, tablets, or other measured doses are excluded.

Table 5.--Footwear with uppers of fabric and soles of rubber or plastics entered under TSUS item No. 700.60, which covers footwear dutiable on the American selling price basis of valuation as well as footwear not dutiable on the American selling price basis of valuation: U.S. imports for consumption, by principal sources, 1975-77

Source	1975	1976	1977
	•	(1,000 p	airs)
	: :		
epublic of China	: 33,183 :	65,169 :	
epublic of Korea	: 28,774 :	31,430 :	
taly	: 1,057 :	1,952 :	2,68
pain	: 1,084 :	2,659 :	2,50
apan	: 3,754 :	2,917 :	-
L9UC6	: 691 :	1,001 :	
exico	: 2,189 :	4,690 :	
166C6	: 161 :	454 :	73
est Germany	: 223 :	380 :	
iong Kong	: 1,192 :	1,335 :	1,00
bilippines	: 466 :	464 :	46
(a) avg (a	: 9:	117 :	60
610mb14	: 15 :	97 :	14
ingapore	: 3:	105 :	: 1
11 other	: 1,306 :	2,585	2,10
	: 74,107 :	115,355 :	
	Value (1,0		
			
epublic of China	: 38,390 :	71,841	86,91
enublic of Korea	: 46.250 :	.59,331	59,61
* A)	: 5,620 :	10,520	15,56
DA (n	: 4,606 :	12,187	12,10
ADAR	: 5.735 :	7,604	8,96
TANCE	: 5,074 :	7,450	8,34
(exico	: 1.524 :	3,934	. •
Teece	: 863 :	2,373	4.08
lest Germany	: 2,246 :	3,821	3,22
long Kong	: 1.131 :	1.525	-
hilippines	: 520 :	624	
(a) avs (a	: 21 :	105	: 85
`nlorh{a	: 19 :	82	: 48
ineapare	: 3:	101	
	: 7,359 :	8,689	
	: 119,361 :		
10141	:	lue (per	
			:
tepublic of China	: \$1.16 :	\$1.10	_
Republic of Korea	: 1.61 :	1.89	-
Italy	: 5.32 :	5.39	
5pain	: 4.25 :	4.58	
· 1	: 1.53 :	2.61	
	7.34 :	7.44	
	70 :	.84	
	·: 5.35 :	5.23	
/4 EEC 4	10.07		-
lest Cormany	95 :		
lest Germany		1.34	
long Kong			
dong Kong	. 2.12 .	0.0	. 1.
iong Kong	.: 2.33 :		_
iong Kong	·: 2.33 : ·: 1.27 :	.85	: 3.
dong Kong	·: 2.33 : ·: 1.27 : ·: 1.00 :	.85 .96	: 3.:
iong Kong	2.33 : 1.27 : 1.00 :	.85 .96 3.36	: 3.: : 3.: : 2.

^{1/} The value shown represents the f.a.s. value.

Source: Coupled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce. $$D\!\!=\!\!5$$.

Table 6.--U.S. imports for consumption of ASP footwear, by principal sources, 1975-77.

Source	1975	1976	1977
	. Quentit	y (1,000 p	airs)
S	1 1	_	
Republic of Kores	: 16,049 :		
Republic of China	: 5,910 :	•	-
Japan	: /50 :		346
Prance	: 85 :		
Italy	: 201 :		
Spain	: 195 :		
Philippines	: 256 :		
Helaysia	: - 1		
West Germany	: 43 :		•
Greece	: 30 :		•
Mong Kong	: 266 :	266 :	169
Columbia	: - 1	1:	50
Mexico	: 12 :	2:	. 4
Singapore		102 :	•
All other	: 110 :	102 :	127
Total-	23,607 :	31,941 :	24,16
	Value (1	.,000 dolla	rs) <u>]</u> /
Republic of Korea-	1 26,776 :		-
Republic of China-	: 10,221 :	•	
Japan	: 1,343 :	-,	
Prence	: 608 :		-,
Italy	: 1,033 :		-
Spain	: 783 :	-,	
Philippines	: 320 :		
Malaysia	: - 1	102 :	• • • •
West Germany	: 453 :	1,026	42
Greece	: 193 :	305 :	300
Nong Kong	: 440 :	468 :	180
Colombia		2 1	17
Mexico	: . 53 :	• 9 :	1.
Singapore	: -:	: 99 :	. •
All other	: 429 :	306 :	43
Total	: 42,654 :	65,901	59,46
	Unit v	alue (per	
Republic of Korea			
Republic of Korea	: \$1.67 :		
Japan	: 1.73 :		
Prance	: 2.98 :		•
Tranca	: 7.15 :		
Italy	: 5.14 :		• • • •
Spain	: 4.02 :		
Philippines	: 1.25 :		
Kalaysia	:		
West Germany	: 10.53 :		
Greece	: 6.43 :	4.84 :	5.2
Hong Kong	: 1.65 :	1.76	1.1
Colombia	: -:	2.00	3.4
Mexico	: 4.42 :	4.50	3.2
	: - :	.97	,
51ngapore			
Singapore	:3.90 :	3.00	3.4
All other	: 3.90 : : 1.81 :		

^{1/} The value shown represents the f.a.s. value.

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Comperce.

Dash indicates no data available; presumed to be nil.

Table 7.--U.S. imports for consumption of non-ASP footwear entered under TSUS item number 700.60 by principal sources, 1975-77

. Source	1975	1976	1977
	i Quantii	y (1,000 p	airs)
epublic of China	. 27 273		52 24
epublic of Chinassessessessessessessessessessessessesse	: 27,273 :		52,249
epublic of Korea	: 12,725		11.49
talypain	: 856		
7b3#	: 889 :		•
19UC&	: 3,304		•
rance	: 606 :		
E6666		•	*
	: 131 : :: 179 :		
est Germany			
ong Kong	: 926		
alaysia	: 9 :		
hilippines	: 210		
olorbia	: 14	• -	-
ingapore			_
11 other	·		
Total	: <u>50,500</u>	: 83,414 :	81,34
	Yalue (1,000 dolla	rs) <u>1</u> /
and the of Ohion	-		
tepublic of China	: 28,169		
Republic of Korea	: 19,474		
[{aly	: 4,587		
pain			
apan	: 4,392		
Tance	4,466	-	
lexico	: 1,471		
Teece	: 670		-
lest Germany	: 1,793		
long Kong	: 691		
falaysia	: 21		
Philippines	: 200		
Colombia	: 19		
Singapore			
U1 other	: 6,953		
Total	76,707	: 124,284	. 153,88
	Vait	value (pc.	
Republic of Chins	: \$1.63	•	: : \$1.:
Republic of Korea	: 1.53	: 1.65	: 2.4
[taly	: 5.36	: 5.43	: 5.1
Spain	: 4.30	: 4.61	: 4.1
Japan	: 1.33	: 2.27	: 3.1
France	: 7.37	: 7.49	: 8.
lex1co	.68	: .84	: .
Greece	: 5.11		: 5.0
Vest Germany	: 10.02		
lione Kone	: .75		: 1.
Halaysia	: 2.33		-
Philippines	: .95		
Cole hig	1.36		
Singapara	: 1.00		
All (there	\$,65		. 1.
Total	1.7/	1.64	

^{1/} The value shown represents the f.a.s. value.

Source: - $\phi(t) \circ f$ (respectively statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Table 8,--U.S. imports for consumption of footwear entered under TSUS item number 700.60, by TSUSA item number, 1973-77

(In thousands of pairs)								
TSUSA item No.	: Description	1973		1975	1976	1977		
	:	:	:		:	:		
	:Like or similar to U.S.		: :	}	:	:		
	: footwear:	:	:	3	:	: .		
	: Oxford height:	:	:	}	:	:		
700.6005	: For men, youths, and	:	:	:	:	:		
	: boys	:13,679	:16,029	14,750	: 15,520	: 11,806		
700.6015	: For women and	. ·	:	:	:	:		
	: misseg	: 4.962	: 4.838	3,954	: 7,361	: 5,710		
700.6025	: For children and	•	•	•	•	•		
	: infants	. 3 ARA	: 2,829	3,487	5,958	5,105		
700.6030	: Other than oxford	. 5,404	,0.,	. 3,40.	. ,,,,,			
,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	: height	. , nsa	. 2 570	1,416	· : 2,101	· : 1,545		
	: Total				: 31,941			
	:Not like or similar to	. 27,104	.20,200	. 23,007	. 31,341	. 24,103		
	: U.S. footwear:	•	•	•	•			
	: Oxford height:	•	•	•	•	•		
700.6035	•	•	•	•	•	•		
700.6033	: For men, youths, and		. 7 7/0	:		. 12 /20		
700 (0/5	: boys	: 4,0/9	: /,/69	: 11,540	: 11,645	: 12,429		
700.6045	: For women and	:	:	:	:	:		
		:17,672	:14,545	: 17,126	: 35,207	: 34,205		
700.6055	: For children and	:	:	:	:	:		
	: infants	: 4,527	: 4,449	: 3,509	: 5,202	: 5,498		
700.6060	: Other than oxford	:	:	:	:	:		
	: height							
					: 83,414			
	: Grand total							
	:	:	:	:	:	:		

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Table 9 .-- Class, except resor class in airtight containers: U.S. imports for consumption, by principal sources, 1973-77

Source	- / / 3	1974	1975	1976	1977
		Quantity	(1,000 poun		
	:		:	:	
Republic of Korea:		236		2,253:	4,077
Japan		4,099	: 1,722 :	3,730:	3,122
[taly;	_	48	: 12 :	168:	262
Chailand	7:	1/	: 0:	1:	159
Spain	38 :	61	: 29 :	42 :	28
lex1co	0:	0 :	: 0:	0:	30
Ccuador	69 :	77	: 78 :	57 :	37
::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::::	0:	0	: 0:	14:	13
China T:	1:	21	: 0:	0:	8
China M	1:	2	: 6:	1:	12
Canada	0:	19	: 1:	8:	1
ll other:	13:	26	: 7 :	12:	
Total:	3,654:	4,589	: 1,997 :	6,286 :	7,75
:			(1,000 dolla		
:	:		:		
Republic of Korea	83 :	282			4,72
Japan		4,085	: 1,822 :	3,899 :	3,96
[taly:		32	: 9:	105 :	18
Thailand		<u>1</u> /	: 0:	1:	13
Spain:		95	: 38 :	64 :	4
lex1co	0:	0	: 0:	0:	3
Ecuador	39 :	52	: 60 :	47 :	2
Chili:	: 0:	0	: 0:	11:	1
China T	1/:	31	: 0:	0:	
China M	1:	2	: 3:	1:	
Canada	: 0:	8	: <u>1</u> / :	7:	
All other	6:	18		8:	
Total	3,137 :	4,605	: 2,087 :	6,542 :	9,15
:		Unit	value (per po	ound)	
Republic of Korea	: \$0.87 :	\$1.20	: : : \$1.05:		\$1.1
Japan		1.00	•	• • • •	1.2
[taly	· -	•67			•7
Thailand	1.28:			-	•8
Spain		•74 1•57			1.7
Mexico		1.57			1.2
Ecuador		-		•	
cuador		•67 0			-8
China T					.8
		1.46	•	•	1.1
China M		1.16			. 2
Canada		.41			1.1
All other		•69	: •75 :	•62 :	-9
Average	. 86:	1.00	: 1.05 :	1.04:	1.1

^{1/} Less than 500 pounds or \$500.

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Table 10.--Class, except razor class in airtight containers: U.S. production, 1/ imports, and apparent consumption, 2/1973-77

Year :	Production 1/	:	Imports :	Con- sumption 2/	:	Ratio (percent) of imports to consumption
:		Q	uantity (1,0	00 pounds)		
1973:	13,871	:	3,654 :	17,525	:	20.9
1974:	13,300	:	4,589 :	17,889	:	25.7
L975:	13,556	:	1,997 :	15,553	:	12.8
1976:	7,487	:	6,286 :	13,773	:	45.6
1977:	11,631	:	7,752 :	19,383	:	40.0
•. •		:	: Value (1.000	(dollars)	:	
:		_				
973:	14,725	:	3,137 :	17,862	:	17.6
.974:	16,949	:	4,605 :	21,554	:	21.4
1975:	17,855	:	2,087 :	19,942	:	10.5
1976:	14,267	:	6,542 :	20,809	:	31.4
.977:	<u>3</u> /	:	9,158:	<u>3</u> /	:	<u>3</u> /
:		:	:		:_	

^{1/} Production consists elmost exclusively of minced and boiled whole clams, and negligible amounts of razor class.

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

^{2/} Exports are negligible
3/ Not available

Table 11-Total U.S. imports and Final List imports by TSUSA Schedules.

. •	Custom	Value	: : Final List
Schedule :	(million :	,	Percent of total
!:	12,896	250	
2	5,910 :	253	4.3
3:	4,976	186	3.7
4	39,030	274	0.7
5:	2,757 :	44 :	1.6
6:	43,382	8,749	: 20 -2
7:	9,529	1,819	19-1
Total:	118,480	11,575	9.8

Source: USITC estimates compiled from offical statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce for 1976.

Table 12-Custom value and FAS value for Final List imports by TSUSA schedules

Schedule	: Customs : value (402a) : (1,000 : dollars)	: FAS : value : (1,000 : dollars):	Value increase (decrease) (1,000 dollars)	: : Customs : AVE	Duty increase (decrease): (1,000 dollars)
1	: . 205,344	: 248,118 :	(2,226)	: • •057	: : (126-9)
2	: 253,302	252,990	(312)	-024	(7.5)
3	: : 185,722	184,055	(1,667)	: : •147	(245.0)
4	: 273,885	266,916	(6,969)	049	: : (341.5)
5	: 44,183	41,155	(3,028)	• •050	(151-4)
6	8,748,970	8,850,373	101,403	• •039	3,954.7
7	1,819,442	1,713,974	(105,468)	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	(8,121.0)
Total	: : 11,575,848 :	11,557,581	(18,267)	• •047 •	: : (858•5) :

Source: USITC estimates compiled from offical statistics of the U.S. Department of Commerce.

Table 15, -Custom and FAS values of imports of Final List items with value over \$25 million.

Description	: : TSUS : numbers :	Customs : value : (millions : of dollars)	value :	(millions	Percent increase (decrease)
	: : 692·10	5,369.7 :	5,473.8	104-1	1.9
and partie (anterpr	685-20	1,261.2:	1,260-7	(0.5)	: <u>1</u> / :
pneumatic, rubber or substitutes, except bicycle.			805.8	(52-1)	(6·1)
tarrante parte,	: : 692.25 : 692.27		682 -8	7.1	1.05
combustion, car-	: 660.40 :	258·2	259• 8	1.6	: : 0.6 :
Probuse, som not	: : 722.16 : :	177-1	174-1	(3.0)	: (1.7) : : :
Books, bound or un- bound, of bonafide foreign authorship.	: 270.25 : 270.45		147-4	0.4	: 0.3 :
Loud speakers.	: 684.70	: 131.8	132-4	0.6	: 1.7
, ,	680 · 35	109.3	105.7	: (3.6) : :	: (3.3) : :

^{1/} Less than 0.1 percent.

	: TSUS : numbers :		value (millions	•	
	: 682.20		99.8	: : (0.1) :	(0.1)
•	: 682.25		77.0	(0.1)	(0.1)
	: 682.30				•
boser.	: 682.40	-			•
	:	:			·
Candy, sugar, and	: 157-10 :	92.8:	92.3	(0.5)	(0.5)
all confectionery,	:	:	;	:	1
valued at six cents	: :	:	;	:	1
or more per pound.	:	:	:	:	:
Telephone apparatus	: 684.62 :	: 90.9 :	90 • 7	(0.2)	(0.2)
and parts, wholly	. 004.02	, ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	90• 7	(0.2)	(0.2)
	•	•	•		•
of metal.	:	•	•		•
V. BCC	:				'
Films, photographic	: 723-15	85.5 :	82.5	(3.0)	(3.5)
(except motion-	:	:		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	
picture film 1 inch	: :	:	:	:	1
or more), sen-	: :	:	;	:	
sitized.	:	:	:	:	
Rubber, synthetic.	: 446-15 :	: 78.0 :	76.3	: : (1•7) :	(2.2)
Rubber, Synthetic.	: 440·1) :	70.0 :		(1•/)	(2•2)
Sensitized paper to	: 723.30 :	78.6 :	75.5	(3.1)	(3.9)
be used in photo-	: 723.32 :	:	:	:	1
graphy.	:	:	;	:	:
Paged and mallan	: 680.35 :	68.4:	(5.2)	(2.1)	
Bearings, roller, metal, and parts	. 080.33	00.4	65-3):	(3.1)	(4-5)
thereof.	:	•	•		
chereor.	•	•	ì	•	
Boots, shoes, over-	· 700.51 :	61.6:	62.0	0.4	0.6
•	· 700.51 ·		• • •		
·	: 700.53				
	: 700.54	-	,		· !
tutes.	700-58		•	•	
-	:		•		
Lathes (except watch	: 674.35	58.0 :	57.8	(0.2)	(0.3)
and toolmaker's.	: 682.25			, , , ,	
	: :	:			1
Biscuits, cakes,	: 182-20 :	51.1:	50.0	(1.1)	(2.2)
wafers, etc., other	: :	:	:	:	
ame becarife or	: :	:	:	:	
nice crackers.	: :	:		:	

Description :		Customs : value : (millions :	value :	(millions	Percent increase (decrease)
Films, photographic, : x-ray, sensitized, : but not exposed or : developed.	:	49.0 : : :	47-4 : :	'	(3.3)
Plywood, birch, including door panels.	240-14 : 240-25 :		42-8	(0-1)	: (0.2) :
Tubing, steel, seam-	610-49	40.7	40-8	0-1	0.2
Motorcycles, parts	692-55	40-1	40.0	(0-1)	(02•)
of. Machines, calcu- lating, electrical, multiplying and dividing, parts of.	676.52	39.1 :	39-2	0.1	0.3 :
of, in chief value	720.28 720.29 720.30	:	36.3	-	: 0 : ·
Carpets, wool, of oriental weave, produced on a power-driven loom.	360.48		36-0	(0.1)	: : (0.3) : :
Machines, photocopy- ing, having an essential electrical element or device.	:	35.4	35.2	(0·2)	: (0.6) : :
Chains and parts, of iron or steel, for transmission of power.	652-15		34.4	(0·2)	: (0.6) : :
Machinery, for bleaching, printing, dyeing or finishing textiles.		:	32-6	(0-1)	: : (0.3) : :
Compressors, air and gas, not having as an essential electrical element.	240-25			- : :	: : 0 : :

Table 14. -- Import categories of more than \$25 million in value with increases in landed, duty-paid value greater than 1 percent under c.i f. valuation

	TSUSA	1976	: Landed
-	item	Import	: duty-paid
	11.6m	value	:value increase
	:	Million	
	: 1	dollars	: Percent
•		3	*
Other WGI shirts 1/2	382.7859	195	: 1.89
WGI sweaters	382.7875	173	2.16
Plywood	240.1740	145	2.68
M shirts-2/	380.8137	: 99	2.02
MB shirts	380.8435	: 93	: 2.17
•		8	
Handbags, nspf	706.6020	: 88	: 1.75
Hardwood plywood	240.2360	: 83	: 1.31
Luggage, nspf	706.6035	74	2.07
Dolls	737.2080	72	: 2.21
Jewelry, nes		: 70	2.10
1		:	:
MB shirts			: 1.72
WGI blouses	382.7801	: 69	: 1.66
Pootwear, male oxford	700.6005	: 69	: 1.33
WGI blouses			: 1.95
Earthen art sets	533.2800	: 60	: 1.07
1		:	:
Toys, nspf	737.9550	: 58	: 1.80
WG sweaters	382.5870	: 57	: 1.39
Sport gym equipment	735.2000	57	: 1.19
WCI coats	382.8110	: 54	: 1.98
Footwear, female oxford	700.6045	: 54	: 1.84
•	3	t	:
WGI trousers	382.7888	: 52	: 1.80
WG slacks	382.8128	: 51	: 1.09
Toy figures	737.9520	: 50	: 2.44
MB coats	380.8420	: 50	: 1.79
MS sweaters	380.8147	: 48	2.34
1	3	•	1
Trousers			: 1.37
M trousers	380.8455	: 45	: 1.10
Food preparation articles	772.1500	: 44	: 1.03
Womens blouses	382.8102	: 43	: 1.62
Chinavare	534.9400	: 42	: 1.78
1	3	8	1
Footwear, rubber	700.6060	: 40	: 1.74
Shirts	380.2789	: 39	
E/S vare. art	534.8700	39	
Ceramic tile	532.1440	: 38	
M shirts			
		.	

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ / Momens, girls, and infants $\frac{2}{3}$ / Mens and boys $\frac{3}{3}$ / Earthenware and stoneware

Description :	TSUS :	Customs value (millions of dollars)	PAS value (millions of dollars)	Dollar increase (decrease) (millions of dollars)	Percent increase (decrease)
Filements, other than: waste, synthetic, : not over 30 inches : noncellulosic. :	309 - 43	31.3	31-3	-	0 :
Plumes, chief value : of feathers. :	748-40	28-3	28-3	-	: : 0
Table, household, or : kitchen utensils of : iron or steel, : enameled or glazed.:	653.97	27.3	25.7	(1-6)	(5.9)
Airplanes, 6 passen-: gers or less, not : including seaplanes,: aiphibians, etc. :	694.40	25.5	25.5	-	: : 0 :
Drills, portable, : (hobby shop type), : having an essential : electrical element. :	683.20	25.5	25.5	-	0
Yarns, rayon, : singles, not more : than 20 turns/twist/: in. :	310.01 : 310.02 :		25.4	-	: : 0 :

Source: USITC estimates compiled from official statistics of the U-S- Department of Commerce for 1976-

Table 14.--Import categories of more than \$25 million in value with increases in landed, duty-paid value greater than 1 percent under c.i.f. valuation--Continued

	TSUSA	: 1976	: Landed
	item	: Import	: duty-paid
		: value	:value increase
.		# Million	•
:		: dollars	: Percent
; :::	382.0670	: : 38	: 1.34
M trousers		•	
Wood utensils:			
Plastic flowers			• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Umbrellas:			
Omore: International State of the Control of the Co	750.0500	;)r	1.3/
WGI sweaters	382.0429	: 31	2.85
WGI slacks			
Furniture of unspun vegetable fibers:		• ••	• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •
Mens shirts			
Mahogany plywood:		•	
nanogany prywood	240.1720	• 27	. 2.30
Reinforced concrete bars:	608,4100	: 29	1.17
Rubber or plastic furniture:			
Edible preparations, nes:			
MB slacks			
Footwear, male oxford:			: 1.31
Poolwear, male oxiord	700.0033		. 1.31
	727 6000	: 27	: 2.22
Toy figures			
Plywood			
Xmas tree lights:			
Cut flowers	192.2000	: 25	: 1.75
		:	:

APPENDIX E

BRUSSELS DEFINITION OF VALUE AND ITS INTERPRETATIVE NOTES

Customs Cooperation Council: Convention on the Valuation of Goods for Customs Purposes, signed at Brussels on December 15, 1950

Annex I. The Definition of Value

ARTICLE I

- (1) For the purposes of levying duties of customs, the value of any goods imported for home consumption shall be taken to be the normal price, that is to say, the price which they would fetch at the time when the duty becomes payable on a sale in the open market between buyer and seller independent of each other.
- (2) The normal price of any imported goods shall be determined on the following assumptions:
- (a) that the goods are treated as having been delivered to the buyer at the port or place of introduction into the country of importation; and
- (b) that the seller will bear all costs, charges and expenses incidental to the sale and to the delivery of the goods at that port or place; but
- (c) that the buyer will bear any duties or taxes applicable in the country of importation.

ARTICLE II

- (1) A sale in the open market between buyer and seller independent of each other pre-supposes:
- (a) that the price is the sole consideration; and
- (b) that the price made is not influenced by any commercial, financial or other relationship, whether by contract or other wise, between the seller or any person associated in business with him (other than the relationship created by the sale of the goods in question); and
- (c) that no part of the proceeds of the subsequent re-sale, use or disposal of the goods will accrue either directly or indirectly to the seller or any person associated in tusiness with him.

(2) Two persons shall be deemed to be associated in business with one another if, whether directly or indirectly, either of them has any interest in the business or property of the other or both have a common interest in any business or property or some third person has an interest in the business or property of both of them.

ARTICLE III

When the goods to be valued

- (a) are manufactured in accordance with any patented invention or are goods to which any registered design has been applied; or
- (b) are imported under a foreign trade mark or are imported for sale under a foreign trade mark;

the normal price shall be determined on the assumption that the value of the right to use the patent, design or trade mark in respect of the goods is covered by the price.

Annex II. Interpretative Notes to the Definition of Value

Addendum to Article I

Note 1.

"The time when the duty becomes payable" referred to in paragraph (1) of Article I may, in accordance with the legislation of each country, be either the time at which the entry is presented or registered, the time of payment of customs duty or the time of clearance.

Note 2.

(2)(mentioned following	icle I,	paragraph
		age and fre	ight;			
	insur	ance;				
	commis	ssion;				

----- brokerage;
----- costs, charges and expenses of drawing up outside the country
of importation documents incidental to the introduction of the
goods into the country of importation, including consular fees:

----- the net amount (after allowing for repayments made or to be made) of duties and taxes applicable outside the country of importation;

----- cost of containers excluding those which are treated as separate articles for the purpose of levying duties of customs; cost of packing (whether for labour, materials or otherwise);

----- loading charges.

Note 3.

Where the normal price would depend upon the quantity in the sale, it shall be determined on the assumption that the sale is a sale of the quantity to be valued.

Note 4.

Where the determination of the value or of the price paid or payable depends upon factors which are expressed in a currency other than that of the country of importation, the foreign currency shall be converted into the currency of the importing country at the official rate of exchange of that country.

Note 5.

The object of the definition of value is to make it possible in all cases to calculate the duties payable on the basis of the price at which imported goods are freely available to any buyer in the open market at the port or place of introduction into the country of importation. It is a concept for general use and is applicable whether or not the goods are in fact imported under a contract of sale, and whatever the terms of that contract.

But the application of the Definition implies an enquiry into current prices at the time of valuation. In practice, therefore, when imported goods are the subject of a bona fide sale, the price paid or payable on that sale can generally be considered as a valid indication of the normal price mentioned in the Definition. This being so, the price paid or payable can reasonably be used as a basis for valuation, and Customs authorities are recommended to accept this price as the value of the goods in question, subject:

- (a) to proper safeguards aimed at preventing evasion of duty by means of fictitious or colourable contracts or prices; and
- (b) to such adjustment of the contract price as may be considered necessary on account of circumstances differentiating the contract from the notional concept embodied in the Definition of Value.

Addendum to Article III

Note 1.

The provisions of Article III (b) may also be applied to goods imported for sale, after further manufacture, under a foreign trade mark.

Note 2.

Sub-paragraph (b) of Article III. or that sub-paragraph amended in accordance with Note 1 above, may be extended so that it shall not apply to a trade mark registered within the country of importation, unless it is a mark used for the purpose of indicating that goods in relation to which it is used are those of:

- (a) any person by whom the goods to be valued have been grown, produced, manufactured, selected, offered for sale or otherwise dealt with outside the country of importation; or
- (b) a person associated in business with any such person as is referred to in (a) above; or
- (c) a person to whom any such person as is referred to in (a) or (b) above has assigned the goodwill of the business in connection with which the trade mark is used.

General Addendum

It is recommended that the concept of value expressed by the Definition and these Interpretative Notes be employed for the valuing of all goods subject to customs declaration, including duty-free goods and goods liable to specific customs duties.

APPENDIX F

CANADIAN VALUATION SYSTEM

VALUATION FOR DUTY

Determination of value for duty.

- 35. (1) The value for duty of goods imported shall be determined in accordance with the provisions of sections 36 to 41A.
 - (2) In this section and sections 36 to 41A, with reference to any goods,
 - (a) "country of export" means the country from which the goods were shipped directly to Canada;
 - (b) "cost of production" means an amount that in accordance with good business principles and practices fairly reflects the manufacturing or production costs of the goods at the time of shipment to Canada; and
 - (c) "gross profit" means the fair market value of the goods when sold in the circumstances described in section 36, minus the cost of production thereof. Memo D43.

Valuation for duty.

- 36. (1) Subject to rection 38, the value for duty shall, notwithstanding any invoic. or affidavit to the contrary, be the fair market value, at the time when and place from which the goods were shipped directly to Canada, of like goods when sold
 - (a) to purchasers located at that place with whom the vendor deals at arm's length and who are at the same or substantially the same trade level as the importer, and
 - (b) in the same or substantially the same quantities for home consumption in the ordinary course of trade under competitive conditions.

Rules to be applied in ascertaining value.

- (2) The following rules apply in the application of subsection (1):
- (a) if there were no sales at the time when the goods were shipped to Canada, there shall be substituted therefor the most recent sales prior to the time of shipment that fairly reflect the market value of the goods at the time of shipment;
- (b) if there were no purchasers located at the place from which the goods were shipped to Canada, there shall be substituted therefor sales to the purchasers located nearest thereto;
- (c) where goods imported into Canada and goods sold for home consumption are like goods except only that the goods sold for home consumption have applied to them a trade mark, as defined in the Trade Marks Act, that is not applied to the goods imported into Canada, and goods like the goods imported are not sold for

home consumption, the goods imported and the goods sold for home consumption shall be deemed to be like goods for the purposes of this section, if, in the opinion of the Minister,

(i) the goods are being imported into Canada without that trade mark applied to them in order to avoid the operation of subsection (1), and

- (ii) it is probable that there will be applied to the goods, subsequent to their importation into Canada, that trade mark or any other mark so closely resembling that trade mark that it is likely to be taken therefor:
- (d) regard shall not be had to a sale for home consumption to a purchaser by a vendor who did not, at the same or substantially the same time, sell like goods in the ordinary course of trade to other persons in the country of export, not controlled by or in control of or otherwise related to the purchaser; and

(e) where goods were not sold in the same or substantially the same quantities for home consumption

(1) if the quantity shipped to Canada is larger than the largest quantity sold for home consumption, those quantities shall be deemed to be the same quantities,

- (ii) if the quantity shipped to Canada is smaller than the smallest quantity sold for home consumption, the value for duty shall be based on the amount for which, in the opinion of the Minister, having regard to that trade, such smaller quantities would have been sold if they had been sold for home consumption.
- (3) Where the value for duty cannot be determined under subsections (1) and (2) for the reason that
- (a) there were no purchasers in the country of export (in this subsection called "home purchasers") who were at the same or substantially the same trade level as the importer, or
- (b) although there were home purchasers who were at the same or substantially the same trade level as the importer, there were no sales to them in the circumstances described in subsections (1) and (2),

the home purchasers, if any, at the trade level nearest and subsequent to that of the importer to whom sales were made in the circumstances described in subsections (1) and (2) shall, for the purposes of those subsections, be deemed to have been at the same trade level as the importer.

When value for duty to be cost of production plus profit.

37. Subject to section 38, where like goods were not sold for home consumption, or were not sold for home consumption in the circumstances

described in section 36, but similar goods were so sold, the value for duty shall, notwithstanding any invoice or affidavit to the contrary, be the aggregate of

(a) the cost of production of the goods imported; and

(b) an amount that is the same percentage of the cost of production of the goods imported as the gross profit on the similar goods is of the cost of production of the similar goods.

37A. Where the Governor in Council is satisfied, on a report from the Minister, that the application of subparagraph (i) of paragraph (e) of subsection (2) of section 36 or subsection (3) of section 36 is inequitable in that it results in discrimination against the importation of goods of a class from any country, as compared with the importation of goods of that class from any other country, the Governor in Council may prescribe the manner in which the value for duty of goods of that class, as determined under section 36 or 37, shall be reduced; but the value for duty of any imported goods upon being reduced as provided in this section shall not be less than an amount equal to the cost of production of the goods plus such amount for gross profit as is deemed reasonable by the Governor in Council.

Special cases.

38. Where in any case or class of cases

(a) the value for duty cannot be determined under section 36 or 37 for the reason that like or similar goods are not sold in the country of export or are not sold in such country in the circumstances described in those sections,

(b) the goods imported

(i) are intended to be assembled, packaged or further manufactured in Canada or are intended to enter into the course of manufacture in Canada,

(ii) are used or obsolete goods,

(iii) are not prime quality goods as known in the trade, or are known in the trade as remnants, close-outs or discontinued lines or are surplus goods,

(iv) constitute a job lot, or

- (v) are intended to be used directly in the process of manufacture or production of goods and like goods are not sold in the country of export,
- (c) like goods are leased but not sold in the country of export, or

(d) the Minister is of opinion that by reason of unusual circumstances the application of sections 36 and 37 is impracticable, the value for duty shall be determined in such manner as the Minister prescribes.

Cost plus reasonable profit.

- 39. (1) Where the Minister is satisfied that material injury has been or may be caused to any industry in Canada, or any portion thereof, by reason of the importation of any new or unused goods or class of such goods at a value for duty less than the cost of production thereof, plus a reasonable amount for gross profit, he may so report to the Governor in Council, and, notwithstanding anything in this Act, the Governor in Council may order that the value for duty of those goods or that class of goods shall be increased to an amount equal to the cost of production thereof plus a reasonable amount for gross profit, having regard to the gross profit generally earned in that trade in the country of export, to be determined in the manner prescribed in section 37.
- (2) The Governor in Council may at any time revoke an order made under subsection (1) and, unless sooner revoked, an order made under subsection (1) expires at the end of one year after the making thereof.

Determination of cost of production, gross profit, etc.

40. Where sufficient information has not been furnished or is not available to enable the determination of cost of production, gross profit or fair market value under section 36, 37 or 39, the cost of production, gross profit or fair market value, as the case may be, shall be determined in such manner as the Minister prescribes.

Minimum value.

- 40A (1) Notwithstanding anything in this Act, where the value for duty as determined under sections 36 to 40 is less than the amount for which the goods were sold to the purchaser in Canada, exclusive of all charges thereon after their shipment from the country of export, the value for duty shall be the amount for which the goods were sold, less the amount, if any, by which the fair market value of the goods has decreased between the time of purchase and the time of exportation.
- (2) The amount of any internal tax imposed within the country of export or origin on any goods imported into Canada, from which such goods have been exempted or have been or will be relieved by means of a refund or drawback, shall be deducted from the value for duty of such goods as determined under sections 36 to 40.
- (3) The Governor in Council may order that such import duties imposed within the country of export or origin as he specifies shall be deducted, in whole or in part, from the value for duty of any goods as determined under sections 36 to 40.

Discounts.

(4) In determining the value for duty of any goods, no discount or deduction shall be allowed that is not shown, allowed and deducted on invoices covering sales for home consumption in the country of export, in the ordinary course of trade.

Any Department rulings to the contrary, which authorized the deduction of a portion of the domestic credit terms on customs invoices as a trade discount, and allowable when deriving the value for ordinary duty purposes, are cancelled effective 1st August 1960. Memo D 50-58.

Value of best article in package.

(5) In determining the value for duty of goods of the same material, or of a similar kind but a different quality, that are shipped in the same package, and were invoiced or sold at an average price, the value for duty of the best article contained in such package shall be deemed to be the average value of all the goods.

Goods on consignment.

- (6) For the purposes of sections 36 to 40, where goods are shipped to Canada on consignment,
 - (a) if the goods were sold in the course of transit before importation, the person to whom such goods are sold shall be deemed to be the importer, and
 - (b) in all other cases, the consignee shall be deemed to be the importer.

Value for duty where market price has declined.

- (7) Notwithstanding anything in this Act,
- (a) where the market price of any manufactured goods in the country of export has, as the result of the advance of the season or the marketing period, declined to levels that do not reflect in the opinion of the Minister their normal price, the value for duty shall be the amount determined and declared by the Minister to be the average price, weighted as to quantity, at which the like or similar goods were sold for consumption in the country of export during a reasonable period, having regard to that trade, immediately preceding the date of shipment of the goods to Canada.
- (b) where the market price in the country of export of any fresh fruit or vegetable of a class or kind produced in Canada has, as a result of the advance of the season or the marketing period declined to levels that do not reflect in the opinion

of the Minister their normal price, the value for duty of such fresh fruit or vegetable, when imported into such region or part of Canada and during such period as the Minister may specify, shall be the amount determined and declared by him to be the average value, weighted as to quantity, at which like fresh fruits or vegetables were imported during the three-year period immediately preceding the date of shipment to Canada, and

(c) where at any time it appears to the satisfaction of the Governor in Council on a report from the Minister that goods of any kind not entitled to entry under the British Preferential tariff or any lower tariff are being imported into Canada under such conditions as prejudicially or injuriously to affect the interests of Canadian producers or manufacturers, the Governor in Council may authorize the Minister to determine the value for duty of any class or kind of such goods, imported into such region or part of Canada and during such period as the Minister may specify, or may authorize the Minister to prescribe the manner in which such value for duty shall be determined, and the value so determined shall be deemed to be fair market value of such goods.

Additions.

- 40B. (1) If the value for duty as determined under sections 36 to 40A does not include,
 - (a) the amount of any subsidy or drawback of Customs duty that has been allowed by the Government of any other country, or
 - (b) the amount or money value of any so-called royalty, rent or charge for use of any machine or goods of any description, that the seller or proprietor does or would usually charge thereon when the same are sold or leased or rented for use in the country of export,

such amount shall be added thereto.

(2) There shall be added to the value for duty as determined under sections 36 to 40A the amount of consideration or money value of any special arrangement between the exporter and the importer, or between any persons interested therein, because of the exportation or intended exportation of such goods, or the right to territorial limits for the sale or use thereof."

Goods exported to Canada through another country,

41. Goods bona fide exported to Canada from any country but passing in transit through another shall, upon such terms and conditions as to shipment, documentation, warehousing, trans-shipment or the like as the Governor in Council may prescribe, be valued for duty as if they were imported direct from such first mentioned country.

- 41A. In the case of any imported goods that
- (a) were shipped indirectly to Canada from the country of origin through one or more other countries; and
- (b) would, but for this section, be valued for duty under sections 36 to 40B at less than the value for duty of such goods would be if the country of export were the country of origin; the goods shall, notwithstanding subsection (1) of section 36, upon such terms and conditions as to shipment, documentation, warehousing, transshipment or the like as the Governor in Council may prescribe, be valued for duty as if they were imported direct from the country of origin at the time they were first shipped from that country.

APPENDIX G

PROPOSED CONVERTED RATES OF DUTY SUBMITTED

TO STR IN THE COMMISSION'S JUNE 1978

REPORT ON CUSTOMS VALUATION (INV. No. 332-98)

PROPOSED CONVERTED RATES OF DUTY ON PRODUCTS CURRENTLY SUBJECT TO ASP BASES OF VALUATION

The proposed converted rates shown in the following schedule are the rates of duty which, had the American selling price (ASP) bases of valuation not been applicable at the time, would have provided an amount of duty on imports of products currently subject to the ASP bases of valuation 1/, substantially equivalent to the amount collected as a result of the application of the ASP bases of valuation. Every effort was made to follow sound standards of tariff nomenclature. In the case of benzenoid chemicals, footwear and gloves, proposed converted column 2 rates are not provided. 2/ Such rates could be determined by adjusting the current rates in column 2 so that they would bear the same relationship to the converted column 1 rates as the relationship which now exists between the rates in these two columns.

Many of the proposed converted rates are not whole numbers. The Commission recommends that, in order to simplify the computation of the amount of duty imposed with respect to an article, the President utilize the authority contained in section 109(b) of the Trade Act of 1974 to round the proposed converted rates to the next lower whole number or even half-number.

^{1/} These products are generally referred to as benzenoid chemicals and products, rubber-soled fabric-upper footwear, certain canned clams, and certain wool knit gloves.

^{2/} Column 2 rates in the TSUS are applicable to the products of certain Communist-dominated or controlled countries or areas. Imports of articles subject to ASP provisions from such countries or areas have not been significant in recent years.

PROPOSED CONVERTED RATES OF DUTY ON PRODUCTS CURRENTLY SUBJECT TO ASP BASES OF VALUATION

SCHEDULE 4. - CHEMICALS AND RELATED PRODUCTS Part 1. - Benzenoid Chemicals and Products

; ; ?	,-	Articles	Current Column 1 Nate of Duty	Proposed Louverted Rate of Duty A	Fripised inverted Pat it puts B
		.iubpart B Industrial Organic Chemicals			
	₹/	1. The provisions of items 403.02 to 403.60, inclusive, in this subpart suali apply not only to the products described therein when obtained, derived, or manufactured in subpart A 1/ of this part, but snall also apply to products of like Cherical composition having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified benzenoid structure artificially produced by synthesis, whether or not obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from products described in said subpart A. 2. For the purpose of classification of merchandise provided for under item 403.60, the following provisions shall govern: (a) The term "derivatives" refers to only those derivatives which may be obtained by one or more of the following processes: Malogenation, nitration, nitroation, or sulfonation, and is to be understood to include sulfough halides. (b) A compound with functional groups described in two or more subclasses under item 403.60 is to be classified in the latest applicable subclass. For example, 4-acctanido-2-amiso-phenol, which contains three functional groups, will be classified in 403.608 for in 403.608 for item 403			

	it en	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Pate of Duty A 3	Proposed Converted Rate of Tury 9 6/
T		Cyclic organic chemical products in any physical form having a benzenoid, quinoid, or modified			
Ì		bersencid structure, not provided for in subpart A 17 or C 57 of this part:			
Ì	. ° 3. ng	Anthraceme having a purity of 30% or more by weight.	l.sc per lb. +	1.4c per 1b. * 9.37 ad val.	11-3° ai val-
-	w13.7 w	Carbarole having a purity of 63% or more by weight	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	14.6% ad val-
	. 1.76	Saphthalene which after the removal of all water present has a solidifying point of	12-5% ad val-	12.5% ad val-	
		79°C. or above	n.7c per 1b. +	0-7c per 1b. + 4% ad val.	7% ad val.
1	- 13√1 6	Phthelic anhydride	1.2c per 1b. + 7% ad val.	1.2c per 1b. + 8.6% ad val.	16.57 ad vel-
ŀ	- 13.10	Styrene	1.40 per 1b. + 9% ad val.	1.6c per lb. + 9% ad val.	15.8" ad val-
1		All distillates of coal tar, blast-furnace tar, oil-gas tar, and water-gas tar, which on being			
Ì		subjected to distillation yield in the portion distilling below 190°C. a quantity of tar acids			
l		equal to or more than 5% by weight of the	İ		
		original distillate or which on being subjected to distillation yield in the portion distilling			
l		below 215°C. a quantity of tar acids equal to or more than 75% by weight of the original			
1	4^3.40	distillate: Phenol (carbolic acid) which on being sub-]		
1		jected to distillation yields in the por- tion distilling below 190°C. a quantity			
Ì		of tar acids equal to or more than 52 by weight of the original distillate	1.5c per 1b. +	1-5c per 1b. +	20.9% ad val-
1	403.42	Cresylic acid which on being subjected to	8.52 ad val-	12.5% ad val.	
١		distillation yields in the portion dis- tilling below 215°C. a quantity of ter			
١		acids equal to or more than 75% by weight of the original distillate	0.85c per 1b. +	0.85c per 1b. +	6.9% ad val. 6'
1	403-44	Metacresol, orthocrasol, paracresol, and	58 ad val.	5t ad val. 4/	
ı		metaparacresol, all the foregoing having a purity of 75% or more by weight	0.8c per 1b. +	0.8c per 1b. +	6.3% ad val.
	403-46	Other	5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. + 10% ad val.	5.3% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. + 8.6% ad val.	9.8% ad val-
1	403.48	2-Acetamido-3-chloroanthraquinose; o-Acetoacetanisidide;			
١		o-Acetoacetotoluidide;	1		
l		2',4'-Acetoacetomylidide; 3'-Aminoacetomhenome;		1	ĺ
١		l-Amino-5-benzamidoanthraquinome; o-Aminidime;			
I		p-Anisidine; 6-Chloro-m-cresol [OS-1];			
I		m-Diethylaminophemol;			l
ı		4-Chloro-2,5-dimethoxyaniline [NH ₂ =1]; 1,8-Dihydroxy-4,5-dimitromethraquinome;	-		1
١		2,4-Dimethoxyaniline; 3-Ethylemino-p-cresol;	}		
١		Ininodianthraquinome;	1		
١		5-Methoxy-m-phenylemediamine; H-Methylaniline;	1	ł	
Į		dl-Phemylephrime base;	l	1	
1		Phenyleulfone; 2-Pyridimecarboxaldehyde;	1	Į	į
١		Sodium tetraphenylboron; 2,4,6-Trimethylamiline (memidine); and		1	l
		Vinylcarbasole, somo:]
١	l	See footnotes at end of schedule.	1	1	1

SCHEDULE 4. - CHEMICALS AND RELATED PRODUCTS Part 1. - Benzenoid Chemicals and Products

Iten	2/ -	Articles	Current Column 1 Bate of Duty	Proposed Converted Eate of Duty A 2/	Proposed Converted Rate of Duly R
i		į			
		Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (con.): 2-Acetanido-3-chloroanthraquinone, etc. (con.):			
(con.)	A .	6-Chloro-a-cresol [Od-1]	1.5¢ per 1b. +	1.5c per 16. +	il. ad wal.
i	_ ;		10% ad val.	10.2% ad val.	1
•	• ,	1,8-Dihydroxy-4,5-dimitroenthraquinome	1-5c per 1b. + 10% ad val.	1.5c per 1b. +	lu.7. ad val.
1	c	N-Mathylaniline; and 2,4,6-Trimethylaniline		i	;
!		(mesidine)	1.5c per lb. + 10% 44 val.	1.5c per 1b. +	10.92 ad val.
i	ı	Amines having one or more oxygen functions,		,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	İ
İ		and their derivatives:		}	Ì
ł	1)'Aminoacetophenone; o-Anisidine;		1	İ
j	1	p-Anisidine;			
l		u-Diethylaminophenol; 3-Ethylamino-p-cresol;		1	
ĺ	i	ininodianthraquinone;		İ	i
1	- }	5-Hethoxy-m-phonylenediamine; and	1 44 11	1	
ł	- 1	di-Phonylophrime base	1.5c per 1b. + 10% ad val.	1.5c per 1b. + 16.2% ad val.	17.4% ad val-
]	E	4-Chlore-2,5-dimethoxyaniline [MM2-1];			
1	- 1	end 2,4-Dimethoxyaniline	1.5c per 1b. +] ,	10.00 .4
ł	- 1	•	10° ad val.	1.50 per 1b. + 10.4% ad val.	10.9% ad val-
ļ	7	2-Acetanide-3-chlorounthroquinone;			
l	- 1	o-Acetoecetanisidide; o-Acetoecetoluidide;		ł	
	ı	2',4'-Aceteacetemylidide; and			
1	- 1	l-Amino-5-benzamidoenthraquinone	1.5¢ per 1b. + 10% ad val.	1.5¢ per 16. +	14.72 ad val-
1	6	Phonyloulfone	1.50 per 1b. +	13-2% ad val- 1-5c per 1b. +	15.3% ad val.
ļ	. !	Sedium tetraphenylborom	102 ed val.	13-32 ad val-	
Į.	- 1		1.5c per 1b. +	1.50 per 1b. +	10% ad val.
1	1	2-Pyridinocarbenaldehyde; and			
1	- 1	Vinylcarbasole, uses	1.5c per 1b. + 10% ad val.	1.5c per 1b. + 10% ad val.	10% ad val-
403.50	- 1	p-ininobenseic acid;			
l	1	7-dmino-1,3-maghthalomodisulfonic acid and its salts:		i i	
[- 1	5-Aniso-2-maphthelessesulfonic acid and its malts;			
ł	- 1	8-dmino-1-naphthaleneoulfouic ocid and its salts; 8-dmino-2-naphthaleneoulfouic ocid and its salts;			
	- 1	6-Amino-1-maphthol-3-oulfonic acid and its malts:			
	- 1	8-tmino-1-maphthol-5-oulfonic acid and its salts;			
l	l	4-daine-2-stilbenesulfenic ecid and its salts; Biligrafia ecid:		l	
l	- [3,5-Discetamide-2,4,6-triledobenseic scid;			
	I	2,3-Dichlere-1,4-maphthoquinome; w-Dimethyleminophesol;		}	
	ı	Gentieic ecid;			
	Į	p-Bydromybensoic acid;			
	Į	l-Bydrony-2-carbasolocarbonylic acid; Bydronycianamic acid and its salts;			
	- [2-Hydroxy-3-dibensefurancarboxylic acid;			
	- 1	2-Maghthol-3,6-disulfonic acid and its salts; 7-Mitronophth[1,2]oxadispole-5-aulfonic acid			
	- 1	and its selts;			
	1	p-Hitrotoluses;			
	1	p-Phenetidine; m-Phenylenodiamine;			
	ı	e-Phonylesodiamine;			
	1	W-Phonyl-2-maphthylamine; 2,4,4',5'-Tetrachlorophonylamifene;			
	ł	Tolumno-2,4-4 tamino;			
		o-Tolumeeulfenemide; and			
	A	2,4-Iyli4iae:	1.4¢ per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	14.62 ad val. 6
i	ı	·	10% ad val.	102 ad val. 6/	
l		2-Maphthol-3,6-disulfonic cid and its			
	- 1	441 t 444 444 444 444 444 444 444 444 44			
		2,3-Dichiers-1,4-aashthoquiseas	1.4c per 1b. + 10% ad val. 1.4c per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. + 13.5% ad val.	14.8% ad val-

See feetmetee at end of schedule.

lten <u>?</u>	Articles	rrent Column 1	Pripose 1 Converted Rate of Duly A 3/	Proposed converted hate of Duty B <u>4</u> *
• 1.50	<pre>cv.lic organic chemical products, etc. (con.):</pre>			
Cuner	entiaic acid;			
į	p-nygroxybenzoic acid; and nygroxycinnamic acid and its salts	1.4c per 15. +	list per it. •	i .*L ad vale
I	motoayelmanac acts and test acts	iD: ad val-	12-12 44	
	Annes and their derivatives: "-Amino-1,3-naphthalenedisulfomic ac'd		1 :	
	and its salts;		1	
t	5-Amino-2 naphinalenesultonic acid and		}	
}	its salts; 6-Am:no-;-naphtnalenesulfonic acid		} :	
1	and its salts;			
1	<pre></pre>	<u>'</u>	1 :	
i	n-rnenv.enedianine;	ļ		i
1	- Prenylenediamine; - Phenyl-1-naphthylamine;	í		•
l	Toluene-1, a-diamine; and	i	i '	
l	2.4-Xylidine	ğ 1.4c per 1b. + d :0 l ad val.	1.40 per 1b. + 12.12 ad val.	lost ed vale
г	8-Amiso-2-naphthelenesulfonic acid	1	1	
	and ite salts	1.4¢ per 1b. + 10% ad val.	1.4c per ib. + 9.7% ad val.	.0-3% ad val-
٠	p-Aminobensoic acid;		1	;
1	5-Amino-1-naphthoi-3-sulfonic acid and its	į	1	
1	salts; 6-Amino-1-naphthol-5-sulfonic acid and its	9	1	
1	salts;	§	1	}
	n-Dimetaylaninophenol; and	lisc per lb. +	l.4c per ib. +	13.22 ad val.
į	•	102 ad val.	12.72 ad val-	
4	3 Biligrafin acid; and 3,5-Diacetamido-2,4,6-triiodobenzoic acid	lide per lhi d	1.4c per 1b. +	F.62 ad val.
i	J, J-Siecetamies-1, e, e-tistodobensoit ecie	102 ad val-	8.52 ad val.	
1	2,4,4',5'-Tetrachlorophenylaulfone	1-4c per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	10.9% ad val. <u>8</u>
,	i-Hydroxy-2-carbazolecarboxylic acid;	102 24 141.	10.4% ad val. 8/	
1	Hydroxy-3-dibensofurancarboxylic acid;	1		
1	and 7-hitronaphth[1,2]ozadiazole-5-sulfonic	ì	1	ł
1	acid and its salts		1.4c per 1b. +	17.7% ad val-
x	o-Tcluenesulfonamide	10% ad val-	16.6% ad val. 1.4c per 15. +	15-0% ad val- 9
1		102 ad val.	14.42 ad val. 9/	-
403.58	Other: Ethoxyquin (1,2-Dihydro-6-ethoxy-2,2,	ł .	1	ļ
		1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	18.5% ad val-
403.00	Other:	12.5% ad val.	17-12 ad val-	
ş	Hydrocarbons:	}	1	I
^	Alkylbenzenes and polyalkylben-	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	20.6% ad val.
1	}	12.5% ad val-	17.3% ad val.	ł
	Bi- and polyphenyls	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	16.82 ad val-
С	i-Methylstyrene		1.7c per 1b. +	23.8% ad val. 9
	<u>i</u>	12.5% ad val.	12-5% ad val. 6/	·
1 "	Vinyltolwene	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val. <u>6</u> /	17-72 ad val-
Ł	Other	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	25.9% ad val-
1	sialogenated hydrocarbons:	12-5% ad val-	21.4% ad val.	1
,	Benzyl chloride (1-Chlorotoluene)		1.7c per 1b. +	18-2% ad val-
С	Benzotrichloride (1,1,4,-Tri-	12.5% ad val-	12.5% ad val. 6/	1
	chlorotoluene)		1.7c per 1b. +	15.7% ad val-
1	Chlorobenzenes, mono-,di-, and	12.5% ad val.	15.2% ad val.	1
1	tri-:	1	1	j
1	Monochlorobenzene	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. + 28.6% ad val.	43.61 ad val.
1	Orthodichlorobenzene	1.7¢ per lb. +	1.7c per 1b. +	38-1% ad val-
1		12.5% ad val.	26.3% ad val.	I .
1	1	1	1	

Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Other (com.): Other (com.): Other (com.): Alloquested hydrocarbons (com.): Chicromensument, etc. (com.): Other							
Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com): Cother (com.): Cother	S Item	7/	Articles	Current Column 1			
Cyclic organic commical products, etc. (com.): Other (com.): Chicardenesses, stc. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses, st. (com.): Chicardenesses						Fate of Duty B 4/	
Other Con.	+		The state of the s				
Other Cont.	i		Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.):				
	•		Other (com.):	[1		
Chicobessames, set. (con.): Other 11.76 per lb. 1.76 per lb. 11.71 at val. Chicobessames, set. (con.): Other 11.57 at val. 11.54 at val. Chicobessames 11.57 at val. 11.54 at val. Chicobessames 11.57 at val. 11.52 per lb. 1.52 per lb. Chicobessames 11.57 at val. 1.52 per lb. 1.52 per lb. Chicobessames 11.57 at val. 1.52 per lb. 1.52 per lb. Chicobessames, chicobessames 11.53 at val. 1.52 per lb. Chicobessames, chicobessames 11.53 at val. 1.52 per lb. 1.52 per lb. Chicobessames, chicobessames 1.53 at val. 1.52 per lb. 1.53 at val. 1.54 per lb. Chicobessames, chicobessames 1.53 at val. 1.54 per lb. 1.55 per l					i i		
Chlorinared hiphery 1-7c per 1b. 1-7c per 1b. 1-7c per 1b.	(con.)			i			
Chlorinated hiphespl: 1.10 at val. 1.10 per 1h	Į	,		1.7c per 1h A	1.76 15.4	13.20 .4.0.1	
Chlorinated biphenyl	1		3.18.			11.2. 44 721.	
1.7c per lb. 1.7c	1	K	Chlorinated biphemyl			16.9% ad val.	
Nystocarbon derivatives: Nescolioromomicrobeaness	1	. 1					
### ### ##############################	1	٠,	Other			22.81 ad val.	
1.75 per 1.75 per	1		Mydrocarbon derivatives:				
1.7c per b. +	1	H	Mcmochloromononitrobenzemen	1.7c per 1b. +		25% ad val-	
Contend	1	_ 1		12-5% ad val-	18.42 ad val.		
		"					
	1		TOUTE MELB			18.71 ad val.	
1.75 and val. 10	1	0	Mitrated benzene, toluene, or	1			
	1	- 1				22-5% ad val. 10/	
Q p-Tolumensulfonyl chlorids. 17.5% ad val. 17.5% ad v	1	. !	Witness Institute and Assets				
Q p-Tolumensulfonyl chlorids 1.7c per lb + 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 13.6% ad val	1	ĺ	mittofoimementitomic acids			27-12 ad val-	
12.5% ad val. 13% ad val. 13% ad val. 14.2% ad val. 13% ad val. 14.2% ad val. 13% ad v	1	Q	p-Toluenesulfonyl chloride			13.8% ad val. 6/	
]	ļ	·				
	1	. !		į į			
1-Brows-2-mitrobensens: 1-2-Dichloro-4-mitrobensens: 1-2	Ĭ	- [I	Į į		
1,2-01thlores-westrobensons; co-Plustonittobensons; 1,3-maphthalrendisulfonic actd; p-Nitro-waylene; and co-(and p)-Tolumensulfonic actd, methyl enter	j.						
	1	ŀ		5			
1,3-maphthalemedianifonic	}	}			ì		
P-Stronylene; and o-(and p)-Toluenesulfonic acid, methyl enter	1	i			}		
1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 1.25% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1	1	•		1			
1.7c per lb. + 1.7c	1	;		(
12-52 ad val. 12-52 ad val	1	i					
Alcohole, phenole, ethere (including aposition and acetals), aldehyden, hetomes, alcohol promides, ether perceides, betome perceides, betome perceides, and their derivatives: T	1	t	acia, methyl eater	1.7¢ per 10. +		13.4% ad val.	
Alcohola, phenole, ethers (including epoxides and acctain), aldehydes, hetones, alcohol peroxides, and their derivatives: I Alkyl cresola	Į.	s	Other			19.1% ad val.	
### Tones, sloshel peroxides, tentroses, sloshel peroxides, tester peroxides, tetoes peroxides, and their derivatives: T	i	- 1		12.5% ad val-			
	1	t		1			
T Alkyl resols 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 12.5% a	1	į					
1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val.	ì	- 1		1	!		
12.5% ad val. 12.6% ad val. 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 13.7% ad val. 1.7c p	1	_ }		1	1		
	1	τ,	Alkyl cresols			14.3% ad val.	
Table Tabl	Ì	, t	Altyl phonols			27,5% ad wal.	
	ł	Ĭ				2.172 44 1611	
### ### ##############################	1	٠ }	Maphthols			26.4% ad val.	
12.5% ad val. 16.1% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad	1 .	. I	Witzsahen-1-			10 19 641	
T	1	- [#1f1 abaq8018			17-16 46 VAI-	
Other: Alcohole	1	1 B	Reserctsol			14.22 ad val. 6/	
T Alcohols	ł	ı					
Thenols and phenol- alcohols	1	, I	******	1 70 15 4	1 20 005 15 4	17 (9 441	
Phenols and phenol— alcohols	1	۱ ۱	WTC09018			IZ-DE ME VAL-	
alcohols	1	2	Phenols and phenol-				
Malogenated, sulfonated, nitrated, or nitrosated derivatives of phesols or phesol-alcohols: a-Chlorophesol; 2,3-Dihydroxybenzene-sulfonic acid, potas-sim telt; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7-naphthalesedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7-naphthalesedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7-naphthalesedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	1				14.7% ad wal.	
nitrated, or nitrosated derivatives of phenols or phenol-alcohols: a-Chlorophenol; 2,5-0-lhydroxybenzene- sulfonic ecid, potan- siam telt; 3,6-0-lhydroxy-2,7- naphthalenedisulfonic acid; 3,6-0-lhydroxy-2,7- naphthalenedisulfonic acid; 3,6-0-lhydroxy-2,7- naphthalenedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	I	Į			13-7% ad val-		
derivatives of phenols or phenol-alcohols: a-Chlorophenol; 2,3-Dihydroxybensene- sulfonic acid, potan- sism talt; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	1					
or phenol-alcohols: a-Chlorophenol; 2,5-Dibydroxybensene- sulfonic scid, potas- sium calt; 3,6-Dibydroxy-2,7- naphthalenedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dibydroxy-2,7- naphthalenedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	I	ı					
2,5-Dihydroxybensene- sulfonic acid, potas- sion calt; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	I	ł		l l			
sulfonic scié, potas- siam talt; 3,6-Dinydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic scid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	٠ij			j		
eium telt; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthelemedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthelemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	Į					
3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	1					
naphthalemedisulfonic ecid; 3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic ecid, sodium salt;	1	•					
3,6-Dihydroxy-2,7- naphthalemedisulfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	1	naphthalemediaulfonic				
naphthalemediculfonic acid, sodium salt;	1	1					
acid, sodium salt;	1	Į					
	1	1					
See footnotes at and of achedule.	1	1	,,				
See footnotes at end of achedule.	1	1					
A cantument or one or areassers.	ł	1	See footsetes at end of achadula.				
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Ī	•		7	,		

lt e	11	Articles	Current Column 1 Sate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3/	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty B 4
!		Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.):			
1423.60		Other (com-):			
		Other (com.): Alcohols, phemols, ethers, etc. (com.):			
		Other (com.):			
		Malogenated, sulfonated,		i i	
		etc. (com.): Dimitro-o-cresol;		1	
		4-Hydroxy-1-maphthalene-		5	
		sulfonic acid;	l i	1	
		4-Rydromy-1-maphthalene- sulfonic acid, sodium	1		
		salt (i-maphthol-4-	•		
		sulfonic scid);			
		l-Maphthol-1,6-disul- fonic acid; and	'		
		4-Witro-e-cresol	1.7c mar 10. +	1.7c per 1b. +	14.92 ad val-
		V 2 2	. 12.5% ad wal.	14.32 ad val-	
	AB	Other	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	20.92 ad val-
		Ethers, ether-alcohols,	12-5% ad val-	19.42 ad val.	
		ether-phenois, ether-sicohol-	i	, 1	
		phenois, peroxides of alco-		į	
		hole, ethers, and ketones,	•	!	
		and their halogenated, sulfonated, nitrated, or		i	
		mitrosated derivatives:	9	1	
	AC	5-Chloro-2-eitreemisole;		•	
		Dimethyl diphomylether; 4-Ethylgmaiacol;		•	
		2-(0-Rydroxyethoxy)		:	
		phonol; and	;	1	
		Hitrachlerohydroquiaone,	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13.62 ad wal-
		Startmyt ester	12.5% ad val.	12.5% od vol.	13.00 00 101.
	AD	Other	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 15. + 4	25-5% ad wel-
			12.5% ad val.	22E od val-	
	AE	Epoxides, epoxyalcohols, epoxy-	}		
		ethers, with a three- or		i	
		four-manhor ring, and their		}	
:		halogenated, culforated, mitrated, or mitrocated		1	
<u> </u>		derivatives	1.7¢ por 1b. +	1.70 per 1b. +	13-6% ad val. 1
			. 12.5% ad vel-	12-58 ad val. 114	_
i	AF	Acetale and hemiscotale and	,	i 1	
•		single and complem oxygen function acetals and hemi-		i i	
•		scatzle, and their hale-		i l	
		granted, sulfeneted, mit-		1	
		reted, or altresated deriv-	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13-42 ad wal-
,		at 1700	12.5% ad val.	131 a4 val-	1,742 65 4514
•	AC (Aldehydes, aldehyde-alcohols,]	
I	Ī	aldehyde-ethers, aldehyde-	(
1	•	phenols, and other single or couplex oxygen-function	{	1	
		aldehydos; cyclic polymers	[1	 	
1		of aldehydos and paraformal-			
1	!	dehyde	1.7¢ per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.9% ad vel.	13.22 od val.
[48	Mil geneted, sulfoneted, mi-			
Ī		trated, or nitreseted deri-	}	1	
1		vatives of aldshydes, aldo-	}	}	
1		hydo-alcohols, ald ahydo- ethers, aldahydo-phonols,	1		
1	ì	and other single or complex	}	1	
1	•	oxygen-function aldehydes,	?	i	
1	,	cyclic polymers of aldehydos and paraformaldehydo	1.7c max 1b. 4	1.7c per 1b. +	25.42 ad val.
I		You are soonly as	12-52 ad val-	24.3% ad val-	
1	,		[ì	
1	ġ		{	ł	
1			1 2		
i		See footnotes at end of schedule.	!		
				ı I	
1			1 1		

Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (com.): All			Part 1 benzenoid Chemic	cals and Products		
Cyclic organic chemical products, stc. (com.): Cyclic organic chemical products, stc. (com.): Other (com.): Other (com.): Other (com.): All	7		And the state of t	1	Proposed	I troat
Cyclic organic chumical products, sic. (con.): Chart (con.): Chart (con.): Chart (con.): All Secons, accom-alcohols, secons		7,	Articles	Current Column 1		
Cyclic organic chmittal products, stc. (com.): Other (com.		-' I				hate of life F .
Chart (can.) Coher (can.) Cohe						i
Chart (can.) Coher (can.) Cohe				I	I	
Coher (con.); Coher (con.)	1	1				1
A	1			1	j.	1
				ł		1
### ### ##############################	i (con.)			1		•
	:	41		j	•	
alianysis, quismona, quismonaphonalchoils, quismonaphonaphonalchoils, quismonaphonaphonalchoils, quismonaphonaphonaphonaphonaphonaphonaphonaph	1	~.		t		
phenolis, quisone-slathydes, and other single or complex conjugation in the tones and active single or complex cards, and color single or complex cards, and color single or complex cards, and color single or complex cards, and color single or color sin						
and other single of complex corpendication between and quinous, and their alogo- or attromated derivatives. Carborplic acids, ambgrides, halides, ecyl perceites, perceyacids, and their derivatives and their alogo- in attromated derivatives. All light acids, ambgrides, halides, ecyl perceites, perceyacids, and their derivatives and their derivatives acids. All light acids acids. All benopt acids. All benopt chiefte. Lic per lb. 1.7c per lb. 2.7c per lb. 2.7c per lb. 2.7c per lb. 2.7c per lb. 2.7c per lb. 3.7c per lb. 4.7c per l	į		quinome-alcohois, quinome-	_		
Carbonylic acids, any particles, and their shalogeness, and their shalogeness, and their shalogeness, and their shalogeness, and their shalogeness, and their shalogeness, and shalogeness, and their shalog	ł			•		
Action A						
Carbonyite acids, andydrides, halides, sell perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and perceives, and their deliver, perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, halides, perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and perceives, and their anhydrides, halides, perceives, and perc						
Carboxylic acide, anhydriden, haliden, sey) promiden, perceptions, perceptions, and their derivatives:				1.76 mer 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	.3.72 ad val-
Carbonylic acide, anhydrides, haliden, ser) peroxides, peroxycate, and their derivatives: 1.2.4-beamsenticarbonylic acid, 1.2.5 set val. 1.2.5 set val. 12.5 set val						
Al 1.74			Carbonylic acids, amhydrides, halides,			•
1.7.4-baueneritcarborylic acids 1.7.4 per lb. e 1.75 per lb. e 1.7			acyl peroxides, peroxyacids, and their			
1,2-disabydride (Trimilitic anhydride 1.7c per 1b. 1.7c pe						
### ### #### #########################		AJ				
12.51 ad val. 17.58 ad val						
### AE Benzoic acids			ennys(1de)			10.3" ad /al. 12/
All benoryl chloride		AE	leasale acid			18.5° ad val. 6/
Al.		_				•
All loophthalic acid		AL.	Bensoyl chloride			17.82 ad val-
### Terephthelic acid					13.72 ad val.	
### Terephthalic acid, dimethyl		AN	Isophthalic acid			19.3° ad val. 6/
### Terephthelic acide, dimenthyl enter. 12-5% and val. 24% and val.						
Terephthalic actd, dimentyl seter		A.	Terephthalic acid			242 ad val-
1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 22.12 ad vai.		**	Toronbiballa acid disabul	17-3% MG WAL-	242 84 V81-	
Other: Honocarboxylic acide and their anhydrides, halides, peroxides, and peracids, and their halogenated, uniflowated, sixrated, or mitro- nated derivatives: bennoic anhydride; tart-buxyl peroxyben- nated derivatives: honocarboxylic acid;		_		1.70 mor 1h. A	1.7c ser lb. e	25.12 ad val.
Noncarbonylic acids and their anhydrides, halides, peroxides, and peracide, and their halogenated, sultonated, on itronated derivatives:						
their anhydrides, halides, peroxides, and peracide, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and peracides, and their anhydrides, halides, peracides, and peracides, an			Other:	***************************************		
AP Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap Ap						
their haloganated, sulfon- ated, sitrated, or airro- anted derivatives: bemotic shydride; tart-datyl perceybem- aoate; 4-Chloro-3-mitro- bemsoic acid; m-Chloroperoxybemotic acid; p-Sitro-m-toluic acid; p-Sitro-m-toluic acid; and						
ated, sitrated, or sitro- nated derivatives: bensoic anhydride; tert-Butyl perceyben- noate; 4-Chioro-J-mitro- bensoic acid; m-Chioro-J-mitro- bensoic acid; m-Mitro-J-mitro-Loluic acid; m-Mitro-Loluic a						
Manoic anhydride; tert-Bstyl peroxyben- moste; 4-Chlore-3-mitre- bensoic acid; m-Chleroperoxybenacic acid; hetrizoic acid; p-Hitre-m-toluic acid; 3-Hitre-m-toluic acid; and Phesylacetic acid (a- toluic acid). 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 17.5% per lb. 4 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% ad val. 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% ad val. 17.5% per lb. 6 17.5% ad val.				•		
Ap leasoic anhydride; test-Butyl peroxyben- monte; 4-Chloro-J-mitro- bensoic acid; m-Chloroperoxybensoic acid; least-Butyl peroxybensoic acid; p-Hitro-m-toluic acid; and phenylacatic acid (1- toluic acid)						
tert-Butyl peroxybean- mosts; 4-Chloro-]-mitro- beanoic acid; m-Chloroperoxybeanoic acid; p-Hitro-m-toluic acid;]-Hitro-m-toluic acid;]-Hitro-m-toluic acid;]-Hitro-m-toluic acid; and Phenylacatic acid (n- toluic acid)	• ·	42				
AcChloro-)-mitro-		_				
beasoic acid;						
### ##################################						i
actd; Hetrizoic acid; p-Hitro-m-toluic acid; 1-Hitro-m-toluic acid; and Phenylacatic acid (3- toluic acid) 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 13.5% ad val.						•
Notrizoic acid; p=Hitrobensoyl chloride; 2-Hitro-m-toluic acid; 3-Hitro-m-toluic acid; and		•			•	•
### ### ##############################						!
2-Hitro-m-toluic acid; 3-Hitro-m-toluic acid; and Phenylacetic acid (u- toluic acid)					•	
AQ						
Phenylacatic acid (3-toluic acid) 1.7c per lb + 1.7c per lb + 12.5% ad val 12.6% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.5% ad val 12.6% ad val						
1.7c per lb. + 12.9% ad val.			and			!
12.5% ad val. 12.6% ad val. 12.6% ad val. 17.7% ad val. 17.7% ad val. 17.9% ad val. 18.7% ad val. 18.7% ad val. 17.9% ad val				•		1
AQ Other			toluic acid)			12.9% ad val.
Polycarboxylic acids and their analydrides, halides, peroxides, and peracides, and their halogenated, outform atod, mitrated, or mitronated, irrated, or mitronated derivatives: Maphthalic acid; 4-Selfo-1,8-maphthalic anhydride; anhydride; and 1-7c per lb. + 1-7c per lb. + 13.5% ad val. 1-7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 1-7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 1-7c per lb. + 22-7% ad val. 22-7% ad val. 22-7% ad val. 22-7% ad val. 23.1% ad val. 22-7% ad val. 23.1% ad val.	į.	ac 1	A.L			14 77
Polycarbomylic acide and their anhydrides, halides, percenties, and perceides, and their halogenated, sulfonated, or nitronated, or nitronated delivatives: Raphthalic acid; 6-Selfo-1,8-maphthalic anhydride; anhydride; and Terephthaledahyde 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 11.5% ad val. AS Other	<i>i</i> .	- N	VCDET			10.72 24 721.
their anhydrides, halides, persuides, and persuides, and persuides, and persuides, and their halogeanted, sulformated, or nitro-ated, nitrated, or nitro-ated derivatives: Raphthalic ashydride; Phthalic acid;	1		Polycarboxylic acids and			;
peroxides, and perocides, and their hologenated, suifonated, sitrated, or sitremated, or sitremated derivatives: Maghthalic acid; Fithalic :				I	{	
their halogenated, selfon- ated, sitrated, or sitro- sated derivatives: Raphthalic ashydride;	•	•			į	ł
AR	1	:			· †	1
AE	:				į.	1
Phthelic acid; 6-5elfe-1,8-asphthelic ashydride; and Terephtheleldshyde 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 13.5% ad val. 11.6% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 12.5		🛊			i	Ϋ́ •
A-Selfo-1,8-maphthelic anhydridg: and Teraphtheledahyde 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 13.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 11.6% ad val. 11.6% ad val. 1.7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 22.7% ad val.	i .	A :				<u> </u>
anhydride; and Terephthalaldehyde 1-7c per lb. + 1-7c per lb. + 11-6% ad val. 12-5% ad val. 11-6% ad val. 12-5% ad val. 22-7% ad val. 12-5% ad val. 22-7% ad val.		ŧ		ì	ł ·	Ī
Teraphthalaldshyde 1-7c per lb. + 13-5% ad val. 12-5% ad val. 11-6% ad val. 11-6% ad val. 17c per lb. + 23-1% ad val. 12-5% ad val. 22-7% ad val.				1	}	!
AS Other	1	,		1.7c mer 1h. 4	1.7c per 1h. 4	13.52 ad wal.
AS Other 1.7c per lb. + 1.7c per lb. + 23.1% ad val. 12.5% ad val. 22.7% ad val.	1	- 6				
	•	AS .	Other	1.7¢ per 1b. +		23-12 ad val-
See footmotes at end of schedule.	l					
See footsotes at end of achedule.	Į.				1	
See footsotes at end of schedule.	•	ı			J	
See footsotes at end of schedule.	1				}	
See footmotes at end of schedule.					1	
	ł		See footsotes at end of schedule.		1	
'	ı					
	,	•	l l		•	•

			Part 1 Benzenoid Checki	Cars and Products		
- 15					Proposed	Proposed
1.	Item	21	Articles	Current Column 1	Converted	Converted
-	 			Rate of Duty	Race of Duty A 3/	Rate of Puty 8 4"
i			i _			
i			Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (con.): Other (con.):			
:	403.50		Other (con.):			
	(com.)		Carbonville acids, anhydrides, etc.			
÷			(con.):	!		
			Other (con.): Carboxylic acids with alco	!		
			hol, phenol, aldehyde, or			
			ketone function and other	•	,	
			single or complex oxygen- function carboxylic scide and	}	•	
			their anhydrides, halides,		•	
			peroxides, and peracids, and		:	
			their halogenated, sulfo- mated, mitrated, or nitro-		:	
			sate4 derivatives:	;	•	
		AT	p-Animic acid;	:		
			Menzilic ocid;	1	į	1
			Benzilic acid, methyl ester;		!	i
			2,3-Cresotic acid;	Ī		
			n-Hydroxybensoic acid;	j		
			2-Hydroxybenzoic acid, calcium malt;	, i		i
			1-Hydroxy-2-naphthoic	: 1	ſ	
			acid;	, [į	Į
•			2-Nydroxy-1-maphthoic acid;	!	1	
			I-Rydroxy-2-naphthoic		i	1
			acid, phenyl eater;	i l		1
•			3-Phenoxybensoic acid; -Resorcylic acid:	i l		1
			y-Resorcylic acid; and	i I		1
			5-Sulfosalicylic acid		1.7c per 1b. +	13-12 ad val.
		AĽ	Other	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	12-5% ad val- 1-7c per 1b- +	19-3% ad val.
			•	12.5% ad val.	17.9% ad val.	17.74 86 741.
		AV	Esters of inorganic scids (except	i j		
;			hydrocyanic acid, hydrogen halides, and hydrogen sulfide) and their	į		
•			derivatives	1.7c per 1b. +	1-7c per 1b. +	152 ad val.
;			I delege and about descriptions	12-5% ad val-	13-4% ad val-	j
!		42	Amines and their derivatives: Amiline	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	20% ad val. 12/
i				12-5% ad val-	13-6% ad val. 12/	··· = ··· <u>··</u> /
1		AX	4,4'-Diamino-2,2'-stilbenedi-		- 1	i
•	i		sulfoutc acid	12.5% ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + 25% ad val-	26.4% ad val.
	:	AY	Y, M-Dimethylaniline		1.7c per 1b. +	15-58 ad val. 6/
1		AZ		12-5% ad val-	12-5% ad val. 6/	· I
1	•	_	4,4'-Methylenedianiline	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	14.61 ad val.
1	•	BA	Witrodiphenylamine	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13-82 ad val. 12/
l	:			12.5% ad val.	12-5% ad val. 12/	
	•	33	Other: 5-Amino-2-(p-aminoanilino)			ļ
1	l		benzenesulfonic acid;		1	Ī
1	•		o-Animobenzenesulfonic acid	; I	į	ŀ
1	!		(orthani.ic acid); p-Aminobenzoylamino-	, 1	į	j
	İ	. !	naphthalenearlfonic acid;	1	i i	1
	l	1	3-Amino-2,7-naphthalene-	ł	1	1
1	1		disulfonic acid; 4-Anino-1-naphthalens-	1	1	Í
	l	•	sulfonic acid, sodium salt;	! !	i	ł
1	Ì	!	5-Azino-1-maphthaleme-			Į
		:	sulfonic acid (Laurent's acid);	1	1	j
	1	<u> </u>	7-Amino-1,3,6-maphthaleme-		I	i
	Ī	:	tribulfonic acid;	İ	j	
		ı			ì	1
		l	See footmotes at end of schedule.		l l	i
	l	- 1]		
.	l	1		l i	i	į.
[3]	Ī	I				
	l	ı		1	1	
•	J	ı	•	' 1	1	I

lt en	<u>"</u>	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3'	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty B <u>6</u> /
		Cyclic organic chemical products, etc. (cms.):			
		Other (com-):			
03.60		Other (com.):		1	
con.)		Amines and their derivatives		i i	
		(con.):		1	
		Other (com.): Aminophesol, substituted;		1	
		8-Aniline-1-naphthelene-		ł ;	
		sulfonic acid (Phenyl Peri		, !	
		acid);		<u> </u>	
		6-Chlorometanilic acid;		i i	
		2-Chloro-5-attroamiline;		i 1	
		4-Chloro-3-aitrosailine;		•	
		4-Chloro-e-toluidine [MH2=1] and hydrochloride;		1	
		and nyerochiorise; 5-Chlore-e-teluidine (MR2-1)			
		(chlero-e-toluidine [CHgel]);	l		
		;-Chlero-e-toluidine [FEg-1];		,	
		4.4'-Diamino-3-biphenyl-	1	!	
		sulfonic scid (3-benzidino-	ł		
		sulfonic acid);	}	•	
		2,3-Dichleroan:lime;	İ	,	
		7,6-Dichloroeniline;	[
		3,5-Dichlerosailine; 2,6-Dichlero-m-teluidine;		!	
		W.M-Diethylmtanilic acid;	1	i !	1
		2,4-Difluroaniline;	į.	1	
		3.3'-Dimethylbensidime (o-	i	l ·	
		tolidime);	i	1	
		3,3'-Dimethylbensidine hydro-	ł	i	
		chloride;	ł	1	
		N.H-dimethyl-p-toluidime;	1	1	
		p-Ethylaniline; 3-(H-Ethylaniline)	1	1	
		propionic ocid, methyl enter;	i	1	
		#-Ethyl-H-bensyl-m-toluidime;	ļ.	1	
		H-Ethyl-H,H'-dimethyl-H'-	l .	1	,
		phonylethylesodiamine;	Į.	į.	
		H-Sthyl-1-naphthylamine;	1	1	:
		p-Fluorossiline: 4.4'-Machylosobis[2-chloro-	1	1	
		aniline);		1	Ì
		1.8-Haphthalemediamine;	į.		ì
		n-Hitrogniline;	I	i	Ì
		i-(p-Hitrophony1)-2-amino-	i e	i	\$
		1,3-propose diel;	1	1	l
		b-Hitro-m-phenylemedismine;	1	3	Ī
		Tolueno-2,5-diamine;	l .	1	1
		Teluidine carbonate; 2,4,5-Trichleresailine;			i
		2,3-Rylidiae; and	1	1	
		3,4-Kylidime	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	13.32 od val-
		1	12.5% ad vel-	12.3% od vel-	
	æ	Other	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad vel-	1.7c per 1b. + 18.9% ad val-	20.8% ad val-
		Aminos having one or more oxygen functions, and their derivatives:		1	1
		p-Acotani nobenzal dehyde;	1	1	1
	_	2'-Aminoacetophenome;		i	I
		m-Aminobensoic acid, technical;	ı	1	1
		aminobiophonol enter;	1	1	i
		2-inino-4-chlorophonol;	1	1	I
		2-Maise-6-chlorophesel hydro-	1	1	Ī
		chloride; 2-anino-p-crosol;	1	1	I
		4-Agine-e-cresol;		1	1
		6-Amino-2,4-dichlero-3-	1		
		methylphonol;	1	I	
		4-Aniso-5-hydrony-1,3-			
		nephthalonodioulfonic acid	I	I	1
l .		(Chicago scid); 4-Amino-5-hydroxy-1,3-	Ì	1	1
l		naphthalencoulfonic sci4,	1		1
1		potacoium salt;	I	1	į.
		4-Amino-5-hydroxy-2,7-maphthalome-	· [
ł		disulfonic acid, potassium salt		1	1
		(W acid, monopotassium salt);		1	1
l		See footnetee at end of schedule.	I	1	•

Item <u>2</u> /	Articles	Current Column 1	Proposed Converted	Proposed Converted
		Pa e of Putv	Pare of Nutv A 3/	Pate of Dut- * 4/
	fucite organic chemical products, etc. (con.): hther (con.):			
403.40	Other (com.):			
(CA.)	Animes having one or more extrem			
i	functions, and their derivatives		l i	
	(con.):			
l	4-Anino-5-hydroxy-1,1-		l i	
	naphthalenediaulfonic acid,			
	monosodium salt (# acid_mono- sodium salt);		1	
ł	4-Anino-5-hydroxy-1,3-		[
	nanhthalenedisulfonic acid,		1	
ľ	sodium salt;			
	6-Anino-3-hydroxy-1-			
i	naphthaleneaulfonic acid;			
ł	"-(3-Amino+4-hvdrnzvphenyl- sulfonyl)ethanol;			
l	"-Anino-4-nitrophenol;			
	1-Amino-S-mitrophenol;			
	2-Amino-4-mitrophenol, sodium			
l	salt;			
ł	n-Arinophenol;		1	
	?-(4'-Aminophenoxy)ethylaulfate;			
	i,4-Ris[i-anthraquinonylamino] anthraquinone;		l	
l	4,4'-Bis [dimethylamino]benzhydrol			
	(Michier's hvdrol);	1		
!	5-Chloro-2(2',4'-dichlorophenoxy)			
l	aniline;	1	I I	
	3,5-Diaminohenzoic aci4;	1		
	PL=3-(3,4-dihydroxyphenyl)alanine; l,4-Dinesi4inoanthraquinose;	1		
	1,4-Dimethoxyphenethylanina	i		
	(Nomewerstrylamine);	ł	1	
	4-Dimethylaminobensaldehyde;			
	?=#ydroxy=5-mitrometamilic acid;	1	, ,	
l	Hethoxyethyl-4-aninohensoate;	i .	1	
	4-Methoxymetamilic acid; 6'-Methoxymetamilic acid;	i	1	
	4-Methoxymetanilic acid;	ì	i	
	5-Methoxy-m-phenylanedianine	1	1	
	sulfate;	i i	1	
	6-(Methylamino)-1-maphthol-1-	1	ı	
1	sulfonic aci4;	i i		
	7-(Methylanino)-1-maphthol-3-	1	ì	
	sulfonic acid; 2-Nethyl-p-anisidine (M41-1);	1	i	
1	Mitra acid amide (i-amino-9,10-		1	
	41hydro-M-(3-methoxypropv1)-4-]		
	nitro-9,10-diozo-2-anthramide);	1	ı	
	and	1, ,,		12 00 241
S	L-Menvisianine	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. + 12.2% ad val.	12.0% ad val-
	Other	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	16.2% ad val.
		12.5% ad val-	15.4% ad val-	
	Amides and their derivatives:	1		
117	A-Acetamido-2-animophemol	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13.7% ad val. 6/
ac l	Benzanilide	17.57 ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	12.3% ad val. <u>6/</u> 1.7c per 1b. +	137 ad val. 12/
-	Pensen1119f	12.57 ad val-	12.5% ad val. 12/	., an ver. <u>17</u> /
	Others		<u></u> /	
98	p-Acetanisidide;	1	l	
	Acetoacethenzylamide;	!	.]	
	Acetoscet-5-chloro-9-]	1	
	toluidide;] [1	
	p-Acetoacetophemetidide; N-Acetyl-7,6-xylidine] !	Į.	
	(N-acetyl-2,6-dimethylamiline)	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	
	p-Aminohenzoic acii	}	}	
l l	isooctylanide;	j	1	
j	2-Amino-4-chlorohensamide;	1		
1	4-Aminohippuric acid;	1 1	i	
1	4'-Anino-M-methyl- acetanilide;	1 1		
1	#cer##filde;	į į		
		1 !		
	See footnotes at end of schedule.			

Property Price 4					
tres 🚉	Articles	surrent tolumn 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of outv A <u>J</u>	nr re d nverted a v t tv by	
	visto organic chemi al producto, et a ficino				
1	(ther (con-))	i			
	Other Con-12	1	1		
	Aulden and their derivatives		1		
l	ycomit. Http://own.town.to	Į.			
	p-Amiropnenyl wrethane;	1	1		
	, -Benzamiu e-i hunt		1		
	ant.cacusning,	Į.			
	i=Beckramido=5-chi (t.)= anttraquinone	1	į		
•	a' roa et a eta illide.	į			
	3=(h, 's=0) s hvd god ye t hv a om i 0+1	ŧ	į.		
	benzani.ide,	i	<u> </u>		
	2,4-Ejrigdekay=N=12-hvdz (av= ethyl)benzaside;		•		
	2,5-Dimethiava etanilide;				
<u>.</u>	enticacide,		i		
	Net "-Hydr Hv-,-naphthyl"		. P		
	I avetamide, and Phonavetin, technical	1.7c per 1b. +	1. 'c per 15. • 1	. 1 2	
	Phonasetin, te on to accommon	12.4% ad val-	12.42 ad rais		
	ither	1.7¢ per 15. *	1. c per lt	19.12 ad val-	
		12-5% ad vai-	IR-12 ed val-		
1	other nitt gen-fun tich o mpounds	!			
	except those in writh the only nitro- gen function is a nitro (-%) of a	!	:		
•	nitrosc - wer gr up, or an associate	!	•		
•	sait of an organic acids and their		,		
	derivatives:		1.7c per 10. + 1	15.21 at val. 4.	
a.J	benzenitriie	1.7¢ per lo. 4 12.5% ad val-	12.5% ad val. 12 .		
	Diaz aminobenzene (l. s-diphenyl-	11.74 00 10.	_		
BK	triatene	1.7c per 16. *	1.7c pet ab. *	162 ad vai- <u>b</u> '	
:	·	15% ad val-	12.5% ad val. 6	1,2 ad val. 6	
B1.	folueneditaccyanates (sumixed)	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val-	1.'C per 15. * 12.5% ad val. <u>6</u>	1/1 20 1011 2	
•	Other:				
: 87.	Quaternary assumium salts and		. !		
	hydroxides	1.7¢ per 16. *	1. c per 16. + 11.2% ad val-	11.28 ad val-	
•		12.5% ad val-	11.72 aa var.		
. Dat			· ·		
i	bensoic sulfimide and its		1		
i	salts) and imine-function			21% ad val-	
	compounds	1.7¢ per 15. •	1.'c per 15. * 19.12 ad val-		
:	. Bitfil-function - mpounds:	12.5% ad val-	,,,,,,		
	2-Amino-e-chlorobenso-	,	ì		
1	nitrile (5-chloro-2-	1	!		
;	· cvanoaniline);	•	}		
4	!-Anino-5-chlorobensu-		l		
1	nitrile; e-Amiso-2-chloro-				
1	bensomitrile;		!		
i	2-Amino-5-mitrobenzo-	•]		
ł	nitrile;	1	<u> </u>	•	
Í	((vanoethyl)(hydroxy- ethyl)-m-toluidine;	Ţ	<u> </u>		
•	:-Cyano-4-nitroaniline;	<u>!</u>	ζ i		
1			S :		
1	Dichlorobensonitrile;		.		
	Phtheionitrile; and	:			
	Phthalomitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyano-				
	Phtheionitrile; and	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. *	13.6% ad val-	
	Phthalonitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl eater	12.52 ad val-	12.7% ad val-		
31	Phthalomitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyaso- bensoic acid, methyl aster	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *	13.4% ad val. 22.7% ad val.	
31	Phtheiomitrile; and Tatrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl aster	12.52 ad val-	12.7% ad val-		
51	Phtheiomitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyaso- bensoic acid, methyl ester	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
	Phthalomitrile; and Tatrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl eater	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
31	Phthalomitrile; and Tatrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl ester	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
	Phthelomitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl ester	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
	Phtheiomitrile; and Tatrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl aster Other Diaso-, aso-, and asomy- compounds: p-Aminomic acid; a-Aminomic acid; a-Aminomic acid mono-	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
	Phthelomitrile; and Tetrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl ester	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		
	Phtheiomitrile; and Tatrachloro-3-cyano- bensoic acid, methyl aster Other Diaso-, aso-, and asomy- compounds: p-Aminomic acid; a-Aminomic acid; a-Aminomic acid mono-	12.5% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. +	12.7% ad val- 1.7¢ per 1b. *		

iree .	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3/	Proposed Converted Rate of Inity 8 &
	- lis organic hemical products, etc. (con.):			
1 . 1	ther constr	1	i I	
	ther (con.): "ther nitrogen function compounds, etc.		1	
1 1	(con.):		1	
1	Other (con.)	1	i i	
1 1	Diazo-, azo-, ani azuzy-com- pounda (con-):		1	
1 1	6-Amino-3,6'-azodi		1 1	
1 1	(benzenesulionic acid)		1	
1	(C.I. actd yellow 9);		i i	
1 1	6-Bromo-5-methyl-4-Aza-		i i	
	benzimidasole	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	12-8% ad val-
., .	9ther	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 16. *	12.6% ad val-	
"	Other	12.5% ad val.	1.7c per ib. + 19.9% ad val-	21-32 ad val-
1 1	Organic derivatives of	k	'''' - '''	
1	hydrazine or hydroxylamine	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1-7c per 1b. +	is.el ad val.
1 1	Compounds with other mitro-	12.5% ad val-	1)-6% ad val-	
j 1	gen functions:	1	į l	
1 17	Bitolylene disocyanate	1	i l	
į ((Tod1); o~isocyanic scid, o∻	ľ	1 i	
1 1	tolyl ester; and	Į.	1	
1	Kylene diisocyanate	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13% ad val-
	A.	12-5% ad val-	12-52 ad val-	
* * [Ot her	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1-7c per 1b. + 16-2% ad val.	21% ad val-
1	Organo-inorganic compounds (1.e.,	1	1	
	compounds having an atom other than	1	1	
;	carbon, hydrogen, oxygen, nitrogen, chlorine or other halogen attached	1	1	
;	directly to a carbon aton), and	1	1	
1 1	their derivatives:	i	1	
av I	Benzemethiol (Thiophemol)	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	132 ad val-
1 1	Other:	12-5% ad val.	12% ad val.	
~	Organo-sulfur compounds	1.7c per 15. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	13E ad val.
1 12		12-58 od val-	12-62 ad val-	
1 "1	Organo-mercury compounds	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	12.6% ad val.
37	Other	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	22.12 ad val.
) !		12-5% ad val-	21-4% ad val.	
•	Heterocyclic compounds and their derivatives (including lactones and	i		
! !	lactams but excluding epoxides with	i	1	
1 [three membered rings, anhydrides and		l i	
1 1	imides of polybasic acids, and cyclic esters of polyhydric alcohols with	i	l	
1	polybasic acids):	1		
DZ	1,2-Dihydro-2,2,4-trimethyl-	1	1	
1 !	quinoline	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13-6% ad val. 6/
CA	2,2'-Dithiobishemsothissole	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	12.5% od val. 6/ 1.7¢ per 1b. +	21-2% ad val-
1 I		12-5% ad val-	17.9% ad val.	21-2% ed val-
	2-Mercaptobenrothiazole, sodium	I		
1	salt (2-Benzothiazolethio), sodium salt)	1.7c per 1b. +	1	
1 1		12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	42-12 ad val.
[[Other:			
СС	4-Aminoantipyrine;	I	1	
1 1	2-Anino-6-methoxybenzo- thiazole;	l		
1 1	2-Amino-6-methylbenso-	ł	1	
1	thiasole;		1	
1	Aminomethylphenyl pyrazole (phenylmethylaminopyrazole);	1	1	
1 1	5-Anino-3-phenyl-1,2,4-	1		
1 1	thiadiasole (3-phenyl-5-	1	1	
1 1	amino-1,2,6-thisdissole);	i	1	
1	3-Amino-1-(2,4,6-trichloro- phenyl)-5-pyrazolone;		1	
į į	A A. A. Le montand .	I	1	
] [
1	See footmotes at end of schedule.	I .		
		_	_	

ν hoposed converted hates of duty on products currently subject to asp bases of valuation

) Ites 7/	Articios	Arrent Losann i Rate of Puty	Proposed Converted Rate of Ty A 1	Fig. 34.5 Lefter Faller (1. 1. 1. 1.)
	will rgants sheatial products, etc. (on.). ***Other source **Other source **Other source **Other source **prioron-benzylpyridine; **a-Chioron-benzylpyridine; **a-Chioron-benzylpyridine; **a-Chioron-benzylpyridine- **inther source **a-Chioron-benzylpyridine- **inther source **a-Chioron-benzylpyridine- **inther source **inther sour		Converted	
G	inidual new-y-ose (Thiog- anthose); 1-(2,4,6-Trichlorophenyi)-3- eminopyrasolone; 2-(Trifiluoromethyl)pheno- thiasine; 2,3,5-Triphenyltetrasolium chloride; DL-Tryptophen; and Lanthen-9-ose	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1-7c per 1b. + 12-6% ad val. 1-7c per 1b. + 16-2% ad val.	12-7% ad val. 17-7% ad val.
	••		sarte ad ASI.	

1100	27	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3/	Proposed Converted Late of Duty B
473.40 (com.)	1	yclir organic chemical products, etc. (com.): Other (com.): Other (com.): Sulfonamides, sultones, sultams, and other organic compounds: Copper phthalocyanime ([Phthalocyanato(2-)] copper)	i./c per lb. + 12-5% ad vel-	1.7c per 1b. +	22% ad val. <u>10</u> /
1	i	Others	12.38 M Val.	20-38 ad val. 10/	
ł		Sulfonantées:	1	1	
	CF.	4-Anino-6-chloro-m- bensenedisulfonenide; :-Anino-H-ethylbensene- sulfonenilide;			
i		5-Amino-, -tri-	1	1	
1	1	fluorotoluene-2,4-		1	
1		disulfonamide; Benzenesulfonamide;	ł	1	
1	i	Benzenesulfonyl	l	1	
ł		hydrazide;		1	
į		2-Chloro-4-anino-5- hydroxybenseneoulfon-		1 i	
l		anide;	i	1	
1		2,5-Dimethoxy-		1 1	
1		sulfantlide; and Metantlamide	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 16. +	13.25 ad val-
l			12.5% ad val.	12.8% ad val-	
	œ	Other	1.7c per 1h. +	1.7c per 1b. +	19.52 od val-
	- CH	Other	12.5% od val. 1.7c par 1b. +	18% ad val- 1.7c per 1b. +	15.4" ad val.
l			12-5% ad val-	14.52 ad val-	
		All other products, by whatever name known, not pro- vided for in subpart A 1/ or C 5/ of this part, including acyclic organic chemical products, which are obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from any of the cyclic products having a benzenoid, quimoid, or modified benzenoid struc- ture provided for in the foregoing provisions of this subpart or in subpart A 1/ of this nart:			
403.70	1	Caprolactam monomer	1.5c per 1b. +	1.5c per 1b. +	12-5% ad val-
403.75		Mesamethylene odipamide	1.5c per 16. +	1.5c per 1b. +	14.2% ad val-
403.78		Methylcyclohezanone	10% ad val. 1.5c per 1b. +	11.5% ad val.	10-3% ad val-
		Other:	10% ad val-	10% ad val-	
403.79		Meleic enhydride	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% od vel-	1.7c per 1b. + 15.6% ad val-	23-1E ad val-
1 *****		Acetone	1.7c per 16. +	1.7c per 1b. +	35.62 ad val-
ŀ		Adipic acid	12.5% ad val.	18.7% ad val- 1.7c per 1b. +	94 49 441
	١,١	Asipic acia	1.7c per 1b. + 12.52 ed val.	19.81 ad val.	26.4% ad val-
l	c	Cyclohexane	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c par 1b. +	27.5% ad wal-
		Cyclohezanone	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	17-12 ad val. 6
•		Pumaric acid	12.5% od vel.	12.5% ad val. 6/	36.2% ad val.
	,		12.5% ad val.	27-2% ad val-	
1		Mexamethylenediamine	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val-	1.7c per 1b. + 20.8% ad val. 12/	23-12 ad val. 1
1	c	Ot her	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad vel.	1.7c per 1b. + 16.8% ad val-	17.8% ad val-
l			12.72		
403.90		Mixtures in whole or in part of any of the products provided for in this subpart	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ed vel-	1-7c per lb. + 13.6% ad val., but not less than the high- not rate ap- plicable to any component material.	but not less than the high- set rate ap- plicable ap- sy component material.
		See footmotes at end of schedule.			

	lten	Articles	Current Column 1 Pate of Puty	Proposed Converted Rate of buty A	Prop sed Converted Rate of Outv 4
		hibpart C Finished Organic Chemical Products			
		i. The pro isio x of t 1opert providing for			
		products obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from reducts described in subparts A [/ or P 1]/ of this part shall also apply to mondects of like chemical composition having a benenoid, quinoid, or notified benzenoid structure artificially produced by synthesis, mether or not obtained, derived, or namufactured in whole or in part from products described in the said subpart A or B.			;
		2. The term "peaticides" in item 405.15 means products, such as insecticides, rodesticides, fungicides, fundicides, fundicides, and need distinfactants, chiefly used to destroy undesired animal or plant life.	•		
,		3. The term "plastics materials" in item 605.24; embraces products formed by the condensation, polymerization of orwanic chemicals and to which plasticizers, fillers, colors, or satemders may have been added. The term includes, but is not limited to, phemolic and other tar-acid resiam, styrome resiam, slayed and polymeter resiams	: · ·		
: !		based on phthalic ashydride, countrone-indene resine, urethane, epony, toluere sulfone-ide, maleic, fumnic, sailine, and polyanide resine, and other synthetic resine. The plastic materials may be in solid, semi-solid, or liquid condition, such as flakes, powders, pellets, gramules, selutions, emisions, and other basic forms and further processed.	· : ·	:	
		6. The term "plasticisers" in item 405.40 means substances which may be incorporated into a unterial (usually a plastic, resin meterial, or an electomer) to increase ite softmess, fluxibility, workability, or distemsibility.		ļ	
		5. The term "druge" in this subpart means those substances having therepoutic or andicinal properties and chiefly used as medicines or as ingredients in medicines.	!	<u>;</u> !	
		6. For the purposes of the provisions of this subpart relating to "Colors, dyes, stains, and related products' (except products provided for in face 406.40)			
		(a) the specific duries shall be based on stendards of strength which shall be established by the Secretary of the Tressury, and upon all importations of such articles which exceed such standards of strength the specific duty shall be computed on the weight which the article would have if it were diluted to the standard strength, but in secase shall any such articles of whatever strength be subject to a less specific duty than that pro-			
		wided in the respective items of this subpart: (b) it shall be unlewful to import or bring into the United States any such preduct unless the invoice shall beer a plain, compiness, and truly descriptive exatement of the identity and percent- age, exclusive of disents, of such product;			
		See footmotes at end of schedule.			

for it avails he unlawful to import we bring into the finite States and which product, if the Immediate or their involve hears was vaterment, design, or device righting the product or the interest of the sound of the forest of the interest of the product or the interest of the sound of the forest of the forest of the forest of the interest of the for						
for it shall be unlawful to implie to bring into the "mited States and such product, if the immediate originates in the involve bears and states ment, design, or device regarding the product or the ingredients of whatsance contained therein which is faise, translations or misleading in and patticular, and (d) in the enforcement of the folioging provisions of this headmore the Secretary of the Treasury shall adopt a standard of attempt for each doe or other product which shall conform as nearly as practicable to the commercial strength in ordinary use in the United States prior to Tuly 1, 1914. If a doe or other product has been introduced into commercial use since said date then the standard of strength for such doe or other product shall conform as nearly as practical at the the standard of strength for such doe or other product shall strength in ordinary use. If a doe not ther product shall strength in ordinary use in ordinary use in ordinary use. If a doe not not product was or is ordinarily used in more than one commercial strength, then the lowest commercial strength is ordinarily used in more than one commercial strength, then the lowest commercial strength is such doe or other product.	: t	·	Articles		Converted	Converted
chandise provided for under item 405.25, the foliou- ing provisions shall apply: (a) The term "thereusplattic revins" means those materials in unfinished forms which in their final vate as finished articles are capable of being repeatedly softened by increase of temperature and hardened by decrease of temperature. (b) The term "thermosetting resins" (or thermosets) means those materials in unfinished forms which in their final state as finished articles are substantialy in- fusible. Thermosetting resins are often liquids at some stage in their manufacture or processing and are cured by heat, catalysis, or other chemical means. After being fully cured, thermosetts cannot be resoftened by heat.		y y	into the "mited States and such product, if the immediate container or the involve hears and statement, design, or device regarding the product or the ingredients or substances contained therein which is false, traudulent, or misleading in any particular, and (d) in the enforcement of the foreging provisions of this bradence the Secretary of the Treasury shall adopt a standard of strength for each fee or other product which shall conform as nearly as practicable to the conventual strength in ordinary use in the United States prior to fully. 1915. If a dwo or other product has been introduced into commercial use since said date them the standard of strength for such dwe or other product shall conform as nearly use practically to the commercial strength in ordinary use. If a dwo or other product was or is ordinarly used in more than one commercial strength, then the lowest commercial strength small be adopted as the standard of strength for such dwe or other product. 7. For the purpose of the classification of merchandise provided for under item offs. St. the following provisions shall apply: (a) The term "thermosplattic resins" means those materials in unfinished forms which in their final state as finished articles are capable of being repeatedly softened by increase of temperature. (b) The term "thermosetting resins" (or thermosets) means those materials in unfinished forms which in their final state as finished articles are obstantially infusible. Thermosetting resins are often liquids at some stage in their manufacture or processing and are cured by heat, catalysis, or other chemical mans. After bein		Fate of Tits A	Matter Court R
		<u>:</u> /	vided for shail be classified as if they consisted en- tirely of that monomer which is present in the largest amount by weight on a resin content basis (i.e., ex- cluding the weight of plasticizers, liquid diluents, fillers, or other additives). Any polymer consisting of two or more monomers which are present in equal amounts shall be classified as if it consisted entirely of that monomer whose polymer is listed first under the thermo- plastic or thermosetting resins, as appropriate. 8. Any product described in two or more of the sub- classes under ites 407.85 is to be classified in the			
vided for shall be classified as if they consisted entirely of that monomer which is present in the largest amount by weight on a resin content basis (i.e., excluding the weight of plasticizers, iquid diluents, fillers, or other additives). Any polymer consisting of two or more monomers which are present in equal amounts shall be classified as if it consisted entirely of that monomer whose polymer is listed first under the thermoplastic or thermometting resins, as appropriate. 2/ 8. Any product described in two or more of the subclasses under item 407-85 is to be classified in the		y	9. For the purposes of this subpart (a) The term "surfare-active agents", means synthetic organic chemical compounds, or nixtures there- of, which function as surface tension modifiers and are chiefly used for any one or combination of the fillowing purposes: As detergents, wetting agents, emulsifiers, dispersants, or fossing agents. (b) The term "synthetic detergents" embraces formu- lated materials which are used chiefly for household, laundry, and industrial cleaning purposes, and which consist of one or more surface-active agents as the active ingredients in combination with colors, brighteners, perfumes, inert diluents, builders, and extenders such as inorganic saits, polyphosphices,			
vided for shail be classified as if they consisted entirely of that monomer which is present in the largest mount by weight on a reain content basis (i.e., excluding the weight of plasticizers, idquid diluents, fillers, or other additives). Any polymer consisting of two or more monomers which are present in equal amounts shall be classified as if it consisted entirely of that monomer whose polymer is listed first under the thermoplastic or thermoesting resins, as appropriate. 2/ 8. Any product described in two or more of the subclasses under item 407.85 is to be classified in the first applicable subclass. 2/ 9. For the purposes of this subpart— (a) The term "aurfare—active agents", means synthetic organic chemical compounds, or nistures there- of, which function as surface tension modifiers and are chiefly used for any one or combination of the fillowing purposes: An detergents, wetting agents, emulcifiers, dispersants, or fosming agents. (b) The term "synthetic detergents" embraces formulated materials which are used chiefly for household, laundry, and industrial cleaning purposes, and which consist of one or more surface—active agents as the active ingredients in combination with colors, brighteners, perfumes, insert diluents, builders, and extenders such as inorganic calter, polyphosphites,			See footnotes at end of schedule.			4015

SCHEDULE 4. - CHEMICALS AND RELATED PRODUCTS Part 1. - Benzenoid Chemicals and Products

(, c	It en	7/	Articles	Gurrent Column Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Luty A 3	Prop and Converted Rate f Duts = a
			Products obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole			a
		•	or in part from any product provided for in sub-			
	l	,	part A 1/ or B 13/ of this part: Emplosives:	ł		
		1	Trinitrotoluene:]	!	
^ I	475+74		Valued not over 15 cents	1.7c per 16. +	1.7c per 1b. +	2.1° ad val.
	•			ill od val-	117 ad val: 16/	
	. 405.05 - 405.06		Valued over 15 cents per pound	free 1.7c per 15. •	free lo's per lb. •	1200 1211 AC 1111
١	1 405.10		ink powders	lit ad val- 1.7c per 1b. +	11% ad val.	11.2% ad .41.
			•	lit ad val-	ilt ad val-	,, ad . a
A	405-15		Pesticides: Not artificially mised:	l	ì	
		A	Pungicides	1-7c per 16- +	1.7c per 16. +	litet ad .e
			Merbicides (including plant growth	12-5% ad val.	12.5% ad val.	
			regulators):	\$	i	
		•	<pre>5-(4-Chlorobenzyl)=N,N-diethyl- thiolcarbanate (Benthiocarb);</pre>	1	Į.	
			2-(4-Chloro-2-methylphenomy) propionic acid and its salts;	•		
			p-Chlorophenomyacetic acid;	1	•	
			<pre>3-(p-Chlorophenyl)=1,1-d1- methylures (Monuron);</pre>	<u>;</u>	ı	
			1,5-Dibromo-4-hydromybenzonitrile	Į		
			(Bromonynil); 2(2,4-Dichlorophenony)propionic	1	•	
			acid;	1	1	
			2,2-Dimethyl-1,3-benzodiomol-6- yl methylcarbanate (Sendiocarb);	i		
		:	l, i-Dimethyl-3-(:, :, :-tri- fluoro-m-tolyi)urea(Fluometuron);	i	1	
1	l	:	o-Diquat, dibromide(l,l'-ethylene-	1	1	
			<pre># 2,2'-dipyridyidumdibromide); Ethoxycarbonylaminophenyl-nitro-</pre>	1	1	
		- 1	phonylcarbanete (Desmediphan);	•	}	
i		•	2-Ethoxy-2,3-dihydro-3,3-di- methyl-5-benzofuranylmethana-	j	i	
;		1	sulfonate;		1	
•		ì	3-isopropyl-iH-bensothiadiazia- (4)-3H-one-2,2-dioxide (Bentason);	•	1	
	•	•	Isopropyl-H-(3-chlorophenyl)	} #	1	
•	1	- }	carbanate (CIPC); Mnthyl-4-aminobenzeneaulfonyl-	•	1	
i	,	1	carbonato (Asulom); and o-Paraquat dichlorida	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. •	13.3% ad vel-
į		- 1		12-5% ed val-	12.6% ad val.	
ì	i I	']	Other	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + ; 15.1% ad val.	16.9% ad val-
,	!)	. 1	Insecticides:	3		
		•	1,2-Bensisothiasolin-3-one; H'-(Chloro-o-toly1)-H,H-dimethy1-	1	!	
•	!	1	formanidine; 1,1-Dichloro-2,2-bis(p-ethyl-	1		
•			phenyl) ethane;	Į]	
•		4	0,0-Diethyl-5-(6-chlorobensozago- lone-3-yl-(methyl)phosphorodi-	[
- 5		4	thioste (Phosslone); and	i	i	
j	!	1	0,0-Dimsthyl-o-(4-sitro-m- tolyl) phosphorothicate		}	
		1	(Fenitrothion)	1.7c per 1b. +	1-7c per 1b. +	13-7% ad wal-
Ĩ			Other	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	12-8% ad val- 1-7c per 1b- +	22% ad val.
į	ı	, 1		12.5% ad val.	20-12 ad val.	•
,		1	Gt her	12.52 ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	13-4% ad val-
•		G	Ot her	1.7¢ per 1b. + 12.5% ad vel.	1.7c per 1b. +	15-2% ad wal.
4;	405-20	I	Photographic chemicals	3c per 1b. +	9-7% ad val- 3c per lb. +	21-3% ad wal-
1	405.25		Plantics materials:	19% ad val.	21% ad val-	í
		۸	Concentrated dispersions of pigments in		l	
		1	plactics materials	1-4c per 1b. + 9% ad val.	1.4c per 1b. 4 9% ad val.	10-2% ad val-
		٠,	Paints and engage paints	1-40 per 1b. +	1.40 per 1b. +	10-2% ad val-
				9% ad val.	9% ad val-	

G-19

BEST COPY AVAILABLE

Ite	• 1/	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 2/	Proposed Converted Bate of Duty B <u>4</u>
†		Products obtained, derived, or manufactured etc. (con.):			
495.	25	Plastics materials (con.):	i		l
(cun	7 6.	Yarmishes and lacquers	1.60 per 16. +	1.40 per 1b. +	13% ad val-
i		Other:	9% ad val-	11.42 ad val.	
1		Thermoplastic resins:	1	ł	
1	Ð	Petroleum hydrocarbon and	l	1	
ì		counsrons-indens resiss	1.4c per lb. +	1.4¢ per 1b. + 9.8% ad val. 15/	10.82 ad val. 15/
1	F	Polyanide resine, mylen type	1.40 per 16. 4	1.40 per 1b. +	11.6% ad val.
	_		92 od val-	10.3% ad val-	
1	•	Polycarbonate resins	1.40 per 1b. +	1.4¢ per lb. + 9% od val.	9.6% ad val-
1	c.	Polyester resins, saturated	1-40 per 1b. +	1.40 per 1b. +	9.7% ad val-
1	*	Acrylonitrile-butadione-styrens	9% ad wal-	9% and wal-	
1	•	(ABS) restas	1.40 per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	12.68 ad val.
i			9% ad val-	9.42 ad val.	
1	ı	Methyl methocrylate-butadione-		1,	l
1		styrene (HBS) resine	1.6c per 1b. + 9% ad vel.	1.4c per 1b. + 13.5% ad val.	16.82 ad val-
1	3	Styrene-acrylomitrile (\$AB)		į	
1		resins	1.4¢ per 1b. +	1.4¢ per 1b. +	11.5% ad val-
1		Polystyrene resine and styrene	9% ad val.	9.1% ad val.	
1	-	copolymers, terpolymers (except		i	
ł		ABS, MBS, and SAM regime)	1.40 per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	11.7% ad val-
1	ı.	Other	9% ad val- 1.4c per lb. +	9.2% od vel- 1.40 per 1b. +	10.8% ad val.
1	•		9% od val.	9.83 ad val-	10.00
1		Thermosetting resine:		1	
1	H	Alkyd resins	1.40 per 1b. + 9% ad val.	1.4c per 1b. + 9% ad val. 6/	102 ad val. 16/
1		Allyl resine (e.g., diallyl	76 66 761.	7. 22 var. 17.	
1		phthalate)	1.4c per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	10% ad val. 16/
1	0	Loosy resine	9% ad val- 1.46 per 1b. +	9% od val. 16/ 1.6c per 1b. +	10.7% ad val-
1	·	apozy testae	92 od val.	1.42 ad val.	10.72 00 401.
	•	Phenolic resins	1.4c per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	12-2% ad val-
1	a	Polyester resins, unsaturated	92 od val- 1.60 per 1b. +	9.6% ad val- 1.4c per 1b. +	12.92 ad val. 6/
1	•	***************************************	92 od vol-	9% ad val. 6/	
1	R	Polyurethane resine	1.4c per 1b. +	1.40 per 1b. +	11.5% ad val-
ł	•	Other	9% od val. 1.4¢ per 1b. +	10.3% ad val.	10% ad val-
1	_		9% ad val-	9% ad val.	
405-1	30	Products chiefly used as assistants in pre-		1	
1	A	paring or finishing textiles: Surface-active agents and synthetic		1	
1	-	detergente	1.40 per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	12.6% ad val.
1	_		OR od val-	10.7% ad val.	10.00 .4
1		Other	1.4c per lb. + 8% ad val.	1.4¢ per 1b. + 9.9% od val.	10.8% ad val-
405.1	35	Products (except those in item 405-30) chiefly			
		used for any one or combination of the following		1	
1		purposes: As detergents, wetting agents, emul- sifiers, dispersants, or foaming agents	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	17-21 ad val-
1			12.5% ad val-	13.92 ad val.	
405.4	40	Products chiefly used as plasticisers	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	22.4% ad val-
405.4	45	Sodium bensoate	12.5% ad val. 1.5¢ per 1b. +	17.7% ad val- 1.5c per 1b. +	19-72 ad val-
1			10-5% ad val-	15-3% ad val-	
405-5	55	Synthetic tenning materials	3.5¢ per 1b. +	3.5c per 1b. +	35.7% ad val-
			22.5% ad val.	24.4% ad val.	
1		Colors, dyes, stains, and related products:			
406.0	03	Sulfur black, "Colour Index Nos. 53185, 53190,	1 44 15 -	1	16.8% ad val-
1		and 53195"	1.5¢ per lb. +	1.5c per 1b. +	10.07 90 AUT.
406.0	04	Vat blue i (synthetic indigo), "Colour Index			
ŀ		No. 73000"	1.5c per 1b. + 10% e4 val.	1.5c per 1b. +	16.5% ad val-
			.ve es vei.	17.74 04 751.	
1					
1		See footnotes at end of schedule.			

Itee	i,	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3/	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty B <u>4</u> /
4.4.10		Colors, dves, stains, and related products (con-): Acid black 31, 50, 96, 129; arid blue 45, 54, 106, 127, 129, 143; acid brown 44, 48, 48, 58, 188, 189; arid green 40; arid red 110, 145, 174, 211; acid violet 19, 31, 41, 48; acid velico 2, 75, 116; basic blue 3; basic orange 22; basic red 13, 14; basic velico 1, 11, 13; direct black 62, 91; direct blue 86, 92, 106, 108, 109, 160, 172; direct brown 103, 115, 116, direct green 5, 29, 31; direct corange 37; direct red 83; direct yellow 28; disperse blue 10; disperse blue 10; disperse blue 10; disperse blue 10; disperse blue 2; mordant black 8; mordant green 42;			
		mordant green 47; mordant red 17, 27; reactive black 1; reactive blue 1, 2, 6; reactive red 1, 2, 3, 5, 6; reactive yallow 1; solvent orange 11; solvent orange 11; solvent orange 11; solvent orange 25; vat blue 2; vat brown 3; vat orange 2, 7; vat red 46; vat violet 9, 13; vat solubilized orange 3; and vat yellow 4, 20; all the foregoing obtained, durived, or manufactured in whole or in part from any product provided for in subpart A 1/ or B 13/ of this part:			
	<u> </u>	Acid blue 45, 106; Acid yellow 116; Basic blue 3; Basic red 14; Basic yellow 1, 11, 13; Direct blue 106; Direct blue 106; Direct pellow 28; Direct red 83; Disperse red 4; Fluorescent brightening agent 32; Solvent orange 11; Solvent yellow 25; Yat brown 3; Vet orange 2, 7; and Vat violet 9, 13	l ól ad val-	22.6% ad val-	22.6% ad val-
404-50	B A <u>17</u> /	Other Colors, dyes, and steims (except tomers), whether soluble or not in water, obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from any product provided for in subpart A 1/ or B 13/ of this part: Acid dyes: Acid black 61, 63, 64, 76, 83, 117,	iol ad val-	17-72 ad val-	17-75 ad val-
		127, 131, 132, 139, 164, 170, 183, 194; Acid blue 47, 60, 61, 66, 72, 81, 90, 98, 102, 112, 123, 126, 127:1, 130, 133, 140, 142, 147, 151, 172, 182, 183, 193, 204, 205, 208, 209, 221, 223, 229, 239, 242, 247, 250, 254, 260, 261, 264, 268, 288, 290, 296, 317; See footnotes at end of schedule.			

Basic dyss: Sanic black 7; Basic plack 7; Basic red 23, 28, 29, 43, 44, 46, 58, 100; Basic violet 2, 22, 25, 37, 38; and Basic violet 2, 22, 25, 39, 40, 45, 54, 54, 55, 54, 56, 53, 70	Item 7/	7/ Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 1/	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty B <u>4</u> /
Color Colo	.06 - 50	Colors, dyes, and status (except teners), whether soluble or not in mater, etc. (com.): Acid dyes (com.): Acid brown 10, 11, 30, 33, 45, 50, 68, 83, 100, 101, 193, 104, 105, 106, 126, 127, 147, 158, 160, 161, 162, 163, 165, 180, 191, 195, 224, 226, 227, 235, 237, 239, 248, 269, 291, 298, 304, 311, 314, 315, 321, 322, 326, 325, 330, 331, 355, 358, 359, 360, 361, 162; Acid green 26, 28, 41, 43, 60, 68, 70, 71, 73, 80, 82, 84, 92, 93, 94, 108; Acid orange 3, 19, 28, 33, 43, 47, 61, 86, 69, 94, 102, 126, 142; Acid red 37, 42, 48, 57, 58, 92, 111, 118, 127, 131, 138, 163, 155, 161, 199, 216, 226, 227, 228, 269, 252, 257, 259, 260, 261, 265, 274, 281, 282, 282, 301, 303, 310, 315, 331, 332, 334, 357, 361, 362, 392; Acid violet 9, 34, 36, 47, 66, 75, 80, 90, 103, 109, 111, 121; Acid yellow 7, 64, 96, 111, 127, 116, 155, 167, 109, 111, 127, 116, 155, 167, 103, 184, 194, 218, 223; Copper phthalocyanism-3,3'-6,4'-retrematical excels and			
Basic dyss: Basic block 7; Basic block 1, 45, 48, 55, 62, 66, 71, 78, 80, 81, 141; Basic grams 6, 8; Basic orangs 10, 15, 16, 17, 43, 44; Basic rangs 10, 15, 16, 17, 43, 44; Basic rotags 10, 15, 16, 17, 43, 44; Basic rotags 10, 15, 26, 27, 37, 38; and Basic violat 2, 22, 25, 37, 38; and Basic violat 2, 22, 25, 37, 38; and Basic violat 2, 22, 25, 37, 38; and Basic violat 2, 22, 25, 39, 40, 45, 54, 54, 67, 70	I	tetranulfonic acid	20% ad val.	23% ad wal.	23% ad val-
Direct dyes: Direct black 51, 69, 112, 118, 122; Direct brown 97, 113, 157, 169, 170, 200, 212, 214; Direct oranga 17, 60, 105, 106, 107, 118; Jirect red 9, 89, 92, 95, 111, 127, 173, 207; Direct yellew 39, 68, 93, 95, 96, 98, 109, 110, 133	i	Basic dyes: Basic blue 41, 45, 48, 55, 62, 66, 71, 78, 80, 81, 141; Basic groen 6, 8; Basic oranga 30, 35, 36, 37, 43, 44; Basic red 23, 28, 29, 43, 44, 46, 58, 100; Basic violet 2, 22, 25, 37, 38; and	20% ad val-	30-7% ad val-	30.7% ad val-
Direct dyes: Direct black 31, 69, 112, 118, 122; Direct blue 74, 77, 90, 137, 136, 138, 138;1, 207, 211, 229, 244, 267; Direct brown 97, 113, 157, 169, 170, 200, 212, 214; Direct green 33, 59, 67, 66; Direct erange 17, 60, 103, 106, 107, 118; Jirect red 9, 89, 92, 95, 111, 127, 173, 207; Direct violet 47, 93; and Screet pellew 39, 68, 93, 95, 96, 98, 109, 110, 133			2CE ad val.	22.6% od val-	22.6% ad val.
p Other	ı	Direct dyes: Direct blank 31, 69, 112, 118, 122; Direct blue 74, 77, 90, 137, 156, 158, 158:1, 207, 211, 225, 244, 267; Direct brown 97, 113, 157, 169, 170, 200, 212, 214; Direct green 33, 59, 67, 68; Direct orange 17, 60, 105, 106, 107, 118; Jirect red 9, 89, 92, 95, 111, 127, 173, 207; Direct violet 47, 93; and	20% ad val.	30.9% ad val-	30.9% ad val-
Disperse */res: 'isperse blue 19, 26, 55, 56, 58, 72, 79, 83, 84, 93, 95, 122, 125, 128, 154, 165, 180, 183, 185, 200, 284, 285, 288, 295, 296; Disperse brown 19; Disperse green 9; Disperse orange 7, 13, 20, 31, 47,			20% ad val-	23.8% ad val.	23.8% ad val-
G17/ 71.perce blue 19, 26, 55, 56, 58, 72, 79, 83, 84, 93, 93, 122, 123, 128, 154, 165, 180, 189, 185, 200, 284, 285, 288, 295, 296; Disperce brown 19; Disperce green 9; Disperce orange 7, 13, 20, 31, 47,	,		20% ad val.	28.62 ad val-	28.6% ad val.
	6 <u>17</u> / .	G17/ 79, 83, 84, 93, 93, 122, 125, 128, 154, 165, 180, 183, 129, 120, 224, 285, 288, 295, 296; Disperse brown 19; Disperse green 9; Disperse orange 7, 13, 20, 31, 47,			

	Artirles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Converted Rate of Duty A 1/	Converted Rate of 'uty B 4/
	Colors, dyes, stains, and related products (con.) Colors, dyes, and stains (except foners), whether soluble or not in water, etc. (con.): Pisperse dyes (von.): Disperse ted 46, 72, 73, 90, 93, 107, 116, 121, 122, 131, 133, 134, 151, 184, 10., 203, 274, 278, 282, 319, Disperse violet 23, 63; and			
	Disperse yellow 13, 63, 65, 82, 91, 107, 119, 122, 126, 126, 139, 18	20% ad val-	22-5% ad val-	22.57 ai val.
1	Other. Fluorescent brighteners	20% ad val. 20% ad val.	27.8% ad val. 10'	2% t af valu 19% et alu
11.77	Solvent blue 49, 51, 53, 67, 97; Solvent brown 1, 28, 42, 46; Solvent green 4, 3, 7, 19, 28, 213; Solvent crange 45, 56, 63, 67, Solvent craft 8, 19, 23, 27, 35, 92, 110, 118, 119, 124, 125, 130, 131, 132, 160; Solvent violet 7, 23; and			
	98, 160	20% ad wal-	19.9% ad val-	19.9% ad val.
L12/	Other	20% e4 val-	28% ad val.	28% ad val-
	23, 26, 26, 29, 36, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43, 44, 50, 51, 52, 65, 66, 67, 69, 74, 75, 77, 78, 79, 82, 96, 103, 106, 114, 116, 118, 136, 140, 156, 157, 160; Baactive grown 2, 5, 12, 18, 19, 23; Banctive grown 3, 6, 8, 12, 15, 16; Baactive orange 5, 9, 10, 11, 15, 20, 29, 33, 34, 35, 42, 44, 45, 62, 64, 67, 69, 70, 71, 82, 86; Baactive rod 4, 7, 8, 12, 13, 16, 17, 19, 21, 29, 40, 42, 43, 55, 54, 66, 78, 82, 83, 84, 86, 99, 104, 116, 119, 121, 122, 123, 124, 132, 134, 151, 152, 159; Paactive violet 3, 12, 23, 24; and Baactive yallow 4, 6, 11, 12, 15, 25, 27, 29, 33, 41, 52, 57, 58, 64, 81, 82, 27, 29, 35, 61, 52, 57, 58, 64, 81, 82,			20.5% a4 val-
	Other	20% ad val.	27.8% ad val. 10/	27.8% ad val. 10/
■17 /	Vat dyes: Solubilized vat blue 5; Solubilized vat orange 1; Solubilized vat orange 1; Solubilized vat yellow 7, 45, 47; Vat black 19, 30, 31; Vat blue 19, 21, 66; Vat brown 1, 33, 57; Vat green 28, 48; Vat orange 5, 13; Vat read 15, 41; and			
	Vat yellow 46	202 ad val.	20.9% ad val-	20.9% ad val-
0 P	Other	201 ad val. 201 ad val.	32.9% ad val- 21.9% ad val-	32.9% ad vel. 21.9% ad vel.
	part	2.8¢ per 1b. + 18% ad val-	2:8¢ per 1b. + 28% ad val.	31.22 ad vel.
	1127/	### ### ### ### ### ### ### ### ### ##	Solvent price 10, 11, 12, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13, 13	

200	!tes	27	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty & 3/	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty 8 4/
I						
1	ţ		tolets, dyes, stains, etc. (con.):	ł	j	
1	• /* • * •		volor lakes and tomers, obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or in part from matural			
1			alizatin, natural indigo, or any product		1	1
8	:		provided for in subpart A 1/ or B 11/ of this		ì	i .
;	•	4 <u>: 7</u>	part: Pigment black 1;		ì	!
•	4	•	Figure blue 16, 18;	i	í	
	•		Pigment brown 22, 23, 25;		!	}
			Pigment green 8; Pigment orange 31, 34, 36, 51;	I	į	
•	•		Pigment of 9, 14, 34, 48:3, 52,	Ī	,	:
•			112, 139, 144, 146, 151, 146, 169, 170,	ì		
:			171, 175, 176, 177, 178, 180, 185, 188, 192, 199, 208, 209, 220, 221; and	i	i	•
1			Pigment yellow 49, 81, 93, 97, 101, 109,	1	}	•
:	:		110, 117, 127	20% ad val-	20.4% ad val.	20.4% ad val.
!			Other	20% ad val.	β : 31-3 2 od vol. <u>18</u> /	' 11 19 ed cel 14/
ŧ	•	•		l	· **** 15/	31.32 ad val. 18/
	-10.60		Fast culor bases, fast rolor salts, and	1	•	
-		A .	Naphthol AS and its derivatives: Fast color salts	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13.72 ad val.
				102 ad val.	13.6% ad val.	,
	•		fast color bases	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	' 14.22 ad val.
		c	Maphthol AS and derivatives	102 od val.	13.3% ad val-	15.82 ad val.
			•	10% ad val.	, 15% od vol-	
			Products suitable for medicinal use, and drugs:	ļ	1	•
:			Obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or		1	,
•			in part from any product provided for in sub-	ì		
			part A 1/ or B 13/ of this part: Products suitable for medicinal use:	!	•	,
A	407.02		Acetamilide	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	271 ad val-
	•			12-5% ad val-	25% ad val-	1
٨	407-94		Senialdehyde	1.7¢ per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val. 6/	152 ad val. 6/
A	407.06		Bengoic acid	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 15. +	21.4% ad val.
	. 407.06) Washingt (horse such that)	12.5% ad val.	19.28 od vol.	
•	1	1	2-Maphthol (beta-naphthol)	12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	, 13-9% ad val-
. 4	407.10	,	Resorcisol	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	10-12 ad val-
	407 12	·	Salicylic acid and its salts	12.5% ad val.	9.4% ad val. 1.7¢ per 1b. +	21.8% ad val.
•			Sancyric acid and its series	12.5% ad val.	20% ad val-	21.04 DE VEL-
		i	Druge:			
•	407.20		Acetphenecidine (phenacetin)	1.4c per 1b. +	1.4¢ per 1b. + 12.1% ad val.	12.92 ad val.
	407.25		Acetylealicylic acid (aspirin)	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	25.62 ad val.
,				12-5% ad val-	22.7% ad val.	
` ^	•07.30		Antipyrine	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + 13.7% ed val.	15% ad val-
A .	407.32		5-Chloro-7-10do-8-quinolinol and			}
	}		2-[1-(p-chlorophenyl)-3-dimethyl-		1	
	1	- 1	aminopropyl]pyridine maleate	1.46 per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. + 16.3% ad val.	16.4% ad val.
	407.35		Distaylaminoscetonylidide (nylocalue)		1.7c per 1b. +	25.1% ad val.
	407.40		E Pakul E akonstino a sa a sa a sa a sa a sa a sa a sa a	11% ad val-	24.82 ad val.	ji A
^	407.40		5-Ethyl-5-phenylbazahydropyrinidine- 4,6-dione	1.2c per 1b. +	1.2c per 1b. +	8-52 ad val.
	1	1		8.52 ad val-	8.5% ad val.	
	407.45	1	Hydantoin derivatives:			
•	-07.47		Methylphenethylhydantoin	1.40 per 1b. + 9% ad val.	1.4c per 1b. + 12.6% ad val. 19/	132 ad val. 19/
A	407.50		Other	1.4¢ per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. + E	13E ad val-
			Imidazolime derivatives:	92 od val.	12.62 ad val.	<u> </u>
	407.55		inidesoline derivatives: 2-Bensyl-4,5-inidesoline hydro-		1	ľ
	1		chlor14e	liéc per 16. +	1.4c per 1b. +	11.82 ad val-
	407.60		Phonelhennelantanathaltatt!!	9% ad val.	11.7% ad val.	F
	}		Phenylbenzylaminoethylimidazolime hydrochioride	1.4¢ per 1b. +	1.4c per 1b. +	10.21 ad val. 20/
۱, ۱			·	91 od val.	10.2% ad val. 20/	- 1
^	407.70		Other	1.40 per 1b. + 91 ed val.	1.4c per 1b. + 10.2% ad val.	10.2% ad val.
il				74 00 1011	I I	I.
11			See footnotes at end of schedule.		1 1	1
'	•	•	•	•	•	4515

	It em	21	Articles	Current Column I Rate of Puty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A 3'	Proposed Converted Nate of Nuty 9 <u>6</u> /
I			Products suitable for meticinal use, and drugs (con.):			
١			Mtsined, derived, or manufactured, etc. (con.):	1	1	
1	407.72		Pruge (com-):		1	
1	6117. 72		f Thenviophrime hydrochloride; mulfadiszine;		3	
l			oulfaguanidine;			
ł			sulfenerazine;		1	
1			oulfamethosine; oulfapyridine; and		}	
1			salicylagooulfapyriding:		•	
I		4	Thenvlephrine hydrochloride	1.4c per 1b. +	1.4c per th. +	13.17 ad val.
l			Sulfamothacino	int ad val. 1.4c per lh. 4	118 ad val.	18.57 a4 val.
l				int ad val.	17.8% ad val.	1
I		•	. Sulfediatine, sulfaquanidine,		1	
l			 uulfameratine, sulfapvridine, and salicylasosulfapyridine 	1.40 per 1b. +	1.4c per 1h. +	25.38 ad val.
ı				107 od vol.	25.1% od vol.	. ,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,
ŀ	107.75		Phonoiphthairin	1.7c per 15. +	1.7c per 16. +	15.2° ad val.
l.	nz.en		Selol	12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	14.57 ad val. 1.7c per 1h. +	19.37 ad val. 6/
ı				12.5% ad val.	17.5° e4 vel. 6/	11.15 44 101. 27
ŀ	07.45		Other:			
ł			Albaioids and their salts and other derivatives:		1	
l		A	**************************************		1	
١			racephodrine, and their malts.		1.7c per 16. +	16.47 od vol-
i			Papaverine and its maits:	17.5% ad val.	14.47 ad val.	
l		•	Papaveriae and its saits: 		1	
i		_	chleride	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13. of od val.
I		c	•	12.5% ad val.	13.5% ad vol.	·
l		C	Ocher	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1h. + 20.0% ad vel.	29.1% od val-
l			Others	11171 20 1217		
١		•	Arocoline hydrobromide;		i i	
l			deserpidine; ergonovina melaste;	•	1	
ı		1	lebeline sulfate;	•	1	
ı			neperidine hydro-		1	
ı			chloride; nicetinyl alcohol tar-		1	
ı			trate; and		l i	
1			quinecrine hydro-]	
1				1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. + 13.9t ad vel.	13.9% ad val.
ł			Oches		1.7c per 1h. +	24.5% ad val.
ı		- 1		12.5% ad val-	24.5% ad val.	
ı			Antihistaniass, including those chiefly used as satinaussants:]	
ı		,	Mishenhydranine:		1	
l			promothesine hydrochloride;	•	i i	
ĺ		i	eed		1	11 19 -41
		1	triprolidine hydrochloride	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7¢ per 1b. + 12.5% ad vel.	12.5% ad val-
ı		6	Other	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	23E ad val-
		1		12.5% ad val-	22.0% ad val.	
l		1	Anti-infective agents: Antibiotics:		į į	
ĺ		.	Ampicillin and its		[]	
ı		Ţ	ealta	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	13.5% ad wal.
		. 1	Ponicillia G salta	12.5% ad val-	13.5% ad val. 1.7c per 1b. +	13.7% ad wal.
		į	restrates " estis	12.5% ad val.	13.68 ad val.	13075 OF TEL.
l		- 1	Ponicillia, not spec-			
ĺ		, [ially provided for:		1 1	
l		٠ ١	Carfocillia,	•	}	
ĺ		1	clemacillia,		ł ł	
		- [eedim;		j i	
ĺ		1	dicionacillin, sodium;		l i	
1		1	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·] }	
ĺ		1		1	1	
l.		. 1	for feetnetes at end of achedule		i i	
1	-				1	
		- 1		_	I	ſ
l		•	•	В	EST COPY	AVAIL And
				_	· / /	RVAII AKI

******	Artir lea	Current Column 1 Page of Duty	Priposed Converted Pate of Dury A 3	Propried onverted Pate of Dury B <u>&</u>
	from the estimate for medicinal uses, and frugs from the same, derived, or manufactured, et a from the first form to the same same same same same same same sam			
. 62, 44	rent 1 mars			
	Anti-infective agents (cons):		i i	
	Antibiotics (con.): Penicillin, etc. (con.):		1	
	The locatiling and		1	
	oxa illin, sodium	1. 'c per ih. •	is to per libe +	12.5° ad val-
	Ott et	1'.5° a4 val. 1.7c per lh. +	17.5° a4 val. 1.1c per h. •	15.97 ad val.
		12.5° ad val.	15.79 ad val.	
,	ther	1.7c per 1b. + 12.5° ad val.	1.'C per 1b. + 12.5° a4 val.	I'-4" at val-
!	Anti-infective sulf manifes:	12.75 40 V41.	12.11 AT VAL.	
	Sulfathiasole and		1	
:	Sulfathtarole sodium	1.7c per 15. + 12.5% ad val.	1.7c per 1h. • 34.97 ad val.	30° ad val.
	nehes	1.7c per 1h. +	1.'c ner 1b.	27.75 a4 val.
		12.57 ad val.	22% ad val-	
	Anti-infective agents, not specially provided for:		1	
4	Acriflavine;		1	
	acrifiavine hadr)-		1	
	chinride; bunanidine hydro-		1	
	(hloride;		1	
	arhados;			
	clopidal; crotamiton;		ł	
	Aeconstnate;			
	fiindohedroxequin; ethinamide;		i i	
	ntearboatn;		ł	
	niclosanide;		l l	
	navquincline sulfate; pentamifine;			
'	phenymer-uric nitrate;		l	
	nyrazinanide;		i	
	stihophen; thimerosal;			
	thymol indide;			
	tolnaftate; and trimethoprim	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	12.82 ad val-
	trimetroprin	12.5% ad val.	12.At ad val.	1 ad val.
•	Other	1.7c per 1h. +	1.7c per 1b. +	19.42 ad val.
	Automonic drugs, except alkaloids	17.52 ad val-	18.7% ad val-	
	and their derivatives:			
2	Cronolyn, sodium;			
	furnaemide; glipizide;			
	isoetharine hydrochloride;			
	isomsuprine hydrochloride; nylidrin hydrochloride;			
	procyclidine,			
	salbutamol; and			
	terbutaline sulfate	1.7c per 1b. + 12.57 ad val.	1.7c per 1h. + 137 ad val.	13% ad val.
,	Other	1.7c per 1h. +	1.7c per 1b. +	201 ad val.
		12.5% a4 val.	19.9% ad val.	
	See footnotes at end of schedule			
	i .,		1	
	A Third		1	
	<u> </u>	ļ <u> </u>	İ	
	·		1	
	•		1	
ļ				

Other	6 6	Ites	21	Articles	Current Column 1 Rate of Duty	Proposed Converted Rate of Duty A <u>3</u> /	Propused Con erted Rate of Duty B 4
Drugs Con							
Content Cont	1					1 :	
Company Caratic marked and their derivatives:	- 14	407.85			ĺ		
	٦ŀ	(con.)		Cardio ascular drugs, except	l	1	
### ### ##############################	I				İ	1	
Other			`			i i	
Demanciogical agents and local 1.70 per lb. 1	- 1						13-27 ad val-
Demantical agents and local amenthetics	- 1			Other			10.00 .4 .1
Drugs primaril, affecting 1.7c per lb. 1.7c p	- !			Otner			1 an val-
Drugs primaril; affecting the central mervous system, except ablacides and their derivatives: Analysics; antipyretics, and meaning and their derivatives: Analysics; antipyretics, and meaning and their derivatives: Analysics; antipyretics, and meaning and their derivatives: Analysics; antipyretics, and meaning and their derivatives: V	i		••				
Drugs primaril; affecting the central nervous system, except alkalide and their derivatives: Analigesics, antipyretics, and monhorement anti-inflammatory sections and monhorement anti-inflammatory sections and monhorement anti-inflammatory sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections are sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections and sections	•			anesthetics			14.9° ad val-
the central nervous system, except alkaloide and their derivatives: Analgesics				Druge primarily affecting	12. 2 80 Val.	4.36 MG VAI.	
Analagesica antipyretica, and nonhormonal anti-inflammatory agents: Proposyphene hydrocholide				the central nervous system,		1	
Amaigentice, antipyretice, and nonhormonal noti-inflammatory agents:							
Normones Normones						:	
Proposyphene hydro- Chieffde				nonhormonal anti-inflammatory			
Chloride 1.7c per lb 3.9% ad val. 1.7c per lb 3.9% ad val. 1.7c per lb 1			v			1	
			•		1.7c per lb. +	1 1.7c per 1h. +	33.67 ad val.
Anticonvulants, hypnotics, and sedatives					12.5% ad val.	33-3% ad val.	
Antidepressants, tranquilizers, and other psychotherspectic agents: Antitiepressants, tranquilizers, and other psychotherspectic agents: Antitiepryline; butaparatine maleate; clotapine; droperidol; fluphenatine decanoate; fluphenatine bespitate; piperacetatine; promastine hydrochloride; and driffluoperatine hydrochloride; and driffluoperatine hydrochloride; and driffluoperatine hydrochloride; and driffluoperatine hydrochloride; and li-7c per lb. + li-7c pe			Ľ	Other			13.47 ad val-
Antidepressants, tranquilitiers, and other psychocherapeutic agents: Antidepressants and other psychocherapeutic agents: Antidepressants and other psychocherapeutic agents: Antidepressants and other psychocherapeutic agents: Antidepressants and other psychocherapeutic agent and antidepressants and antidepressants and antidepressants and artifluoperazine bydrochloride; and antidepressants and artifluoperazine hydrochloride; and artifluoperazine hydrochloride. All Other 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 13.3% ad val. 13.3% ad val. 13.3% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 13.3% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 13.3% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per lb. 4 12.	1		•	Anticonvulsants, hypnotics.	12.75 ad Val.	1 13-36 ad val.	
Astidepressants, tranquiliters, and other psychotherapeutic agents: Astitistyline; butaperasine maleate; closepine; droperidol; flubhenazine decanoate; flubhenazine decanoate; plubenazine hadrochloride; and triljuoperazine hydrochloride; and triljuoperazine hydrochloride; and triljuoperazine hydrochloride; and triljuoperazine hydrochloride; and As Uther	:						13-7% ad val.
	•			And (descended a descended a	12.5% ad val.	13.5% ad val-	
### The properties against the properties of consequence of conseq	1						
butaperatine maleate; closapine; droperidol; fluphenazine decanoate; f'uphenazine enantiate; inipramine hydro- chloride; mesoridazine besylate; piperacetazine; prochlorperazine maleate; promatine hydro- chloride	í			therapeutic agents:			
Closapine: droperidol: fluphonazine decanoate; fluphonazine decanoate; fluphonazine decanoate; fluphonazine hamiliariamine hydrochloride; ameantdazine besplate; piperacetazine; prochlorprazine naleate; promazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and antagoniate; and antagoniate; estradiol benacate; estradiol tycloperatylpropionate; and L-thyrozin, sodium	1		Y			1	
						· I	
						;	
Interaction hydro- Chloride;							
### AB ### AB						l	
Piperacetazine; prochlorperazine	1					1	
Prochlorperazine maleate; promazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride; and trifluoperazine hydrochloride	1						
Description 1.7c per 10. + 1.7c per 10. + 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 12.5% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 10.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 10.6% ad val. 1.7c per 10. + 10.6% ad val. 10.6% ad v	1					i	
AB	1						
Trifluoperazine hydro- Chloride	1					1	
	1			trifluoperazine hydro-		i i	
AA	1			chlor1de			13.6% ad val.
AB Other	1		ı	Other			41.6% ad val.
Hormones, synthetic substitutes, and antagonists: Desonide; dienestrol; epinephrine; epinephrine; estradiol bensoate; estradiol cyclopeatylpropionate; and L-thyroxin, sodium	1			'	12-5% ad val-	41-5% ad val-	
AZ Normones, synthetic substitutes, and antagonists: Desonide; dienestrol; epinephrine; epinephrine hydrochloride; estradiol bensoate; estradiol cyclopentyipropionate; nandroione phempropionate; and L-thyroxin, sodium			M	Ut her			16.4% ad val.
AB and entagonists: Desonide; dienestrol; epinephrine; epinephrine hydrochloride; estradiol benzoats; estradiol cyclopentylpropionate; nandrolone phempropionate; and L-thyroxin, sodium	1			Hormones, synthetic substitutes,	14.10 md Ami.	17-14 mg vet-	
diemestrol;	1		1	and antagonists:			
### ##################################	!		AB	•		1	
### ##################################	!		!	epinephrine;		i	
### ##################################	1		!	epinephrine hydrochloride;			
ate; nandrolone phenpropionate; and L-thyroxin, sodium	1		I			1	
AC Other			l			}	
L-thyroxin, sodium	1			nandrolone phempropionate;	,		
AC Other	!		- 1		1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 15. +	13.32 ad val-
12-5% ad val. 21-7% ad val.	1			,	12-52 ad val-	13-3% ad val-	
See footnotes at end of schedule.			A C	Ot her			21.7% ad val.
See footnotes at end of schedule.			I				
1 1 1	1		- 1	See footnotes at end of schedule.		}	
			- 1	1	ł		
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	ı		J	1	1		

SCHEDULE 4. - CHEMICALS AND RELATED PRODUCTS Part 1. - Benzenoid Chemicals and Products

1	_	_				Francial
C	l	• •	Articles	Current Column 1	Proposed Converted	Converted
1;	It 🚥	1/		hate of Buty	Rate of Duty A 2/	Rate of Duty B 4/
÷٠	-					
	Ī		Products suitable for undicinal use, and drugs (con-):			
•	ł		Obtained, derived, or manufactured, etc. (com.):		l	
•	i		Druge (con.):		B	
	407-85		Other (con-):		1 I	
	(cun.)		Vitamins, provitamins, and their			
			analogs and derivatives used pri- marily for their vitamis activity:			
		AĐ	Vitamin B2 (riboflavia and			
	ł	~	its salts and esters)	1.7¢ per 1b. +	1.7¢ per 16. +	17-52 ad val-
				12.5% ad val.	17.32 ad val-	
	ł	AE	Vitamin B ₁₂ (cyanocobalamin and related compounds with			
	1		vitamin B ₁₂ activity)	1.7¢ per 15. +	1.7c per 1b. +	40.42 ad val.
				12.5% ad val.	40.42 ad val.	
		AF	Vitamin E (dl-q-tocopherel			
	}		and its esters)	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. + 17.62 ad vel.	17.9% ad wal.
			Other	12-5% ed vel- 1-7c per 1b-+	1.7c per 1b. +	13.7% ad val.
		AC	Utnet	12.5% ad val.	1'.6% ad val-	1,7.74 00 101.
		AR	Other	1.7c par 1b. +	1.7¢ per 1b. +	13.72 od val.
				12.5% ad val-	13.6% ad val.	`
			Drugs, from whatever source obtained, produced		•	
	407.90		or manufactured: Guaiacol and its derivatives	1.7c per 1b. +	1.7c per 1b. +	22-7% ad val-
^	407.90		CHRISCAL SMS IES SELIASCIASS	12.5% ad val-	21.92 ad val-	44-12 00 AUT.
	ļ				1	
			Arometic or odoriferous compounds including flavors,	j l	i i	•
	Ī	1	not marketable as commetics, perfumery, or toilet		l i	:
	•		preparations, and not mixed, and not containing alcohol:		!	!
			Obtained, derived, or manufactured in whole or		[•
		1	in part from any product provided for in subpart		!	
			A 1/ or B 13/ of this part:		!	
_ ^1	408-05		hearyl acetate	3.5c per 1b. + 22.5% ad val.	3.5c per 1b. + 52.1% ad val.	58.82 ad val.
	408.10		Rensyl bensoata	3.5¢ per 1b. +	3.5¢ per 1b. +	47.2% ad val.
	•		2.2.7. 2.2.2.1.	22.5% ad val-	42.15 ad val.	1,112 00 101
A	408-15		Diphenyl oxide	3.5c per 16. +	3.5c per 1b. +	29.4% ad val.
!				22.5% ad val-	21.15 ad val.	
^	408 - 20		Meliotropia	1.7¢ por 1b. + 11% ad val.	1.7c per 1b. +	14% ad val-
	408 - 25		Methyl anthramilate	3.5c per 15. +	3.5c per 1b. +	12.42 ad val.
- 1	, 400 - 13			22.5% ad val-	11-28 ad val.	
A .	408 - 30		Musk, artificial	2.8c per 1b. +	2.8c per 1b. +	12% ad val.
			Phenylacetaldehyde	97 od val-	11.4% ad val.	20.8X ad val.
^i	408 - 35		rnenytacetalgenyee	3.5c per 1b. + 22.5% ad val.	3.5c per 1b. + 20.2% ad val.	20.07 96 481.
_ , }	408-40		Phenethyl alcohol	3.5c per 1b. +	3.5c per 1b. +	40.82 ad val.
				22.5% ad val.	38.5% ad val.	
٨į	408-45		Saccharim	1.5c par 1b. +	1.5c per 15. +	13.72 ad val.
٠,١	408-60		0.b.s	9.5% ad val-	12.92 ad val.	
· ^t	, 408.60		Other compounds: p-Anisaldehyde	3.5c per le. +	3.5c per 16. +	18.6% ad val.
	j	•		22.5% ed val-	18.1% ad val.	
	1		Ethyl vanillin	3.5¢ per 1b. +	3.5c per 1b. +	40.7% ad val-
Į	ļ			22.5% ad vol.	40.12 ad val.	
	i	c	→Hethylbensyl alcohol	3.5c per 1b. + 22.5% ad val.	3.5c per 1b. + 25.4% ad val.	30.62 ad val-
			1-Pentylci sasusli dehyde	3.5c per 1b. +	3.5c per 1b. +	23.5% ad val.
	1	-		22.5% ad wel.	22-5% ad val-	17.77 80 181.
	1	E	Other	3.50 per 16. +	3.5c per 1b. +	29.81 ad val-
				22.5% ad val.	29% ad val.	
			From whatever source obtained, derived, er manufactured:	ł Í	ľ	
	408.70		Counting	3.5c per 15. +	3.5c per 16. +	24.92 ad val.
				22.5% ad val-	24-12 ad val-	
A	408-75		Methyl salicylate	3.5¢ per 16. +	3.5¢ per 1b. +	39 2% ad val.
A	408.80		Mand 114a	22.5% ad vol- 1.5c per 1b. +	34.24 ad val.	10 40 -41
^	408.80		Vanillin	1.3¢ per 1b. + 9.5% ad val.	1.5¢ per 1b. + 10.2% ad val.	10.62 ad val.
				=	10.17 401.	
Α.	409.00		Mixtures in whole or in part of any of the products			
			provided for in this subpart	3.5¢ per 15. +	3-5¢ per 1b. +	24.9% ad val.,
				22.52 ad val.	232 ad val.,	but not lase
					but not loss then the high-	then the high- est rate ap-
					est rate es-	plicable to
					plicable to	any component
				j į	say component.	mterial.
•				_	mterial.	

see freemotes at end of schedule.

SCHEDULE 7. - SPECIFIED PRODUCTS. MINCELLANEGUS AND NONENUMEPAT! D PRODUCTS
Part 1. - Footwear: Headwear and Hat Braids, Gloves: Luggage,
Handbags, Billfolds, and Other Flat Goods

iten 🏸	Articles	Current Culumn 1 Rates of oity	Propused Converted Coton Contv
:	Subp. r* A - Footwear		
700-60 A B C	Indivious (whiches or not discribed elsewhere in this support) which is over 30 percent by weight of subber or missiles or over 30 percent by weight of fibers and subject or plastics with at least 10 percent by reight on probber or plastics: Sunting boots, galosies, rainwear, and other footeest designed to be worn over, or in lieu of, other finites as protection against water, oil, grease, or chemicals or cold or inclement weather, all the foregoing having soles and unpers of which over 90 percent of the exterior surface area is rubber or plastics (except footwor with uppers of nomoided construction formed by sewing the parts thereof tugetter and laving expused on the outer surface a substantial portion of functional stitching): See Other footwear (except footwear having uppers of which over 50 percent of the exterior surface area is leather): Naving uppers of which over 90 percent of the exterior surface area is rubber or plastics (except footwear having fosing or a foxing—like hand applied or moided at the sole and overlapping the upper): Anse Other: Nunting boots, galosnes, rainwar, and other footwear designed to be worn over, or in lieu of, other footwear as a protection against water, oil, grease, or chemicals or cold or inclement weather: Footwear of make it wholly or almost wholly of wover fabric of man-made fibers, whether or not coated or filled with tubber or plastic material	20% ad val. 20% ad val.	20% ad val- 48% ad val-
	overlapping the upper	20% ad val.	20% ad val-
	Bracketud language is included to assist in the		
	understanding of the proposed provisions.	• (
	See feetnetes at end of schedule	*;	

3CHEDULE 1. - ANIMAL AND VEGETABLE PRODUCTS Part 3. - Fish and Shellfish

r t	Articl	es	Current Column 1 Rates of Buty	Proposed Converted Rates of Duty	Current Column 2 Rates of Nutv	Prip sed converted Rates of Jury
	Jubpart E.	- Shellfish				
•	Gellfish, fresh, chilled, fheroed in liding pastes an Class in airtight conta	nd sauces).				
:	(Facor clams Other: Boiled	(Siliqua Patula)] clama, whether whole, minc-				
•	salted, or pres tainers	chopped, and whether or not but not otherwise prepared served, in immediate con- s the contents of which do				1100
; ;		eed 24 ounces gross weight	1	22-22 ad val.	35% ad val.	110° ad val.
i		!				
•						
			•			
		:	,	i		
		: !				
		:	,			
		·				
					•	
:		;	•			:
:				; ;	,	
1				į	:	
:						
					i .	
					i	
	Bracketed language is in understanding of the pro bee footnotes at end of	posed provisions.				

SCHEDULE 7. - SPECIFIED PRODUCTS: MISCELLANEOUS AND NONENUMERATED PRODUCTS Part 1. - Footwear: Headwear and Hat Braids; Gloves, Luggage, Handbags, Billfolds, and Other Flat Goods

r S P	Iten	. Articles	Current Column 1 Pates of Tuty	Proposed Converted Pates of Duty 4 5/	Proposed Lonverted Tates of Duty % 4/
		Subpart C Gloves Towes and clove limings of textile materials: and cloves not of lace or net and not ornamented, and glove limings: and clove limings: Of wool Cloves:			
:	704.45	"alued not over \$1.75 per dozen nairs: *nit	No per 15. * 26° ad val.	10c per 15. ← 1AT ad val. 17	The Yord Walls
		•		:	
: [!	! !
					,
		See footnotes at end of schedule.			

APPENDIX H

ARTICLES OMITTED FROM THE ANALYSIS OF OVERALL PROBABLE ECONOMIC FFECT OF ADOPTING C.I.F. METHOD OF APPRAISEMENT

:	:	1976	:	$\overline{\cdot}$:	1976	- -	:		:	1976 :	-
:	TSUSA :	imports	<u>:</u>	:	TSUSA	:	Imports	<u>:</u>	:	TSUSA	:	Imports :	
:	:	Dollars	:	:		:	Dollars	:	:		:	Dollars	
:	:		:	:		:		:	•		:	:	;
:	152.6000:	8,600	:	:	326.3092	:	1,400,000	:	:	650.3925	:	92,000:)
:	152.7620:	9,400	:	:	326.3094	:	47,000	:	:	650.4020	:	39,000 :	;
:	152.7640:	110,000	:	:	327.3094	:	3,400	:	:	650.4220	:	190,000 :	;
:	156.3045:	630,000	:	:	327.4094	:	2,100	:	:	650.5420	:	4,900,000	;
:	156.3065:	120,000	:	:	331.3050	:	1,300	:	:	650.5525	:	880,000	;
:	168.2300:	10,000	:	:	382.0427	:	150,000	:	:	651.7505	:	7,100,000	;
:	168.2310:	150,000	:	:	382.0430	:	8,400,000	:	:	651.7550	:	4,669,000	;
:	168.2830:	1,500,000	:	:	382.7870	:	390,000	:	:	654.0557	:	21,000,000 :	;
:	168.4700 :	77,000	:	:	382.7873	:	42,000,000	:	:	685.2002	:	6,400,000 :	;
:	168.4800 :	3,800,000	:	:	608.5225	:	34,000	:	:	685.2006	:	39,000,000 :	:
:	168.5200 :	520,000	:	:	608.5235	:	1,600,000	:	:	685.2008	:	26,000,000	:
:	176.1400 :	5,100,000	:	:	608.5265	:	9,100	:	:	685.2009	:	95,000,000	:
:	176.1500 :	2,400,000	:	:	608.5275	:	850,000	:	:	685.2010	:	13,000,000	:
:	176.1600 :	1,400,000	:	:	608.7665	:	26,000	:	:	685.2011	:	9,100	:
:	176.1700 :	55,000,000	:	:	608.7670	:	49,000	:	:	685.2012	:	15,000,000	:
:	220.3600:	75,000	:	:	608.7865	:	98,000	:	:	685.2025	:	13,000,000	:
:	220.3700:	7,700	:	:	608.7870	:	78,000	:	:	685.2026	:	32,000,000	:
:	220.3900:	100,000	:	:	608.8507	:	400	:	:	685.2027	:	43,000,000	:
:	220.4100 :	16,000	:	:	608.8508	:	490,000	:	:	685.2028	:	30,000,000	:
:	220.4700 :	1,000,000	:	:	608.8807	:	23,000	:	:	685.2029	:	16,000,000	:
:	220.4800 :	300,000	:	:	608.8808	:	29,000	:	:	685.2031	:	590,000	:
:	220.4900 :	50 0	:	:	609.0660	:	15,000	:	:	685.2042	:	200,000,000	:
:	322.0032 :	33,000	:	:	609.0760	:	100,000	:	:	685.2052	:	52,000,000	:
:	322.0034 :	43,000	:	:	609.0860	:	37,000	:	:	685.2053	:	3,500,000	:
:	322.1032 :	12,000	:	:	650.0820	:	3,300,000	:	:	685.254	:	28,000,000	:
:	322.1034 :	25,000	:	:	650.0925	:	1,400,000	:	:	685.2065	:	170,000,000	:
:	322.3056 :		:	:	650.1020	:	61,000	:	:	687.3700	:	830,000	:
:	322.4070 :		:	:	650.1220	:	210,000	:	:	687.3800	:	310,000	:
:	322.5034 :		:	:	650.3820	:	2 500 000	:	:		:	-	:
							, ,						

APPENDIX I GATT VALUATION PROVISIONS

I-1

Article II

Schedules of Concessions

.

3. No contracting party shall alter its method of determining suitable value or of converting currencies so as to impair the value of any of the concessions provided for in the appropriate Schedule amexed to this Agreement.

.

Article VII

Valuation for Customs Purposes

- 1. The contracting parties recognize the validity of the general principles of valuation set forth in the following paragraphs of this Article, and they undertake to give effect to such principles, in respect of all products subject to duties or other charges or restrictions on importation and exportation based upon or regulated in any manner by value. Moreover, they shall, upon a request by another contracting party review the operation of any of their laws or regulations relating to value for customs purposes in the light of these principles. The CONTRACTING PARTIES may request from contracting parties reports on steps taken by them in pursuance of the provisions of this Article.
- 2. (a) The value for customs purposes of imported merchandise should be based on the actual value of the imported merchandise on which duty is assessed, or of like merchandise, and should not be based on the value of merchandise of national origin or on arbitrary or fictitious values.
- (b) "Actual value" should be the price at which, at a time and place determined by the legislation of the country of importation, such or like merchandise is sold or offered for sale in the ordinary course of trade under fully competitive conditions. To the extent to which the price of such or like merchandise is governed by the quantity in a particular transaction, the price to be considered should uniformly be related to either (i) comparable quantities, or (ii) quantities

independent of the agencies entrusted with administrative enforcement. Any contracting party employing such procedures shall, upon request, furnish the CONTRACTING FARTIES with full information thereon in order that they may determine whether such procedures conform to the requirements of this sub-paragraph.

Article X

Publication and Administration of Trade Regulations

- 1. Laws, regulations, judicial decisions and administrative lings of general application, made effective by any contracting my, pertaining to the classification or the valuation of products - customs purposes, or to rates of duty, taxes or other charges, or requirements, restrictions or prohibitions on imports or exports or the transfer of payments therefor, or affecting their sale, distriion, transportation, insurance, warehousing, inspection, exhibition, processing, mixing or other use, shall be published promptly in such a . mner as to enable governments and traders to become accusinted with .nem. Agreements affecting international trade policy which are in gree between the government or a governmental agency of any contracting party and the government or governmental agency of any other conracting party shall also be published. The provisions of this paraemph shall not require any contracting party to disclose confidential information which would impede law enforcement or otherwise be contrary. to the public interest or would prejudice the legitimate commercial Interests of particular enterprises, public or private.
- 2. No measure of general application taken by any contracting party effecting an advance in a rate of duty or other charge on imports under an established and uniform practice, or imposing a new or more burdensome requirement, restriction or prohibition on imports, or on the transfer of payments therefor, shall be enforced before such measure has been officially published.
- 3. (a) Each contracting party shall administer in a uniform, impartial and reasonable manner all its laws, regulations, decisions and rulings of the kind described in paragraph 1 of this Article.
- (b) Each contracting party shall maintain, or institute as soon as practicable, judicial, arbitral or administrative tribunals or procedures for the purpose, inter alia, of the prompt review and correction of administrative action relating to customs matters. Such tribunals or procedures shall be independent of the agencies entrusted with administrative enforcement and their decisions shall be implemented by, and shall govern the practice of, such agencies unless an appeal is lodged with a court or tribunal of superior jurisdiction within the time prescribed for appeals to be lodged by importers; Provided that the central administration of such agency may take steps to obtain a review of the matter in another proceeding if there is good cause to believe that the decision is inconsistent with established principles of law or the actual facts.
 - (c) The provisions of sub-paragraph (b) of this paragraph shall not require the elimination or substitution of procedures in force in the territory of a contracting party on the date of this Agreement which in fact provide for an objective and impartial review of administrative action even though such procedures are not fully or formally

BEST AVAILABLE COPY

not less favorable to importers then those in which the greater volume of the merchandise is sold in the trade between the countries of exportation and importation.

- (c) When the actual value is not ascertainable in accordance with sub-paragraph (b) of this paragraph, the value for customs purposes should be based on the nearest ascertainable equivalent of such value.
- 3. The value for customs purposes of any imported product should not include the amount of any internal tax, applicable within the country of origin or export, from which the imported product has been exempted or has been or will be relieved by means of refund.
- 4. (a) Except as otherwise provided for in this paragraph, where it is necessary for the purposes of paragraph 2 of this Article for a contracting party to convert into its own currency a price expressed in the currency of another country, the conversion rate of exchange to be used shall be based, for each currency involved, on the par value as established pursuant to the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund or on the rate of exchange recognized by the Fund, or on the par value established in accordance with a special exchange agreement entered into pursuant to Article XV of this Agreement.
- (b) Where no such established par value and no such recognized rate of exchange exist, the conversion rate shall reflect effectively the current value of such currency in commercial transactions.
- (c) The CONTRACTING PARTIES, in agreement with the International Monetary Fund, shall formulate rules governing the conversion by contracting parties of any foreign currency in respect of which multiple rates of exchange are maintained consistently with the Articles of Agreement of the International Monetary Fund. Any contracting party may apply such rules in respect of such foreign currencies for the purposes of paragraph 2 of this Article as an alternative to the use of par values. Until such rules are adopted by the CONTRACTING PARTIES, any contracting party may employ, in respect of any such foreign currency, rules of conversion for the purposes of paragraph 2 of this Article which are designed to reflect effectively the value of such foreign currency in commercial transactions.
- (d) Nothing in this paragraph shall be construed to require any contracting party to alter the method of converting currencies for customs purposes which is applicable in its territory on the date of this Agreement, if such alteration would have the effect of increasing generally the amounts of duty payable.
- 5. The bases and methods for determining the value of products subject to duties or other charges or restrictions based upon or regulated in any manner by value should be stable and should be given sufficient publicity to enable traders to estimate, with a reasonable degree of certainty, the value for customs purposes.

APPENDIX J

GATT DOCUMENT MTN/NTM/W222/REV. 1
DEVELOPING COUNTRIES' PROPOSED
AMENDMENTS TO VALUATION CODE

GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TARIFFS AND TRADE

RESTRICTED

MTB/NTM/W/222/Rev.l 27 Merch 1979

Special Distribution

Multilateral Trade Segotiations

Group "Non-Tariff Mecaures"
Sub-Group "Customs Matters"

CUSTOMS VALUATION

This document is circulated at the request of several developing countries which feel that there would be serious prejudice to the interests of such countries unless the Agreement on Customs Valuation that may be finally adopted contains special provisions to meet the trade, financial and development needs of such countries.

In the draft Agreement on Customs Valuation the following amendments shall be made:

- I. Pringraphs 2(b) and 2(c) of Article 1 shall be so amended that the tests provided for therein shall be available to both related and non-related persons.
- II. The following shall be substituted for the existing Part III Special and Differential Treatment:

"PART III - SPECIAL AND DIFFERENTIAL TREATMENT

Article 21

- 1. Developing countries party to this Agreement (referred to in this Agreement as "developing parties") may delay application of its provisions for a period of ten years from the date of entry into force of this Agreement for the country concerned. Developing parties who choose to delay application of this Agreement shall notify the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT accordingly.
- 2. Developed countries party to this Agreement (referred to in this Agreement as "developed parties") shall furnish, on mutually agreed terms, technical assistance to developing parties that so request. On this basis developed parties shall draw up programmes of technical assistance which may include, inter alia training of personnel, assistance in preparing implementation measures, access to sources of information regarding customs valuation methodology, and advice on the application of the provisions of this Agreement.

Article 22

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide as if the provisions of paragraph 2(a) of Article 1 stood modified by inserting the words "the importer demonstrates that between the words "provided that" and the words "the relationship did not influence the price."

Article 23

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide that the options available to the importer to have the application of Articles 5 and 6 reversed, may be exercised only if the customs so agree.

Article 24

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide for the application of sub-paragraph (b) of paragraph 1 of Article 5 on the basis of the unit price at which the imported goods or identical or similar goods are sold in the greatest aggregate quantity at the earliest date after the importation of the goods being valued but before the expiration of ninety days after such importation.

Article 25

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide for the application of paragraph 2 of Article 5, regardless of whether or not the importer so requests.

Article 26

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide for the inclusion in the customs value, in whole or in part, of the value of any additional consideration not specified in paragraph 1 of Article 8, which the buyer is obliged to discharge himself or to require others to discharge as a condition of the sale.

Article 27

Motivithstanding enything contained in paragraph 4 of Article 8, developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide for the inclusion in the customs value, in whole or in part, of any price reduction which is not freely available to any other buyer on the sale of such goods for export to the country of importation in the same quantities and at the same level.

Article 28

Developing parties, in framing their national legislation, may provide that the provisions of paragraph 5 of Article 15 will apply as if the words "if they fall within the criteria of paragraph 4 of this Article" did not exist at the end of the said paragraph.

Article 29

In respect of minimum customs values any developing party may apply for special derogation at the time of its accession to this Agreement and the terms and conditions of the accession of any developing party that so applies shall be deemed to be subject to such derogation if agreed to by the other parties to this Agreement.

Article 30

In the event of their being a conflict or incompatibility between any of the provisions of this Part on the one hand and of the other Parts or of the interpretative notes or of the General Commentary on the other hand, the provisions of this Part shall have precedence and those of the other Parts or of the interpretative notes or of the General Commentary shall be construed as having, to the extent of the said conflict or incompatibility, no effect or, as the case may be, modified effect in respect of their application to developing parties.

Article 31

Developing parties shall, regardless of the period of derogation provided for in Article 21 above, or of the nature of derogation provided for in the other Articles of this Part, have full rights of vote wherever a provision exists in this Agreement for voting on any matter.

III. In Part IV - Final Provisions - in the Article which appears under the heading "Review" and is presently numbered 26, add the following words at the end of the first sentence:

"and the trade, financial and development needs of the developing parties".

Contents	Page
Introduction	1
Summary	11
Part 1. The agreement on import licensing procedures	1
Background and origin	
Summary of the agreement	
General provisions	
Automatic Import Licensing (AIL)	
Non-automatic Import Licensing (NAIL)	
Questions concerning the scope of the agreement	5
Agricultural commodities	
Bilateral export restraint procedures	
Timing requirements	
Right of appeal	
Extent of U.S. compliance with the agreement	•••••
Part 2. Probable economic effect on U.S. international	
trade of the adoption of the agreement on	
import licensing procedures	13
U.S. Imports	14
U.S. Exports	16
Japan	17
Mexico	18
France	18
Brazil	- •
India	19
Annendire Agreement on Import Licensing Broadures	A 1

INTRODUCTION

In response to requests from the Senate Finence Committee and House Ways and Means Committee, the United States International Trade Commission on September 1, 1978, instituted an investigation, under section 332(b) of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. 1332(b)), for the purpose of submitting a series of reports analyzing the effects on U.S. industrial and agricultural sectors of nontariff measure agreements and tariff reductions recently negotiated at the Multilateral Trade Negotiations (MTN) in Geneva.

This report deals with the agreement on import licensing procedures. It is based on the General Agreement of Tariffs and Trade (GATT) Secretariat text initialed by many of the principal trading partners of the United States in April 1979.

The report is divided into two parts plus an appendix and a summary. Part 1 reviews the background and origin of the agreement, provides a summary of its provisions, and discusses the extent of U.S. compliance. Part 2 assesses the overall probable economic effect of adoption of the proposed agreement on U.S. imports and on selected U.S. export markets. The Appendix contains the April 1979 text of the agreement as published by the Secretariat.

SUPPLARY

The import licensing agreement represents an attempt to rationalize procedures for administering licensing systems extending back to a GATT code drafted in 1950. The effort to standardize and harmonize these procedures has been supported, primarily, by the developed countries. The United States, in particular, has viewed automatic import licensing systems as having trade restrictive effects and has traditionally favored elimination of all such systems. The target of these efforts has, in general, been the developing countries (LDCs). The LDCs have been the subject of complaints by U.S. exporters, particularly with regard to the administration of their "automatic" import licensing regimes and with regard to the lack of current and reliable information concerning LDC import restrictions.

Import licensing is defined in the agreement as those administrative procedures which require submission of an application or other documents (except those required for customs purposes) to the relevant administrative body as a prior condition for importation. Automatic import licensing systems are defined as those in which approval of the license is "freely granted". In contrast, non-automatic licensing systems are those in which the administrative body may exercise some degree of discretion with respect to issuance of the license. Licensing is frequently used to administer quotas or other discretionary import restrictions.

In March 1979, the GATT Secretariat published the agreement on licensing procedures for imports which provides the basis for this analysis. The agreement focuses exclusively on the administration of import licensing procedures and does not address the existence or extent of any underlying trade restriction. The goal of this agreement is to simplify and harmonize procedures covering the application for and issuance of import licenses.

The agreement consists of three substantive sections: the first contains provisions generally applicable to all systems; the second covers automatic import licensing systems; and the third provides for non-automatic import licensing systems. The agreement also includes a preamble, institutions, consultation and dispute settlement provisions, and "Final" provisions. 1/

The general provisions specify that administrative procedures used to implement licensing systems must be in conformity with the GATT and be neutral in application. The agreement provides for publication of the rules and regulations concerning licensing systems and the lists of products subject to licensing, and requires simplified application and renewal procedures for obtaining a license. It specifies that, to the extent practicable, importers should have to approach

^{1/} The "Final" provisions encompass certain administrative matters common to most of the MTM agreements: Acceptance and accession; Reservations; Entry into force; National legislation; Committee review; Amendments; Withdrawal; Non-application between particular parties; Secretariat services; Deposit; and Registration.

only one administrative organ in order to apply for a license. A "reasonable" time period is to be allowed when applying for a license, and an application may not be refused for minor documentation errors.

The section on <u>automatic import licensing</u> systems specifies that these systems may be maintained as long as the circumstances which gave rise to their introduction prevail, or as long as their underlying administrative purposes cannot be achieved in a more appropriate way. The agreement provides that automatic licenses are to be made available to anyone fulfilling prescribed criteria; that applications may be submitted at any time "prior to the customs clearance of the goods"; and that they are to be granted "immediately" upon receipt, to the extent administratively feasible, but in any case within ten working days.

The section on non-automatic import licensing systems specifies that governments are to publish information concerning the number and value of licenses granted, to provide information on the administration of restrictions, and to permit any person, firm or institution to apply for a license. The provisions also state that the period for processing a license should be as short as possible, and that a license is to be valid for a "reasonable" period of time and not be so short as to preclude imports from distant sources. Where feasible, licenses are to be issued to new importers. If the license application is not approved, the applicant shall have "a right of appeal or review" in accordance with national legislation or administrative procedures.

Several questions concerning the scope and applicability of various provisions of the agreement remain unanswered. The answers to these questions could have a significant impact on the importance of the agreement as a trade barrier reducing mechanism. Among these are the absence of definitions for terms basic to the agreement. This is most noticeable in the ambiguity which appears between timing requirements specified in the general provisions applicable to all licensing systems and those specified for automatic import licensing systems.

In addition, although adherence of the LDCs was considered a major objective of the negotiations, to date only one developing country (Argentina) has initialed the agreement without reservation. We understand negotiations are presently underway to obtain acceptance of the agreement by other LDCs. However, it appears that the LDCs will only accept the agreement with some derogation from the requirements of the present text.

Although it is difficult to ascertain the precise legal effect of this agreement on U.S. laws and regulations, it is unlikely that adherence will require significant changes in present import licensing procedures. Consequently, adherence to the agreement will have little, if any, impact on U.S. imports.

Since a primary objective of these negotiations—not yet achieved—has been acceptance of these procedural reforms by the LDCs, it is not likely that this agreement will result in more than a nominal increase in U.S. exports.

Part 1. THE AGREEMENT ON IMPORT LICENSING PROCEDURES

Background and Origin

The period immediately following World War II saw the beginning of international efforts to encourage expansion of trade through the elimination of non-ariff barriers. Article XI of the GATT states the general principle that—

No prohibitions or restrictions other than duties, taxes or other charges, whether made effective through quotas, import or export licenses or other measures, shall be instituted or maintained by any contracting party on the importation of any product of the territory of any other contracting party or on the exportation or sale for export of any product destined for the territory of any other contracting party.

After the Kennedy Round, the GATT Contracting Parties began a long-term study of Automatic Import Licensing (AIL) procedures. A 1967 inventory of over 800 nontariff barriers provided data for five working groups of the new Committee on Trade in Industrial Products (CTIP).

In 1970, CTIP Working Group IV began consideration of specific limitations on imports and exports. Seeking elimination of Japanese and European AIL requirements, the United States urged that use of import licensing be restricted to the same conditions for which the General Agreement permits quantitative restrictions. In Working Group IV deliberations the following year, the United States recognized the distinctions between AIL and Licensing to Administer Import Restrictions (LAIR) consistent with the GATT. In 1972, Working Group IV submitted AIL and LAIR draft texts to the Contracting Parties for the consideration of their respective governments. The texts of these drafts have served as the basis for the work of the MTN Subgroup on Quantitative Restrictions (QR Subgroup) during the Tokyo Round negotiations in Geneva. The QR Subgroup has been negotiating, intermittently, in these areas since April 1975.

At the auggestion of the United States, a technical group was formed to consolidate numerous proposals which had been made with respect to the AIL and LAIR texts. As a result of these discussions, two new draft texts were developed and, at the November 1977 QR Subgroup meeting, these texts were accepted as the basis for future negotiations.

In July 1978, the GATT Secretariat informally circulated a draft text combining most elements of the two draft import licensing procedures texts (i.e., the AIL and LAIR texts). 1/ In December 1978 major elements of the licensing text 2/were agreed to, but several issues remained to be resolved at the technical level. The "final" version 3/ of this agreement was initialed by most of the developed countries, and by at least one developing country (Argentina) in April 1979.

^{1/} The GATT Secretariat's "Draft Code on Import Licensing Procedures" (dated 24/7/78).

^{2/} Draft Agreement on Import Licensing Prodedures, MTN/NTM/W/213, 21 December 1978.

^{3/} Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures, MTN/NTM/W/231, 29 March 1979.

Megotiations to obtain LDC adherence to the agreement continued during May 1979. The developed countries urged Mexico to make a commitment to liberalize its "prior permit" (import licensing) system as a precondition for Mexican accession to the GATT and to this agreement. Brazil objects to the timing requirements for submission of AIL applications $\underline{1}/$ and to the timing requirements for approval of AIL applications. 2/

Summary of the Agreement

The agreement focuses on the administration of import licensing procedures rather than on the existence or extent of the underlying trade restriction. The aim is to simplify and harmonize procedures with respect to the application for and issuance of import licenses. It remains unclear whether licensing procedures for agricultural commodities and bilateral export restraint arrangements are intended by all parties to be included within the scope of this agreement. Similarly, although the Trade Act 3/ and its legislative history provide ample evidence of the Congressional intention that "[non-tariff] barriers affecting services as well as goods should be eliminated", 4/ there appears to have been little or no consideration of this aspect of international commerce in drafting the licensing procedures agreement.

The agreement is divided into three substantive sections: the first specifying "general provisions"; the second, provisions regarding "automatic import licensing" systems; and the third, provisions for "non-automatic import licensing" systems. There are also a preamble, consultation and dispute settlement provisions, and the so-called "Final" provisions encompassing certain administrative matters.

General Provisions

The general provisions (paragraphs 1-11) are intended to apply to both "automatic" and "non-automatic" import licensing systems. Paragraph 1 contains the basic definition of "import licensing procedures". This paragraph has six distinct elements which, in effect, define the scope of the agreement. defined as:

- (1) administrative procedures (e.g., those procedures referred to as "licensing" as well as other similar administrative procedures)
- (2) used for the operation of import licensing regimes
- (3) which require the submission of an application or other documentation

^{1/} Brazil proposes that "... importers obtain [AIL] licenses prior to embarkation of imported goods" rather than "...prior to customs clearance" as required by paragraph 13(d).

²/ Brazil also proposes approval of AIL applications within 14 working days instead of 10 working days as rquired by paragraph 13(e).

^{3/} Sections 102(g), 163(a) and 601(10) of the Trade Act of 1974.

^{4/} S. REP. NO. 1298, 93rd Cong., 2d Seas. 74, 114, and 230.

- (4) exclusive of documents required for customs purposes
- (5) to the relevant administrative body
- (6) as a <u>prior condition</u> for <u>importation</u> into the customs territory of the importing country.

The key terms (which have been underscored for convenience) remain generally undefined. The apparent thrust of the negotiating delegations, upon examination of the language used, has been to encompass as wide a range of potential "licensing" situations as possible. The rationale underlying this strategy would seem to rest on the assumption that subsequent disputes concerning the scope of the agreement can be resolved on a case-by-case basis.

The general provisions also provide that licensing procedures must conform to the GATT (taking into account the special "trade needs" of the LDCs); that they be neutral in application and fairly administered; that all information relevant to such procedures (including lists of ". . . products subject to the licensing requirement" 1/) be published promptly and notified to the GATT; that application and renewal forms and procedures be as simple as possible; 2/ that application and renewal forms be submitted to a single agency, except where "strictly indispensable"; and that license applications not be refused for minor documentation errors and that penalties be proportionate to the degree of "fraudulent intent or gross negligence" involved in making the error. The general provisions further provide that licensed imports shall not be denied entry because of "minor variations" between the amount specified in the license and the amount actually landed; that the foreign exchange necessary for the licensed goods shall be made available on the same basis as for unlicensed goods; that the provisions of GATT Article XXI (Security Exceptions) shall apply to the agreement; and that the agreement does not require disclosure of information otherwise required to be kept confidential by national law (e.g., for law enforcement purposes, legitimate commercial interests, etc.).

Automatic Import Licensing

The section on automatic import licensing (AIL) systems (paragraphs 12-13 (e)) defines AIL as import licensing where "approval of the application is freely granted". These systems are to be administered so as to avoid "restricting effects on imports" subject to the AIL requirements. The agreement recognizes that AIL systems "... may be necessary whenever other appropriate procedures are not available".

^{1/} This terminology is used repeatedly throughout the agreement. Although it is never explicitly defined, the apparent intent is to permit each signatory to determine, for itself, which products are subject to licensing in accordance with the definition in paragraph 1.

^{2/} These documentation requirements were debated extensively. The Nordics and the United States favored use of a <u>pro forma</u> invoice when applying for a license. The EC, Canada, Switzerland, Japan, Australia, Brazil and others proposed documentation which is "normal for customs entry purposes". A suggested compromise solution, although not adopted, was to incorporate (by reference) the documentation requirements embodied in the ECE Standard Invoice Layout Form. See, GATT Secretariat Document, MTN/NTM/W/116, dated 28 October 1977.

The agreement further provides that all importers eligible to engage in "import operations involving products subject to" AIL shall be equally eligible to apply for, and obtain, such licenses. AIL applications "... may be submitted on any working day prior to the customs clearance of the goods", and shall be approved immediately or within a maximum of ten working days.

The United States has traditionally favored a provision which would eliminate all automatic import licensing systems. 1/ This position was revised to allow for the existence of such systems in certain instances; e.g., pre-safeguards surveillance situations. The revised position was submitted to a June 1978 plurilateral meeting but did not receive substantial support.

We note that one problem (also recognized by U.S. negotiators) with an agreement regulating AIL, even for limited purposes, is that it will serve to make ultimate removal of these systems less likely. If AIL systems are "legitimized" by the agreement and, thus, are neither eliminated nor subject to preconditions as to their use, then they may continue to restrict or at least frustrate U.S. exports.

Non-Automatic Import Licensing

The section on non-automatic import licensing (NAIL) systems (paragraphs 14(a)-(14(n)) (defined as systems under which licenses are not granted automatically) includes licenses required to administer quotas and other import restrictions and specifies that governments are to provide information concerning the number .nd value of licenses granted, to publish information on the administration of quotas, and to permit any person, firm or institution to apply for a license.

The provisions on non-automatic import licenses also provide that the period for processing a license should be as short as possible, and that a license is to be valid for a "reasonable" period of time. Licenses issued pursuant to quotas are not to be administered so as to prevent importation of goods; however, in granting licenses, governments may take into account whether previously issued licenses have been utilized. In addition, the agreement encourages the issuance of licenses for a sufficient quantity of goods to make importation economical.

If possible, licenses are to be issued to new importers; however, where licenses are used to administer quotas not specifically allocated to supplying countries, license holders are free to choose the source of imports. Special consideration is to be given to LDC products and, in particular, to the products of the least developed countries (LLDCs).

^{3/} See, Trade Policy Staff Committee (TPSC) Document 78-76, dated June 26, 1978, Code of Conduct on Automatic Import Licensing.

Questions Concerning the Scope of the Agreement

A number of questions concerning interpretation of the agreement remain unanswered by the present text. The most significant are discussed below.

Agricultural Commodities

The question of the applicability of the agreement to agricultural commodities has not been explicitly resolved by this text. The Swiss have stated their assumption that any agreement would apply to agriculture. The EC, in principle, has taken the position that it only applies to industrial products, but it is reported to have "an open mind" on the subject. 1/ The U.S. position is that the text does not include any special provisions to include (or exclude) agricultural products. Thus, without a special provision excluding such products from coverage, the text can be interpreted as applying to all products (both industrial and agricultural).

Bilateral Export Restraint Procedures

It is at least arguable that certain procedural aspects of bilateral export restraints (i.e., "voluntary restraint arrangements") may fall within the scope of this agreement. The early drafts included explicit provisions to cover "export permits" which were required, by the importing country, to be submitted with import licenses. While these provisions have been deleted, the present text (paragraphs 14(m) and 14(n)) does include certain administrative requirements for bilateral quota allocations; e.g., specific provisions to allow restraint level "compensating adjustments" to future license (quota) allocations.

Timing Requirements

The negotiating history of paragraph 13(d) indicates considerable confusion and lack of agreement with respect to "timing requirements" for submission of AIL applications, and "timing requirements" in paragraph 1 which define the extent of the licensing systems covered by the agreement. Paragraph 13(d) provides that AIL applications "... may be submitted on any working day prior to the customs clearance of the goods". 2/ Paragraph 1, on the other hand, requires that all import license applications be submitted "... as a prior condition for importation", if the licensing system is to be subject to the procedural requirements of this agreement.

^{1/} In May 1979 the EC approved a new licensing system for hybrid seed corn. This system would require, inter alia, a "surety deposit" which the EC justifies by reference to the MTN licensing agreement (paragraph 12, footnote 1).

^{2/} The underscored terms are not otherwise defined. It appears that "customs clearance" may be used in the same sense as "importation" in paragraph 1, although Canada and Australia had wanted "prior to the date of shipment". The Swiss proposed "prior to importation". The U.S. delegation, at one point, equated the present language with the phrase "prior to ... customs entry".

There is some doubt that the date of "customs clearance", and the date of "importation" or the date of "entry", have a uniform interpretation among the various national customs services. The Customs Co-operation Council has defined customs "clearance (of goods)" as follows:

The accomplishment of the Customs formalities necessary to allow imported goods to enter home use, or to place them under another Customs procedure; or to export goods. $\underline{1}/$

The Council has also defined "importation" as follows:

The act of bringing any goods into a Customs territory. $\frac{2}{}$

In the present context, 3/ the quoted definitions should be compared with U.S. Customs Regulations which appear to equate "clearance of imported merchandise" with "release from Customs custody" for consumption entries, 4/ and define "date of importation" as follows:

"Date of importation" means, in the case of merchandise imported otherwise than by vessel, the date on which the merchandise arrives within the Customs territory of the United States. In the case of merchandise imported by vessel, "date of importation" means the date on which the vessel arrives within the limits of a port in the United States with intent then and there to unlade such merchandise. 5/

Use of the term "entry" has been held to imply the presence of the merchandise at the port of entry. 6/ U.S. Customs Regulations provide:

^{1/} Customs Co-operation Council, Glossary of International Customs Terms, Doc- 13.309, Annex III at 26.

^{2/} CCC Doc. 8298 at 41.

^{3/} A request to have a "... shipment [of merchandise] cleared by a Customs Broker ..." was held to be interpretable either as requiring a consumption entry or as requiring an in-transit entry for goods already in port. [Emphasis supplied.] Canada Steamship Lines v. Inland Waterways Corp., 71 F. Supp. 137 at 139, 142 (E.D. La., 1947). But cf. Clearance "... means to satisfy the customs, harbor dues, and the like, and obtain from the governmental authority of the port leave to depart ...". Int'1. Mercautile Marine Co. v. Stranshan, 155 F. 428 at 432 (C.C.S.D. N.Y., 1907); Hamburg-American Steam Packet Co. v. United States, 250 F. 747 at 759-62 (2d Cir., 1918). See also 46 USC 11 et seq., 91, 91a, 313-315.

^{4/ 19} CFR 143.0, 143.3; but cf. 19 CFR 101.5 and 19 CFR 148.22, 148.23 (1978).

^{5/ 39} CFR 101.1(h) (1978).

^{6/} Mussman & Shafer, Inc. v. U.S., 27 Cust. Ct. 180 at 186; (C.D. 1367) (1951); aff'd. 40 CCPA 108 at 113-114 (C.A.D. 506) (1953).

No entry shall be considered to be "deposited" or "accepted", nor shall the merchandise covered thereby be considered to be entered within the meaning of the law or regulations applicable to the entry of the merchandise, until after the arrival of the merchandise within the limits of the port of entry and the subsequent deposit of estimated duties or subsequent official determination that no deposit is required. [Emphasis supplied.] 1/

The term "entry" has also been held to encompass all of the transactions necessary to secure the release of the goods from customs custody. 2/ Similarly, the courts have held that the words "entered for consumption" do not connote merely the written entry papers filed by the importer, but connote a series of acts which are necessary to and which culminate in the entering of goods into the commerce of the United States. "That is the time when goods are entered, and not when a particular document, which in customs parlance is called an 'entry,' is filed with an entry clerk." 3/ [Emphasis supplied.]

Accordingly, we conclude that "importation" or "entry" are not synonymous with "customs clearance" in the context of the timing requirements specified in paragraphs 1 and 13(d), at least insofar as these terms are defined in U.S. customs laws and procedures.

Right of Appeal

There are several questions raised by the incorporation (by reference) of Article X of the GATT, within paragraph 2 of the agreement, in conjunction with the "right of appeal" provided by paragraph 14(f).

Article X of the GATT provides, in pertinent part, that "[e]ach Contracting Party shall maintain, or institute as soon as practicable, judicial, arbitral or administrative tribunals or procedures for the purpose, <u>inter alia</u>, of the prompt review and correction of administrative action relating to customs matters". Paragraph 14(f) provides, in part, as follows:

If the license application is not approved, the applicant shall, on request, be given the reasons therefor and shall have a right of appeal or review in accordance with the domestic legislation or procedures of the importing country.

Arguably, both Article X and paragraph 14(f) are intended to provide a right of appeal from a denial of a license application. But approval of applications for <u>automatic</u> import licenses "... is freely granted". Thus, in theory, such an application will not be denied and a "right of appeal" becomes unnecessary. Non-automatic license applications are, consequently, the only likely subject

^{1/ 19} CFR 141.68(a) (1978).

^{2/} Oxford Univ. Press v. U.S., 29 Cust. Ct. 191 at 196-197 (C.D. 1467) (1952). See also 19 CFR 141.68(e) (1978).

^{3/} Excel Shipping Corp. v. U.S., 44 Cust. Ct. 55 at 61-62 (C.D. 2153) (1960).

matter, if any, for the exercise of Article X "rights". An important distinction between these two provisions is that Article X encompasses any "... administrative action relating to customs matters", while paragraph 14(f) is limited to the denial of applications for non-automatic import licenses. Thus, there is some uncertainty concerning the degree of overlap, if any, between these two provisions.

In addition, what constitutes "customs matters" in the context of this agreement on procedures governing import licensing is open to considerable question. The United States provides extensive administrative procedures for review of customs determinations under 19 USC 1514, 1516, 1520(c), etc. Judicial review of customs decisions in the United States Customs Court may be obtained under 28 USC 1582.

The scope of "customs matters" reviewable is already quite comprehensive. Assessment of dumping duties may be protested and reviewed under 19 USC 169 and 28 USC 1582(b). Countervailing duties assessed under 19 USC 1303 are subject to protest and review under 19 USC 1514 and 28 USC 1582(b). However, jurisdiction to review the refusal to grant an "import license" varies according to the specific statute and usually lies with United States district courts since there is no general "importer's license" in the United States.

A challenge directed at the administration of the textile trade agreements program (i.e., the MFA) was held to be within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Customs Court. 1/ However, "voluntary import restraint undertakings" negotiated in 1972 by the executive branch and foreign producers with respect to certain steel products were held not legally binding and unenforceable by the Customs Service. 2/ Thus, there could be no "decision by a Customs official upholding the restraint and opening up the protest procedure which affords access to the Customs Court". 3/

Subsequently, legislation was introduced in 1978 which would increase the substantive jurisdiction of the United States Customs Court and expand the types of relief it may award. This legislation, the Customs Courts Act of 1978, would "provide for a comprehensive system of judicial review of matters directly affecting imports ... and provide expanded opportunities for judicial review / Such legislation could provide one judicial forum for resolution of disputes arising out of the denial of an import license application, at least to the extent that present statutes or case law may not afford an adequate remedy.

^{1/} Consumers Union v. Committee for the Implementation of Textile Agreements, 561 F.2d 872 at 874 (D.C. Cir. 1977).

^{2/} Consumers Union v. Kissinger, 506 F.2d 136 at 142-4 (D.C. Cir. 1974).

^{3/} Consumers Union, supra note 1.

^{4/} See S.2857, H.R.12006, 95th Cong., 2d Sess. (1978).

Extent of U.S. Compliance With the Agreement

We note that in view of: (1) the lack of definition in the agreement, or ancillary documents, of certain basic terms; and (2) the possibility, $\underline{1}$ / even though remote, of its application to numerous U.S. statutes or administrative regulations at the federal level, $\underline{2}$ / it is difficult to ascertain the precise legal effect of the agreement.

The most important factor inhibiting analysis of the effect of the agreement on U.S. law is the imprecision of much of the language used in key sections. What constitutes an "import license" is only one question (although a threshold one) in determining the intent of the delegations who drafted and, presumably, will adhere to this agreement. 3/

"Prior to the Eighteenth Amendment, Congress passed laws giving the States a large degree of autonomy in regulating the importation and distribution of intoxicants. These laws, the Wilson Act [27 USC 121] and the Webb-Kenyon Act, [27 USC 122] are still in force." Hostetter v. Idlewild Liquor Corp., 377 U.S. 324 at 333 (Fn. 11) (1963); Dept. of Revenue v. James Beam Co., 377 U.S. 341 at 345 (Fn. 7) (1963).

We also note other examples of federal deference to the valid exercise of State "police powers" affecting foreign commerce.

"The collectors and other officers of the customs shall pay due regard to the inspection laws of the States in which they may respectively act, in such manner that no vessel having on board goods liable to inspection shall be cleared until the master, or other proper person, shall have produced such certificate that all such goods have been duly inspected, as the laws of the respective States may require to be produced to collectors or other officers of the customs." 46 USC 97.

Cf., GATT Article XXIV, paragraph 12.

3/ The definition of "import licensing" in paragraph 1 is discussed extensively under Summary of the Agreement, supra.

^{1/} STR has reported that the proposed agreement on import licensing procedures appears "...not to require changes in U.S. laws at the time of implementation, although optional changes may be made". However, STR also recognizes that "... there are a large number of laws and regulations that may some day be the subject of a foreign complaint under one of the codes, although we [STR] have no expectation of changing at this time any provisions that fall into this category". Memorandum from Robert S. Strauss to Advisory Committee Hembers dated December 27, 1978, Attachment at page 366.

^{2/} The Commission expresses no opinion with respect to suggestions that this agreement is intended to preempt the procedural aspects of presently-existing valid State regulation of foreign imports. Absent specific legislative intent expressed in the implementing legislation, these suggestions appear open to question alcoholic beverages and tobacco products are both subject to extensive state regulation.

We do not know whether "import" has the same breadth of coverage as it does in the Tariff Schedules of the United States. 1/ For example, it is open to question whether the agreement embraces within the terms "imports", "goods", or "products" such items as: coins and currency, 2/ banknotes, certificates of value, and gold or silver bullion, etc. There are immediately discernible differences, 3/ and similarities, 4/ between U.S tariff treatment and the Customs Co-operation Council Nomenclature (CCCN) in use by most of our major trading partners.

Similarly, there is an absence of definitions for other terms basic to determining what constitutes an "import license". As discussed previously, it is not entirely clear that this term excludes licenses, certificates, visas, etc., issued by the country of exportation to administer a bilateral restraint arrangement.

We note that export licenses or visas also may be required by the country of importation as an enforcement mechanism for "voluntary export restraints", whether negotiated in a multilateral context (e.g., the Multifiber Arrangement (MFA), the International Coffee Agreement, etc.), in a bilateral setting (e.g., the OMAs with Korea and Taiwan covering footwear), or as quota allocations imposed unilaterally by the country of importation, 5/ and thus could be interpreted to fall under the coverage of the agreement.

^{1/} TSUS general headnote 1 ("All articles imported into the customs territory of the United States . . ."), as modified by TSUS general headnote 5.

2/ Coins are good examples of the distinction between "legal tender", which may not be subject to Department of Treasury reporting requirements (31 CFR Part 103)

pursuant to 31 USC 1051-1122, and "currency" which is subject to such requirements. E.g., the Canadian silver coins commemorating the 1976 Olympic games are "legal tender but not currency" and, thus, are not subject to the Currency and Foreign Transactions Reporting Act. Similarly, commercial importations of such coins are subject to the normal Customs Service entry procedures as "legal tender but not currency". Compare: TSUS item 653.22 with TSUS general headnote 5.

^{3/} Compare: TSUS general headnote 5 ("Intangibles. For the purposes of headnote 1... currency (metal or paper) in current circulation in any country and imported for monetary purposes, ... [and] ... securities and similar evidences of value, ... are not articles subject to the provisions of these schedules.") with CCCN ch. 49.07 ("The characteristic of the products falling within this heading is that on being issued ... by the appropriate authority, they have a fiduciary value in excess of the intrinsic value ... [e.g.,] Banknotes. This term covers promissory notes of all denominations issued by the State ... for use as currency or legal tender either in the country of issue or elsewhere ... [and] ... Stock, share and bond certificates and similar documents of title").

^{4/} But see, "metal coins" provided for in item 653.22, TSUS, and CCCM ch. 72.01 ("Coin. This heading applies to coins of any metal . . . of officially prescribed weight and design, issued under Government control for use as legal tender.") See also "gold or silver bullion" provided for in item 605.20, TSUS and "precious metals" provided for in chapter 71, CCCM. See also 12 USC 95a and 31 USC 442, 443.

^{5/} See, e.g., quotas upon importation of certain meats pursuant to the Meat Import Quota Act of 1964 (Pub. L. No. 88-482; effective August 22, 1964); and 7 CFR Part 16.

Another factor, which prevents definitive analysis of the effect of this agreement on U.S. laws, is the great number of statutes, regulations, etc., which restrict or prohibit importation of goods into the United States. A great many federal government activities impose restrictions such as permits, certificates or other documentation, and licenses on merchandise entering the United States. In addition to import restrictions found in the tariff laws proper, the Customs Service states that they assist about forty other Federal agencies in the enforcement of some 400 laws and regulations. 1/ Although there is no general "importer's license" in the United States, import restrictions may apply to personal or commercial importations, whether made by an individual for his own account or by a professional customhouse broker.

The agreement defines "import license" rather broadly in paragraph 1, yet it specifically excludes documents "required for customs purposes". This raises the question of what is meant by the phrase "customs purposes". We note that the Customs Service administers import restrictions on certain commodities subject to quota (e.g., certain dairy products; animal feeds containing milk or milk derivatives; certain cotton fibers; certain wheat and milled wheat products, etc.). Customs also enforces import restrictions administered by other agencies. Fuel oil and certain oil products are licensed under "non-automatic" licensing procedures by the Department of Energy (DOE) pursuant to the Trade Expansion Act of 1962 2/. The DOE also administers the licensing of imports and exports of "special" nuclear materials. 3/ The Departments of Interior and Commerce jointly administer licensing procedures to implement import quotas imposed on duty-free entries of certain watches and watch movements from the U.S. insular possessions. 4/

This list, by no means exhaustive, does not even begin to address the question of licenses (or "certificates", "permits", etc.) required for entry of certain articles subject to natural resource conservation, health, safety, or pollution control regulations or sanitary requirements unrelated to quantitative restraints. 5/ These latter types of discretionary licensing procedures may, more properly, be considered in the context of the agreement on Product Standards. 6/ However, all such requirements can become barriers to trade,

^{1/ 1975} SEC. OF TREAS. ANN. REP. ON THE STATE OF THE FINANCE at 209; see also, OFFICE OF THE CHIEF COUNSEL, U.S. CUSTOMS SERVICE, U.S. DEP'T. OF THE TREAS., Laws and Regulations Enforced or Administered by the United States Customs Service, (April 1975).

^{2/ 19} USC 1862. See Pres. Proc. 3279, as amended; and 10 CFR Part 213 (1978).

^{3/ 42} USC 2073 et seq.

^{4/} TSUs general headnote 3(a); and 15 CFR Part 303 (1978).

^{5/} See, e.g., 50 CFR Part 14 (Import/Export License requirements pursuant to the Endangered Species Act of 1973 and the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora); 7 USC 1360(c) (Admissibility of pesticides imported pursuant to the Federal Insecticide, Fungicide, and Rodenticide Act determined by the EPA); 21 USC 381 (Approval of pharmaceuticals imported pursuant to the Food and Drug Act certified by the FDA).

^{6/} For example, restrictions (so-called "marketing orders") have been imposed on certain agricultural imports which limit the size, grade, or quality of the product, pursuant to the Agricultural Marketing Agreement Act of 1937, as amended. 7 USC 608c, 608e-1.

since they create uncertainty and the possibility of delay and discrimination in the processing of applications as well as possibly unnecessary documentation costs to the importer- $\underline{1}/$

^{1/} United States Tariff Commission, <u>Trade Barriers</u>, vol. 5, ch. VIII, pages 138-9 (1974).

Part 2. PROBABLE ECONOMIC EFFECT ON U.S. INTERNATIONAL TRADE OF THE ADOPTION OF THE AGREEMENT ON IMPORT LICENSING PROCEDURES

A previous study by the Commission 1/ attempted to measure, in a limited manner, the degree of restrictiveness of certain forms of quantitative limitations. In that study an analysis was made of quantitative trade restrictions reported to the GATT by seventeen major trading nations, supplemented by data from other sources. The reported restrictions include only basic elemental forms of quantitative limitations—embargoes, quotas, voluntary export restraints, licensing requirements, limitations deriving from state trading, minimum price requirements and mixing regulations, all of which can be identified in their application to discrete categories of products. The available information on these restrictions was only of a "counting" nature; that is, a particular restriction was identified as either being or not being applied to a category of products (or part of a category). No information was available as to the possible price effects, trade effects, or production effects of a restriction. The data reflected the situation existing in the 1970-71 period. Since then, there have been significant changes in restrictions imposed by some countries.

Table 1 lists the types of quantitative restrictions included in the count. Some, such as quotas, are burdensome or more significant than others such as liberal licensing. This is crudely accounted for by a weighting scheme (the weights are given in column 2 of table 1). In the analysis export restraints were charged as a restriction, not to the exporting country but to the importing country, since the latter country has usually imposed the restraint on the exporter.

^{1/} United States Tariff Commission, <u>Trade Barriers</u>, vol. 5, ch. VIII, pages 160-2 (1974).

Table 1 .- Types of Quantitative Restrictions Counted

	Type of restriction :	Weighting scheme 1
	8	Percent
1.	Bilateral quota::	0.91
2.	Global quota:	1.36
3.	Quota (unspecified):	1.36
4.	Prohibited imports (embargoes)	1.36
5.	State trading:	.91
6.	Automatic licensing:	.45
7.	Liberal licensing:	.45
8.	Discretionary licensing:	.91
9.	Licensing (unspecified):	.91
10.	Minimum price system:	1.36
11.	Seasonal restriction:	.91
12.	Restriction (unspecified):	.91
13.	Export restraint:	1.36
14.	Suspended import restriction:	.91
15.	Mixing regulations:	.91

^{1/} Each restriction was given a number from 1 to 3, high or low, depending on its degree of restrictiveness. The average of these numbers was divided into the assigned number for each restriction, resulting in the weights shown in the table.

To the extent that this analysis remains valid, it would appear that administration of these licensing requirements has a comparatively minor trade restricting effect, particularly when measured against the underlying import restriction itself.

U.S. Imports

The United States requires import licenses for a number of cosmodities in order to administer a variety of programs. Table 2 is a selected list illustrative of cosmodities subject to some type of import licensing procedure. These licensing procedures may be considered non-automatic.

As noted above, the uncertain scope of the agreement's application and its substantive requirements make it impossible to determine, with any assurance, the extent of U.S. compliance. However, we do not believe that U.S. import licensing requirements are administered in such a manner as to create trade barriers of a procedural nature which could be construed as violative of the general purposes of this agreement. Under the circumstances, it is doubtful that U.S. adoption of this agreement will result in more than a negligible effect on U.S. imports.

<u>Table 2. — Selected list of U.S. imports subject to a "licensing procedure" (licenses, permits, visas, certificates, etc.)</u>

<u>Article</u>

Statutory or other authority

Alcoholic beverages18 USC 1263
Certain dairy products USC 624 and 21 USC 141-149
Certain meatsP.L. 88-482
Certain fruits and vegetables USC 608(e)
Live plant material including nursery
stock7 USC 151-162
Certain cocoa and confectionery pre-
parations7 USC 624
Certain textiles and apparel products7 USC 1854
Crude petroleum and petroleum products19 USC 1862
Liquified natural gas (LNG)
Uranium and uranium compounds,
other radioactive materials,
and nuclear reactors42 USC 2073, et seq.
Drugs, and other controlled substancesControlled Substances Act
of 1970, and 19 CFR 12.36
Certain luggage, handbags, and
flat goods of reptile materialEndangered Species Act of 1973
Arms, ammunition, explosives and
implements of war
Whale, walrus, or Asian elephant
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
ivory and ivory articles
of 1972
Certain electronic products subject
to radiation performance standardsRadiation Control for Health and
Safety Act, and 19 CFR 12-91
Motor vehicles and motor vehicle
enginesClean Air Act, and 19 CFR 12-73
Whenes same boules and boules and
Viruses, serums, toxins, antitoxins and
analogous products subject to HEW
licensing requirements42 USC 262, and 19 CFR 12-21, et seq.

Source: USITC staff survey (November, 1978).

U.S. Exports

Host countries maintain some form of import licensing requirements, ranging from the very liberal to the highly restrictive. The trade restrictive effects of these requirements may be observed in both the procedure and its administration. Some requirements have the effect of discriminating against imports from particular countries or are applied to inhibit the importation of selected commodities. Frequently, licensing is used as an import monitoring device or as a means of manipulating imports to serve national economic policy interests.

Because of the number of countries which have licensing procedures and the wide variety of these procedures, we have assessed the effect of adoption of the agreement upon five export markets: Japan, Mexico, France, Brazil, and India. The selection of these five is based upon the importance of U.S. export trade and complaints by U.S. exporters directed towards their licensing procedures. These countries received a total of \$21.7 billion in U.S. exports during 1977, representing 18 percent of all U.S. exports. Table 3 presents export data for these countries along with their share of the total U.S. export market during 1973-77.

U.S. exports to all countries may increase as a result of general adoption of the agreement. It is not possible to quantify the amount of increase that can be expected; however it probably would be no more than a nominal increase. If adoption of this agreement contributes to a positive frame of mind toward export markets within U.S. industry by encouraging our trading partners, particularly the LDCs, to be more open and liberal in the administration of their licensing systems, it could provide a greater stimulus to U.S. exports than is currently present. We note, however, that only one LDC (Argentina) had initialed the agreement as of April 1979.

Table 3 .-- U.S. exports of domestic merchandise, by selected markets, 1973-77

Market :	1973	:	1974	:	1975	:	1976 :	1977
		:		:		:		
:								
:	Value (million dollars)							
	-	:		:		:	:	
Japan::	8,176	:	10,564	:	9,421	:	10,028:	10,414
Mexico:	2,895	:	4,790	:	5,063	:	4,904 :	4,723
Prance:	2,206	:	2,883	:	2,952	:	3,393 :	3,420
Brazil::	1,903	:	3,068	:	3,034	:	2,781 :	2,412
India:	524		758	:	1,287	:	1,132 :	774
Other countries:_	54,518	:	75,080	:	84,400	:	91,086 :	96,220
Total:	70,223	:	97,143	:	106,157	:	113,323:	117,963
:								
:			Perce	ent	of total	٧a	lue	
:								
Japan:	12	:	11	:	9	:	9:	9
Hexico:	4	:	5	:	5	:	~ :	4
Prance:	3	:	3	:	3	:	3:	3
Brazil:	3	:	3	:	3	:	2:	2
India:	1	. :	1	:	1	:	1:	1
Other countries:	78	:	77	:	80	:	80 :	82
Total:	100	:	100	:	100	:	100 :	100

Source: Compiled from official statistics of the U.S. Department of

Note: Because of rounding, figures may not add to the totals shown.

Japan

Japan is a principal export market for the United States, second only to Canada. U.S. exports to Japan increased from \$8.2 billion in 1973 to \$10.4 billion in 1977. During this time the Japanese share of all U.S. exports decreased from 12 percent to 9 percent.

All commercial imports into Japan are subject to licensing, most of which may be considered automatic. Non-automatic licenses are issued for some commodities which may or may not be subject to an established quota restraint. Commodities requiring non-automatic licenses include leather and leather footwear, steam coal, and certain agricultural products such as beef and oranges.

The licensing procedures themselves do not appear to be a major impediment to trade. It is the underlying restrictions that are more likely to prevent U.S. exporters from expanding trade. Thus, adoption of this agreement is not likely to result in increased U.S. export trade with Japan.

Mexico

Mexico, an active participant in drafting the licensing procedures agreement, ranked fifth in the value of U.S. exports received during 1977. U.S. exports to Mexico increased from \$2.9 billion in 1973 to \$4.7 billion in 1977. Its share of the total U.S. export market was 4 percent during each of these two years.

A principal feature of Mexico's foreign trade system is the imposition of import license requirements which are used to protect domestic industry. Mexico recently liberalized import trade by dispensing with the licensing requirement for about one-half of the import classification items. This move, however, did not affect commodities that account for the bulk of its import trade.

The Mexican government's attitude toward commodities requiring import licenses might be fairly characterized as a "protectionist" import-substitution policy. Under this policy, if Mexican-made goods are available in quantities and quality equivalent to the products to be imported, a license to import is frequently denied. The government has attempted to liberalize this aspect of its licensing system, but this prospect has met resistance from Mexican industry.

The import-substitution policy is the major element underlying Mexico's licensing system which inhibits expansion of U.S. exports to Mexico. It does not appear that the agreement will significantly affect this policy. Thus, adoption of this agreement is unlikely to stimulate U.S. export trade with Mexico.

France

France is the market for 3 percent, by value, of all U.S. exports annually. During 1973-77, U.S. exports to France increased from \$2.2 billion to \$3.4 billion; however their relative share of the U.S. export market did not change. France has liberalized its extensive licensing and quota system so that, today, most products are admitted into France without a license. Some products still require prior approval before importation, but approval is usually automatic with the licensing requirement serving as an import monitoring device.

France's licensing requirements primarily affect agricultural cosmodities, but many industrial products are also involved. Issuance of non-automatic licenses is determined on a case-by-case basis and, generally, licenses are nonrenewable. U.S. exporters have complained that these procedures cause uncertainty and delay in international trade. To the extent that adoption of this agreement expedites approval of licenses, exports of commodities requiring licenses may be facilitated and expanded. France is very protective of its agricultural sector and the government may find other ways to control agricultural imports if adherence to this agreement should undermine its agricultural policy. Overall, adoption of the agreement would probably result in no more than a nominal increase in U.S. export trade with France.

Brazil

The Brazilian share of the value of all U.S. exports declined from 3 percent in 1973 to 2 percent in 1977. However, the absolute value of exports to Brazil increased from \$1.9 billion to \$2.4 billion. Virtually all commodities imported into Brazil require an import license. These licenses are generally non-automatic and, recently, have been subject to approval on a case-by-case basis.

Each request for an import license must include a manufacturer's price list and catalogue. If these are not available, a certificate from the exporter or manufacturer must be included to verify that the prices are those current in the exporting country and that a catalogue and price list do not exist. The prices quoted also must correspond to those prevailing internationally on the date of purchase. If Brazilian government files show a previous sale at a lower price, the importer must solicit a quotation from the company with the lower price or submit a letter from that company stating that the article is not available during the specified time.

The regulation concerning price submissions has caused problems because of rapidly fluctuating prices in international markets. When prices change after the original documents have been issued, the entire licensing request process must be repeated. The net effect of this procedure is to inhibit exports to Brazil.

Complaints have also been voiced about the imposition of excessive fines for import documentation errors. Such fines tend to discourage U.S. exporters' enthusiasm for trade with Brazil.

Adoption of the agreement could result in lessening fines imposed because of "minor" documentation errors and, hopefully, result in modification of the requirements concerning price submissions. Moderation of these requirements would likely produce a more positive framework for trade with Brazil and an expansion of exports. It is not possible to quantify the benefits to be expected from adoption of this agreement since Brazilian adherence to, and its interpretation of, this agreement remains uncertain.

India

The value of U.S. exports to India averages about one percent of all U.S. exports. In 1973, U.S. exports to India totaled \$524 million. This figure increased to over \$1 billion in 1975 and 1976, but declined to \$774 million in 1977.

All commodities imported into India, other than those imported for a goverment account, require an import license. A letter of credit must be obtained by an importer prior to approval of the import license. This is a major barrier to trade with India. The Indian government maintains tight control over its foreign exchange and, when balance of payments are adverse, restricts issuance of

letters of credit for import transactions. This policy effectively denies the import license. When there is an adverse foreign exchange situation, trade with India on a cash basis is difficult. However, those willing to conclude bartering arrangements can effectively carry on trade.

Complaints have also been voiced concerning Indian administrative practices which do not permit the value or quantity of goods listed on an import certificate to be exceeded. U.S. exporters have objected to this as unnecessarily burdensome. This practice may be modified, if India adopts the agreement, since paragraph 8 provides that "imports shall not be refused for minor variations in value, quantity or weight from the amount designated on the license due to differences occurring during shipment ...", etc. Indian compliance with this provision could provide relief for a significant irritant to U.S.-Indian trade relations.

APPENDIX

Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures (MTN/NTM/W/231)



GENERAL AGREEMENT ON TAR!FFS AND TRADE

RESTRICTED
MTM/WTM/W/231/Rev.2
10 April 1979
Special Distribution

Multilateral Trade Regotiations

Group "Mon-Thriff Measures"
Sub-Group "Quantitative Restrictions"

IMPORT LICENSING PROCEDURES

Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures

Attached hereto is the text of an Agreement on Import Licensing Procedures.

This text is being forwarded to the Trade Negotiations Committee following discussions held in the Sub-Group.

AGREEMENT ON IMPORT LICENSING RESTRICTIONS

PREAMBLE

Having regard to the Pultilateral Trade Necotiations, the Parties to this Agreement on Import Licensins Procedures;

Desiring to further the objectives of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade;

Taking into account the particular trade, development and financial needs of developing countries;

Recognizing the usefulness of automatic import licensing for certain purposes and that such licensing should not be used to restrict trade;

Recognizing that import licensing may be employed to administer
measures such as those adopted pursuant to the relevant provisions of the
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade;

Recognizing also that the inappropriate use of import licensing procedures may impede the flow of international trade;

<u>Desiring</u> to simplify, and bring transparency to, the administrative procedures and practices used in international trade, and to ensure the fair and equitable application and administration of such procedures and practices:

Desiring to provide for a consultative mechanism and the speedy,
effective and equitable resolution of disputes arising under this Agreement;

Hereby agree as follows:

General provisions

- 1. For the purpose of this Agreement, import licensing is defined as administrative procedures used for the operation of import licensing régimes requiring the submission of an application or other documentation (other than that required for customs purposes) to the relevant administrative body as a prior condition for importation into the customs territory of the importing country.
- 2. The Porties to this Agreement shall ensure that the administrative procedures used to implement import licensing rémines are in conformity with the relevant provisions of the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade including its annexes and protocols, as interpreted by this Agreement, with a view to preventing trade distortions that may arise from an inappropriate operation of those procedures, taking into account the economic development purposes and financial and trade needs of developing countries.
- 3. The rules for import licensing procedures shall be neutral in application and administered in a fair and equitable manner.
- 4. The rules and all information concerning procedures for the summission of applications including the eligibility of persons, firms and institutions to make such applications, and the lists of products subject to the licensing requirement shall be published promptly in such a namer as to enable governments and traders to become acquainted with them.

Inose procedures referred to as licensing as well as other similar maximistrative procedures.

²Hereinafter referred to as the CATT.

Any changes in either the rules concerning licensing procedures or the list of products subject to import licensing shell also be promptly published in the same manner. Copies of these publications shall also be made available to the GATT Secretoriat.

- 5. Application forms and, where applicable, renewal forms shall be as simple as possible. Such documents and information as are considered strictly necessary for the proper functioning of the licensing régime may be required on application.
- 6. Application procedures and, where applicable, reneval procedures shall be as simple as possible. Applicants shall have to approach only one administrative body previously specified in the rules referred to in paragraph above in connexion with an application and shall be allowed a reasonable period therefor. In cases where it is strictly indispensable that more than one administrative body is to be approached in connexion with an application, these shall be kept to the minimum number possible.
- 7. No application shall be refused for minor documentation errors which do not alter basic data contained therein. No penalty greater than necessary to serve merely as a varning shall be imposed in respect of any omission or mistake in documentation or procedures which is obviously made without fraudulent intent or gross negligence.

- 6. Licensed imports shall not be refused for minor variations in value, quantity or weight from the amount designated on the licence due to differences occurring during shipment, differences incidental to bulk loading and other minor differences consistent with normal commercial practice.
- 9. The foreign exchange necessary to pay for licensed imports shall be made available to licence holders on the same basis as to importers of goods not requiring import licences.
- 10. With regard to security exceptions, the provisions of Article XXI of the GATT apply.
- 11. The provisions of this Agreement shall not require any Party to this Agreement to disclose confidential information which would impede law enforcement or otherwise be contrary to the public interest or would prejudice the legitimate commercial interests of particular enterprises, public or private.

Automatic import licensing

12. Automatic import licensing is defined as import licensing where approval of the application is freely granted.

Those import licensing procedures requiring a security which have no restrictive effects on imports, are to be considered as falling within the scope of paragraphs 12 and 13 below.

- 13. The following provisions, lin addition to those in paragraphs 1 to 12 above, shall apply to automatic import licensing procedures:
 - (a) Automatic licensing procedures shall not be administered in a manner so as to have restricting effects on imports subject to automatic licensing.
 - (b) Parties to this Agreement recognize that automatic import licensing may be necessary whenever other appropriate procedures are not available. Automatic import licensing may be maintained as long as the circumstances which gave rise to its introduction prevail or as long as its underlying administrative purposes cannot be achieved in a more appropriate way.
 - (c) Any person, firm or institution which fulfils the legal requirements of the importing country for engaging in import operations involving products subject to automatic licensing shall be equally eligible to apply for and to obtain import licences.
 - (d) Applications for licences may be submitted on any working day prior to the customs clearance of the goods.
 - (e) Applications for licences when submitted in appropriate and complete form shall be approved immediately on receipt, to the extent administratively feasible, but within a maximum of ten working days.

A developing country party to this Agreement, which has specific difficulties with the requirements of sub-paragraphs (d) and (e) below, may, upon notification to the Committee referred to in paragraph 15, delay the application of these sub-paragraphs by not more than two years from the date of entry into force of this Agreement for such party.

Hon-automatic import licensing

- 14. The following provisions, in addition to those in paragraphs 1 to 11 above, shall apply to non-automatic import licensing procedures that is, import licensing procedures not falling under paragraphs 12 and 13 above:
 - (a) Licensing procedures adopted and practices applied in connexion with the issuance of licences for the administration of quotas and other import restrictions shall not have trade restrictive effects on imports additional to those caused by the imposition of the restriction.
 - (b) Parties to this Agreement shall provide, upon the request of any Party to this Agreement having an interest in the trade of the product concerned, all relevant information concerning:
 - (i) the administration of the restrictions:
 - (ii) the import licences granted over a recent period;
 - (iii) the distribution of such licences among supplying countries;
 - (iv) where practicable, import statistics (i.e. value and/or volume) with respect to the products subject to import licensing. The developing countries would not be expected to take additional auministrative or financial burdens on this account.

- (c) Parties to this Agreement administering quotas by means of licensing shall publish the overall amount of quotas to be applied by quantity and/or value, the opening and closing dates of quotas, and any change thereof.
- (d) In the case of quotas allocated among supplying countries, the

 Party to this Agreement applying the restrictions shall promptly
 inform all other Parties having an interest in supplying
 the product concerned of the shares in the quota
 currently allocated, by quantity or value, to the various
 supplying countries and shall give public notice thereof.
- (e) Where there is a specific opening date for the submission of licensing applications, the rules and product lists referred to in paragraph & shall be published as far in advance as possible of such date, or immediately after the announcement of the quota or other measure involving an import licensing requirement.
- (f) Any person, firm or institution which fulfils the legal requirements of the importing country shall be equally eligible to apply and be considered for a licence. If the licence application is not approved, the applicant shall, on request, be given the reasons therefor and shall have a right of appeal or review in accordance with the domestic legislation or procedures of the importing country.
- (g) The period for processing of applications shall be as short as rossible.

- (h) The period of licence validity shall be of reasonable duration and not be so short as to preclude imports. The period of licence validity shall not preclude imports from distant sources, except in special cases where imports are necessary to meet unforeseen short-term requirements.
- (i) When administering quotes, Parties to this Agreement shall not prevent importation from being effected in accordance with the issued licences, and shall not discourage the full utilization of the quotes.
- (j) When issuing licences, Parties to this Agreement shall take into account the desirability of issuing licences for products in economic quantities.
- (k) In allocating licences, Parties to this Agreement should consider the import performance of the applicant, including whether licences issued to the applicant have been fully utilized, during a recent representative period.
- (1) Consideration shall be given to ensuring a reasonable distribution of licences to new importers, taking into account the desirability of issuing licences for products in economic quantities. In this regard, special consideration should be given to those importers importing products originating in developing countries and, in particular, the least developed countries.

- (m) In the case of quotas administered through licences which are not allocated among supplying countries, licence holders shall be free to choose the sources of imports. In the case of quotas allocated among supplying countries, the licence shall clearly stipulate the country or countries.
- (n) In applying paragraph 8 above, compensating adjustments may be made in future licence allocations where imports exceeded a previous licence level.

Institutions, consultation and dispute settlement

- 15. There shall be established under this Agreement a Committee on Import Licensing composed of representatives from each of the Farties to this Agreement (referred to in this Agreement as 'the Committee'). The Committee shall elect its own Chairman and shall meet as necessary for the purpose of affording Parties the opportunity of consulting on any matters relating to the operation of this Agreement or the furtherance of its objectives.
- 16. Consultations and the settlement of disputes with respect to any matter affecting the operation of this Agreement, shall be subject to the procedures of Articles XXII and XXIII of the GATT.

Final provisions

17. Acceptance and accession

(a) This Agreement shall be open for acceptance by signature or otherwise, by governments contracting parties to the GATT and by the European Economic Community.

[&]quot;Sometimes referred to as "quota holders".

- (b) This Agreement shall be open to accession by any other government on terms, related to the effective application of rights and obligations under this Agreement, to be agreed between that government and the parties to this Agreement, by the deposit with the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the CATT of an instrument of accession which states the terms so agreed.
- (c) Contracting parties may accept this Agreement in respect of those territories for which they have international responsibility, provided that the GATT is being applied in respect of such territories in accordance with the provisions of Article XXVI:5(a) or (b) of the GATT; and in terms of such acceptance, each such territory shall be treated as though it were a Party to this Agreement.

18. Reservations

Reservations may not be entered in respect of any of the provisions of this Agreement without the consent of the other parties to this Agreement.

19. Entry into force

This Agreement shall enter into force on 1 January 1980 for the governments which have accepted or acceded to it by that date. For each other government it shall enter into force on the thirtieth day following the date of its acceptance or accession to this Agreement.

20. National legislation

(a) Each covernment accepting or acceding to this Agreement shall ensure, not later than the date of entry into force of this Agreement for it, the conformity of its laws, regulations and administrative procedures with the provisions of this Agreement.

For the purpose of this Agreement, the term' governments" is deemed to include the competent authorities of the European Economic Community.

(b) Each Party to this Agreement shall inform the Committee of any changes in its laws and regulations relevant to this Agreement and in the administration of such laws and regulations.

21. Review

The Committee shall review as necessary, but at least once every two years, the implementation and operation of this Agreement taking into account the objectives thereof and shall inform the COMTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT of developments during the period covered by such reviews.

22. Amendments

The Parties to this Agreement may amend it, having regard, inter alia, to the emerience gained in its implementation. Such an amendment, once the Parties have concurred in accordance with procedures established by the Committee, shall not come into force for any Party until it has been accepted by such Party.

23. <u>Withdrawal</u>

Any Party to this Agreement may withdraw from this Agreement. The withdrawal shall take effect upon the expiration of sixty days from the day on which written notice of withdrawal is received by the Director-General to the CONTRACTING PARTIES to the GAIT. Any Party to this Agreement may upon such notification request an immediate meeting of the Committee.

24. Mon-application of this Agreement between particular parties

This Agreement shall not apply as between any two Parties to this Agreement if either of the Parties, at the time either accepts or accedes to this Agreement, does not consent to such application.

25. Secretarist

This agreement shall be serviced by the GAIT secretariat.

26. Deposit

This Agreement shall be deposited with the Director-General to the COMTRACTING PARTIES to the GATT, who shall promptly furnish to each Party to this Agreement and each contracting party to the GATT a certified copy thereof end of each amendment thereto pursuant to paragraph 22 and a notification of such acceptance thereof agracession thereto pursuant to paragraph 17, or each withdrawal therefrom pursuant to paragraph 23.

27. Registration

This Agreement shall be registered in accordance with the provisions of Article 102 of the Charter of the United Nations.

0